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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY
We, The Star Entertainment Group, respectfully 
acknowledge the Traditional Owners of the 
Countries on which our properties are located, 
the Turrbal and Jagera People of the Brisbane 
region, the Yugambeh Speaking People of the 
Gold Coast region, and the Gadigal People of the 
Eora Nation in Pyrmont. The Star Entertainment 
Group acknowledges their deep and continuing 
connection to land, waters and skies. 

We pay our respect to Elders, past and present.



INTRODUCTION
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ABOUT THE STAR 
The Star Entertainment Group Limited, (“The Star” 
or the “Company” and, together with its subsidiaries, 
the “Group”) is an ASX-listed company that owns 
and operates The Star Sydney and The Star Gold 
Coast. In addition, the Company manages The Star 
Brisbane which began operations in August 2024. 
The Star Entertainment Group also manages the 
Gold Coast Convention and Exhibition Centre on 
behalf of the Queensland Government. The Star has 
a 50% equity interest in the Destination Brisbane 
Consortium (DBC) which has developed The Star 
Brisbane integrated resort.

In August 2025, The Star entered into a binding 
agreement with Chow Tai Fook Enterprises (CTFE) 
and Far East Consortium International (FEC) to sell 
The Star’s 50% equity interest in DBC. The details 
of which are set out on page 14 of this report.

The Star’s purpose is to create fun at trusted 
destinations. The Star welcomes millions of 
guests every year across its three properties in 
Sydney, the Gold Coast and Brisbane, and delivers 
unique and memorable experiences. We employ 
over 8,000 team members while also supporting 
downstream employment and are proud to support 
the communities in which we operate. 

More information can be found at  
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au.

ABOUT THIS ANNUAL REPORT
This Annual Report is a review of The Star 
Entertainment Group Limited and its subsidiary 
companies’ performance for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2025. Included in this Annual Report 
are The Star’s audited Financial Report for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2025 (including the 
Directors’ Report and Remuneration Report) which 
were released to the ASX on 30 September 2025 
and are current as at 30 September 2025. Where 
appropriate, information is also provided in this 
Annual Report in relation to activities that have 
occurred after 30 June 2025 (including following the 
release of the Financial Report). Please also see the 
Company’s website for specific matters disclosed 
to the ASX since 30 June 2025.

OUR COMMITMENT TO TRANSFORMATION
The Star Entertainment Group Limited continues to go through its transformation journey. We 
fully appreciate the responsibilities involved in holding casino licences in Queensland and New 
South Wales and are committed to ensuring The Star is a transparent, accountable organisation, 
founded on a strong ethical framework and supported by robust leadership and governance so 
we may regain the trust of all of our stakeholders including our guests, regulators, the Manager/
Special Manager/External Adviser, shareholders, suppliers, partners, the community and our 
dedicated team members. 

Our team members today care deeply about doing what is right and are strongly committed to 
ethical and compliant behaviour. The Star is committed to doing what is required to regain our 
licences to operate our casinos in Queensland and New South Wales respectively.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

To our Shareholders,
In closing out another extremely challenging 
year I would like to extend my gratitude for 
your patience and support. 

The year was focused on pursuing a number of 
avenues to secure critical liquidity and funding 
for The Star, which culminated in the strategic 
investment by Bally’s Corporation and Investment 
Holdings Pty Ltd of $300 million in The Star over 
FY25 and FY26. The strategic investment was 
approved by shareholders in June 2025. To further 
strengthen the financial position of the business 
The Star substantially decreased corporate costs 
meeting our $100 million cost reduction target. 

We have also strengthened our executive team 
with key appointments. These appointments also 
support our remediation efforts and will provide 
a new, more sustainable path forward for The Star. 

We have also given the CEOs of each of our 
properties increased accountability and greater 
authority to set strategy and direction as part 
of embracing direct and close supervision. This 
will enable the Group to focus on delivering the 
remediation plan, developing a company strategy 
and further strengthening our financial position. 

While 2025 has been challenging for The Star, 
our aim is to emerge from this period with a 
refreshed business, a clarity of focus and a 
commitment to delivering sustainable value for 
our people, our members and guests, and our 
stakeholders and shareholders. 

To that end, the management team and the Board 
are working closely with our regulators, the 
Manager/Special Manager/Special Adviser and 
key stakeholders to do what is required to regain 
suitability to hold licences to operate our casinos 
in New South Wales and Queensland.

I express my appreciation to the management 
team and my fellow directors for their ongoing 
commitment and support in the journey to 
remediate and transform The Star. I would also like 
to acknowledge the dedication of our thousands of 
team members during these challenging times and 
thank them for their efforts. 

Since the year-end Bruce Mathieson Junior, who 
is a nominee of Investment Holdings, The Star’s 
largest shareholder, has been appointed as a 
Non-Executive Director. We look forward to 
benefiting from Bruce’s extensive gaming and 
hospitality experience.

Finally, I know many of you have shown great 
loyalty to the business for an extended period — 
not just over the past 12 months. We value the 
ongoing trust you place in us so we can continue 
to transform the business into a safer and more 
sustainable business, and we will work hard to 
earn and reward that trust.

Anne Ward 
Chairman 
The Star Entertainment Group 

While 2025 has been challenging 
for The Star, we are striving to 
emerge from this period with 
a refreshed business, a clarity 
of focus and a commitment to 
delivering sustainable value.
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CEO’S REPORT

Dear Shareholders,
The Star continued to experience significant 
challenges over the Financial Year ended 
30 June 2025.
We have made progress on establishing a more 
constructive and transparent relationship with 
our regulators, progressing key transactions and 
obtaining additional financial support. However, 
there remain a range of operational, regulatory 
and financial obstacles that The Star will need to 
overcome to return to profitability and develop 
a sustainable business.

FY25 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
The Star’s FY25 performance was significantly 
affected by the impact of regulatory reforms, 
implementation of the Group’s remediation 
program and loss of market share.

Group net revenue for FY25 was $1,187.5 million 
down 29% on FY24. Operating expenses decreased 
by 10% in FY25 to $982.3 million, driven by the 
closure of the Treasury Brisbane Casino and The 
Star’s cost-out program, which was partly offset 
by increased costs in risk, controls and technology. 
Despite these additional required costs The Star 
was still able to deliver on its $100 million corporate 
cost saving target.1 

Earnings before Interest and Tax (EBIT) (before 
significant items) declined from $54.1 million in 
FY24 to a loss of $141.9 million. Group funding costs 
increased 40% reflecting higher finance costs 
associated with the revised debt facility established 
in November 2024.

The Star’s trading performance stabilised through 
the second half with revenue in 4Q25 consistent 
with 3Q25. Monthly operating expenses trended 
down through 2H FY25 and into early FY26, driven 
by the closure of the Treasury Brisbane Casino and 
The Star’s cost-out program, which was offset by 
increased investment costs in risk, controls, and IT. 

Significant items of $212 million (after tax) included 
an impairment of our investment in the Destination 
Brisbane Consortium (DBC); costs associated with 
the transaction to exit DBC; Group debt refinancing 
costs; costs related to regulation, fines and 
penalties, casino duty, consultants, redundancy 
and legal matters; and profit on sale of assets.

The Star reported a normalised net loss after 
tax of $215.5 million for FY25 versus a profit 
of $11.9 million in FY24, and a Statutory net 
loss after tax of $427.9 million after significant 
items versus a Statutory net loss after tax of 
$1,684.6 million in FY24. 

No dividends were declared or paid.

We are committed to 
rebuilding The Star as a 
transparent and accountable 
organisation supported by 
robust governance.

1.	� Based on annualised corporate cost run rate (excluding significant items) for the six months to 30 June 2025 compared to the annualised 
corporate cost run rate at August 2024.
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PROPERTIES 
The Star’s property portfolio has undergone further 
changes in the past year. On 25 August 2024, the 
Treasury Brisbane was closed and the phased 
opening of The Star Brisbane in the Queen’s Wharf 
precinct commenced on 29 August 2024. 

On 6 September 2024 we announced the sale 
of the leasehold interest in the Treasury Casino 
Building to Griffith University with settlement 
occurring on 30 September 2024. This divestment 
delivered net sale proceeds of $60.5 million (plus 
GST) after settlement adjustments.

Post the end of FY25, on 12 August 2025, The Star 
entered into a binding agreement with Chow Tai 
Fook Enterprises (CTFE) and Far East Consortium 
International (FEC), under which it will sell its 
50% equity interest in DBC, the Treasury Hotel, 
the Treasury Car Park, and its 50% interest in the 
Charlotte St Car Park. The Star has also assigned 
its rights to future distributions following the 
completion of the Tower 2 residential development 
at the Gold Coast.

In return, The Star will receive $53 million cash, 
a 66.6% interest in the Tower 1 Hotel (Dorsett) 
and a 66.6% interest in Tower 2 Hotel (Andaz), 
both at the Gold Coast. The Star will also acquire 
the management rights for the Dorsett hotel after 
a further period of management by FEC of up 
to five years, and unencumbered development 
rights on future towers at the Gold Coast property, 
with a buy-out right on the next tower. The Star 
will continue to operate The Star Brisbane until 
a replacement operator is appointed.

The Transaction will complete in two separate 
stages. The completion of the first stage, the 
exit from The Star’s 50% equity interest in DBC, 
is expected (if all conditions precedent for that 
component of the overall transaction are satisfied) 
to complete prior to the transactions contemplated 
over the Gold Coast and remaining Brisbane assets 
described above. The completion of the non-DBC 
assets, are subject to a separate set of conditions 
precedent which are expected to be satisfied 
in the second half of Calendar Year 2026. We 
continue to work with all stakeholders to achieve 
satisfaction of the conditions precedent to the 
transaction expeditiously. 

KEY REGULATORY CHANGES DURING 
THE YEAR — MANDATORY CARDED PLAY 
AND CASH LIMITS
Mandatory carded play in certain areas and cash 
limits of $5,000 commenced at The Star Sydney on 
19 August 2024. Mandatory carded play commenced 
in all areas of The Star Sydney on 19 October 2024. 

The cash limit for play in New South Wales casinos 
was to reduce further to $1,000 on 19 August 
2025, however the NSW Government confirmed 
on 5 August 2025 that the daily cash limit of 
$5,000 for gaming customers at The Star Sydney 
will be maintained until 19 August 2027. 

The Star Gold Coast and The Star Brisbane Casinos 
are administered under the Queensland Casino 
regulatory framework where mandatory carded 
play and daily cash limits have been legislated 
but regulations are yet to be implemented by the 
Queensland Government. The passing of these 
regulations could have a significant further negative 
impact on financial operations of The Star’s 
Queensland Casinos. 
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LIQUIDITY AND FUNDING 
The Star had available cash of $234 million at 
30 June 2025.1 

Significant events which provided the additional 
liquidity to the Group during the financial year 
ending 30 June 2025 included:

	• a $300 million strategic investment from Bally’s 
Corporation and Investment Holdings, of which 
$233 million was received by 30 June 2025. 
The remaining $67 million was paid to 
The Star on 9 October 2025;

	• an additional $100 million debt drawdown from 
the Group’s senior lenders;

	• $45 million in upfront cash received from the 
transaction with The Star’s Joint Venture 
Partners to exit DBC and consolidate the 
Gold Coast assets;

	• the sale of the Treasury Brisbane Casino Building 
for ~$60m; and

	• the sale of the Sydney Event Centre for ~$60m. 

The management team is in the process of 
implementing a range of further initiatives to 
improve business performance and support The 
Star’s liquidity position. These include improving 
market share and driving revenue growth through 
customer-focused enhancements and initiatives, 
and assessing further areas for additional 
cost-out in FY26. 

Finally, the Group’s future liquidity position will 
be heavily dependent on any penalty imposed on 
The Star following the AUSTRAC proceeding which 
was heard in June 2025. The Star is awaiting the 
Court’s judgment.

SUSTAINABILITY 
The business remains committed to sustainability 
and climate action within the business, recognising 
it as fundamentally intertwined with our broader 
strategic business priorities and important to how 
we create long-term value. We acknowledge the 
introduction of mandatory climate-related financial 
reporting and are actively uplifting our processes 
and approach in readiness for the new requirements. 

CONCLUSION
We appreciate the privilege and responsibility 
involved in holding casino licences in New South 
Wales and Queensland. We are committed 
to rebuilding The Star as a transparent and 
accountable organisation supported by robust 
governance, so that we may once again have the 
trust of all of our stakeholders including our guests, 
regulators, shareholders, suppliers, partners, the 
community and our dedicated team members. 

Our focus remains on creating long-term value 
and ensuring we operate in a responsible and 
sustainable way to support our return to suitability. 
We will continue to prioritise delivering safe and 
exceptional experiences for our members and 
guests, while supporting our teams through 
this period of transformation.

I would like to acknowledge and thank the Board, our 
team members, shareholders, lenders and The Star’s 
other stakeholders for their ongoing support.

Steve McCann 
Group CEO & MD 
The Star Entertainment Group

CEO’S REPORT (CONT.) 

1.	 Refer Note G. Going Concern to the Financial Report, at page 143 of this document.
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW
The Group is awaiting the AUSTRAC judgment 
to provide certainty on quantum and timing 
of penalty, which is critical to successful 
delivery of the following short term strategic 
imperatives, and ultimately to satisfy our 
regulators as to the Group’s financial 
suitability to hold our licences:

	• ongoing review of capital structure 
including refinancing of existing lenders;

	• confirming outstanding regulatory 
approvals for the Bally’s and Investment 
Holdings transaction; and

	• completing the transaction with our 
joint venture partners, including the 
exit from DBC, release of the parent 
company guarantee and consolidation 
of Gold Coast assets.

The Group is also focused on:

	• continuing to deliver on the remainder 
of the Group’s remediation program in 
support of the Group’s casino licences 
being restored; and

	• driving revenue growth through 
customer-focused initiatives and 
implementing further cost-out 
during FY26.

NEAR TERM STRATEGY AND 
BUSINESS PRIORITIES
Given The Star’s current situation, 
its strategic priorities fall under 
three categories: 

Remediation and returning to licence 
suitability by: 

	• continuing to strengthen relationships with 
regulators through transparent and constructive 
engagement; and 

	• continuing to deliver on our amended 
Remediation Plan in line with approved 
timelines, and embedding uplift in standards 
for governance, compliance, safer gaming 
and risk management. 

Improving operating performance, 
particularly through: 

	• revenue initiatives including revitalising 
underutilised spaces, improving hosted 
services and enhancing loyalty programmes 
and promotions; and 

	• maintaining cost discipline and identifying 
further opportunities for cost-outs.

Enhancing its liquidity position, by identifying: 

	• alternative short term and longer-term 
funding solutions (e.g. debt refinancing and 
other proposals); 

	• opportunities to divest non-core assets; and 
	• resolution of material uncertainties in relation 

to the business.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

EBITDA  
(before significant items)

-$77.1M
 FY24 $174.7M

EBITDA Margin (normalised)

-$6.5%
 FY24 10.4% 

EBIT (before significant items)

-$141.9M
 FY24 $54.1M

NPAT (before significant items)

-$215.5M
 FY24 $11.9M

Gaming Taxes & Levies

-$282.3M
 FY24 -$412.1M

Significant Items (after tax)

-$212.4M
 FY24 -$1,696.5M

NPAT (statutory)

-$427.9M
 FY24 -$1,684.6M 

Net Revenue FY25

$1,187.5M1
 FY24 $1,667.8M

1.	� Excludes $174.8 million of contracted cost recovery revenue from DBC.

The Star Brisbane 
Operator Fee

$410.6M

$62.3M
$29.6M

$685.0M

Treasury Brisbane

The Star 
Gold Coast

The Star 
Sydney

Net Revenue 
FY25

$1,187.5M1

In FY25, The Star’s financial performance 
materially deteriorated, reflecting the 
impact of regulatory reforms including 
mandatory carded play and cash limits 
at The Star Sydney, implementation of 
The Star’s remediation program and loss 
of market share. Gaming revenue was 
particularly impacted, while non-gaming 
revenue has remained relatively stable.

FY25 Group net revenue was $1.2 billion, down just 
over 29% YoY. This softer revenue resulted in an 
EBITDA loss before significant items of $77 million, 
despite delivering on our $100 million annualised 
corporate cost-out target that was announced at 
our FY24 results. Group NPAT before significant 
items was a loss of $215.5 million, while statutory 
NPAT was a loss of $427.9 million. 
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Group net revenue declined 29%, due primarily 
to a 37% decrease in gaming revenue which was 
impacted by regulatory reforms, implementation of 
The Star’s remediation program and a loss in market 
share. The decrease in gaming revenue also reflects 
the closure of the Treasury Brisbane Casino, with 
revenues from The Star Brisbane now recognised 
as equity accounted profit / (loss) from associates. 
Excluding the Treasury Brisbane Casino closure, 
gaming revenue declined 22%, split evenly between 
private gaming room and main gaming floor revenue.

Operating expenses including corporate were down 
$109 million driven by the closure of the Treasury 
Brisbane Casino and The Star’s cost-out program, 
partially offset by increased costs associated 
with investment in remediation, risk management, 
controls and IT.

Depreciation & amortisation decreased by 
$56 million, primarily reflecting the reduced asset 
base following impairments in prior periods. 

Loss from associates of $48 million was primarily 
driven by the recognition of a $46 million loss on 
The Star’s 50% interest in The Star Brisbane.

Net funding costs increased by $14 million, 
reflecting the revised debt package executed 
in November 2024 resulting in a fixed rate above 
the previous floating rates in FY24.

Significant items include: 

	• impairment of investment in DBC (50% interest 
in The Star Brisbane): $107.6 million 

	• Group funding costs: $71.1 million
	• regulatory, fines, penalties, duty, consultant, 

legal and other costs: $20.0 million 
	• redundancy costs: $13.2 million 
	• other costs associated with the transaction 

to exit DBC, and profit on sale of assets.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE (CONT.) 

TABLE 1: THREE YEAR FINANCIAL RESULTS SUMMARY6

FY23 FY24 FY25
$m vs pcp4 $m vs pcp4 $m vs pcp4

Revenue 1,867.5 21.7% 1,677.8 (10.2%) 1,362.3 (18.8%)
Net Revenue1 1,867.5 22.3% 1,677.8 (10.2%) 1,187.5 (29.2%)
EBITDA (before significant items)2 317.4 33.6% 174.7 (45.0%) (77.1) N.M5

EBIT (before significant items)2 122.1 318.2% 54.1 (55.7%) (141.9) N.M5

Normalised NPAT3 41.3 N.M5 11.9 (71.2%) (215.5) N.M5

Significant items (after tax) (2,476.5) N.M5 (1,696.5) N.M5 (212.4) N.M5

Statutory NPAT (2,435.2) N.M5 (1,684.6) N.M5 (427.9) N.M5

Earnings Per Share (cents) (211.7) N.M5 (66.8) N.M5 (14.9) N.M5

Full Year Dividend (cents) – – – – – –
1.	 Revenue in FY25 excludes $174.8 million of contracted cost recovery, at no margin, from DBC.
2.	 EBITDA and EBIT is before equity accounted investments profits/losses.
3.	 Normalised NPAT is before significant items.
4.	 Prior comparable period.
5.	 Not meaningful.
6.	 For further information, please refer to the financial report contained in the Annual Report for the relevant financial year.
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FY25 LIQUIDITY POSITION
The Star finished the 2025 financial year with 
available cash of $234 million which was an increase 
of 17.7% on the previous year.1 During the period, 
The Star took a number of steps to access 
additional liquidity:

	• amended the Group’s senior debt facility in 
November 2024 and obtained a waiver for 
covenant testing through to and including 
30 June 2025. As part of this amendment 
The Star also drew down an additional 
$100 million under this facility; 

	• sold non‑core assets including the Treasury 
Casino Building for ~$60 million (noting these 
proceeds were placed in a Disposal Proceeds 
Account and subject to a security arrangement 
with the Group’s senior lenders) and Sydney 
Event Centre for another ~$60 million; and 

	• raised an additional $300 million via a strategic 
investment from Bally’s and Investment 
Holdings. $233 million of the funds had been 
received by Star as at 30 June 2025. The 
remaining $67 million was paid to The Star 
on 9 October 2025.

Lastly, after 30 June 2025 The Star executed 
long‑form documentation to exit DBC and 
consolidate the assets it partly owns on the Gold 
Coast. The signing of long form documentation 
means that The Star is no longer required to pay 
capital contributions, financing or other costs of 
the DBC Joint Venture. DBC’s exit remains subject 
to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent. 
If these conditions are not met, The Star may be 
required to reimburse the Joint Venture Partners 
for costs incurred from March until the date the 
contract is unwound. All parties continue to work 
towards finalising these conditions. 

There remains material uncertainty regarding the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Key events and initiatives in the near term which 
are critical to the Group’s liquidity outlook include 
completing the Bally’s and Investment Holdings 
$300 million investment, completing the transaction 
entered into with the joint venture partners to exit 
DBC, the quantum and timing of the AUSTRAC 
penalty, and the Group’s ability to restore its casino 
licences. There is no certainty that these matters 
can be adequately resolved.

1.	 Refer Note G. Going Concern to the Financial Report, at page 143 of this document.
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KEY PROJECTS
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Separate to the above, FY25 also saw completion 
and progression of key and critical infrastructure 
and maintenance projects across Broadbeach 
Island including:

	• significant mechanical and electrical upgrades 
across the property;

	• various building services maintenance activities 
across the island;

	• key safety initiatives including electrical and 
swimming pool related; and

	• limited business as usual works undertaken and 
delivered across the property’s hospitality and 
gaming assets.

In FY25, The Star also entered into a binding heads 
of agreement with its joint venture partners, Chow 
Tai Fook Enterprises and Far East Consortium 
International, to acquire their interests in the 
Dorsett Gold Coast (Tower 1 Hotel) and Andaz Gold 
Coast (Tower 2 Hotel), at The Star Gold Coast. The 
completion of this transaction would result in The 
Star’s interest in each asset increasing from 33.3%, 
to full ownership, consolidating its position on the 
Gold Coast, and providing benefits including:

	• the enhancement of The Star’s customer offering 
with full ownership of the Dorsett Gold Coast 
and Andaz Gold Coast, further complementing 
the existing hospitality operation across The Star 
Gold Coast.

	• The Star retaining its rights to future 
development at The Star Gold Coast, which 
comprises a 6.7 hectare site with freehold 
title and existing plans to develop up to three 
additional towers and complementary amenities. 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Far East 
Consortium International retain their existing 
development rights for the next tower only, 
subject to The Star’s option to buy-out those 
rights for the next tower for $20 million.

THE STAR GOLD COAST
The Star Gold Coast masterplan 
continued in FY25, with the progression of 
construction on Tower 2, the $400 million, 
63 storey mixed-use tower being delivered 
by Destination Gold Coast Consortium, 
a joint venture development comprising 
The Star, Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and 
Far East Consortium. The tower, which had 
previously planned on opening in stages in 
2025, experienced delays following water 
damage which occurred on 28 March 2025, 
seeing the anticipated opening delayed to 
mid CY2026. 

The tower, the second of five in the $2 billion-plus 
masterplan for Broadbeach Island, will include:

	• Australia’s first Andaz by Hyatt, a 202 key 
five-star luxury lifestyle hotel 

	• the second stage of The Star Residences 
with 437 apartments 

	• additional restaurants, cafes, retail and 
nightlife venues

	• a comprehensive pool deck with 
complementary amenities.

Tower 2 will join its sister tower, Tower 1 which 
officially opened in FY22. Standing at 53-storeys, 
Tower 1 saw the opening of Australia’s first Dorsett 
hotel and 422 apartments delivered as part of the 
first phase of The Star Residences.

Upon completion, Tower 2 will mark the second 
of five potential towers as part of The Star Gold 
Coast’s masterplan, with a further three towers 
permissible on Broadbeach Island, each potentially 
bringing significant additional integrated resort 
facilities, dining precincts, bars and cafes, and 
entertainment areas.
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KEY PROJECTS (CONT.) 

THE STAR SYDNEY
On 8 April 2025, The Star completed the 
earlier announced divestment of The Star 
Sydney Event Centre and other additional 
spaces within The Star Sydney complex to 
Foundation Theatres for $60 million. 

Foundation Theatres, the owner of the Sydney 
Lyric and Capital Theatre is looking to broaden 
its entertainment offerings at The Star Sydney. 
FY25 also saw the progression and completion 
of key refresh and maintenance projects 
across the property.

THE STAR BRISBANE
FY25 saw the opening of the first phase 
of the highly anticipated The Star Brisbane, 
part of Queen’s Wharf Brisbane, a 
multi-stage $3.6 billion precinct being 
delivered as a joint venture by The Star, 
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and Far East 
Consortium on 29 August 2024. 

The initial opening phase of The Star Brisbane 
included the delivery of The Star Grand Hotel, 
Event Centre, Sky Deck, key gaming assets 
including main gaming floor and premium gaming 
rooms, the first phase of a number of restaurant, 
café and nightlife venues, the pedestrian bridge, 
and expansive public realm.

The Queen’s Wharf Brisbane precinct, one 
of Brisbane’s largest urban renewal projects, 
once fully completed will see an estimated 
1,000 premium hotel rooms, 1,500 residential 
apartments, 50 restaurants, bars and cafes, 
world-class entertainment, luxury retail, stunning 
public artworks, over 12 football fields of public 
and green space areas, and restoration of nine 
heritage listed buildings.

As part of the opening of The Star Brisbane, the 
Treasury Brisbane Casino closed its doors on 
25 August 2024, and was subsequently sold to 
Griffith University to be repurposed as an inner-city 
campus. The Treasury Hotel and Treasury Car Park 
continue to operate.

During FY25, The Star entered into a binding 
heads of agreement with its Joint Venture 
Partners (JVPs), Chow Tai Fook Enterprises and 
Far East Consortium International, to dispose of 
its 50% equity interest in Destination Brisbane 
Consortium (DBC). In August 2025 The Star entered 
into long form documentation with the JVPs to give 
effect to the transactions that were contemplated 
in the binding heads of agreement.

As part of the DBC Transaction The Star also 
agreed to transfer the Treasury Hotel, the Treasury 
Car Park, as well as its 50% equity interest in the 
Charlotte St Car Park (collectively the “Treasury 
Assets”) to the JVPs and increase its holding in 
the Destination Gold Coast Consortium (DGCC) 
from 33.3% to full ownership. The sale of its DBC 
interest, the Treasury Assets, and the DGCC 
transactions are subject to conditions precedent. 
The completion of the DBC transaction is expected 
before the Treasury Assets and DGCC. The Star 
will continue to operate The Star Brisbane until 
a replacement operator is appointed following 
which The Star has agreed to provide transitional 
services to that replacement operator for a limited 
additional period. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Changes 
See page 1 of Directors’ Report.

STEVE MCCANN 
Group Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 8 July 2024
Appointed to the Board 
as Managing Director 
on 2 December 2024
Bachelor of Laws and 
Bachelor of Economics. 

ANNE WARD 
Chairman, 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 15 August 2022
Appointed to the Board on 
18 November 2022 
Became Chair 29 April 2024
Bachelor of Laws; Bachelor of 
Arts; Barrister and Solicitor of 
the Supreme Court of Victoria; 
Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

BRUCE MATHIESON JNR 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 29 August 2025
Appointed to the Board on 
10 October 2025
Bachelor of Commerce. 

PETER HODGSON 
Independent, 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 6 July 2023
Appointed to the Board on 
7 February 2024
Master of Arts; Bachelor of 
Arts; Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

MICHAEL ISSENBERG 
Independent, 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 17 February 2022
Appointed to the Board on 
11 July 2022
BS in Hotel Administration; 
French Order of Merit 
(Ordre national du Mérite).

DEBORAH PAGE AM 
Independent, 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 1 February 2023
Appointed to the Board on 
13 March 2023
Bachelor of Economics; Fellow 
of Chartered Accountants 
Australia and New Zealand; 
Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors; Member 
of Chief Executive Women.

TONI THORNTON 
Independent, 
Non-Executive Director

Joined the Board as an Observer 
on 11 November 2022
Appointed to the Board on 
17 October 2023
Master of Laws; Bachelor of Arts; 
Graduate Certificate in Finance; 
Member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors. 
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EXECUTIVE TEAM

STEVE MCCANN 
Group Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director

FRANK KRILE 
Group Chief Financial Officer

JEANNIE MOK 
Group Chief Operating Officer 

ROWENA CRAZE 
Group Chief Risk Officer 

SARAH DERRY 
Group Chief People Officer 

PATRICK MCGLINCHEY 
Group Chief Legal Officer 

JENNIFER CRONIN 
Interim Chief Executive Officer, 
The Star Gold Coast

Executive Appointments:
Steve McCann (Appointed 
as Group CEO and Managing 
Director on 8 July 2024, 
subject to regulatory approvals 
which were received 
on 28 November 2024) 
Frank Krile (Appointed as 
Group Chief Financial Officer 
on 17 December 2024, subject 
to regulatory approvals which 
were received on 17 March 2025)
Janelle Campbell (Appointed 
as Chief Executive Officer, 
The Star Sydney on 25 January 
2024, subject to regulatory 
approvals which were received 
on 15 July 2024)
Rowena Craze (Appointed as 
Group Chief Audit Officer in April 
2024, subject to all necessary 
approvals which were received 
on 18 February 2025. Appointed 
Group Chief Risk Officer on 
24 June 2025)
Jennifer Cronin (Appointed as 
Interim Chief Executive Officer, 
The Star Gold Coast, subject to 
all regulatory approvals which 
were received on 28 July 2025)
Sarah Derry (Appointed Group 
Chief People Officer on 31 March 
2025, subject to regulatory 
approvals which were received 
on 24 June 2025)
Daniel Finch (Appointed as 
Chief Executive Officer, The Star 
Brisbane and Treasury Brisbane 
on 19 February 2024, subject to 
regulatory approvals which were 
received on 14 February 2024)
Patrick McGlinchey (Appointed 
as Interim Group Chief Legal 
Officer on 20 August 2024, 
subject to regulatory approvals 
which were received on 4 April 
2025, appointed Group Chief 
Legal Officer on 24 June 2025) 
Peter Meliniotis (Appointed 
Group Technology 
Transformation Executive 
on 28 January 2025, subject 
to all necessary approvals 
which were received on 
9 April 2025. Appointed Group 
Chief Information Officer on 
24 June 2025)
Jeannie Mok (Appointed as 
Group Chief Operating Officer 
on 11 June 2024, subject to 
regulatory approvals which 
were received on 12 Feb 2025)

Executive Departures:
Laurent Fresnel (Group Chief 
Technology and Innovation 
Officer, cessation date 
20 June 2025)
Paula Hammond (Group Chief 
People Officer, cessation date 
31 October 2024)
Mark Mackay (Appointed as 
Chief Executive Officer, The Star 
Gold Coast on 10 September 
2024, subject to regulatory 
approvals, cessation date 
13 December 2024)
Darryl McDonough (Interim 
Group Chief Legal Officer, 
ceased 16 August 2024)
Jessica Mellor (Appointed as 
Chief Executive Officer, The Star 
Gold Coast on 17 October 2023, 
subject to regulatory approvals, 
commenced gardening leave 
24 May 2024, cessation date 
15 September 2024)
Neale O’Connell (Appointed 
Interim Group Chief 
Financial Officer, subject to 
regulatory approvals which 
were received on 15 July 
2024, Acting Group Chief 
Executive Officer from 24 June 
2024 to 1 December 2024, 
cessation date 28 March 2025)
Scott Saunders (Group 
Chief Risk Officer, resigned 
31 July 2024, cessation date 
31 January 2025)

JANELLE CAMPBELL 
Chief Executive Officer,  
The Star Sydney

DANIEL FINCH 
Chief Executive Officer,  
The Star Brisbane

PETER MELINIOTIS 
Group Chief Information Officer
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
In 2022, we launched our ‘Responsible Business, 
Sustainable Destinations Strategy’, aligned with 
the United Nations Sustainable Development 
Goals (SDGs). The strategy was designed to 
address the environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) issues that our stakeholders consider to be 
most important. 

As our current Sustainability Strategy concludes 
its three-year lifecycle, we will commence on a 
strategic refresh in FY26, revisiting our priorities, 
setting new targets, and ensuring our ESG approach 
remains firmly aligned with the organisation’s 
broader strategic objectives. This renewal reflects 
our commitment to addressing the evolving 
expectations of our stakeholders and the material 
issues they identify, recognising that these may 
shift over time. 

At The Star, we are committed to delivering sustainable 
outcomes for our guests, our team members, the communities 
in which we operate and our shareholders, by providing 
entertainment, gaming and leisure experiences in a safe, 
responsible and ethical manner. 

Responsible Business, 
Sustainable Destinations Strategy

Operate with integrity to ensure safer 
gambling, sustainable growth, and zero 
tolerance for financial crime

	• Regulatory compliance and relationships
	• Responsible business operations
	• Guest safety, privacy and security

Foster wellbeing and enhance communities, 
within and beyond our precincts

	• Community wellbeing and trust
	• Sustainable and ethical supply chain
	• Employee health, safety and wellbeing
	• Employee engagement and development
	• Diversity, inclusion and equal opportunity

Create low carbon places that support 
nature and conserve resources

	• Climate resilience
	• Minimising environmental impact
	• Sustainable precincts
	• Nature & biodiversity

�RESPONSIBILITY (GOVERNANCE)

�PEOPLE, COMMUNITY  
AND MARKETPLACE (SOCIAL)

ENVIRONMENT
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MATERIALITY 
To assess materiality and develop our Sustainability 
Strategy, in FY23 we appointed external consultants 
to undertake a matrix analysis which can be seen on 
page 20 of this report, based on the requirements of 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), Accountability 
AA1000 Principles Standard, and the International 
Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) Framework. 
This analysis ranked the materiality of ESG issues 
identified by our stakeholders as part of a broader 
stakeholder engagement program. We utilise this 
materiality analysis to assist us in prioritising and 
reporting on the ESG issues that are most relevant 
to our business operations and stakeholders. It also 
plays a critical role in guiding the strategic direction 
of our ESG program and sustainability initiatives.

Whilst the materiality analysis forms the foundation 
of our Sustainability Strategy and reporting topics, 
we recognise that both internal developments and 
external factors, including regulatory changes and 
evolving stakeholder expectations, necessitate 
ongoing review. For The Star, this does not 
necessarily involve conducting a full materiality 
refresh every year but rather validating that the 
topics we prioritise remain fit-for-purpose and 
reflective of the most relevant and material issues 
for our business and our stakeholders.

As highlighted in the public inquiries, past 
shortcomings in leadership, controls and processes 
at The Star contributed to conduct that fell short 
of community and regulatory expectations. In light 
of this, our critical areas of focus in addition to the 
material issues identified in the materiality analysis, 
include restoring trust, regaining our suitability to 
hold casino licences, uplifting our financial crime 
and anti-money laundering and counter-terrorism 
financing programs, and transforming The Star into 
a sustainable, responsible business for the long term. 

Memberships and Affiliations:
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT (CONT.) 

THE STAR’S ESG MATERIALITY MATRIX
Environment Responsibility People

Climate resilience

Minimising environmental impacts

Sustainable precincts

Nature and 
biodiversity

Sustainable and 
ethical supply chain

Diversity, inclusion, 
and equal opportunity

Employee health, safety, and wellbeing

Community wellbeing and trust

Responsible 
business operations

Safer
gambling

Regulatory 
compliance and 
relationships

Guest security

ESG transparency

Sustainable business 
performance

Guest safety and 
environment health

Employee engagement 
and development

Privacy and security

Im
pa

ct
 o

n 
St

ak
eh

ol
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rs

Impact on The Star (Financial Materiality)

Material Topics
Ranking Topic

=1 Safer gambling

=1 Community wellbeing and trust

=1 Responsible business operations

=1 Regulatory compliance and relationships

5 Sustainable business performance

=6 Employee health, safety, and wellbeing

=6 Guest safety and environment health

=8 Privacy and security

=8 Guest security

10 ESG transparency

=11 Minimising environmental impacts

=11 Sustainable precincts

=13 Climate resilience

=13 Employee engagement and deployment

=15 Sustainable and ethical supply chain

=15 Diversity, inclusion, and equal opportunity

17 Nature and biodiversity
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OUR SUSTAINABILITY PILLARS
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REPORTING PERIOD AND SCOPE 
Our 2025 Sustainability Report contains key metrics 
and information about The Star’s performance in 
managing its most material ESG issues. Additional 
information can be found in other performance 
reports on the company website. 

This Sustainability Report covers the:

	• Period 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025 (FY25), 
except for our gender pay gap and gender 
diversity data with reference to The Star’s 
Workplace Gender Equality Agency reporting 
under the relevant legislation, which covers 
1 April 2023 to 31 March 2025. 

	• Assets which The Star is responsible for 
managing on a day‑to‑day basis in their entirety 
and has operational control of as defined by the 
NGER Act 2007.

	• Various regulatory matters are discussed in 
detail in the Financial Report and the Notes to 
the Financial Statements.

The Star strives to provide accurate and transparent 
information based on the best available data 
and methodologies. However, there are inherent 
limitations to consider:

	• Forward-Looking Statements: This report may 
contain forward-looking statements about 
future ESG goals and initiatives which may be 
identified by statements containing terms such 
as ‘intend’, ‘aim’, ‘ambition’, ‘aspiration’, ‘goal’, 
‘target’, ‘project’, ‘see’, ‘anticipate’, ‘estimate’, 
‘plan’, ‘objective’, ‘believe’, ‘expect’, ‘commit’, 
‘may’, ‘should’, ‘need’, ‘must’, ‘will’, ‘would’, 
‘continue’, ‘forecast’, ‘guidance’, ‘trend’, or similar 
expressions. Users of these statements are 
advised to exercise caution and avoid placing 
undue reliance on such statements, as these 
statements are based on our current expectations 
and beliefs and are subject to change due to 
various factors, including market conditions, 
regulatory changes, and unforeseen events. 

	• Certain data points rely on estimations and 
assumptions. We use industry benchmarks, 
reputable data sources, and our best judgment to 
make these estimations as accurate as possible. 
These estimates should be interpreted with 
caution due to some uncertainty.

	• The ESG metrics used in this report may not 
be directly comparable to those used by other 
companies due to variations in methodologies, 
reporting standards, and industry practices. We 
align with recognised frameworks where possible, 
but some metrics may be company-specific to 
reflect our unique business model and priorities.

	• The environmental data presented in this 
report is supported by a Basis of Preparation 
which can be found on the corporate website 
at www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/
reporting-assurance.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY (GOVERNANCE) 
1.1	� REGULATORY COMPLIANCE 

AND RELATIONSHIPS
The Board recognises that strong corporate 
governance is foundational to the effective 
and compliant operation of The Star, 
including its subsidiaries and controlled 
entities. Further to the progress realised 
in FY25, The Star remains focused on 
strengthening governance practices, 
embedding robust risk management 
frameworks, and cultivating a resilient 
risk and compliance culture to support its 
ongoing suitability. 

Corporate Governance
The Group’s 2025 Corporate Governance 
Statement is available on the Company’s website 
at www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/
corporate-governance. 

The Star is committed to contemporary corporate 
governance practices and is currently undertaking 
a significant, organisation-wide transformation 
and renewal program, which includes a new 
Governance Framework outlining the allocation of 
oversight, function and responsibility across the 
Board, Property Boards, the Board Committees 
and the Property Risk and Compliance Committees. 
A primary focus of the program is to facilitate 
and support close and direct supervision by the 
Property Boards and information flow between 
the entities. The uplift includes a refresh of 
compositions across the Property Boards and 
their Committees, in addition to uplifted charters 
and constitutions.

The Casino Regulatory Environment 
Over the past three years, The Star has been 
subject to regulatory scrutiny and reform across 
both New South Wales and Queensland, driven 
by the findings the Bell and Gotterson Inquiries, 
including findings of corporate governance 
failures, financial crime risks and inadequate 
harm minimisation practices.

Since those inquiries, The Star has significantly 
strengthened its engagement with its gaming 
regulators, including the NSW Independent Casino 
Commission (NICC) and Liquor & Gaming NSW 
(L&GNSW) in NSW and the Office of Liquor and 
Gaming Regulation (OLGR) in Queensland. The Star 
remains committed to increased transparency and 
early engagement with its regulators, including 
on key operational matters and initiatives. This 
proactive approach facilitates early feedback and 
alignment on the strategic objectives of 
property-specific initiatives.

KEY REGULATORY MILESTONES 
New South Wales — NICC Oversight
The Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) was amended 
in September 2022 to establish the NICC, replacing 
the Independent Liquor and Gaming Authority 
(ILGA). The NICC regulates the operation of the 
casino, with a focus on eliminating gambling harm, 
money laundering and criminal infiltration.

Recent key regulatory developments include the 
introduction of mandatory carded play and cash 
restrictions, including the implementation of a daily 
cash limit of $5,000. The requirement to reduce 
the cash limit to $1,000 was recently deferred to 
19 August 2027.

The Star Sydney’s casino licence remains 
suspended with the Manager’s appointment 
extended by the NICC until at least 31 March 2026. 
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Queensland — OLGR Oversight
In Queensland, the OLGR similarly oversees 
casino operations. 

The Star Gold Coast’s casino licence remains 
subject to a 90-day suspension which is 
currently deferred until 30 September 2026. 
The Special Manager’s appointment has also 
been extended until at least 30 September 2026.

The Star Brisbane at the Queen’s Wharf Precinct 
opened on 29 August 2024 in conjunction with 
Destination Brisbane Consortium (DBC). While 
DBC has been granted an unconditional casino 
licence, The Star Brisbane is captured by The 
Star’s Remediation Plan and the External Advisor’s 
appointment, which has been extended until at 
least 30 September 2026. 

1.2	� RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS 
OPERATIONS 

Pathway to Suitability 
and Remediation 
The Star has made substantial progress 
in delivering the Remediation Plan, which 
outlines the pathway for restoring its return 
to suitability and lifting the suspension of 
its casino licences. 

In FY25, The Star’s Amended Remediation 
Plan (ARP) was updated to incorporate a 
series of changes addressing governance, the 
operating model, financial crime, and technology 
enhancements in response to the findings from 
the Bell Two Inquiry and recent operational 
developments. These updates were approved by 
the Office of Liquor and Gaming Regulation (OLGR) 
on 19 June 2025 and have been provided to the 
NSW Independent Casino Commission (NICC). 
The revised ARP also includes changes to milestone 
structures, assurance processes, and budget 
allocations, reflecting a strengthened commitment 
to regulatory compliance and sustainable 
remediation outcomes.

Our transformation journey is not only structural but 
cultural. We have introduced a new decentralised 
operating model that localises decision-making 
and empowers property-level leadership, enabling 
more agile and accountable management. This 
model has been supported by refreshed governance 
frameworks and clearer lines of responsibility, 
ensuring that compliance, risk, and operational 
integrity will be embedded into day-to-day 
decision-making. These changes reflect a deliberate 
shift away from legacy practices and toward a more 
transparent and accountable organisation.

In FY25, we continued to focus on demonstrating 
our commitment to building a resilient and compliant 
business. Technology has played a critical role in 
strengthening our risk and compliance capabilities. 
We successfully cleared our Enhanced Due 
Diligence backlog and implemented the Archer 
Group Risk and Compliance (GRC) platform, 
replacing Protecht, which improved our ability 
to manage risk, track remediation progress, and 
provide transparent reporting to regulators. 

Details about our ongoing transformation efforts 
and updates to the Remediation Plan can be 
found on The Star’s corporate website: 
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/transformation.
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Transforming our culture
Last year, we launched a refreshed strategic direction anchored in our new Purpose, Values, and Principles 
(PVP). This framework provides clear expectations for daily decision-making and behaviour across 
our organisation.

The Star’s Purpose is to create fun at trusted destinations.

Our PVP shapes the culture and behaviours across our company, ensuring that no matter what decisions 
are made, centrally or locally, they are consistent with the organisation’s identity and commitments.

1. RESPONSIBILITY (GOVERNANCE) (CONT.) 

Our Values are: 

Build memorable connections: Relationships 
and fun are at the heart of who we are. We 
work together to create the best experience 
for anyone.

Own it: Every person plays a unique role in 
making The Star shine. We take responsibility 
and help each other grow.

Lead with integrity: We are honest and ethical. 
We speak up and follow through to make sure the 
right thing is being done.

Take good care: The wellbeing and safety of 
our team, guests and communities is deeply 
important to us. We protect, support and 
positively contribute to our communities.
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In August 2024, The Star established a Culture and 
Ethics Office, led by an independent Chief Culture 
and Ethics Officer who reports directly to the Chair 
of the Board Culture, People and Remuneration 
Committee. The Office provides expert insight to 
the Board, supports the leadership team to drive 
culture reform in line with the expectations of key 
stakeholders, and facilitates proactively mitigation 
of cultural risks. The Office also provides regular, 
evidence-based progress assessments to our 
Special Manager and regulators.

Our aim for FY25 was the development of a 
sound foundation for cultural transformation 
across the company. 5,481 team members 
responded to a comprehensive “Your Star Culture 
Survey” in October 2024 to collect baseline data 
on our culture. The survey is repeated every 
6 months, to gather feedback, maintain focus and 
course-correct as needed. Sound participation in 
the surveys so far demonstrates commitment from 
our team members to help shape and sustain our 
cultural transformation journey. 

The baseline survey highlighted key themes 
requiring additional focus over the course of FY25, 
to reinforce activities already planned within our 
culture reform program. Supplementary actions 
were implemented to help clarify direction, build 
trust and support execution. The impact of these 
actions was tested in March 2025, and based on 
feedback, we have continued to refine and deepen 
our program to maximise its impact:

	• Between May and June 2025, a series of 
workshops were held with leaders and team 
members at all levels to develop constructive 
and empowered ways of talking about change.

	• We introduced a series of internal initiatives 
aimed at fostering a more open, inclusive and 
connected culture across teams and levels.

	• We introduced property-level governance 
mechanisms to ensure our operational 
decision-making aligns to our cultural 
aspirations.

We also refreshed our Code of Conduct in FY25 
and incorporated it into our mandatory training to 
ensure it is practical, relevant and used in guiding 
every-day decision making and behaviour. In FY26, 
we will refine our consequence management, 
incentives and performance management programs 
to further reinforce behaviour aligned to our 
cultural expectations.

While we recognise that cultural change takes 
time, we are encouraged by the honest feedback 
of our stakeholders, and the internal capability 
we are building to demonstrate sustained cultural 
transformation moving forward.

Leadership and accountability 
In FY25, The Star commenced its transition 
to a decentralised operating model with the 
intention of promoting greater accountability 
at the property-level for business performance, 
risk and compliance. 

The model, when fully implemented, will be applied 
across all properties and is intended to create 
clear lines of ownership, decision-making, and 
governance, while maintaining alignment with 
Group strategy. The key elements of this model are: 

	• Co-strategy: Group strategy is set centrally 
through collaboration with properties. The 
properties will develop their own strategies to 
meet their unique ambitions whilst maintaining 
alignment to broader Group-wide pillars 
and objectives. 

	• Central governance oversight: Frameworks 
and policies are centrally defined to ensure 
consistency in key activities in line with our 
Three Lines of Accountability model. 

	• Culture Governance: The Group sets broad 
cultural principles and values but allows 
properties to interpret and implement them 
to suit their local context. 

	• Shared technology: Maintain technology in the 
centre to ensure consistency across properties 
and derive benefits of scale with local system 
autonomy where appropriate.

The Star’s Group Leadership Team (GLT) has 
been significantly strengthened with several 
permanent appointments outlined on page 17 
of this report, providing stability and executive 
capability to deliver on business objectives, drive 
effective, long term cultural change and deliver 
remediation commitments.

In addition, a GLT charter has been put in 
place which clearly sets out the purpose of the 
GLT, formalises roles and responsibilities, and 
defines accountabilities for key matters including 
those between GLT members with Group and 
property responsibilities.
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1. RESPONSIBILITY (GOVERNANCE) (CONT.) 

The GLT are accountable for overseeing the 
Group-wide cultural change program and 
Remediation Plan initiatives, as well as setting the 
strategic direction and overseeing the disciplined 
execution of our strategy and business plans. 
Further, these appointments are helping drive a 
values-led culture that prioritises safer gambling, 
regulatory compliance, and ethical conduct, in 
line with our commitment to attract and retain 
high-calibre talent aligned with our transformation 
agenda and long-term strategic goals.

During FY25, we launched Cornerstone, a 
bespoke Leadership Development Program that 
was rolled out to almost 800 leaders across the 
business, delivering high-quality training across 
key focus areas which has helped to set the right 
tone, expectations, and behaviours, with further 
modules focused on leading and managing change. 

Financial crime prevention 
Our financial crime frameworks, controls, and 
processes continued to advance in FY25. We 
enhanced our customer due diligence procedures to 
strengthen our ability to identify customers, verify 
the source of their funds, detect potential gaps, and 
escalate associated risks appropriately. In support 
of our uplifted Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and 
Counter-Terrorism Financing (CTF) Program, we 
further expanded our financial crime operations 
team, ensuring we have the resources and expertise 
needed to meet evolving regulatory expectations 
and emerging threats.

We continued to uplift our financial crime 
frameworks, processes, and controls through 
several key initiatives:

	• Customer Risk Assessment: Refinement 
of our customer risk scoring methodology to 
better assess customer risk

	• AML/CTF Program: Update of our program 
to align with evolving regulatory expectations 
and operational needs

	• Customer Due Diligence (CDD):
	− Uplift of our CDD procedures
	− Completion of our remediation for 

Enhanced CDD
	− Introduction of a new process to 

periodically refresh and safeguard core 
Know Your Customer (KYC) information

	• Customer Screening: Migration to a more 
advanced platform to improve detection and 
monitoring capabilities

	• Operational Resourcing: Significant expansion 
of our Financial Crime Risk Operations team 
to uplift customer due diligence processes 
and implement stronger controls in line with 
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism 
Financing (AML/CTF) obligations.

The introduction of mandatory carded play and cash 
limits in Sydney during the year has also aided the 
ongoing uplift of our financial crime controls. 

In FY26, we will focus on the refinement of 
screening frameworks, controls automation, and the 
completion of comprehensive customer reviews.

Uplift in Risk and Compliance
We have a Code of Conduct, which all team 
members must adhere to while performing their 
duties. Our Code of Conduct was refreshed in 
FY25 and articulates the behavioural standards 
and expectations of our team members while 
employed by The Star. 

The Star’s Code of Conduct can be found 
at: www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/
corporate-governance.

Our new operating model enhances control and 
supervision at each property, driving work under 
our amended Remediation Plan that is fit for 
purpose, addresses feedback from various public 
inquiries including the Bell Two Inquiry, and is 
effectively embedded at the property level. As part 
of this, we have introduced General Managers of 
Risk and Compliance in each property, supported 
by dedicated property Risk and Compliance teams 
and the Group Risk function under our Three Lines 
of Accountability Model. Embedding Risk Appetite 
Statements into decision-making, coupled with 
enhanced risk metric performance reporting has 
improved risk management visibility and oversight. 
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We are conducting property-level risk assessments 
to identify and address control issues, with control 
ownership shifting to balance property-based and 
centralised accountability. Internal controls for 
Sydney and Queensland have also been uplifted 
and rolled out across all properties. We have also 
revised Internal Control Manuals for the Gold Coast 
and Brisbane, strengthened Know Your Customer 
(KYC) processes and introduced Prevention of 
Play stop codes.

Improving our compliance framework, systems 
and processes has been a key focus for us over 
the last 24 months to help build a stronger and 
safer business. This saw many policies consolidated 
or retired, and new ones created. Over 200 
documents were reviewed as part of this work, 
resulting in a consolidation to 78 group-wide 
policies and frameworks. This has strengthened 
our governance, clarified what we expect from our 
teams regarding behaviour, actions and processes, 
and is supported with ongoing annual reviews and 
role-specific training. 

1.3	� GUEST SAFETY, PRIVACY 
AND SECURITY 

Safer Gambling 
The Star prioritises the wellbeing of our 
guests, including policies and strategies 
to provide a Safer Gambling environment 
aligned with global better practice. 
We actively engage with team members, 
guests and external stakeholders to ensure 
prevailing expectations are met or are part 
of continuous uplift in Safer Gambling. 
This includes leveraging our access to 
guests, their data and our ability to actively 
intervene to prevent harm before or while 
it is occurring, not afterwards.

In FY25, we continued to uplift our Safer Gambling 
operations as we transitioned our Safer Gambling 
operations teams into their associated property 
teams. This transition enables Property CEOs to 
exercise greater control over day-to-day operation 
of Safer Gambling practices. Property-based teams 
have a new, standardised structure, ensuring 
appropriate, 24/7 Guest Support. We launched a 
refreshed mandatory Safer Gambling training, with 
all team members completing the ‘Elevate’ induction 
training day prior to commencing their employment. 
We developed and implemented additional Safer 
Gambling training, including Safer Gambling 
Advanced Interactions Skills and Safer Gambling 
Culture training for leaders. 

The Star Brisbane successfully opened in 
August 2024, with a refreshed suite of Safer 
Gambling materials available to guests. Updated 
guest resources have also been rolled out 
across The Star Gold Coast and The Star Sydney 
properties. The Star Sydney has deployed advanced 
Safer Gambling tools, including a cash-limited 
environment, mandatory carded play, and Voluntary 
Gaming Suspension which allows guests to suspend 
their ability to play while still being able to enter 
all areas of the property. We introduced to guests 
from any property the ability to self-exclude online, 
without the need to interact with a team member or 
visit our properties, if so desired. 
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1. RESPONSIBILITY (GOVERNANCE) (CONT.) 

In FY25, The Star maintained its Safer Gambling 
accreditation from RG Check, a comprehensive 
and global accreditation program developed by 
independent non-profit organisation Responsible 
Gambling Council.

In FY26, we will drive achievement of Safer Gambling 
milestones, including implementation of expenditure 
limits at The Star Sydney and improvements to 
technology to assist guest awareness of their 
gambling behaviour, Safer Gambling tools and 
support available. Our engagement with external 
stakeholders, particularly through involvement in 
multidisciplinary and industry-based forums, will 
continue to inform and shape initiatives across 
The Star’s Safer Gambling program. 

Our focus remains on preventing harm, intervening 
early, and providing support through initiatives that 
sit across the following four key pillars:

Pillar 1: Building a Safer Gambling Culture
We adopt a public health approach to gambling 
harm, supporting the individual while protecting 
in the wider community. Every level of our 
business is trained to recognise the early signs 
of harmful behaviour and are empowered to raise 
concerns and act. 

Pillar 2: Taking Good Care of Our Guests
We ‘take good care’ of our guests by giving them 
access to tools and information that help them 
manage play responsibly. Initiatives such as 
carded play and cash limits are proving powerful 
safeguards enabling us to effectively and efficiently 
monitor activity, identify risks, intervene where 
necessary so that everyone can enjoy our venues 
in healthy, sustainable ways. 

Pillar 3: Harnessing Data Insights
By responsibly using loyalty and activity data in line 
with our Privacy Policy, we are better understanding 
our guests and proactively identifying those 
at risk, helping us to deliver timely support 
and reduce harm. 

Pillar 4: Partnering with Stakeholders
We know real change requires collective effort. 
That’s why we work closely with leading experts, 
community representatives, health professionals 
and industry peers, sharing insights, collaborating 
openly and driving continuous improvement.

We will leverage our learnings from the 
implementation of carded play and cash limits at 
The Star Sydney for the benefit of our Queensland 
casinos. Once completed, we will use technology to 
better understand our customers, set time-limited 
play, and reduce cash transactions, all key to making 
The Star as safe as possible for our guests.

Together, these actions mean our venues are 
not just places of entertainment, but safer 
spaces where guests can feel empowered, 
informed supported and confident that their 
wellbeing comes first. 

Preventing access for minors 
and unattended minors 
At The Star, we have zero tolerance for minors 
entering designated gaming areas within any of our 
casinos and use various controls to prevent it. 

Incidents of children left unattended in or around 
our properties are viewed very seriously by The 
Star, its regulators and the community. As such, we 
train staff in the management of situations involving 
unattended children, apply prompt supervision of 
unattended children, where considered appropriate, 
or as required by law, report parents or guardians 
to the relevant authorities, and, where appropriate, 
ban and/or exclude parents or guardians from the 
Group’s properties. 

Responsible Service of Alcohol (RSA) 
The Star’s RSA program is designed to maintain 
safe venues by providing RSA frameworks and 
controls, role-specific training and certification 
for team members, refusing entry to intoxicated 
patrons, and addressing signs of intoxication and 
undesirable activity. The Star also meets with 
regulators and other key stakeholders to engage 
in constructive discussions regarding initiatives 
that promote the responsible service of alcohol. 
RSA Committees in each property meet monthly 
to manage and monitor governance activities and 
incidents related to the RSA program and to work 
towards continuous improvement. Independent 
audits of RSA compliance are conducted across 
all properties on a regular basis.
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Privacy and Cyber Security 
Privacy
At The Star, we recognise that safeguarding the 
rights and wellbeing of our guests, team members, 
and partners is vital to maintaining trust and 
supporting sustainable growth. We are committed 
to managing personal information ethically, 
securely, and in full compliance with legal and 
regulatory obligations.

Our dedicated Privacy team leads the development 
and implementation of The Star’s privacy and 
data protection strategy, guided by our Privacy 
Compliance Policy and Privacy Management 
Framework. These frameworks ensure that privacy 
principles are embedded across our operations 
through robust policies, standard operating 
procedures, and governance practices. 

In 2025, we tested and strengthened the resilience 
of our systems to better anticipate and respond to 
privacy risks. 

As we continue to innovate and introduce 
new products and services to enhance guest 
experiences, privacy-by-design remains a core 
principle. We continually refine our approach 
to privacy and data protection, ensuring that 
our practices evolve in line with emerging risks, 
technologies, and stakeholder expectations.

Cyber Security and Resilience 
Cyber security is a shared responsibility, 
promoted through regular campaigns, improved 
communication, and enhanced technology 
capabilities. These efforts have fostered to 
a stronger security culture and improved 
vigilance across teams.

In FY25, simulation exercises adopted a more 
rigorous definition of compromise, where 
even a click on a phishing link was treated as 
a failure. This shift provided a clearer picture 
of user behaviour and highlighted areas for 
targeted improvement.

Enhanced technology now enables more precise 
tracking and targeted training. Updated crisis 
plans include technology scenarios, ensuring 
coordinated responses to cyber incidents. Refined 
policies further clarify roles and responsibilities 
during such events.

The Digital Threat Remediation Program, launched 
in February 2025, addresses key risk domains 
including Cyber Security, Data Integrity, Fraud, 
Financial Crime, and Privacy. The Program aims 
to reduce The Star’s risk profile from Very High 
to Moderate by July 2026. 

Casino 2.0 
The Star is advancing its transformation agenda 
through the Casino 2.0 program, aligning with 
key recommendations from the Bell Review. With 
the successful rollout of mandatory carded play 
and cash limits, we are enhancing transparency 
and regulatory compliance across our gaming 
operations. Complementing these changes, The 
Star has introduced new digital capabilities that 
empower patrons to manage their play, including 
voluntary gaming suspensions, deposit and loss 
limits, and delayed transfers. This program reflects 
our commitment to innovation, customer protection, 
and long-term sustainability.

Technology Risk Governance & Uplifts
The Star has enhanced technology risk oversight 
with a Technology Risk Management Committee 
guiding strategic direction and risk management. 
Control testing is now more consistent and 
property-focused, supporting enterprise 
assurance. The newly launched Data Governance 
Framework clarifies data ownership, proactively 
manages data risk, and strengthens compliance, 
fostering informed decision-making across 
The Star’s business.

Evolving the Group Technology Model
Over the past three years, regulatory requirements 
have been a key driver of technology development 
at The Star, resulting in the establishment of 
robust and compliant systems. Now, the focus 
shifts to optimisation, resilience and growth across 
five pillars: compliance, cyber resilience, AI and 
automation for cost optimisation, operational 
efficiency, and enhanced patron engagement. 
The evolving Group Technology model will support 
a property-centric strategy, balancing centralised 
services with property-level accountability, all 
guided by new governance frameworks to ensure 
transparency, agility, and strategic integrity across 
the organisation.

THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT 29

Chair and CEO Reports

Business Overview and 
Financial Performance

Key Projects

Our People

Sustainability Report

Directors’ Report

Financial Report

Additional Information



2. COMMUNITY AND PEOPLE 
(SOCIAL)

2.1	� COMMUNITY WELLBEING AND TRUST
Community commitment 
and development
The Star strives to be a responsible 
corporate citizen as part of its purpose 
to ‘create fun at trusted destinations’ 
and prides itself in supporting a range of 
charities, not-for profits and community 
organisations in the Gold Coast, Sydney 
and Brisbane. Each of our three properties 
are committed to supporting a range 
of initiatives that contribute to the 
communities in which they operate and 
where team members live and work. 

National partnerships
In FY25, The Star continued its national community 
partnership with GIVIT, a charity that connects 
donations, whether money, goods, or time, with 
people and communities facing hardship, including 
those impacted by natural disasters. 

Through this collaboration, The Star supported 
a range of initiatives that benefited both GIVIT 
directly and its network of more than 4,500 partner 
organisations. Highlights of this partnership 
included the donation of kitchen items from the 
Treasury Brisbane and fundraising activities during 
Community Month at The Star Gold Coast.

Team members across The Star continued to 
support charities, community groups, sporting 
clubs and local schools through many on-property 
activations. Notably, this included the Plan B (Drink 
Driving) campaign led by Transport for NSW and 
NSW Police during the FY25 summer festive season. 

The Star has also maintained strong partnerships 
with major sporting organisations, including NSW 
Rugby League men’s and women’s teams, and 
Australian Turf Club’s race meets including The Star 
Championships. Additional partnerships include 
the Gold Coast Suns AFL and the Gold Coast 
Titans NRL clubs. 

The Star Gold Coast
The Star Gold Coast was proud to again support 
two icons of the Gold Coast: Surf Life Saving 
Queensland (SLSQ) and Currumbin Wildlife 
Hospital, with SLSQ also participating in the 
property’s community month fundraiser.

Furthering its commitment to regional tourism, 
the Star Gold Coast is also involved in developing 
tourism and visitation through various events and 
sporting partnerships, most prominently as the 
Naming Rights Partner of Gold Coast Magic Millions 
Carnival and Raceday. 

We also continue to hold the management rights for 
the Gold Coast Convention and Exhibition Centre 
(GCCEC), located next door to The Star Gold Coast. 
This is a significant asset to the overall Gold Coast 
City which we have managed on behalf of the 
Queensland government (the owners) since 2004.

The Star Sydney
At The Star Sydney, we continued to invest in 
community groups and events in the local Pyrmont 
area. Our food and beverage teams volunteered 
their time at the Christmas in Pyrmont festival, 
helping raise funds and awareness for several 
local charities. This year, we also broadened 
opportunities for team member engagement in 
initiatives by contributing to the Harris Community 
Centre Christmas Food Drive. 

Additionally, we maintained over a decade of 
sponsorship of the Pyrmont Food and Wine Festival 
working with the Pyrmont Ultimo Chamber of 
Commerce to raise funds and showcase the best 
of NSW food, wine and local artists.

30 THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT



The Star Brisbane
All community partnerships that commenced with 
the Treasury Brisbane continued with the staged 
opening of The Star Brisbane on August 29, 2024:

	• Our landmark partnership with The Royal 
National Agricultural (RNA) and Industrial 
Association of Queensland’s Royal Queensland 
Beer and Wine Awards was renewed. The 
involvement with the Awards fosters emerging 
talent in the Queensland craft brewing and 
winemaking industry and supports those 
companies that employ and nurture that talent.

	• We also continued as the Presenting Partner of 
The Brisbane Portrait Prize, which is dedicated 
to celebrating Brisbane portrait artists. In 
November 2024 we presented a showcase of 
Portrait Prize finalists at the newly opened Event 
Centre at The Star Brisbane, further highlighting 
local creative talent.

	• Our commitment to Queensland arts and 
culture was showcased further with the 
launch of two new experiences as part of The 
Star’s involvement in the Destination Brisbane 
Consortium partnership.

	• In conjunction with the Museum of Brisbane, 
art walking tours commenced in November 2024 
showcasing the public art installations across 
the Queen’s Wharf Brisbane precinct. A new art 
prize worth $30,000 in collaboration with the 
Royal Queensland Art Society Brisbane Branch 
was launched in May 2025. 

	• We are proud to support city icons and events 
including the Brisbane Broncos, Brisbane 
Racing Carnival and Brisbane Festival.

CASE STUDY: TREASURY BRISBANE

As we transitioned from Treasury to The Star 
Brisbane we made a number of donations 
to different charities via our national charity 
partner, GIVIT. These included:

	• Tools and building materials to South 
Brisbane and Indooroopilly Men’s Sheds 
which support the health and wellbeing of 
men and help them to remain as valued and 
productive members of our community.

	• Crockery, glassware, and utensils 
to church groups who support the 
homeless and disadvantaged people 
in our community.

	• Leftover food from cold rooms to 
Foodbank Queensland who are the pantry 
to the charity sector, linking surplus food 
and groceries to people in need. 

	• Uniforms to E-Thread, an organisation 
that offers sustainable and eco-friendly 
garment solutions to the social and 
environmental implications of a throwaway 
culture of used and unwanted clothing. 
2,611 kgs of textiles were diverted from 
landfill as a result and the donated textiles 
were suitable for reprocessing into rags to 
be reused.

THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT 31

Chair and CEO Reports

�Business Overview and 
Financial Performance

Key Projects

Our People Directors’ Report

Financial Report

Additional Information

Sustainability Report



2. COMMUNITY AND PEOPLE (SOCIAL) (CONT.) 

2.2	� SUSTAINABLE AND ETHICAL 
SUPPLY CHAIN 

Responsible Sourcing 
Our Supplier Code of Conduct establishes 
requirements for our suppliers. As part 
of the contracting process, suppliers 
are required to agree to comply with the 
Supplier Code of Conduct which covers:

	• Human Rights, labour practices, 
and anti-discrimination

	• Equal employment opportunity (EEO) 
and supplier diversity

	• Community involvement
	• Environmental sustainability
	• Workplace health and safety
	• Anti-corruption
	• Supply chain management
	• Privacy.

The Star is committed to conducting our 
procurement activities ethically, responsibly and 
with integrity. Guided by our internal Responsible 
Procurement Policy, we uphold principles that aim 
to promote ethical sourcing, equal opportunities for 
competition, and consider potential environmental 
sustainability and modern slavery risks. These 
principles serve as a foundation for informed 
decision-making, helping our team align their 
actions with our broader values and commitments. 

In addition, our Procurement operations ensure 
relevant audits and certifications are obtained prior 
to high-risk purchases, including certifications in 
relation to Seafood (Marine Stewardship Council), 
and Food safety audits (i.e. Hazard Analysis Critical 
Control Points (HACCP)). 

The Star is also a member of Supply Nation, 
a non-profit organisation that aims to grow the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander business 
sector through the promotion of supplier diversity 
in Australia, with plans over the forward 12 months 
to expand the spend and number of Supply Nation 
suppliers being utilised.

Modern Slavery 
As a major employer and a leading provider in 
hospitality and entertainment, The Star is deeply 
committed to upholding and protecting the rights 
and freedoms of our customers, employees, 
and those working within our supply chain. We 
strive to protect and support the wellbeing of all 
individuals connected to our business, reinforcing 
our dedication to ethical and responsible practices 
across every level of our operations. 

Our Modern Slavery Working Group, which is 
comprised of members from the Procurement, 
Sustainability, Financial Crime, Investigations 
and Employee Relations teams, continues to 
develop our approach to identifying, managing and 
mitigating modern slavery risks within the business. 

The Star is a participant of the United Nations 
Global Compact Network (UNGCNA) and actively 
engages in the UNGCNA Community of Practice 
for Modern Slavery. This Community of Practice 
supports organisations in uplifting their modern 
slavery practices by fostering peer learning, sharing 
best practices, preparing members for regulatory 
changes, and informing global policy to strengthen 
collective efforts against modern slavery.

We publish an annual Modern Slavery Statement 
which outlines our approach to identifying, 
assessing and mitigating modern slavery risks 
within our operations. The Statement also 
addresses our reporting requirements under the 
Modern Slavery Act 2018 (Cth) and is submitted to 
the Attorney-General’s Department each year for 
inclusion on the public Modern Slavery Register. 

The Monash University Modern Slavery Disclosures 
Quality Ratings Report serves as a valuable 
benchmarking tool that promotes corporate 
accountability by rigorously evaluating the quality 
of modern slavery disclosures made by ASX100 
companies under Australia’s Modern Slavery 
Act. In FY25, Monash University published their 
assessments for the FY23 reporting period. The 
Star Entertainment received an ‘A’ rating for the 
company’s FY23 Modern Slavery Statement, 
up from an ‘E’ rating for the FY20 Modern 
Slavery Statement. 

To read The Star’s most recent 
Modern Slavery Statement please visit: 
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.
au/modernslavery.
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2.3	� EMPLOYEES — HEALTH, SAFETY 
AND WELL BEING 

At The Star, we recognise that our people 
are integral to the success of our business 
and accordingly we place significant 
emphasis on attracting and retaining talent, 
ensuring the safety and wellbeing of our 
employees, and providing ongoing training 
and development. 

As of 30 June 2025, The Star employed 8,487 people. 

TABLE 2: TOTAL NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES 
BY EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT TYPE 

EMPLOYMENT 
CONTRACT

FY25 
TOTAL

% 
TOTAL 
(FY25)

FY24 
TOTAL

% 
TOTAL 
(FY24)

Permanent
Full-time 4,143 48.8% 4,027 49.3%
Part-time 2,339 27.6% 2,277 27.9%

Fixed-term 
contract

Full-time 53 0.6% 75 0.9%
Part-time 8 0.1% 2 0.02%

Casual Casual 1,944 22.9% 1,791 21.9%
Total 8,487 100% 8,172 100%

Safety and wellbeing 
As we progress through our remediation program, 
we recognise that periods of change can bring 
both opportunities and challenges. We are mindful 
of the potential psychosocial impacts on our team 
members, and we remain committed to fostering 
a safe, inclusive, and supportive workplace. We 
continue to prioritise mental health awareness 
through a range of internal communication channels. 
Regular updates via our intranet, email newsletters, 
and internal social platforms ensure team members 
are informed about available resources and engaged 
in initiatives that support their wellbeing.

Our safety and wellbeing initiatives include:
Sonder: An innovative Employee Assistance 
Program (EAP) designed to meet the diverse needs 
of our workforce and their loved ones. The Program 
provides 24/7 instant access to health professionals 
and reflects our understanding that team members 
engage with wellbeing services in different ways 
e.g. chat or a call. They provide personal safety 
tools such as “Check on Me” and a host of other 
self-help wellbeing resources. Sonder ensures the 
same level of confidentiality and security as a visit 
to a GP, which is important to our team members.

Embedding our Values Through ‘Care Month’: 
One of our core Values, ‘Taking Good Care’, reflects 
our commitment to care for ourselves, each other, 
our community, and our workplace. In May 2025, 
we launched Care Month, a Group-wide campaign 
designed to celebrate and further embed this 
Value as part of our broader Purpose, Values, and 
Principles (PVP), across The Star in meaningful 
ways for our team. 

Psychosocial Risk Management Prevention 
Plans: Informed by the People at Work Survey 
and feedback from team member focus groups, 
each property has identified key areas to prevent 
and reduce psychosocial risks. These plans are 
currently being developed for implementation.

As part of The Star’s Self-Insurance licence 
renewal, an audit of the implementation of 
The Star’s safety management system was 
undertaken in February 2025 by an accredited and 
independent external auditor. The audit achieved 
a consolidated score of 89.7% (with a required 
pass mark of 70%) and no non-conformances, 
the highest score ever achieved by The Star. 

We continue to monitor and improve our safety 
performance. Our Total Recordable Injury 
Frequency Rate (TRIFR), based on accepted 
workers’ compensation claims, was 15.4 in FY25, 
an improvement from 16.0 in FY24.
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2.4	� EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT AND 
CAPABILITY DEVELOPMENT 

To strengthen alignment between 
recruitment practices and our organisational 
values, the Talent Acquisition team 
has embedded values-based and 
risk-aware interview questions aligned to 
our Capability Framework throughout the 
recruitment process.

Talent Acquisition and Hiring Leaders have 
undertaken structured training through workshops 
and individual capability uplift sessions to support 
the consistent application of the STAR Interview 
Capability Framework. This includes the use of a 
curated question bank designed to complement 
technical assessments by evaluating behaviours 
and decision-making aligned with our PVP and 
Risk Framework. 

Over the past 12 months, The Star has made 
a substantial investment in its people, with 
several important initiatives underway across 
the following areas: 

Capability Uplift 
Capability Framework 
The Star Capability Framework was created 
in partnership with one of Australia’s leading 
psychology-based development firms, Bendelta, 
with extensive input from a wide consultation 
group. The framework was developed as part 
of our remediation milestones and outlines the 
core and leadership capabilities and associated 
competencies and behavioural indicators. It 
provides team members and leaders at all 
levels with clarity on the behaviours and skills 
required for success. 

A range of activities are underway to ensure the 
framework is embedded at various stages of the 
employee lifecycle, including in recruitment and 
selection, updates to position descriptions, training 
and development, career planning and assessment.

ELEVATE Risk Awareness Program 
Since its launch in May 2024, more than 6,000 
team members have completed ELEVATE — which 
exceeded the initial target committed to the NICC of 
5,000 by December 2024. This one-day workshop 
provides foundational awareness of key risk and 
compliance concepts including safer gambling, 
our policies and procedures, and the prevention of 
financial crime. The program was embedded as part 
of new-hire orientation from July 2024.

Mandatory Learning Refresh 
The Star has completed a project to refresh 
the suite of mandatory online training modules. 
13 modules were prioritised for review. A broad 
stakeholder group provided feedback on each 
module, ensuring that it was contextualised and 
suitable for each audience group across The Star. 

L&G NSW and the OLGR were consulted and 
approved content for The Star’s Safer Gambling 
and Anti Money Laundering training. In NSW, the 
NICC is required to approve training on these topics. 
These refreshed modules were launched via our 
learning management system in July 2025, including 
our Code of Conduct, Safer Gambling at the Star, 
Preventing Financial Crime, Conflicts of Interest 
and other risk management topics.

Leadership Development 
Group Leadership Team Development 
The GLT Development Program includes four 
activities that deliver on commitments in the 
remediation plan and in response to Bell One & Two 
recommendations. The program is led by the 
General Manager of Learning & Development and 
the Group Manager of Leadership Development, 
with extensive input from the Group CEO, 
Group COO, Chief Culture & Ethics Officer, the 
Star’s Special Management Team, and external 
leadership consultants. 

Key outputs of the Program include the GLT charter, 
360˚ assessments aligned to The Star’s Capability 
framework, quarterly development workshops and 
1:1 coaching. 
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Cornerstone Program
A key priority for The Star is to uplift the capability 
of all leaders to enable them to role model best 
practice behaviours, and support team members 
to navigate the current environment. To support 
this, a leadership development program, 
Cornerstone, launched in September 2024.

Four modules were developed covering a range 
of key topics determined through extensive 
stakeholder consultation, with a target audience 
of approximately 900 people, including all 
people leaders. 

Workshops for the first three modules, Leading 
at The Star, Leading Change, and Conversations 
That Matter were attended by more than 80% 
of the target audience. The fourth module, 
Optimising Performance will roll out across 
September-November 2025. 

2.5	� DIVERSITY, INCLUSION 
AND EQUAL OPPORTUNITY 

At The Star, our workforce reflects the rich 
cultural diversity of the communities we 
serve and the guests we welcome every day. 
This diversity across cultures, ethnicities, 
languages, and lived experiences is one 
of our greatest strengths. As we pursue 
our vision, we are committed to building 
a workplace where every individual feels 
respected, valued, and empowered to thrive.

Workplace Gender Equality 
Agency Compliance Report
In line with the Workplace Gender Equality 
Act 2012, The Star submitted its annual 
compliance report to the Workplace Gender 
Equality Agency (WGEA) in May 2025. This 
comprehensive report provides an overview 
of gender representation across all levels and 
roles within the organisation, as well as other 
key gender equality indicators. 

GENDER SCORECARD  
BASED ON WGEA REPORT  
1 APRIL 2024 TO 31 MARCH 2025

46% 54%
Women
(vs 46% PY)

Men
(vs 54% PY)

4.8%
(vs 4.0% PY)

2.6%
(vs 3.6% PY)

Average total 
remuneration Gender 
Pay Gap (GPG) for 
all employees

The median GPG 
for all employees 

CEO/ HOB/ KMP COMPOSITION

Women Men
36% 64%

CEO/HOB/KMP
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2. COMMUNITY AND PEOPLE (SOCIAL) (CONT.) 

Measurable Objectives Progress Report 
The Star has committed to achieving the following 
measurable objectives aligned with our strategic 
priorities. Progress against these objectives is 
outlined below:

TARGET PROGRESS AS OF 
30 JUNE 2025

45% female, 
45% male, 
with the remaining 
10% being of 
any gender or 
gender diverse in 
leadership roles 
by 2028

We have made progress in achieving 
this goal with the proportion of 
females in leadership roles in 
FY25 being 39.37% (down from 
40.8% in FY24, 39.6% in FY23 and 
37.5% in FY22). Male leaders in 
FY25 comprised the remaining 
60.63% (FY24: 59.2%).

Maintain Gold 
at The Australian 
Workplace Equality 
Index (AWEI)

In FY25, we have been awarded 
‘Joint Employer of the Year’ and 
‘Platinum Tier Employer’ awards by 
AWEI which puts us at the top 1% of 
all submissions for 2025.

20% Asian 
Representation 
at the Senior 
Leadership 
Level by 2025

As of June 30, 2025, The Star has 
achieved a 19.58% representation of 
Asian leaders in Levels 1–3, vs the 
target of 20%. This reflects our 
ongoing commitment to ensure that 
our senior leadership represents 
the diverse communities and guests 
we serve.

Australian Workplace Equality Index 
The Star Entertainment Group was recognised as 
the 2025 Joint Employer of the Year for the second 
consecutive year and received its first Platinum 
Employer status at the recent Australian LGBTQ+ 
Inclusion Awards. The AWEI framework involves 
participation from hundreds of organisations across 
Australia. It enables us to assess our policies, 
practices, and culture against national best-practice 
standards, allowing us to identify our strengths and 
areas for improvement.

Figure 1: The Star’s first AWEI Platinum Employer status.

Figure 2: The Star’s 2025 Employer of the Year award. 

Employee Network Groups (ENGs)
ENGs at The Star create safe and supportive 
spaces for individuals to connect through shared 
experiences and identities. These groups cultivate 
a sense of community, belonging, and inclusion 
throughout the organisation. Led by passionate and 
purpose-driven team members, they play a crucial 
role in shaping a workplace culture where everyone 
feels seen, heard, and valued.

Proud@TheStar 
Proud@TheStar is The Star’s LGBTQI+ employee 
and Ally network group, dedicated to creating a fun 
and welcoming culture in which all employees and 
guests can be authentically themselves. 

Key initiatives and contributions of 
Proud@TheStar include:

	• Industry-leading Gender Affirmation Leave
	• Ally Awareness and People Leaders Guide 

to LGBTQI+ Inclusion Training
	• Providing confidential support on all 

LGBTQI+ related matters
	• Celebrating days of significance such as 

Trans Day of Visibility, Wear it Purple Day 
and IDAHOBIT.
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Balance@TheStar 
At The Star, we are committed to fostering a 
workplace where gender equity is not just a goal, 
it’s a lived experience. We strive to ensure that 
all individuals, regardless of gender identity or 
caregiving responsibilities, have equal access to 
opportunity, support, and recognition.

Highlights from FY25 include:

	• Days of significance: such as International 
Women’s Day, Movember, International Men’s 
Day, National Carers Week, Equal Pay Day and 
Annual Walk and Talk 

	• Women in Tech Mentorship Program: 
Empowering women in technology roles 
through mentorship and career development

	• Training and awareness: such as Menopause 
Awareness Training, Financial Wellbeing 
Courses, and many others 

	• Ongoing Partnership with Global Gaming 
Women ANZ: Strengthening industry-wide 
collaboration to advance gender equity in 
gaming and hospitality.

Unity@TheStar
At The Star, we take pride in the diversity of our 
people, guests, and communities. With over 
70 languages spoken, we embrace different 
perspectives and backgrounds to foster innovation 
and deliver exceptional guest experiences. 
The key main initiatives delivered this financial 
year included: 

	• The Grasshopper Program involved sixteen 
culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) 
leaders in a six-month mentorship for CALD 
team members

	• RISE Project — Project funded by the Australian 
Government Office for Women through the 
Women’s Leadership and Development Program 
(WLDP) for 2022–2026

	• Celebrating cultural days of significance, 
including Lunar New Year, Ramadan, Diwali and 
many more.

Neurodiversity@TheStar Affinity Group
The Neurodiversity@TheStar Affinity Group is 
dedicated to creating an inclusive and supportive 
workplace for all team members who identify 
as neurodivergent, including those with Autism 
Spectrum Disorder, ADHD, Dyslexia, Dyscalculia, 
and other neurological variations. Recognising the 
unique challenges that neurodivergent individuals 
may encounter in the workplace, The Star is 
committed to providing appropriate support, 
accommodations, and access to resources that 
empower everyone to bring their authentic selves 
to work and engage equitably.

Reconciliation@TheStar 
The Star Entertainment Group’s vision is for an 
Australia that embraces its shared history, values 
truth-telling and self-determination, and celebrates 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
We are committed to fostering genuine inclusivity 
by building respectful, long-term partnerships 
with the Traditional Owners of the lands on 
which we operate.

Through ongoing engagement, cultural 
understanding, and collaboration, we walk with 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities, 
team members, and guests, ensuring our actions 
are grounded in respect, responsibility, and a 
shared commitment to meaningful change.

In FY25, we advanced this vision through several 
key initiatives, including:

	• Engagement with Traditional Owners: 
Strengthening our relationships with 
Traditional Owners across our properties to 
ensure our actions are grounded in respect, 
cultural understanding, and Traditional Owner 
endorsement 

	• The launch of the first Pathways to Respect 
Guide, a practical guide designed to support 
team members’ cultural awareness and 
understanding of the cultural protocols of 
Welcome to Country and Acknowledgement 
of Country

	• Celebrating days of significance, including 
NAIDOC, National Reconciliation Week, 
Indigenous Literacy Day and many others.
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3. ENVIRONMENT
3.1	� MINIMISING 

ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 
The Star is committed to reducing our 
environmental footprint and managing our 
environmental and climate risk exposure 
throughout our operations, supply chain 
and portfolio. 

We manage our operations in line with our 
Environmental Policy, which sets out the rules 
and guidelines relating to the management of 
environmental risks and impacts arising from 
our business activities. This policy provides our 
employees with clear guidance and accountability 
regarding the rules and principles for managing 
environmental risks and impacts associated with 
our business activities.

During FY25, following the decentralisation of our 
operating model, the Environmental Policy was 
refined to align with the strategic intent of these 
changes. As a result, operational accountability 
for environmental performance now more firmly 
entrusted within each individual property. The 
revised Policy reflects our commitment to 
empowering property-level leadership, fostering 
deeper ownership of environmental outcomes, and 
embedding sustainability into everyday operations. 
Accordingly, the key updates to the Policy focus on 
a restructured governance framework and clearer 
distinction of environmental accountabilities.

3.1.1 Resource Performance
Resource use reduction and improving 
environmental outcomes remain key priorities 
in the operation of our portfolio. 

In FY25, The Star maintained its focus on 
addressing critical remediation needs and 
advancing key business transformation priorities, 
continuing to allocate resources thoughtfully to 
areas of strategic importance. The Group remains 
committed to building optimisation activities and 
analytics, prioritising initiatives that offer strategic 
advantages and prepare us for compliance with 
regulated climate disclosure. 

In FY25, we observed an increase in overall 
resource consumption and intensities across 
energy, carbon, and water, alongside a slight decline 
in recycling rates. This trend was anticipated 
and primarily driven by the addition of The Star 
Brisbane at the Queen’s Wharf precinct to our 
portfolio. While the Treasury Casino ceased 
operations mid-financial year, the Treasury Hotel 
continued to operate, contributing marginally to the 
overall footprint. As FY25 marked the first year of 
operations for The Star Brisbane, the site has not 
yet reached business-as-usual operational levels. 
The staged opening of various precincts within the 
asset meant that energy and water usage fluctuated 
as various areas became operational, as is typical 
for a new asset of this scale and complexity. As 
The Star Brisbane transitions into normalised 
operational levels in FY26, operational fine-tuning 
for energy efficiency will be a key focus, with 
increased emphasis placed on implementing and 
enhancing efficiency initiatives across the property.
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ENVIRONMENT
In contrast, The Star Sydney and The Star Gold 
Coast both recorded modest reductions in energy 
consumption, reflecting the success of localised 
efficiency efforts and operational maturity.

The resource performance over time graphs 
depict a consistent downward trend in 
consumption and waste generation, reflecting 
the significant measurable progress achieved 
through our targeted sustainability initiatives and 
operational improvements. 

While energy has been a key focus in FY25, in 
FY26, enhanced water management and efficiency 
initiatives will be a core priority, with outcomes 
facilitated largely through the Property Energy 
and Water Working Groups of which we have at 
each of our sites. 

Additional key focus areas for FY26 include:

	• Strengthening accountability and governance, 
with properties required to report the 
environmental and resource performance of 
their sites to the respective Property CEOs and 
Property Boards, ensuring closer management 
and oversight of environmental outcomes at the 
asset level

	• Enhancing education and engagement 
with team members to foster further 
behavioural improvements and operational 
awareness, supporting a culture of 
environmental sustainability

	• Exploring opportunities to improve submetering 
infrastructure, including the completion of 
metering audits, to enhance data visibility, 
enable more accurate tracking, and reinforce 
accountability for resource use

	• The development of new energy, carbon, 
water and waste targets to drive performance 
outcomes in resource reductions.

3.1.2 Energy
Resource use reduction and improving 
environmental outcomes remain as key priorities in 
the operation of our portfolio. 

The Star’s total energy consumption for FY25 
was 669,586 GJ, marking an 11.7% increase in 
consumption from FY24, and an energy intensity 
by area increase of 6.7%. 

TABLE 3: THE STAR’S ENERGY 
CONSUMPTION FY25

SOURCE FY24 FY25
Energy Consumption 599,576 669,586
Energy Intensity (MJ/visitor) 44.49 52.44
Energy Intensity (GJ/area) 1.94 2.07

Note 1. The FY24 figures presented in Table 3 vary slightly from those 
disclosed in the FY24 Sustainability Report (i.e., 590,253 GJ for 
energy consumption, 43.80 MJ/visitor and 1.91 for energy intensity). 
Differences reflect subsequent data refinements, including updated 
utility information, boundary adjustments, revised emission factors, 
and methodological improvements introduced to enhance accuracy 
and comparability. Using the data reported in FY24, the increase 
would have been 13.4% for energy consumption and 8.3% for energy 
intensity per area.

Note 2. Where FY25 invoices were unbilled at the time of reporting 
equivalent to 0.14% for utilities based on consumption, equating to 
0.03% (39MWh) for electricity and 0.64% (1,126 GJ) for gas.
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3. ENVIRONMENT (CONT.)

3.1.3 Carbon Emissions
The Group’s Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions for 
FY25 were 9,106 tonnes (tCO2-e) and 94,735 tonnes 
(tCO2-e), respectively. Total Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 carbon emissions were 103,841 tonnes 
(tCO2-e) for the year, which was an 11.5% increase 
from FY24. 

As noted above, the increase was anticipated and 
primarily driven by the addition of The Star Brisbane 
at Queen’s Wharf to our portfolio. While the Treasury 
Casino ceased operations in the financial year, the 
Treasury Hotel continued to operate, contributing 
marginally to the overall footprint.

The Star continues to monitor consumption 
and performance and strives for year-on-year 
decarbonisation reductions. 

TABLE 4: THE STAR’S CARBON 
EMISSIONS FY25 

SOURCE FY24 FY25
Carbon Emissions  
(tonnes CO2-e): Scope 1 + Scope 2 93,130 103,841

Emissions Intensity  
(kg CO2-e/visitor) 6.91 8.13

Emissions Intensity  
(tonnes CO2-e/area) 0.30 0.32

Note. The FY24 figures presented in Table 4 vary slightly from 
those disclosed in the FY24 Sustainability Report (i.e., 91,631t CO2-e 
for Scope 1 and Scope 2 carbon emissions, 6.80kg CO2-e/visitor 
and 0.30t CO2-e/area for emissions intensity). Differences reflect 
subsequent data refinements, including updated utility information, 
boundary adjustments, revised emission factors, and methodological 
improvements introduced to enhance accuracy and comparability. 
Using the data reported in FY24, the increase in Scope 1 and 
Scope 2 emissions would have been 13.3%.
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Carbon Emissions Profile

In FY19, The Star established an ambitious Net Zero 
by 2030 target for Scope 1 and 2 emissions across 
wholly owned and operated assets, considered 
best practice at the time. Since then, in line with 
the approved Remediation Plan, our focus has been 
on delivering on our remediation commitments, 
regaining our suitability to hold our casino licences 
and restoring trust with all of our stakeholders 
including our shareholders, team members, 
customers, and the broader community. 

To ensure our emissions reduction efforts remain 
aligned with our current operating context and 
long-term ambitions, The Star plans to establish 
a new baseline and revised timeline during FY26. 
This will be complemented by a re-evaluation 
and remapping of our net zero pathway to ensure 
its long-term feasibility for the business. This 
reassessment presents an opportunity to align 
our net zero pathway with the latest industry 
developments and standards, and updating it to 
reflect operational changes in our portfolio and 
evolving stakeholder expectations.
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3.1.4 Water consumption 
The Star remains dedicated to monitoring water 
consumption and performance across our portfolio 
to enhance water conservation efforts. 

The Star’s water consumption was 720,727 kL 
which was an increase of 15% in FY25 compared 
to FY24 and by 10% in intensity (kL/sqm). Similar 
to the energy and carbon emissions, the increase 
in water consumption can be somewhat attributed 
to the opening of The Star Brisbane at Queen’s 
Wharf to our portfolio during the year. In FY26, 
greater emphasis will be placed on improving 
water efficiency and conservation, with a focus on 
optimising water use across all operational areas.

TABLE 5: THE STAR’S WATER 
CONSUMPTION FY25 

SOURCE FY24 FY25
Water Consumption (kL) 625,519 720,727
Water Intensity (L/visitor) 46.42 56.44
Water Intensity (kL/area) 2.03 2.23

Note 1. The FY24 figures presented in Table 5 vary slightly from those 
disclosed in the FY24 Sustainability Report (i.e., 630,599 kL for water 
consumption, 46.76 L/visitor and 2.04 kL/area or water intensity). 
Differences reflect subsequent data refinements, including updated 
utility information, boundary adjustments, revised emission factors, 
and methodological improvements introduced to enhance accuracy 
and comparability. Using the data reported in FY24, the increase 
would have been 14.3% for water consumption and 9.3% for water 
intensity per area.
Note 2. Where FY25 invoices were unbilled at the time of reporting 
equivalent to 0.14% for utilities based on consumption, equating to 
20.31% (146ML) for water.
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3.1.5 Waste management 
In FY25, we achieved 41% waste diversion at our 
properties, representing a 4.7% decrease from 
FY24 recycling rates. 

The Star is committed to reducing total waste 
volumes, improving waste diversion from landfill, 
reducing food waste at the point of generation and 
organics recycling and increasing the number of 
recycling streams across its properties. In FY25:

We diverted various waste streams 
from landfill Including styrofoam, 
e-waste, metal, textiles, green waste, 
paint, organics, soft plastics, oil, 
and cardboard. 

Food donation partnerships continued 
with Oz Harvest with 3,719 kgs 
(7,438 meals) donated in FY25, 
and 71,518 kgs donated to date.

543kg of soap was diverted from 
landfill and reprocessed into 
5,430 bars of brand-new soap and 
distributed to vulnerable communities 
through Soap Aid.

The Star has been a signatory to APCO 
since FY22. In FY25, we submitted our 
third Australian Packaging Covenant 
Organisation (APCO) Action Plan and 
Annual Report. 

98% of our food takeaway packaging 
is compostable. We continue to 
investigate new compostable packaging 
products as they become available in 
the market.

Through our Dream Green sustainable 
bedding partnership, in FY25, 
The Star Group has avoided sending 
25,076 plastic bottles to landfill, and 
271,399 bottles to date.

583,020 kg of glass bottles have been 
crushed, recycled and processed back 
into new bottles with our waste partner 
Bottle Cycler in FY25. 
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A statewide mandate for Food Organics and 
Garden Organics (FOGO) recycling, aiming to 
significantly reduce food waste and landfill use, 
has been introduced in New South Wales. With 
organic waste separation processes already 
embedded at the property, The Star Sydney is 
committed to supporting the NSW government’s 
goal to halve organic waste to landfill by 2030 and 
is well-positioned to comply with the mandate 
from the first implementation phase commencing 
1 July 2026.

TABLE 6: THE STAR’S RECYCLING 
RATES FY25

SOURCE FY24 FY25
Recycling Rate (%) 43% 41%
Recycling Rate Intensity (kg/visitor) 0.24 0.25
Recycling Intensity (tonnes/area) 0.010 0.010

Note 1. The FY24 figures presented in Table 6 vary slightly from those 
disclosed in the FY24 Sustainability Report (i.e., 0.009 tonnes/sqm 
for recycling rate intensity). Differences reflect subsequent data 
refinements, including updated utility information, boundary 
adjustments, revised emission factors, and methodological 
improvements introduced to enhance accuracy and comparability. 
Note 2. Waste data from the Gold Coast Convention and Exhibition 
Centre is provided in volume and has been converted to tonnage 
to align with national waste data reporting. The ‘Better Buildings 
Partnership Operational Waste Guidelines’ July 2018 conversion 
factors have been applied.
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3.2	� CLIMATE RISK AND RESILIENCE 
The Star recognises that climate 
change presents a risk to our business, 
including through disruptions to supply, 
impacts of extreme weather events, and 
policy changes. 

3.2.1 Mandatory climate-related 
financial disclosures
The Group recognises that managing climate-
related risks and opportunities is critical to 
long-term value creation and business resilience. 
The Star’s early adoption of the TCFD framework 
in 2020 has positioned the company well to 
meet the forthcoming Australian Sustainability 
Reporting Standards (ASRS) mandatory climate-
related disclosure requirements, which will apply 
to Group 1 entities, such as The Star, from FY26 
(AASB S2).

To assist with readiness and compliance, a gap 
assessment and roadmap was completed by an 
independent party in FY24. The findings of this 
assessment allowed us to pursue an updated 
climate risk and opportunity assessment and 
climate scenario analysis during FY25. 

Our FY25 efforts represent a step toward full 
alignment with AASB S2, and we remain committed 
to enhancing our disclosures and strengthening our 
approach to addressing climate-related risks.

3. ENVIRONMENT (CONT.)
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3.3	� SUSTAINABLE PRECINCTS
The Star is committed to considering 
sustainability in the design, development, 
operations and management of our assets, 
with a focus on environmental responsibility 
and operational efficiency. 

In FY25, The Star implemented several initiatives 
via its building management systems (BMS) and 
environmental working groups at the properties 
which delivered measurable outcomes:

	• Electricity savings: 1,248,711 kWH
	• Carbon emissions savings: 1,096 tCO2e
	• Water savings: 519kL.

CASE STUDY: QUEEN’S WHARF BRISBANE

Queen’s Wharf has achieved a 6-Star Green 
Star Communities rating, with climate 
considerations embedded across the 
project lifecycle. Design of Queen’s Wharf 
sought to avoid usage of highly emissions 
intensive materials, reducing use of Portland 
cement by at least 31%, and sourcing steel 
and timber to meet responsible building 
material requirements. Additionally, over 
95% of construction and demolition waste 
was recovered for recycling, exceeding the 
benchmarks required by the 6 Star Green Star 
rating. Climate resiliency was also considered 
in development, with all stormwater drains 
developed to withstand 1-in-100-year rain 
events and to allow water to leave the site 
without impacting the building. Climate 
considerations are also embedded in building 
operation, with 100% of base building 
electricity from renewable sources. 

In acknowledgement of the importance 
of green spaces, Queen’s Wharf also 
includes over 300 trees and approximately 
20,000 plants. This includes The Landing, a 
6,500 square metres green space along the 
river beyond the Riverside Expressway. 

Green spaces not only provide climate 
benefits, including carbon sequestration and 
areas which mitigate urban heat, but also 
other environmental and social co-benefits, 
including spaces which support community 
wellbeing and provide habitats which 
promote biodiversity. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

The Directors of The Star Entertainment Group Limited (the Company) submit their report for the consolidated entity
comprising the Company and its controlled entities (collectively referred to as the Group) in respect of the financial year
ended 30 June 2025.

1 DIRECTORS
The names and titles of the Company's Directors in office during the financial year ended 30 June 2025 and until the date of
this report are set out below. Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated.

Directors
Anne Ward Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

Steve McCann a Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

Peter Hodgson Independent Non-Executive Director

Michael Issenberg Independent Non-Executive Director

Deborah Page AM Independent Non-Executive Director

Antonia Thornton Independent Non-Executive Director

a Appointed as Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director on 2 December 2024 following the receipt of all necessary
regulatory approvals.

2 OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
The Operating and Financial Review for the year ended 30 June 2025 has been designed to provide shareholders with a
clear and concise overview of the Group’s operations, financial position, business strategies and prospects. The review also
discusses the impact of key transactions and events that have taken place during the reporting period and material business
risks faced by the Group, to allow shareholders to make an informed assessment of the results and future prospects of the
Company. The review complements the Financial Report and has been prepared in accordance with the guidance set out in
ASIC’s Regulatory Guide 247.

2.1 PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activities of the Group are the management of entertainment and leisure destinations with gaming,
entertainment and hospitality services.

The Group operates The Star Sydney (SSyyddnneeyy) and The Star Gold Coast (GGoolldd  CCooaasstt). The Group operated Treasury Brisbane
Casino up until its closure on 25 August 2024 and surrendered its licence on 23 October 2024. On 28 August 2024,
Destination Brisbane Consortium Queens Wharf Integrated Resort joint venture (DDBBCC) (of which the Group owns 50%) was
issued a casino licence for The Star Brisbane, which subsequently commenced operation on 29 August 2024 under the
management of the Group through an agreement with DBC.

The Group also manages the Gold Coast Convention and Exhibition Centre on behalf of the Queensland Government and
invests in a number of strategic joint ventures. The Group owns Broadbeach Island on which The Star Gold Coast is located.

In 2022, reviews were conducted into the operations of The Star Sydney by Mr Adam Bell SC (BBeellll  OOnnee) and into the
operations of The Star Gold Coast and Treasury Brisbane by the Hon. Robert Gotterson AO (Gotterson). In 2024, a second
review was conducted into the operations of The Star Sydney by Mr Adam Bell SC (BBeellll  TTwwoo). The following actions were
taken by the respective regulators relating to the Group’s casino licences since the Bell and Gotterson reviews.

SSyyddnneeyy
The Star Sydney’s casino licence has been suspended since 21 October 2022. On this date, the New South Wales
Independent Casino Commission (NNIICCCC) also appointed a Manager. During the period of its licence suspension, The Star
Sydney remains open and operating, and net earnings continue to be paid to The Star Sydney after payment of the
Manager's costs. On 24 September 2025, the NICC notified The Star Sydney that its casino licence will remain suspended
and that the Manager’s term has been extended until 31 March 2026, unless terminated earlier by the NICC.

On 17 October 2024, the NICC provided its regulatory response to the Bell Two Report (including disciplinary action in respect
of the show cause notice served in September 2024 (NNoottiiccee)) and determined to take disciplinary action against The Star
Sydney in the form of: a pecuniary penalty of $15 million in respect of the Breach Findings (payable in three equal amounts
on 31 December 2024, 31 March 2025 and 30 June 2025); issued directions under the Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) in
respect of various governance and operational matters relating to The Star Sydney and proposed amendments to The Star
Sydney’s licence conditions relating to key management personnel and the composition of The Star Sydney board. The
pecuniary penalty has been paid in full at 30 June 2025.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

GGoolldd  CCooaasstt  aanndd  TTrreeaassuurryy  BBrriissbbaannee
The Star Gold Coast’s casino licence has been suspended (with suspension deferred) since 9 December 2022. A Special
Manager was appointed on the same date. On 25 September 2025, the Queensland government confirmed that it had
deferred the suspension of The Star Gold Coast’s casino licence and extended the Special Manager’s appointment to 30
September 2026.

The deferred suspension of Treasury Brisbane's licence and term of the Special Manager ceased on 23 October 2024, on
surrender of its casino licence, following the opening of The Star Brisbane. The Star Brisbane was issued an unconditional
casino licence on 28 August 2024, subject to the appointment of an External Adviser and the adoption of The Star’s
Remediation Plan. On 25 September 2025, the External Adviser’s appointment was extended to 30 September 2026.

2.2 BUSINESS STRATEGIES
Given its current challenges, the Group’s strategic priorities fall under three categories:

2.2.1 Remediation and returning to suitability to hold a Casino Licence by:
 continuing to strengthen relationships with regulators through transparent and constructive engagement; and

 continuing to deliver on our amended Remediation Plan in line with approved timelines and embed uplift in standards
for governance, compliance, safer gaming and risk management.

 2.2.2 Improving operating performance, particularly through:
 enhanced customer focus and revenue initiatives including the revitalisation of underutilised spaces, improving hosted

services and enhancing loyalty programmes and promotions; and

 maintaining cost discipline and identifying further opportunities for cost-outs.

2.2.3 Enhancing its liquidity position, by identifying:
 alternative short term and longer-term funding solutions (e.g. debt refinancing and other proposals);

 opportunities to divest non-core assets; and

 resolve material uncertainties in relation to the business.

The Group is awaiting the AUSTRAC judgment to provide certainty on quantum and timing of penalty, which is critical to
successful delivery of the following short term strategic imperatives, and ultimately to satisfy our regulators as to the Group’s
financial suitability to hold our licences:
 ongoing review of capital structure including refinancing of existing lenders;

 confirming outstanding regulatory approvals for the Bally's and Investment Holdings transaction and receiving the
remaining $66.6 million from Bally's; and

 completing the transaction with our joint venture partners, including the exit from DBC, release of the parent company
guarantee and consolidation of Gold Coast assets.

The Group is also focused on:
 continuing to deliver on the remainder of the Group's remediation program in support of the Group's casino licences

being restored; and

 driving revenue growth through customer-focused initiatives and implementing further cost-out during FY26.

2.3 GROUP PERFORMANCE
LBITDA (excluding significant items) was a loss of $77.1 million, down from a profit of $174.7 million in the prior comparative
period (ppccpp). Trading performance materially deteriorated during FY25 reflecting the impact of regulatory reforms,
implementation of the Group's remediation program and loss of market share. The Group’s results were also affected by the
closure of Treasury Brisbane Casino and opening of The Star Brisbane. The results for The Star Brisbane are not reported in
LBITDA (excluding significant items), they are reported through equity accounted profit / loss.  

Revenue (excluding contracted cost recovery) was $1,187.5 million, down 29.2% on the pcp. Excluding Treasury Brisbane
and The Star Brisbane, revenue was $1,095.6 million, down 17.8% on the pcp; gaming revenue was down 22.2%, reflecting
the ongoing weakness in the operating environment; and non-gaming revenue was down 3.2%, impacted by reduced
visitation, linked to the decline in non-gaming revenue. 

Gaming taxes and levies were $282.3 million, down 31.5% on the pcp. Excluding Treasury Brisbane, gaming taxes and levies
were $267.2 million, down 17.7%. The decline is aligned with the reduction in gaming revenue, partially offset by an increase
in the NSW slots rate and introduction of the Supervisory Levy by the Queensland Government. Operating expenses were
$982.3 million, down 10.0% on the pcp, driven by the closure of the Treasury Brisbane Casino and the Group's cost out
program, partially offset by increased costs associated with investment in remediation, risk management, controls, IT and
labour (in accordance with enterprise agreements). 

Share of net loss of associates (excluding significant items) was $47.9 million, up from a loss of $3.2 million in the pcp,
primarily comprised of a loss from DBC of $46.1 million. Additional DBC losses of $25.0 million have not been recognised as
the investment in DBC has already been reduced to nil at 30 June 2025 (30 June 2024: nil). Recognition of these excess
losses will resume only to the extent that the associate subsequently reports profits. 
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Significant expense items ($212.4 million after tax) relate to: the impairment of the investment in DBC joint venture; group
funding costs; regulatory, fines, penalties, duty, consultants, legal and other costs; redundancy costs; and other costs
associated with the transaction to exit DBC; partially offset by profit on sale of assets. 

Depreciation and amortisation expense of $64.8 million was down 46.3% on the pcp, reflecting the impact of the 30 June
2024 impairment and asset disposals, including Treasury Brisbane Casino. Net finance costs (excluding significant items) of
$49.5 million were up 40.2%, reflecting the revised debt package executed in November 2024 resulting in a fixed rate above
the previous floating rates in FY24. 

Net loss after tax was $427.9 million (Net loss after tax of $1,684.6 million in the pcp). Normalised1 net loss after tax,
excluding significant items, was $215.5 million. Basic and Diluted Loss per Share were both 14.9 cents (both 66.8 cents in
the pcp).

2.4 GROUP FINANCIAL POSITION
Net debt2 was $207.1 million at 30 June 2025 (2024: net cash of $30.0 million).

The Group has executed the following transactions to support its financial position:

 In November 2024, the Group and its lenders executed a deed to amend its previously existing debt facility of $450
million by reducing it to $334 million (plus two additional equal tranches of $100 million, with only tranche one drawn
(refer to note B7);

 In April 2025, the Group entered into the Strategic Investment with Bally's and Investment Holdings with $233 million of
cash received by 30 June 2025. A further $67 million is to be received in FY26 (refer to note B7);

 In 1HFY25, the Group sold the Treasury Brisbane Casino Building for net proceeds of $60.5 million (plus GST). These
proceeds are held as a restricted term deposit (refer to note B1) and not able to be accessed by the Group without
consent from lenders; and

 In 2HFY25, the Group sold The Star Sydney Event Centre and other additional spaces within The Star Sydney complex
for $60.0 million. These proceeds were received in full in June 2025 following approval by the shareholders of the
Strategic Investment.

Subsequent to year end, the Group:

 entered into long form documentation to exit the DBC joint venture, dispose of its interest in the Festival Car park joint
venture and to dispose of the Treasury Hotel and Car park and consolidate the Group's Gold Coast position ((JJVVPP
TTrraannssaaccttiioonn). The completion of the exit from DBC is the first stage, with a sunset date of 30 November 2025. The
completion of the remaining assets included in the JVP Transaction is subject to a separate set of conditions precedent
which are currently expected to be satisfied no earlier than 1 July 2026; and

 the Group issued a notice to voluntarily prepay $61.1 million of the syndicated facility agreement (SSFFAA) Facilities using
the balance of funds in the Disposal Proceeds Account (refer to note B7). This prepayment is expected to complete on
30 September 2025.

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt
The Star Brisbane was tested for impairment at 31 December 2024 after indicators of impairment were identified. An
impairment of $107.6 million was recognised at 31 December 2024 and remains for the year ended 30 June 2025. The
outlook for operating conditions at 30 June 2025 is largely consistent with those at 31 December 2024 and 30 June 2024,
and does not support the carrying value of additional investments into DBC made during the period. The carrying value of the
investment was nil at 30 June 2025 and thus no further testing was required. 

Indicators of impairment testing has been performed over the Sydney, Gold Coast and Treasury Brisbane cash generating
units at 30 June 2025. The assets in these cash generating units continue to carry material accumulated impairment,
following impairments recognised in December 2022, June 2023 and June 2024. No further indicators of impairment were
identified and no additional impairment was recognised during the year. Should the operating conditions affecting these cash
generating units improve substantially in future years, accumulated impairment held against property, plant, equipment,
intangibles (excluding goodwill) and other non-current assets may be reversed. 

1 Normalised earnings excludes significant items only.

2 Net debt / cash is shown as cash and cash equivalents and restricted deposits less interest-bearing liabilities (excluding lease liabilities,  supplier finance and convertible notes in equity).
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IInnvveessttmmeennttss
Destination Gold Coast Consortium (DDGGCCCC)
On the Gold Coast, construction of the second tower (TToowweerr  22), a $400 million mixed use tower, has been delayed beyond 30
June 2025 due to a water leak event in March 2025, which impacted both the residential apartments and the hotel. DGCC is
assessing the impact of the damage and related insurance claim, including the timing and impact on residential settlements.
The Group currently anticipates the hotel to complete in mid CY26 and the Residences to commence settlements from
2HCY26. Of the 437 apartments, 429 remain pre-sold while 8 are currently marketed for sale (as at 31 July 2025).

Tower 2 includes additional restaurants, cafes, nightlife venues and a comprehensive pool deck with complementary
amenities. Upon completion of Tower 2, The Star Gold Coast will have in excess of 2,000 hotel rooms and apartments on the
island. During FY25 the Group loaned $4.9 million to DGCC in relation to the delivery of Tower 2.

Destination Brisbane Consortium (DDBBCC)
The initial stage of The Star Brisbane integrated resort owned by DBC (a joint venture owned 50% by the Group) opened to
the public on 29 August 2024 and includes The Star Grand Hotel, the main gaming floor and premium gaming rooms, Events
Centre, Sky Deck, pedestrian bridge, public realm and certain Food and Beverage (FF&&BB) outlets. Further F&B venues and the
leisure deck amenities were opened progressively throughout FY25. 

The Treasury Brisbane Casino was closed on 25 August 2024. The Group holds the operator rights to The Star Brisbane
through an agreement with DBC. Earnings from the Treasury Brisbane Casino have been replaced by The Star Brisbane
operator fee in the Group’s consolidated EBITDA. Earnings from the Group's interest in the DBC joint venture are equity
accounted.

Subsequent to period end, the Group entered into long form documentation to exit its 50% share of the DBC joint venture
investment and a process for transitioning its role under the casino management agreement to a new operator once
identified. The exit agreement will become effective upon satisfaction of various conditions precedent (see Section 5).

2.5 SEGMENT OPERATIONS
The Group comprises the following four operating segments: Sydney; Gold Coast; Treasury Brisbane and The Star Brisbane. 

Refer to note A1 for more details of the financial performance of the Company’s operating segments. The activities and
drivers of the results for these operations are discussed below.

SSyyddnneeyy
Revenue was $685.0 million, down 21.9% on the pcp and LBITDA (excluding significant items) was a loss of $47.7 million,
down from a profit of $51.8 million in the pcp. Domestic gaming revenue was $549.7 million, down 25.2% on pcp, reflecting
the continued impact from implementation of uplifted controls, regulatory reforms (including mandatory carded play and
restrictions on the use of cash), implementation of the Group's remediation program, loss of market share and the macro
economic environment. The decline was consistent across slots and table games, Private Gaming Rooms (PPGGRR) and Main
Gaming Floor (MMGGFF). Mandatory carded play and $5,000 daily cash limits were introduced in select areas of The Star Sydney
on 19 August 2024 and was fully implemented across the entire Sydney casino as of 19 October 2024. Since 19 October
2024, daily average revenue has declined by 17% to 30 June 2025 compared to the daily average four weeks prior to 19
August 2024. 

Non-Gaming revenue was $130.1 million, down 4.9% on pcp. The hotel segment remained steady, achieving 2.5% growth.
F&B revenue fell 8.1%, largely due to declines in mass visitation, impacting restaurants and bars. 

Gaming taxes and levies were down 22.7%, driven by the decline in domestic gaming revenue, partially offset by an increase
in tax rates. Slots were taxed at 33.0%, up from 32.0%, while table games remained consistent at 31.3%. Operating
expenses decreased 6.4%, reflecting a change in the Group's corporate cost allocation framework for The Star Sydney from
60% to 45% offset by higher employee costs and investments in strengthening the control environment. 

GGoolldd  CCooaasstt
Revenue was $410.6 million, down 10.0% on the pcp and EBITDA (excluding significant items) was $21.8 million, down
69.4% on the pcp. Gold Coast’s domestic gaming revenue was $248.5 million, down 14.4% on pcp, reflecting the continued
impact of the implementation of uplifted controls and regulatory reforms, implementation of the Group's remediation
program, loss of market share and the macro economic environment. PGR tables were the worst affected, down 47.9%, while
PGR slots (19.1%), MGF slots (12.5%) and MGF tables (10.7%) were all down. 

Non-Gaming revenue was $157.7 million, down 1.7% on pcp. Similar to Sydney, F&B was down 4.1%, driven by reduced
mass visitation, while hotels grew 2.8% and event conferencing grew 1.9%. 

Gaming taxes and levies were down 1.8%, reflecting a decline in domestic gaming revenue partially offset by the Queensland
Government’s new Supervisory Levy, an incremental $9.4 million expense. Operating expenses increased 1.7%, due to
higher employee costs and marketing spend. The corporate allocation framework for the Gold Coast was unchanged between
FY24 and FY25.
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TThhee  SSttaarr  BBrriissbbaannee
The Star Brisbane commenced a staged opening on 29 August 2024. Revenue (excluding contracted cost recovery) was
$29.6 million, comprising operator fees earned from DBC. Operator fees are calculated as a percentage of revenue (base
fee) and a percentage of EBITDA (after deducting base fee). Revenue excludes $174.8 million of contracted cost recoveries,
recognised as statutory revenue under the accounting standards. Contracted cost recoveries are made under an agreement
with DBC and are at cost (no markup). Contracted costs include $164.2 million of employment costs and $10.6 million of
other shared costs.

LBITDA (before significant items) was a loss of $50.3 million. Operating expenses of $79.9 million (excluding costs subject to
contracted cost recoveries) relates to the Group's 35% corporate cost allocation to the property since it was opened. 

TTrreeaassuurryy  BBrriissbbaannee
Treasury Brisbane Casino closed on 25 August 2024 ahead of the opening of The Star Brisbane on 29 August 2024.
Treasury Hotel and Car park continued to operate, albeit at reduced levels. Revenue was $62.3 million, down 81.9%, in line
with the reduced Casino trading days. On 12 August 2025, the Group entered long form documentation with its joint venture
partners to dispose of the Treasury Hotel and Car park. It is expected settlement will occur no earlier than 1 July 2026.

2.6 SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS, REGULATORY MATTERS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
Other than those matters stated within this report, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group
during the financial year. The section below discusses the impact of key transactions, events and other matters relevant to
the reporting period, that are not discussed elsewhere:

SSIIGGNNIIFFIICCAANNTT  LLEEGGAALL  MMAATTTTEERRSS
AAUUSSTTRRAACC  pprroocceeeeddiinngg
On 30 November 2022, the Australian Transaction Reports and Analysis Centre (AAUUSSTTRRAACC), commenced civil penalty
proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia against The Star Pty Limited and The Star Entertainment QLD Limited
(collectively TThhee  SSttaarr  EEnnttiittiieess). AUSTRAC alleges that The Star Entities contravened the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter
Terrorism Financing (AAMMLL//CCTTFF) Act 2006 (Cth) by failing to conduct appropriate due diligence on customers who were higher
risk and by failing to have an appropriate AML/CTF program.

The parties resolved all factual issues in dispute prior to the penalty hearing being heard in June 2025. AUSTRAC submitted
that a fine of $400 million would be appropriate while the Group submitted that a fine of greater than $100 million, payable
in the next 12 months, would be challenging based on available liquidity options, including accessing equity markets. The
Group is awaiting the court’s judgment.

The determination of the Federal Court’s penalty (including where a penalty has been jointly proposed by AUSTRAC and the
defendant to the Court) is specific to the facts of each case and arrived at after consideration of admissions made and
evidence and submissions in relation to the appropriateness of the penalty.

AUSTRAC alleged that the number of contraventions committed by The Star Entities is innumerable. The Group has
determined a provision on the Balance Sheet at 30 June 2025. This provision was, and is, recognised at a time where there
remains significant uncertainty as to the quantum of the penalty. Any actual penalty paid by The Star Entities may differ
materially to the provision recorded at 30 June 2025.

AASSIICC  pprroocceeeeddiinnggss  aaggaaiinnsstt  ffoorrmmeerr  ddiirreeccttoorrss  aanndd  ooffffiicceerrss  ooff  tthhee  CCoommppaannyy
In December 2022, the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) commenced civil penalty proceedings in the
Federal Court of Australia against 11 former directors and officers of the Company alleging contraventions of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The proceeding was heard between February and May 2025. The court's judgment will not be
delivered until 2026.

As no entity of the Group is party to these proceedings, it is not possible to predict the timing and any financial impact of
these claims on the Group, including in relation to the likely defence costs incurred by the Group on behalf of the defendants,
or the extent to which those costs might be covered by the Group's insurance policies and indemnities in place for former
officers and directors.

The Group has determined a provision on the Balance Sheet at 30 June 2025 relating to an estimate of legal costs.

CCllaassss  AAccttiioonn
On 30 March 2022, a shareholder class action was commenced in the Supreme Court of Victoria, alleging the Company
failed to comply with its continuous disclosure obligations and engaged in misleading or deceptive conduct in relation to the
Company systems, controls, operations and regulatory risks.

The Company has filed its defence with no admissions of any contravention. A mediation occurred on 18 December 2024, at
which the matter was not resolved. The parties are currently considering appropriate timetabling orders for the advancement
of the matter.

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised. The outcome of the Class Action and any potential
financial impacts are unknown, including the extent to which any amounts may be covered by the Group’s insurance policies.
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GGSSTT  aammeennddeedd  aasssseessssmmeennttss
On 5 December 2023, the Group commenced proceedings against the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) in relation to the GST
treatment of rebates paid to junket operators for The Star Pty Limited between October 2013 and August 2017. The amount
in dispute for this period is approximately $155.7 million (primary tax of $81.9 million and interest of $73.8 million). The
Group has paid $61.5 million as a deposit to the ATO on a no-admissions basis. The deposit is recorded as a non-current
asset.

The Group filed its evidence on 2 October 2024.  The next case management hearing is currently scheduled for 9 December
2025.

On 6 September 2021 the Group filed an application for judicial review with the Federal Court of Australia in relation to the
interest assessment. On 5 December 2023 the Group appealed the outcome of the Commissioner's objection decision by
commencing proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia. The outcome of this matter is adjourned pending the primary tax
case discussed above. 

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised.

OOtthheerr  LLeeggaall  aanndd  rreegguullaattoorryy  cchhaalllleennggeess
There are outstanding legal proceedings between the Company and its controlled entities and third parties as at 30 June
2025 as well as regulatory investigations by the Group's regulators. In relation to legal proceedings, the Group has notified its
insurance carrier of all relevant matters and currently anticipates that any damages (other than exemplary damages) that
may be awarded against the Group, in addition to its costs incurred in connection with the proceedings, may be covered by
its insurance policies where such policies are in place. Provisions are made for obligations where the existence of a liability is
probable and can be reasonably estimated. The outcomes of these other matters, including the outcome of certain regulatory
investigations, remain uncertain, and thus contingent liabilities exist for possible amounts eventually payable.

RREEGGUULLAATTOORRYY  MMAATTTTEERRSS
NNEEWW  SSOOUUTTHH  WWAALLEESS
RReegguullaattoorryy  rreeffoorrmmss
From 19 August 2024, mandatory carded play was required in private gaming areas and on select games on the main
gaming floor with daily cash limits of $5,000 for carded play. Fully carded play commenced on 19 October 2024. On 5 August
2025, the NSW Government confirmed that the daily cash limit of $5,000 for gaming customers will be maintained until 19
August 2027, after which it will be reduced to $1.000 (replacing a previous requirement for it to be reduced to $1,000 by 19
August 2025). The deferral is subject to various conditions, including monitoring the use of cash for gaming purposes and
providing ongoing reports to L&G NSW in relation to various customers and related data. The deferral of the introduction may
be revoked at any time during the two year period to 19 August 2027.  

DDiisscciipplliinnaarryy  aaccttiioonn
The Star Sydney’s casino licence has been suspended since 21 October 2022. On this date, the NICC also appointed a
Manager. During the period of its licence suspension, The Star Sydney remains open and operating, and net earnings
continue to be paid to The Star Sydney after payment of the Manager's costs. On 24 September 2025, the NICC notified The
Star Sydney that its casino licence will remain suspended and that the Manager’s term has been extended until 31 March
2026, unless terminated earlier by the NICC.

BBeellll  TTwwoo
On 17 October 2024, the NICC provided its regulatory response to the Bell Two Report (including disciplinary action in respect
of the Notice) and determined to take disciplinary action against The Star Sydney in the form of: a pecuniary penalty of $15
million in respect of the Breach Findings (payable in three equal amounts on 31 December 2024, 31 March 2025 and 30
June 2025); issued directions under the Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) in respect of various governance and operational
matters relating to The Star Sydney and proposed amendments to The Star Sydney’s licence conditions relating to key
management personnel and the composition of The Star Sydney board. All instalments have been paid.

CCaassiinnoo  dduuttyy  rreeffoorrmmss
On 11 August 2023 the NSW Treasurer and the Group announced an in-principle agreement had been reached in relation to
changes to casino duty rates for casinos in New South Wales and their impact on The Star Sydney. An agreement was
finalised between NSW Treasury and The Star Sydney on 20 November 2023.

The changes include rate increases for rebate duty (10% to 12.5%) and Table Games (17.91% to 20.25%) from 1 July 2023.
Poker machine duty rates will remain as follows until 2030 (20.91% until 30 June 2024, 21.91% from 1 July 2024 and
22.91% from 1 July 2027). In the period 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2030 an additional levy will apply equal to 35% of The Star
Sydney’s gaming revenue above $1.125 billion per financial year. From 1 July 2030 poker machines will be taxed based on
average poker machine revenue using a progressive rate scale with a maximum of 51.6%. There is no change to the
Responsible Gambling Levy rate.
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QQUUEEEENNSSLLAANNDD
DDiisscciipplliinnaarryy  aaccttiioonn
The Star Gold Coast's casino licence has been suspended (with suspension deferred) since 9 December 2022. A Special
Manager was appointed on the same date. On 25 September 2025, the Queensland government confirmed that it had
deferred the suspension of The Star Gold Coast’s casino licence and extended the Special Manager’s appointment to 30
September 2026.

The deferred suspension of Treasury Brisbane's licence and term of the Special Manager ceased on 23 October 2024, on
surrender of its casino licence, following the opening of The Star Brisbane.

The Star Brisbane was issued an unconditional casino licence on 28 August 2024, subject to the appointment of an External
Adviser and the adoption of the Group’s Remediation Plan. The External Adviser’s appointment has been extended to 30
September 2026.

RReemmeeddiiaattiioonn  ppllaann  aapppprroovvaall
The Group's Approved Remediation Plan (ARP), applicable across all three properties and the corporate office, received
formal approval from the OLGR on 19 June 2025. Following OLGR's endorsement, the ARP was subsequently updated across
the Group. 

RReegguullaattoorryy  rreeffoorrmmss
On 28 March 2024, the Casino Control and Other Legislation Act 2024 was enacted to give effect to the balance of the
recommendations of the Gotterson Report and certain other casino reforms. The proposed reforms include the introduction
of mandatory carded play, restrictions on the use of cash, mandatory player pre-commitments including play and break
limits, and a supervisory levy payable by casino licence holders. The supervisory levy payable by casino licence holders was
introduced on 1 July 2024 and resulted in a $9.4 million expense in FY25 for The Star Gold Coast. The implementation of the
remaining key measures noted above requires the introduction of regulations giving effect to those reforms. The timing of the
remaining regulations remains uncertain.

FFUUTTUURREE  DDEEVVEELLOOPPMMEENNTTSS
Future developments in the Group’s activities will be dependent on several factors outlined in this Directors’ Report, notably
successfully addressing the Group's trading and liquidity issues, the resolution of the AUSTRAC proceeding, and timely and
effective execution of the extensive program of remediation activities necessary for a return to suitability in both NSW and
Queensland. Refer to note G for more details on the factors and their impact on the Group’s ability to remain a going
concern.

2.7 RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group maintains a risk management framework aligned with ISO 31000, overseen by the Board and its Risk and
Compliance Committee, and implemented through a three lines of accountability model—operational management, risk
oversight, and internal audit. A formal risk appetite statement guides decision-making across strategic, operational, financial,
and compliance areas. Key risks, including regulatory, cybersecurity, financial, operational, and reputational, are actively
managed through targeted mitigation strategies such as compliance programs, IT security, financial controls, and ethical
conduct. The Group is committed to continuous improvement through regular reviews, policy updates, and staff training to
reinforce a resilient and accountable risk culture.

RRiisskk  aanndd  ddeessccrriippttiioonn MMiittiiggaattiioonn  ssttrraatteeggyy

FFaaiilluurree  ttoo  ccoommpplleettee  SSttrraatteeggiicc  IInnvveessttmmeenntt  ttrraannssaaccttiioonn

Failure to complete the strategic investment by Bally’s
Corporation and Investment Holdings Pty Ltd (Strategic
Investment) may materially impact the Group’s ability to
ensure financial stability.

The Group actively manages this risk through a governance
framework that oversees the key deliverables required to
complete the transaction.  This includes regular engagement
with key stakeholders including regulators and the investors
to support a transparent process

FFaaiilluurree  ttoo  ccoommpplleettee  pprroojjeeccttss

Failure to deliver on projects as planned could cause delays
in property development or digital transformation programs,
and reduced market share in a highly regulated and rapidly
evolving environment.

Inadequate execution or oversight may also affect guest
experience, stakeholder confidence, and the Group’s
reputation with regulators and the public.

The Group actively manages project risk, ensuring projects
are supported by rigorous governance, stakeholder
engagement, and alignment with strategic priorities.
This includes oversight through dedicated Board
committees, structured investment approval processes, and
regular reporting on key projects, milestones and risk
indicators.
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RRiisskk  aanndd  ddeessccrriippttiioonn MMiittiiggaattiioonn  ssttrraatteeggyy

JJVVPP  TTrraannssaaccttiioonn

In August 2025 The Group announced that it had entered
into a binding long-form documentation with Chow Tai Fook
Enterprises Limited (CTFE) and Far East Consortium
International Limited (FEC) (together, the Joint Venture
Partners or JVP), in relation to DBC (the owner of the Queen's
Wharf Brisbane Integrated Resort), DGCC (the owner of the
Gold Coast joint venture assets) and other assets in Brisbane
that are owned or partially owned by The Group.

If the JVP Transaction documents are terminated or the JVP
Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the
obligations of the SFA G&E PCG, on refinancing the DBC
Funding, and future DBC equity contributions will remain with
the Group and the Group may not be a going concern.

These risks could also affect stakeholder confidence and the
Group’s ability to meet regulatory and operational
commitments.

The JVP Transaction agreement will complete in two
separate stages. The completion of the exit from DBC is the
first stage, with a sunset date of 30 November 2025. The
completion of the remaining assets included in the JVP
Transaction (including DGCC and The Treasury Hotel and Car
Park in Brisbane) is subject to a separate set of conditions
precedent which are currently expected to be satisfied
during 2H CY26.

The Group continues to work with Joint Venture Partners to
satisfy conditions precedent, some of which are outside of
the Group’s control, including regulatory approvals.

Enhanced project governance and board oversight have
been implemented to support timely decision-making and
effective risk management.

SSuuiittaabbiilliittyy
The failure of one or more of the relevant Group entities for
The Star Sydney (TSS), The Star Gold Coast (TSGC) or The
Star Brisbane (TSB) to be suitable, or return to suitability, to
hold a casino licence or meet relevant suitability
requirements, including demonstrating financial viability,
could have an impact on the Group's reputation, financial
performance and position and the ongoing operation of the
business.

Following the Bell and Gotterson reviews in NSW and
Queensland, respectively, the Group is presently operating
with a suspended licence in NSW. On 24 September 2025,
the NICC notified TSS that its casino licence will remain
suspended and that the Manager’s term has been extended
until 31 March 2026, unless terminated earlier by the NICC.
On 25 September 2025, the Queensland government
confirmed that it had deferred the suspension of The Star
Gold Coast’s casino licence and extended the Special
Manager’s appointment to 30 September 2026.

  

The Group has developed a comprehensive remediation
program which seeks to uplift and reform the Group’s
governance, accountability and capabilities, culture and risk
and compliance processes to meet suitability requirements
for a casino operator in the states in which it operates. This
is a multi-year plan, requiring significant financial and
human resources to deliver.

To ensure delivery and accountability a structured project
has been put in place by the transformation team and risk
leaders.

We have continued to progress delivery of outcomes in line
with our remediation plan. Recently, in consultation with our
regulators, we proposed some further updates to the plan
which have been endorsed – these refinements give more
clarity and lift our focus in important areas like how we make
decisions, understand our guests, and use technology to
support the business.

UUnncceerrttaaiinnttyy  ssuurrrroouunnddiinngg  AAUUSSTTRRAACC  ppeennaallttyy  oouuttccoommee
The uncertainty as to the timing and quantum of the
impending AUSTRAC penalty creates a material risk to the
Group in regards to liquidity, financial viability and going
concern.

Should the court’s judgment as to the timing and quantum
be beyond the Group’s capacity to pay, given its existing
liquidity and ability to access any additional funding required
this may result in the Group not being able to continue as a
going concern.

The Group has determined a provision on the Balance Sheet
in respect of the AUSTRAC penalty.

The Group continues to review its capital management
strategy to ensure it is best placed to respond to the
AUSTRAC penalty following its determination.
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FFiinnaanncciiaall
The Group faces material uncertainty that could impact its
financial strength and liquidity, including the ongoing
implementation of all-carded gambling and lower cash limits,
disparity in regulatory settings with competitors that have led
to an erosion in the Group’s market share, and the economic
environment, that may cast significant doubt on its ability to
remain a going concern.

Key risks include constrained liquidity, funding
arrangements, ongoing support of SFA lenders, fees and
conditions associated with SFA covenant waivers, related
debt financing position and associated covenants, reduced
earnings capacity, risks associated with completing the JVP
Transaction and the Strategic Investment.  

These factors present challenges to maintain financial
stability, meet regulator financial capacity expectations and
deliver sustainable shareholder value.

Key to restoring market share in the medium term is
regulatory change in NSW and Queensland which would
deliver competitive neutrality. The imposition of comparable
compliance obligations on our non casino competitors is not
within the Group’s control, however demonstrating that we
can deliver a safer gambling environment will assist our
advocacy for broader application and in turn will support
growing community expectations for wider application.

The Group is strengthening its capital position by securing
long-term investment partnerships and pursuing refinancing
arrangements to support longer term liquidity.

The Group is optimising its asset portfolio by identifying and
divesting non-core assets, allowing the business to focus on
core operations and improve financial flexibility. In addition,
operational efficiency has been targeted through disciplined
cost management and initiatives aimed at diversifying
revenue streams.

Increasing board oversight and stronger financial controls
are supporting transparent and accountable decision-
making. Aligning financial strategy with long-term objectives
by ensuring that all funding, investment, and restructuring
activities are guided by a clear focus on sustainable value
creation for shareholders.

CCoommppeettiittiivvee  PPoossiittiioonn  aanndd  CCuussttoommeerr  BBeehhaavviioouurr

The disparity in regulatory requirements drives changes in
customer behaviour and market share. There may be
potential adverse impacts on the Group’s financial
performance and position from increased competition and
disparity in regulatory requirements in the Group’s key
markets in Sydney, Gold Coast and Brisbane. 

The ability of the Group to respond to these may be limited by
conflicting priorities and financial capacity.

Further, any diminution in customer satisfaction, loyalty or
changes in customer behaviour may have an impact on the
operating and financial performance and position of the
Group. This includes behavioural change arising from
changed business processes and controls.

Achievement of consistent, gaming industry wide compliance
obligations, currently imposed on casinos,  is expected to
support rebuilding market share, however the application of
competitive neutrality is not within the Group’s control.

The Group markets and promotes its portfolio of facilities to
seek to achieve the level of customer patronage needed to
deliver the expected returns on investment.

The Group is focused on continually improving customer
service capabilities of employees. Efforts to diversify revenue
sources continue as the Group's business moves towards a
more diversified entertainment offering.

The Group monitors customer satisfaction and reports
related metrics to management. To support and facilitate
strategic priorities, change management practices are
employed with specialised communication programs in place
to support customers through business changes.
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TTrraannssiittiioonn  ttoo  AAllll--CCaarrddeedd  aanndd  CCaasshh--LLiimmiitteedd  GGaammbblliinngg

The Group is undergoing a transformational shift in gaming
operations following regulatory reforms. The implementation
of new technology may result in unforeseen complications
and complexities, including system outages, impacting
revenue and customer satisfaction.

Carded play was introduced progressively at TSS from 19
August 2024. In August 2025 the final milestone of the
Casino 2.0 program was delivered. In August 2025 TSS also
received formal confirmation from the NSW Government that
TSS will continue to operate under the current $5,000 cash
limit for a further two years.

The resulting change and impact to the customer experience
is without precedent in the gaming industry, and is also
specifically limited to casinos and not other gaming
providers. This has had a material negative impact on
customer behaviour in the business, with a risk of further
deterioration remaining. 

Supporting the transition, changes to business processes,
technology, controls, and workforce design is
transformational in scale and complex, particularly when
implemented concurrently with other business priorities and
objectives of the Group.

There is a risk that the system and product design features
necessary to meet regulatory compliance requirements deter
patrons and impact revenue.

There is also a risk that any new technology built in response
to the regulatory change does not perform as intended
resulting in potential breaches, reputational damage and
poor customer experience.

The Group is delivering a significant program of work to
implement the technology, business processes, controls and
workforce changes required to meet these evolving
regulatory obligations. This program includes thorough
testing and validation, including robust compliance checks,
before deployment. Close monitoring allows early detection
of issues, while a strong incident response plan ensures
swift remediation.

Technical issues are being addressed through phased
rollouts and system upgrades. Customer adoption is
monitored, and learnings from trials are incorporated into
future phases. This enables the integration of regulatory
requirements into the design process in a way that supports
usability and customer trust.

The Group must demonstrate compliance with monitoring
and reporting conditions necessary to maintain the daily
$5,000 cash limit to 19 August 2027.

The Group continues to monitor customer adoption as
Casino 2.0 program transitions into our Continuous
Improvement phase. 

Key to restoring competitive neutrality is the successful
deployment of regulatory requirements (carded and
cashless), coupled with restoration of revenue, aligning
customer experiences with that of our competitors and
rebuilding market share.  Achievement of consistent, gaming
industry wide compliance obligations currently imposed on
casinos is key to rebuilding market share, however the
application of competitive neutrality is not within the Group’s
control.

This marks a significant step forward in enhancing customer
safety, free of financial crime, meeting regulatory
expectations, and reinforcing our commitment to our Vision
of becoming Sydney’s safest entertainment destination of
choice.

CCyybbeerr  SSeeccuurriittyy
Information systems applications and technology are
essential to maintaining effective operations. TSEG faces
heightened cyber security risks due to increased digital
reliance. The transition to a cashless model and evolving
threat landscape further amplifies the risk of data loss,
regulatory breaches, and reputational damage. 

Threats to information systems applications and technology
are continuously evolving and cyber threats and the risk of
attacks are increasing. Any failure of the Group’s systems
and processes could result in, amongst other things,
business interruption, data breaches, legal or regulatory
breaches and liability, with negative impacts on the Group's

  reputation and financial performance.

A multi-year cyber uplift program is underway, focusing on
advanced threat detection, third-party risk management, and
regulatory compliance. Investments in machine learning
tools, improved incident response protocols, and enhanced
governance frameworks are strengthening the Group’s cyber
resilience and stakeholder trust.

Employees are regularly trained on the importance of cyber
security and related processes, with continued testing of
control effectiveness and reporting to senior management
and the Board.
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IInnffoorrmmaattiioonn  SSeeccuurriittyy  aanndd  PPrriivvaaccyy
The Group necessarily collects and manages confidential
business and customer data in the course of its business
operations. The Group is exposed to risks related to the
protection of personal and sensitive information. The
increasing volume of digital transactions and customer data,
combined with evolving privacy regulations, heightens the
risk of non-compliance, data misuse, and reputational harm.

Any systems or process failures could result in the exposure
of confidential information and sensitive customer data,
leading to customer dissatisfaction, legal or regulatory
breaches (including of privacy legislation) and liability,
impacting the Group’s reputation and financial performance.

The Group has strengthened its privacy governance
framework, enhancing data handling protocols, and aligning
with regulatory requirements. Key initiatives include
improved third-party data controls, staff training on data
protection, and integration of privacy-by- design principles
into systems and processes. These efforts are supported by
the broader cyber uplift program to ensure secure and
compliant data management.

The Group has a dedicated Privacy team as part of its Group
Risk function. The Privacy team supports privacy awareness
and education across the Group and works closely with
Information Technology to drive data security and protection
controls across the Group.

CCuullttuurree
Failure to transform the Group’s culture in order to address
historic failings may result in the inability of the Group to
satisfy regulators of our suitability to hold licences. 

Failure to achieve a culture founded on high ethical
standards may adversely impact our ability to attract and
retain high quality team members.

Failure to embed a culture which appropriately recognises
and responds to risk may result in the inability of the Group
to successfully achieve its strategic change programs.

The Group is actively fostering a risk-aware cultural change
program across all levels of the organisation. This cultural
shift is part of a broader transformation agenda aimed at
strengthening governance, accountability, and ethical
conduct.  These efforts are designed to support a culture of
transparency, integrity, and continuous improvement.

The Group is integrating risk awareness into leadership
practices by ensuring leaders consistently demonstrate and
reinforce risk-conscious behaviours. The Group is building
employee capability through targeted training programs that
promote understanding of risk responsibilities and ethical
decision-making.

The Group is promoting a speak-up culture by encouraging
open communication, supporting staff in raising concerns,
and protecting those who report issues. Risk considerations
are being embedded into daily operations by aligning risk
management frameworks with business processes and
decision-making.

A confidential whistleblowing program is in place to support
escalation when team members may not be comfortable
escalating through internal channels.
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SSaaffeerr  GGaammbblliinngg

Failure to provide a safe, supportive and compliant
environment for our customers and minimise harm from
gambling may adversely impact the trust our stakeholders
have in us and meet safer gambling compliance obligations.

The Group’s Safer Gambling Policy outlines industry-leading
principles and practices designed to prevent and reduce
gambling-related harm across all properties that prioritises
harm minimisation and responsible play.

These include proactive guest monitoring, exclusion
protocols, and the availability of remote self-exclusion
options.

The Group recognises the broader context of gambling harm,
including co-occurring challenges such as mental health and
substance use and is implementing a public health-based
approach to gambling harm minimisation, focusing on
prevention, early intervention, and support.

A dedicated Safer Gambling team is in place to monitor
customer behaviour, apply exclusion protocols, and respond
to risk indicators.

Staff are trained to identify signs of gambling harm and
escalate concerns appropriately.

While some of these measures have impacted short-term
revenue, the Group continues to advocate for a level playing
field across the industry and is working to improve customer
experience and engagement under the new framework.

AAnnttii--MMoonneeyy  LLaauunnddeerriinngg  aanndd  CCoouunntteerr--TTeerrrroorriissmm  FFiinnaanncciinngg
CCoommpplliiaannccee
The Group operates in an industry that presents high money
laundering risks.

The Group continues to face regulatory scrutiny in relation to
its Anti-Money Laundering (AML) and Counter-Terrorism
Financing (CTF) obligations. Civil proceedings initiated by
AUSTRAC highlight historical compliance failures, including
deficiencies in customer due diligence and transaction
monitoring.

These issues have resulted in reputational and regulatory
risks, particularly in relation to the Group’s suitability to hold
casino licences and maintain stakeholder confidence. The
outcomes of these proceedings, along with any further
regulatory actions, may have a material impact on the
Group’s operations, financial performance, and ongoing
remediation efforts.

The Group is actively engaging with regulators and
community stakeholders to align practices with evolving
standards and expectations, including the implementation of
enhanced AML/CTF controls, including improved customer
due diligence, source of funds verification, and transaction
monitoring.

Comprehensive training programs have been rolled out to
ensure frontline and compliance teams are equipped to
meet regulatory expectations.

The Group continues to cooperate fully with AUSTRAC and
other regulators, with ongoing dialogue to support
remediation efforts. The Board and Executive Leadership
Team maintain close oversight of AML/CTF compliance, with
regular reporting and independent assurance reviews.
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LLeeggaall  aanndd  RReegguullaattoorryy  CCoommpplliiaannccee

The Group operates in a highly regulated industry and is
reliant on receiving and maintaining regulatory approvals in
the jurisdictions in which it conducts gambling and non-
gambling operations.

The Group faces ongoing legal and regulatory compliance
risks due to historical failures in anti-money laundering (AML)
controls and governance oversight. These issues have led to
civil proceedings by ASIC against former directors and
officers, regulatory investigations by AUSTRAC, and the
suspension of The Star Sydney’s casino licence and the
deferred suspension of The Star Gold Coast’s licence.

While the Group has made and continues to make significant
progress in its legal and regulatory compliance frameworks,
the inherent risk of breaches and non-compliance remain.

The Group has adopted a Compliance framework aligned
with ISO 37301:2021 to ensure consistent compliance
practices across all operations.

Governance structures have been enhanced, with increased
board oversight.  An extension of this has been the
establishment of independent property boards, facilitating
the close and direct supervision of our properties.

The Group has significantly upgraded its AML/CTF controls,
supported by external audits and expert reviews.

The Group continues to engage proactively with regulators,
submitting detailed remediation plans and regular progress
reports to demonstrate its commitment to reform and
ongoing suitability to hold casino licences.

LLeeggiissllaattiivvee  aanndd  CCoonnttrraaccttuuaall  RReessttrriiccttiioonnss  oonn  DDeeaalliinngg  wwiitthh
AAsssseettss

The Group is subject to legislative and contractual
restrictions that limit its ability to freely deal with certain
assets, particularly those tied to its casino operations.

Additionally, ongoing civil proceedings and potential penalties
pose a risk to the Group’s financial stability and may trigger
further constraints on asset management and liquidity.

Contractual obligations with joint venture partners and
financiers also impose limitations on asset transfers,
restructuring, or divestment.

Due to extended regulatory approval processes, there is a
risk that key strategic milestones may be missed, resulting in
reputational, financial, or operational consequences.

These restrictions are a function of the legislative and
contractual obligations which apply to the Group’s
operations in NSW and QLD.

The Group seeks to ensure that it consults with relevant
regulatory bodies and third parties in connection with such
restrictions and limitations as appropriate. Where applicable,
relevant consents or approvals are sought.

The Group strives to engage early with regulators, monitor
approval timelines closely, and incorporate contingency
plans to minimise delays to strategic objectives relating to
regulatory approval delays.
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KKeeyy  SSttaakkeehhoollddeerr  RReellaattiioonnss
The Group faces elevated risk in managing relationships with
key stakeholders, including regulators, shareholders, joint
venture partners, and the broader community. Regulatory
investigations and compliance failures have significantly
impacted stakeholder confidence, particularly following
licence suspensions and legal proceedings. These events
have strained relationships with government bodies and
raised concerns among investors about the Group’s
governance and financial stability.

The Group’s financial position, including pressures from
remediation costs and liquidity management, has added
complexity to stakeholder engagement. Key investors and
financial partners are closely monitoring developments, while
joint venture stakeholders remain engaged in assessing the
Group’s ability to meet its obligations. Public and media
attention has increased, contributing to heightened
community interest and reputational considerations.

Maintaining transparent, constructive, and consistent
communication with stakeholders is critical to preserving
trust and ensuring continued support. Failure to do so may
result in reduced access to capital, strained regulatory
relationships, and reputational damage that could affect
long-term viability.

The Group has prioritised stakeholder engagement as part of
its broader governance and remediation strategy.

The Group has strengthened its communication channels
with regulators, providing regular updates on compliance
progress and remediation efforts.

The Group is also actively engaging with investors and
financial partners to secure support for its recovery plans.
This includes capital strategy initiatives, cost-reduction
programs, and strategic restructuring to stabilise operations.

PPeeooppllee

The Group recognises that its people are central to the
success and sustainability of its operations. The Group has
experienced workforce-related challenges, including higher
turnover in frontline and operational roles, and increased
competition for talent in key leadership and specialist
positions. These dynamics have been influenced by broader
organisational changes and evolving industry conditions.

The Group has also identified historical wage compliance
matters, which have been voluntarily reported to the Fair
Work Ombudsman. Remediation efforts, including back-
payments to current and former employees, are actively
underway. While the Group is engaging constructively and
transparently with the regulator, it acknowledges the
potential for further regulatory outcomes.

In parallel, the Group continues to navigate complex
industrial relations issues, focused on maintaining
constructive engagement with union partners.

Relationships with unions may not always be constructive
and supportive, leading to challenging working environments
and potentially, disruptions to business operations.

To support a stable and engaged workforce, the Group has
implemented a refreshed people strategy led by a newly
appointed Chief People Officer. This includes targeted
initiatives to improve retention, strengthen leadership
capability, and enhance internal mobility. The Culture,
People and Remuneration Committee provides governance
oversight of these efforts, ensuring alignment with the
Group’s values and strategic objectives.

Wage compliance remediation is being managed through a
structured and transparent process, supported by system
improvements and strengthened payroll governance,
reported regularly to management and the Group Board.

Broader cultural initiatives, including employee engagement,
wellbeing programs, and leadership development, are being
prioritised to foster a respectful, inclusive, and high-
performing workplace.
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HHeeaalltthh  aanndd  SSaaffeettyy

The Group operates in a dynamic and high-traffic
environment where health and safety risks both physical and
psychological are inherent to daily operations.

The Company seeks to operate the Group’s facilities without
adversely affecting the safety, security and wellbeing of its
guests, the public, team members and contractors. This
includes the responsible serving of alcohol for guests.

These risks may arise from workplace incidents, guest
interactions, or operational hazards across its properties.
Inadequate safety controls or failure to meet regulatory
obligations could result in harm to team members, guests, or
contractors, and may lead to reputational damage, regulatory
action, or operational disruption.

The Group recognises the growing importance of
psychological safety and wellbeing as part of its broader duty
of care.

The Group operates a Safety Management System, with
health and safety an integral part of our operations.

Supporting this is a Group Health and Safety Strategy, and a
detailed Health and Safety Policy. Regular independent
audits are conducted to ensure compliance with our
expected standards.

Dedicated health and safety, and injury management
specialists are employed at each of the Group’s properties.
Measures have been taken to enhance the Group’s
operational controls.

Each property employs security and surveillance personnel
to provide support in monitoring threats and managing
potential incidents on a real time basis. Team members are
trained on the responsible service of alcohol.

The Group has implemented education and awareness
activities to support psychological safety. Employee
wellbeing is supported by a range of leader and employee
tools, in addition to extensive support provided by our
Employee Assistance Partner (including onsite attendance to
provide personal support when this is required).

OOppeerraattiioonnaall  RRiisskkss

The Group faces operational risks in its day-to-day activities
and processes. This includes risk of loss or reputational
damage resulting from inadequate, changed or failed internal
processes, people or systems (including, amongst other
things, technology, innovation, data storage, staffing levels
and skills, and information security systems), or from external
events.

Though controls are in place, these may not always be
effective at mitigating unexpected internal or external events
which may adversely impact the Group’s operational and
financial performance.

The remediation program includes clearly defined work
streams designed to simplify the control environment and
identify any control gaps. A culture of risk awareness through
the Group’s ‘three-lines-of accountability’ model provides a
foundation for the Group’s risk management framework.
Assurance and Audit capabilities are being improved.

PPoolliittiiccaall  aanndd  GGeenneerraall  BBuussiinneessss  aanndd  EEccoonnoommiicc  CCoonnddiittiioonnss

In light of macroeconomic events and political, economic and
business conditions, geopolitical risks and natural disasters,
Australia may continue to experience economic variability
and uncertainty going forward.

These economic and geopolitical conditions have had, and
could in the future have, an adverse impact on the Group’s
operating and financial position and performance.

The Group works collaboratively with external stakeholders
and engages actively with governments and regulators in
support of common objectives.

The Group monitors the external environment and responds
to challenges that may impact its customers, its employees
and its business, including through management of
expenses and investments.
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SSuussttaaiinnaabbiilliittyy

The Group faces sustainability risks related to environmental,
social, and governance (ESG) factors that may affect its long-
term viability and stakeholder trust. These include exposure
to climate-related risks, energy and resource consumption,
and social licence to operate.

Failure to meet evolving stakeholder expectations around
responsible business practices, transparency, and ethical
governance could impact investor confidence, regulatory
relationships, and community support.

Sustainability risks are tracked and reported by
management with actions taken to remain within defined
risk appetite. Sustainability matters are reported to the
Board Risk and Compliance Committee.

The Group manages sustainability risks in line with its “3
lines of accountability” model to identify and manage key
risks and to provide assurance that critical controls are
effective in managing those risks. This model is supported by
the Group’s risk management framework.

2.8 ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE
The Group’s environmental obligations are regulated under both state and federal laws. The Group complies with its
environmental performance obligations. During FY25, no environmental breaches have been notified to the Group by any
government agency and the Directors are not aware of any material non-compliance with environmental regulations
pertaining to the operations or activities during the period covered by this report. In addition, the Group reports the annual
performance of its operations under the requirements of the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007. 

3 LOSS PER SHARE
Basic and diluted loss per share for the financial year was (14.9) cents (2024: (66.8) cents). Loss per share is disclosed in
note F3 of the Financial Report.

4 DIVIDENDS
No final dividend was declared.

5 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The following events occurred after balance date:

AAggrreeeemmeenntt  ttoo  eexxiitt  DDeessttiinnaattiioonn  BBrriissbbaannee  CCoonnssoorrttiiuumm  aanndd  ccoonnssoolliiddaattee  tthhee  GGrroouupp''ss  GGoolldd  CCooaasstt  ppoossiittiioonn  
On 12 August 2025, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered into binding long form transaction documents
with its joint venture partners, being Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited and Far East Consortium International Limited (the
JJooiinntt  VVeennttuurree  PPaarrttnneerrss) in respect of its stapled equity interest in Destination Brisbane Consortium Pty Ltd and the
Destination Brisbane Consortium Integrated Resort Holding Trust (the JJVVPP TTrraannssaaccttiioonn). 

The JVP Transaction involves the Group disposing of its 50% equity interest in DBC, the Treasury Brisbane Hotel and Car Park
and 50% interest in Charlotte Street Car Park, and acquiring the equity interests of the Joint Venture Partners in DGCC. The
JVP Transaction will complete in two stages. The completion of the exit from DBC is the first  stage, with a sunset date of 30
November 2025. The completion of the remaining assets included in the JVP Transaction (including DGCC and The Treasury
Hotel and Car Park in Brisbane) is subject to a separate set of conditions precedent which are currently expected to be
satisfied during 2H CY26. 

The terms of the JVP Transaction provide, among other things, that: 

 the Group will not be required to make any further equity contributions to DBC after 31 March 2025; 

 the Group will be released from the parent company guarantee in relation to its 50% share of the DBC loan facilities of
~$0.7 billion (refer to DBC Financing Arrangements in note B6), which reach maturity in December 2025;

 The Group will acquire the Joint Venture Partners' combined 66.6% interest in the Dorsett Hotel (TToowweerr  11  HHootteell) and
Andaz Hotel (TToowweerr  22  HHootteell) on the Gold Coast, which would result in the Group's interest in each of the Tower 1 Hotel
and the Tower 2 Hotel increasing to 100% ownership, and the Group will acquire the management rights for the Tower 1
Hotel after a further period of management by FEC of up to 5 years; 

 The Group will assume responsibility for all equity contributions for DGCC from 31 March 2025; 

 The Group will retain its rights to future development on Broadbeach Island, Gold Coast (three remaining towers to be
developed). The Joint Venture Partners will retain their existing development rights for the next tower only, subject to the
Group's option to buy out those rights for $20 million; 

 The Group will transfer to the Joint Venture Partners its 100% interest in the Treasury Brisbane Car Park and Treasury
Hotel, and its 50% equity interest in the Charlotte Street Car Park; 
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 The Group will retain responsibility for the guarantee it made to the Queensland State Government for footpaths and
public realm works surrounding the Treasury Casino Building (previously sold), Treasury Car Park and Treasury Hotel in
Brisbane;

 The Group will no longer receive the operator fee provided for under the DBC Casino Management Agreement (CCMMAA).
Instead, it will receive a fixed fee of: 

 $5 million per month until 30 June 2026; 

 $6 million per month from 1 July 2026 to 30 June 2027;

 $7 million per month from 1 July 2027 to 30 June 2028.

 After 30 June 2028, the amendments made to the CMA that give effect to the fixed operator fee will be unwound and
the fee will revert to the arrangements that existed prior to the fixed fee arrangements being put in place;

 For the period between 1 March 2025 to completion of the exit of DBC, the difference between the operator fee that the
Group would be entitled to receive under the current formulation of the CMA and the higher fixed fee under the new
arrangements (Operator Fee Delta) will be placed into escrow each month. These amounts will be released from escrow
at the earlier of 31 March 2026 and three months after the nomination of a replacement operator (but not before
completion of the first stage, being the DBC exit). Upon nomination of a replacement casino operator by the Joint
Venture Partners, payment into escrow of the Operator Fee Delta will resume for a three month period while the Group
and the replacement operator agree a transition process. These amounts will be released from escrow at the end of the
three month period;

 The Joint Venture Partners are entitled to nominate a replacement operator at any time from the later of OLGR and DBC
lender approval or 30 November 2025;

 If requested, the Group will enter into a transitional services agreement with the replacement operator to provide
services that the Group currently provides to The Star Brisbane for a period of up to 24 months following the
appointment of a replacement operator; and

 DBC / the replacement operator will assume responsibility for all employee entitlements for operational employees at
The Star Brisbane other than a $5 million contribution made by the Group which will be payable over a 12 month period
from appointment of the replacement operator.

Completion of the JVP Transaction is subject to a number of conditions precedent including receipt of applicable regulatory
approvals and government concessions, approval from lenders to the Group, DBC and DGCC, amendments to the DBC debt
facilities, release from the Company's PCG in relation to the SFA G&E. The completion of a number of these conditions
precedent is not within the Group's control, as such there remains a material risk in completing the JVP Transaction. Should
the DBC exit stage of the JVP Transaction be terminated, or the JVP Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the
obligations of the SFA G&E PCG, on refinancing the DBC Funding, and future DBC equity contributions will remain with the
Group (refer to note B6).

 The Joint Venture Partners agreed to pay $53 million to the Group, in addition to a possible future earn-out, comprising:

 an upfront payment of $35 million on or before 7 March 2025, which has been paid. This payment reflects a
prepayment of the Group's future entitlement in relation to the DGCC Tower 2 joint venture distribution; 

 an additional payment of $10 million on or before 31 March 2025, which was initially paid by the Joint Venture Partners,
and then repaid by the Group when the binding heads of agreement was terminated, but was repaid again by the Joint
Venture Partners when long form transaction documents were entered into; 

 a further amount of $8 million, payable on the earlier of 30 November 2025 or the repayment of the construction loan
from sale proceeds and execution of the operating loan on practical completion of the Tower 2 Hotel; and 

 prior to 31 December 2030, an earn out payment of up to $225 million based on the lower of: 

 $225 million; or 

 50% of DBC’s pro forma equity value calculated as nine-times EBITDA for the 12-month period ended 30 June
2030, less 31 March 2025 net debt (including current forecast development capital expenditure commitments of
$320 million) (the EEaarrnn  OOuutt). 
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If the long form transaction documents are terminated or the JVP Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the
parties have agreed that: 

 The Group will repay certain cash payments it has received from the Joint Venture Partners;

 The Group must reimburse the Joint Venture Partners for its share of the equity contributions made by the Joint Venture
Partners to DBC since 31 March 2025;

 For certain payments owed, the Group can, as an alternative transfer its one 1/3 interest in Tower 1 Hotel (Dorsett) to
the Joint Venture Partners to offset the cash payment obligation; and

 The Joint Venture Partners must reimburse the Group for their share of equity contributions that have been made by the
Group to DGCC to fund DGCC costs.

As an exception to the above, if the DBC transaction does not complete, certain amendments to the CMA will survive the
unwind. These include:

 the ability of the Joint Venture Partners to terminate the CMA with 90 days’ notice following nomination of a replacement
operator (as well as requirements on the Group to facilitate transition to that replacement operator);

 certain revised reporting and operational arrangements will remain in place; and

 the Joint Venture Partners will retain the right to designate certain areas of the Integrated Resort as areas not managed
by the Group, with the calculated CMA fee to include the revenue and EBITDA of these areas regardless of the
designation.

SSuussppeennssiioonn  ooff  CCaassiinnoo  LLiicceenncceess
On 24 September 2025, the NICC notified The Star Sydney that its casino licence will remain suspended and that the 
Manager’s term has been extended until 31 March 2026, unless terminated earlier by the NICC (previously extended to 30 
September 2025 as notified on 28 March 2025).

On 25 September 2025, the Queensland government confirmed that it had deferred the suspension of The Star Gold Coast’s 
casino licence and extended the Special Manager’s appointment to 30 September 2026 (previously extended to 30 
September 2025 as notified on 27 March 2025).

The Star Brisbane's External Adviser’s appointment has been extended to 30 September 2026 (previously 30 September 
2025). 

SSFFAA  FFaacciilliittyy  ppaarrttiiaall  pprreeppaayymmeenntt
On 25 September 2025, the Group issued a notice to voluntarily prepay $61.1 million of the SFA Facilities using the balance 
of funds in the Disposal Proceeds Account. This prepayment is expected to complete on 30 September 2025.

Other than those events disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, there have been no other significant events 
occurring after the balance sheet date and up to the date of this report, which may materially affect either the Group's 
operations or results of those operations or the Group's state of affairs.
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6 DIRECTORS' QUALIFICATIONS, EXPERIENCE AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
The details of the Company's Directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report (except as otherwise
stated) are set out below.

CCuurrrreenntt  DDiirreeccttoorrss

AAnnnnee  WWaarrdd CChhaaiirrmmaann (from 29 April 2024)

IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  NNoonn--EExxeeccuuttiivvee  DDiirreeccttoorr (from 18 November 2022).

Barrister and Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Victoria; Fellow of the Australian Institute of
Company Directors; Bachelor of Laws; Bachelor of Arts

EExxppeerriieennccee::

Anne Ward is an experienced company director with expertise in business management,
strategy, governance, risk and finance and broad industry experience spanning financial
services, banking, insurance, technology, healthcare, government, education, tourism,
entertainment and gaming.

Anne also has considerable experience in complex governance, transformation and risk
management across highly regulated sectors, including casinos.

Anne was formerly Chairman of Articore Group Ltd, Symbio Holdings Ltd, Colonial First State
Investments Ltd, Qantas Superannuation Ltd and Zoos Victoria, and a director of Crown Resorts
Limited, MYOB Group Ltd and Flexigroup Ltd. She was previously a Council Member at RMIT
University for several years, where she contributed to an uplift in governance for the university
sector in Australia.

Prior to her career as a professional director, Anne was a commercial lawyer for 28 years and
was General Counsel for Australia at the National Australia Bank and a partner at Minter Ellison

  in Melbourne.

SSppeecciiaall  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess::

- Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee
- Member of the Culture, People and Remuneration Committee

  - Member of the Nominations Committee

DDiirreeccttoorrsshhiippss  ooff  ootthheerr  AAuussttrraalliiaann  lliisstteedd  ccoommppaanniieess  hheelldd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  llaasstt  33  yyeeaarrss::

- Articore Group Limited (22 March 2018 to 2 June 2025)
- Symbio Holdings Limited (22 July 2021 to 28 February 2024)
- Crown Resorts Limited (13 January 2022 to 24 June 2022)
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CCuurrrreenntt  DDiirreeccttoorrss

SStteevvee  MMccCCaannnn GGrroouupp  CChhiieeff  EExxeeccuuttiivvee  OOffffiicceerr  aanndd    MMaannaaggiinngg  DDiirreeccttoorr (from 2 December 2024)

Bachelor of Laws; Bachelor of Economics

EExxppeerriieennccee::

Steve’s career spans finance, real estate development and investment, leisure and gaming over
three decades.

As well as being recognised for his extensive executive and leadership experience, Steve is highly
regarded by key industry and government stakeholders for his recent leadership of Crown
Resorts Limited where he set the organisation on a strong path of operational and cultural
reform after joining as CEO in 2021.

Prior to joining Crown, Steve spent 12 years as CEO of the global Lendlease business, with his
success in the role positioning him as one of the country’s most effective and respected leaders.

Before being appointed as Group CEO of Lendlease, Steve was Group Finance Director and Chief
Executive Officer of Lendlease’s Investment Management business, roles which drew on his 15
years of experience at ABN AMRO and Bankers Trust where he held senior leadership roles
spanning property, funds management, investment banking and capital markets transactions.

Steve began his career as a mergers and acquisitions lawyer at Freehills after graduating from
Monash University in Melbourne with a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor of Economics.

SSppeecciiaall  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess::

- Nil

DDiirreeccttoorrsshhiippss  ooff  ootthheerr  AAuussttrraalliiaann  lliisstteedd  ccoommppaanniieess  hheelldd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  llaasstt  33  yyeeaarrss::

- Scentre Group (1 November 2022 to 26 June 2024)
- Crown Resorts Limited (1 June 2021 to 24 June 2022)

PPeetteerr  HHooddggssoonn IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  NNoonn--EExxeeccuuttiivvee  DDiirreeccttoorr (from 7 February 2024)

Master of Arts; Bachelor of Arts; Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors

EExxppeerriieennccee::    
Peter is an experienced director with extensive global financial services experience and a strong
business track record. He is a strategic thinker with in-depth experience in large complex
companies.

Peter recently stepped down as Chair of ASX-listed Judo Bank, remaining as senior independent
director. He is Chair of Centre of Evidence and Implementation, Chair of Significant Capital
Ventures Ltd and is also a director of Planum Capital.  He is a member of the University of
Melbourne’s Trinity College Investment Management Committee and a member of the advisory
board of Drummond Capital Partners.

Peter previously held senior executive roles in Australian and global financial institutions
including Chief Risk Officer and Group Managing Director Institutional at ANZ, and was most
recently Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of Myer Family Investments.

SSppeecciiaall  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess::    

- Chair of Risk and Compliance Committee
- Member of the Audit Committee
- Member of the Culture, People and Remuneration Committee
- Member of the Nominations Committee

DDiirreeccttoorrsshhiippss  ooff  ootthheerr  AAuussttrraalliiaann  lliisstteedd  ccoommppaanniieess  hheelldd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  llaasstt  33  yyeeaarrss::

- Judo Capital Holdings Limited (25 January 2017 to present)
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CCuurrrreenntt  DDiirreeccttoorrss

MMiicchhaaeell  IIsssseennbbeerrgg IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  NNoonn--EExxeeccuuttiivvee  DDiirreeccttoorr (from 11 July 2022)

BS in Hotel Administration – Cornell University USA
French Order of Merit (Ordre national du Mérite)

EExxppeerriieennccee::
Michael Issenberg is an experienced executive and director with over 40 years' experience in the
hotel, casino and tourism industries.

Michael is currently a Non-Executive Director of TFE Hotels and Journey Beyond, a tourism
experience company.

Michael was formerly the Chairman of Tourism Australia and formerly Chairman of Reef
Corporate Services Limited, the Responsible Entity of Reef Casino Trust, and Non-Executive
Director for over 20 years. He was also previously a Director of Ascendas Hospitality REIT, a 
Singapore listed company. Prior to that, he held various executive roles with AccorHotels for 25
years, most recently as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of AccorHotels Asia Pacific. 

He previously held the role of Chief Executive Officer of Mirvac Hotels, following a successful
career at Westin Hotels and Resorts, Laventhol & Horwath, and Horwath & Horwath Services Pty
Limited in San Francisco and Sydney.

SSppeecciiaall  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess::

- Chair of the Culture, People and Remuneration Committee
- Member of the Audit Committee
- Member of the Safer Gambling, Governance and Ethics Committee
- Member of the Nominations Committee

DDiirreeccttoorrsshhiippss  ooff  ootthheerr  AAuussttrraalliiaann  lliisstteedd  ccoommppaanniieess  hheelldd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  llaasstt  33  yyeeaarrss::
- Nil

DDeebboorraahh  PPaaggee  AAMM IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  NNoonn--EExxeeccuuttiivvee  DDiirreeccttoorr (from 13 March 2023)

Bachelor of Economics, Fellow of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand, Fellow of
the Australian Institute of Company Directors

EExxppeerriieennccee::
Deborah Page is a Chartered Accountant with dual audit partner and CFO experience during her
executive career. She has specific experience in corporate finance, accounting, audit, mergers
and acquisitions, capital markets, insurance and joint venture arrangements.

Deborah has extensive experience as a company director gained across ASX listed, private,
public sector and regulated entities since 2001. Her relevant sector experience includes
property, technology, and the regulated sectors of insurance and funds management. Deborah's
experience includes Board leadership, governance and compliance, risk management,
remuneration practices, investor relations and health, safety and environment.

Deborah is currently a Non-Executive Director of Magellan Financial Group Limited and
Growthpoint Properties Australia Limited.

Deborah is a member of Chief Executive Women and a member of the Takeovers Panel.

SSppeecciiaall  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess::

- Chair of the Audit Committee
- Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee
- Member of the Safer Gambling, Governance and Ethics Committee
- Member of the Nominations Committee

DDiirreeccttoorrsshhiippss  ooff  ootthheerr  AAuussttrraalliiaann  lliisstteedd  ccoommppaanniieess  hheelldd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  llaasstt  33  yyeeaarrss::

- Growthpoint Properties Australia Limited (1 March 2021 to present)
- Magellan Financial Group Limited (3 October 2023 to present)
- Brickworks Limited (1 July 2014 to 23 September 2025)
- Pendal Group Limited (7 April 2014 to 23 January 2023)
- Service Stream Limited (21 September 2010 to 30 April 2023) 
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CCuurrrreenntt  DDiirreeccttoorrss

AAnnttoonniiaa  ((TToonnii))
TThhoorrnnttoonn

IInnddeeppeennddeenntt  NNoonn--EExxeeccuuttiivvee  DDiirreeccttoorr (from 17 October 2023)

Master of Laws, Bachelor of Arts, Graduate Certificate in Finance

EExxppeerriieennccee::
Toni is an experienced executive with more than 15 years’ corporate finance and strategic
advisory experience, and 13 years’ experience in audit at Board-level.

Toni brings a strategic commercial focus and experience in regulated industries including
financial services and education, as well as strong financial acumen, and diverse enterprise risk
and capital projects experience.

Toni is currently a Non-Executive Director of G8 Education Limited and Habitat Early Learning.

Toni was previously a Non-Executive Director of CS Energy (a Queensland Government energy
company), and significant private companies including Millovate Pty Ltd (a beneficial enterprise
established to manage development of a major precinct in the Moreton Bay Priority Development
Area), South Bank Corporation (the development and management authority for Brisbane’s
South Bank precinct), Devcorp, Gallipoli Medical Research Foundation and Triathlon
Queensland.

Prior to embarking on her Board career, Toni had an executive career, holding senior roles with
JBWere, Goldman Sachs JBWere, and National Australia Bank.

SSppeecciiaall  RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess::

- Member of the Culture, People and Remuneration Committee
- Member of the Risk and Compliance Committee
- Member of the Nominations Committee

DDiirreeccttoorrsshhiippss  ooff  ootthheerr  AAuussttrraalliiaann  lliisstteedd  ccoommppaanniieess  hheelldd  dduurriinngg  tthhee  llaasstt  33  yyeeaarrss::

- G8 Education Limited (29 November 2021 to present)

7 DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
At the date of this report (except as otherwise stated), the Directors had the following relevant interests in the securities of
the Company:

OOrrddiinnaarryy  SShhaarreess PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  RRiigghhttss

Anne Ward 100,000 Nil

Steven McCann a Nil 10,517,458

Peter Hodgson 95,000 Nil

Michael Issenberg  32,122 Nil

Deborah Page AM 57,016 Nil

Antonia Thornton 170,000 Nil

a Appointed as Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director on 2 December 2024 following the receipt of all necessary
regulatory approvals.
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8 COMPANY SECRETARY
Jennie Yuen holds the position of Group Manager Shareholder Relations and Company Secretary (appointed on 29 July
2021). 

Ms Yuen has a commercial and corporate law background in private practice and over 15 years of company secretariat and
corporate governance experience with ASX listed and public companies.

Prior to joining The Star Entertainment Group, Ms Yuen was employed as a solicitor and company secretary at Company
Matters Pty Limited and was the outsourced company secretary of various ASX listed companies, including Analytica Limited,
National Leisure and Gaming Limited and Oaks Hotels & Resorts Limited. 

Ms Yuen holds a Bachelor of Laws and a Bachelor of Commerce. She is a member of the Queensland Law Society and a
Fellow of the Governance Institute of Australia.

9 BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING ATTENDANCE
During the financial year ended 30 June 2025, the Company held 91 meetings of the Board of Directors (including 76 out of
cycle meetings and 4 Board sub-committee meetings). The numbers of Board and Committee meetings attended by each of
the Directors during the year are set out in the table below.

BBooaarrdd  ooff
DDiirreeccttoorrss

AAuuddiitt
CCoommmmiitttteeee

RRiisskk  &&
CCoommpplliiaannccee
CCoommmmiitttteeee

CCuullttuurree,,  PPeeooppllee
aanndd

RReemmuunneerraattiioonn
CCoommmmiitttteeee

NNoommiinnaattiioonn
CCoommmmiitttteeee

SSaaffeerr  GGaammbblliinngg,,
GGoovveerrnnaannccee  &&

EEtthhiiccss  
CCoommmmiitttteeee

DDiirreeccttoorrss                AA               BB               AA               BB               AA               BB               AA               BB               AA               BB               AA               BB

Anne Ward 89 91 - - 5 5 4 4 2 2 2 2

Steve McCann a 46 48 - - - - - - - - - -

Peter Hodgson 80 88 9 9 5 5 3 4 2 2 - -

Michael Issenberg 87 88 9 9 - - 4 4 2 2 2 2

Deborah Page AM 90 91 9 9 5 5 - - 2 2 2 2

Antonia Thornton 83 87 - - 5 5 4 4 2 2 - -

A Number of meetings attended as a Board or Committee member.

B Maximum number of meetings available for attendance as a Board or Committee member.

a Appointed as Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director on 2 December 2024 following the receipt of all necessary
regulatory approvals.

Details of the functions and memberships of the Committees of the Board and the terms of reference for each Board
Committee are available from the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.

10 INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Directors and Officers of the Company are indemnified against liabilities pursuant to agreements with the Company. The
Company has entered into insurance contracts with third party insurance providers, in accordance with normal commercial
practices. Under the terms of the insurance contracts, the nature of the liabilities insured against and the amount of
premiums paid are confidential.  

11 INDEMNIFICATION OF AUDITORS
To the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, Ernst & Young Australia, as part of the
terms of its audit engagement agreement against claims by third parties arising from the audit (for an unspecified amount).
No payment has been made to indemnify Ernst & Young during or since the end of the financial year.

12 NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Ernst & Young, the external auditor to the Company and the Group, did not provide non-audit services to the Company during
the financial year ended 30 June 2025. As such it was not necessary for the Directors to satisfy themselves that the
provision of non-audit services during this period was compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). Nor that the nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided did not
compromise auditor independence. These statements are made in accordance with advice provided by the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee reviews the activities of the independent external auditor and reviews the auditor’s performance on an
annual basis.
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Limited authority is delegated to the Group Chief Financial Officer for the pre-approval of audit and non-audit services
proposed by the external auditor, limited to $50,000 per engagement and capped at 40% of the relevant year's audit fee.
Delegated authority is only exercised in relation to services that are not in conflict with the role of statutory auditors, where
management does not consider the services to impair the independence of the external auditor and the external auditor has
confirmed that the services would not impair their independence. Any other non-audit related work to be undertaken by the
external auditor must be approved by the Chair of the Audit Committee. 

Further details relating to the Audit Committee and the engagement of auditors are available in the Corporate Governance
Statement in the Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website.

Ernst & Young, acting as the Company’s external auditor, received or is due to receive the following amounts in relation to
the provision of non-audit services to the Company:

DDeessccrriippttiioonn  ooff  sseerrvviicceess $000

Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services (including sustainability assurance)
under contractual arrangements, where there is discretion as to whether the service is provided by the
auditor -

Fees for other advisory and compliance services -

TToottaall  ooff  aallll  nnoonn--aauuddiitt  aanndd  ootthheerr  sseerrvviicceess --

Amounts paid or payable by the Company for audit and non-audit services are disclosed in note F10 of the Financial Report.

13 ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Star Entertainment Group Limited is a company of the kind specified in the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission’s ASIC Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors’ Reports) Instrument 2016/191. In accordance with that
Instrument, amounts in the Financial Report and the Directors’ Report have been rounded to the nearest hundred thousand
dollars unless specifically stated to be otherwise.

14 AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
Attached is a copy of the auditor's independence declaration provided under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth) in relation to the audit of the Financial Report for the year ended 30 June 2025. The auditor's independence
declaration forms part of this Directors’ Report. 

AAnnnnee  WWaarrdd
Chairman
Sydney
30 September 2025
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
 

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of The Star 
Entertainment Group Limited 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of The Star Entertainment Group for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2025, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit;

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in
relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of The Star Entertainment Group Limited and the entities it controlled 
during the financial year. 

Ernst & Young 

Scott Jarrett 
Partner 
30 September 2025 
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Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of The Star 
Entertainment Group Limited 

As lead auditor for the audit of the financial report of The Star Entertainment Group for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2025, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit;

b. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit; and

c. No non-audit services provided that contravene any applicable code of professional conduct in
relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of The Star Entertainment Group Limited and the entities it controlled 
during the financial year. 

Ernst & Young 

Scott Jarrett 
Partner 
30 September 2025 
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Dear Shareholder, 

On behalf of the Board, I present the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2025 (FY25).

FY25 has been another challenging year for The Star as we continue to work hard to regain the trust of our shareholders, guests, regulators and 
the community and restore the value of your company. I want to once again thank our valued team members across the business who are working 
tirelessly to deliver support to our guests and contributing to our remediation program, a roadmap to restoring and retaining our suitability to hold 
casino licences in NSW and Queensland.

The Board is optimistic that the announcements of the investments by Bally and Investment Holdings combined with the execution of binding 
agreements with Destination Brisbane Consortium and Destination Gold Coast Consortium will create new opportunities and momentum to support 
out goals outlined above.

RESPONSE TO OUR FIRST STRIKE
The FY24 Remuneration Report resolution received 56.94% shareholder support, resulting in the Star receiving its ‘first strike’.

The Culture, People and Remuneration Committee remains committed to engaging with shareholders and their advisors to better understand their 
concerns. The Board undertook an extensive search to identify a CEO capable of leading The Star through a period of significant remediation and 
renewal. The brief required a rare combination of skills - proven turnaround leadership experience operating in highly regulated environments, with 
strong relationships to support the rebuilding of trust with regulators, partners, customers, team members and investors. The market for executives 
with this profile is exceptionally tight. After a rigorous process and external benchmarking, the Board was pleased to appoint Mr McCann as CEO 
and MD - a rare calibre of executive.

The Board acknowledges Mr McCann’s remuneration structure is not typical market practice. In securing Mr McCann, the Board’s objective was to 
appropriately align incentives with the immediate priorities facing the Star, including licence remediation, risk and compliance uplift, operational 
stabilisation and cultural reset. Given the Company’s exceptional circumstances and near-term milestones, a conventional remuneration mix was not 
considered, in the Board’s view, the most effective structure.

In the context of these headwinds, in his first year as CEO and MD, Mr McCann has already demonstrated his commitment and impact. Notably, he was 
instrumental in successfully identifying and executing on initiatives to support the stabilisation of the Group, as outlined in my opening comments. 
Securing the strategic investment of Bally’s highlights Mr McCann’s skills and industry profile as the Star represents Bally’s first investment in 
the Australian market. The resounding investor support for the investments, with all resolutions receiving over 98% support at the June General 
Meeting, further supports the Board’s rationale for Mr McCann’s appointment.

While the Board has approved a bespoke, transitional structure upon Mr McCann’s appointment to support the CEO's immediate priorities, it is 
intended that the structure will revert back to a more conventional structure in FY27 onwards, once there is greater certainty around the Group’s 
financial and operating performance and to better align performance measures. This future model will more closely align time horizons and vesting 
profiles to sustainable long-term value creation.

Mr McCann joined the Star at a time of heightened complexity and uncertainty. The Board firmly remains confident that his leadership, skills, 
experience and track record are essential to continued progress of the Group’s remediation and transformation journey and understand the 
importance remuneration plays in attracting and retaining key talent. The Board will continue to review the CEO and MD’s remuneration arrangement 
annually and provide transparent disclosure, including around any application of discretion.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE REVIEW
In FY25, in response to findings from The Bell 2 Report, a new Governance Framework was developed which allocates oversight, and corporate 
governance responsibilities across the Group companies (including for the Company Board and its Committees, and more particularly at the 
subsidiary companies that operate The Star’s Integrated Resorts (Property or Properties) including casinos in each of Sydney, Gold Coast and 
Brisbane.

A key aspect of the new Governance Framework is to ensure that the Property Boards provide more focused direct and close supervision of the 
Sydney, Gold Coast and Brisbane Properties consistent with those entities’ obligations under the relevant casino control legislation in NSW and 
Queensland.

Embedment of the Governance Framework will occur throughout 2026. This also includes finalizing appointments of external independent directors 
to those Property Boards.

FY25 SHORT TERM INCENTIVE OUTCOME
During FY25 the company continued to experience ongoing financial challenges and the performance measures for the Short-term incentive plan 
resulted in a combined outcome that was well below expectations. The Board determined that there would be no payment for short-term incentive 
plan participants for FY25.

Section 5.1 provides a detailed assessment of the outcomes delivered against the Group KPIs for FY25 and details of the discretion exercised by the 
Board.

As part of securing Mr McCann’s employment, the Board approved a FY25 Short Term Incentive (STI), paid in cash, with consideration given to 
the factors outlined in the ‘Response to First Strike’ section above. Additional details are provided in Table 1A and the ASX announcement of his 
appointment on the 26 June 2024.

LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
The FY21 LTI award was tested against the Total Shareholder Return (TSR), Earnings Per Share (EPS) and Return on Invested Capital (ROIC) 
performance hurdles. None of the hurdles met the threshold performance required, and the awards were lapsed in full for the sixth consecutive year.

The FY22 LTI award will be tested against the relevant performance hurdles in September 2025.

DIRECTORS’, REMUNERATION AND FINANCIAL REPORT
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LEADERSHIP CHANGES  DURING FY25
There were numerous changes to KMP and more broadly across the Group Leadership Team (GLT) in FY25. The Company has made the following key 
appointments as it continues to enhance its leadership and further its remediation efforts:

KMP CHANGES

– Steve McCann, Group Chief Executive Officer | Managing Director (commenced 8 July 2024)

– Frank Krile, Group Chief Financial Officer (commenced 17 December 2024)

Following a review of roles and responsibilities, it was determined that the Chief Risk Officer and Chief Operating Officer roles are no longer 
KMP roles. This reflects the consolidation and stabilisation of key governance authority and decision-making responsibilities under the Chief 
Executive Officer and Managing Director as well as the increased scope of authority and accountability assumed by the Property CEOs across 
the three Integrated Resorts

Further detail around the timing of the individual KMP changes, including departures, appears at page 29.

OTHER GLT CHANGES

– Jennifer Cronin, Interim Chief Executive Officer, The Star Gold Coast (commenced 1 July 2025). This role will be included as KMP in FY26.

– Patrick McGlinchey, Group Chief Legal Officer (commenced 20 August 2024 as Interim Group Chief Legal Officer and subsequently appointed 
as Group Chief Legal Officer on 24 June 2025)

– Rowena Craze, Group Chief Risk Officer (commenced 30 April 2024 as Group Chief Audit Officer and subsequently appointed as Group Chief 
Risk Officer on 18 February 2025)

– Sarah Derry, Group Chief People Officer (commenced 31 March 2025)

– Peter Meliniotis, Group Chief Information Officer (commenced 28 January 2025 Group Technology Transformation Executive and subsequently 
appointed as Group Chief Information Officer on 24 June 2025)

On behalf of the Board, I invite you to read the Remuneration Report, and we welcome your feedback.

Modifications to the short-term incentive performance measures for the Group Leadership team (including KMP) have also been made. Further 
details on these changes will be provided in the FY26 Remuneration Report.

Yours Sincerely,

Michael Issenberg
 Culture, People and Remuneration Committee Chair
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The Directors of The Star Entertainment Group Limited 
(The Star Entertainment Group or the Company) have 
approved this Remuneration Report for the consolidated 
entity comprising the Company and its controlled 
entities (collectively referred to as the Group) in respect 
of the financial year ended 30 June 2025.

This Remuneration Report outlines the remuneration 
arrangements for Key Management Personnel (KMP) 
(as set out in Section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth) and the Australian Accounting Standards 
are defined as those persons having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including 
any director whether executive or otherwise) of The 
Star Entertainment Group Limited. This report has been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001, (Cth) (the Corporations Act) 
and its regulations. The information has been audited 
as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 
where indicated.

For the purposes of this report, the term ‘Executive 
KMP’ means the Group Chief Executive Officer | 
Managing Director (Group CEO | MD), the Group Chief 
Financial Officer, the Chief Executive Officer, The Star 
Sydney, the Chief Executive Officer, The Star Brisbane, 
and excludes Non-Executive Directors (NEDs).

REMUNERATION REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE  2025
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01. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The names and titles of the Company’s KMP for the year ended 30 June 2025 are set out below.

1 For FY25, the Board has resolved to remove the Chief Risk Officer and Chief Operating Officer from the list of Key Management 
Personnel (KMP). This decision reflects a reassessment against the definition of KMP under the Corporations Act, which refers to 
individuals who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and controlling the activities of a company, including any 
director (executive or otherwise). This definition aligns with the accounting standards under AASB 124.  
Significant progress has been made this year in stabilizing Group operations.  
2 On 26 June 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Steve McCann as its Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing 
Director. Mr. McCann joined the Company on 8 July 2024 (subject to regulatory approval which was received on 28 November 2024). 
3 On 17 December 2024, the Company announced the appointment of Frank Krile as its Group Financial Officer. Mr. Krile joined the 
Company on 17 December 2024 (subject to regulatory approval which was received on 17 March 2025).

CURRENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Anne Ward Chair of the Board, Chair of Safer Gambling, 
Governance & Ethics Committee and Chair of 
Nominations Committee

Full Financial Year

Deborah Page AM Chair of Audit Committee Full Financial Year

Michael Issenberg Chair of Culture, People and Remuneration Committee Full Financial Year

Peter Hodgson Chair of Risk & Compliance Committee Full Financial Year

Antonia Thornton Chair of Compliance Committees Full Financial Year

CURRENT EXECUTIVE KMP1

Steve McCann2 Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director Appointed 8 July 2024

Frank Krile3 Group Chief Financial Officer Appointed 17 December 2024

Janelle Campbell Chief Executive Officer, The Star Sydney Full Financial Year

Daniel Finch Chief Executive Officer, The Star Brisbane Full Financial Year

FORMER  EXECUTIVE KMP

Neale O'Connell Acting CEO / Interim Group Chief Financial Officer Ceased 28 March 2025

Scott Saunders Group Chief Risk Officer Ceased 31 January 2025
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02. REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE
The Culture, People & Remuneration Committee (the Committee) provides oversight and considers matters relating 
to the remuneration of KMP as well as the remuneration policies of the Group generally. This includes reviewing and 
recommending to the Board, the remuneration of the Chairman and NEDs, Executive KMP and other direct reports to 
the Group MD | CEO. The main responsibilities of the Committee are outlined in the Committee Charter available on the 
corporate governance page of the Company’s website at: www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/corporate-governance/

Under the Committee’s Charter, the majority of Committee members must be independent non-executive directors, and 
the Chair of the Committee must be an independent non-executive director. All members of the Committee (including the 
Chair) are independent non-executive directors. The background of the Committee members is included in the Directors’ 
Report on Page 19.

THE FOLLOWING DIAGRAM REPRESENTS THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP’S  
REMUNERATION DECISION-MAKING STRUCTURE

USE OF REMUNERATION ADVISORS
The Committee seeks external advice from time to time to ensure it is fully informed when making remuneration decisions. 
Remuneration advisors are engaged by, and report directly to, the Committee. No remuneration recommendations as defined 
by the Corporations Act were provided during FY25.

GENDER PAY EQUITY
The Group remains committed to ensuring that our employees continue to be remunerated fairly and equitably. The 
Group conducts annual gender pay equity reviews that are presented to the Committee and continues to address any 
gender pay equity issues as they arise.

MANAGEMENT
–  Proposals on executive 
remuneration outcomes

–  Implementing  
remuneration policies

REMUNERATION ADVISORS
–  External and  

independent remuneration  
advice and information

BOARD
–  Reviews and approves remuneration outcomes,  

framework, strategy and policy
–  Exercises discretion in relation to targets,  

goals or funding of incentive pools

SHAREHOLDERS
–  Feedback received through 

shareholder votes on the 
Remuneration Report at the  
AGM and consultation with  

key stakeholders

CULTURE, PEOPLE AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
–  Reviews and recommends to the Board the remuneration  

framework, strategy and policy
–  Reviews and recommends to the Board remuneration  

review outcomes for NEDs, Executive KMP and other direct  
reports to the Group CEO | MD
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03. REMUNERATION STRATEGY AND PROGRAMS
3.1 REMUNERATION  OVERVIEW

REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES

The following remuneration principles underpin and guide the design of remuneration programs:

 REMUNERATION MIX AT TARGET
Variable remuneration (comprising STI and LTI at target amounts) accounts for the majority of the total remuneration mix 
for the Group CEO | MD, Group CFO and other Executive KMP as illustrated in Figure 2 below.

1 This does not include one-time sign on bonus amounts which have been included as additional items (refer to table 13 for further 
detail)  
2 Sign on bonus paid in cash 15 July 2024, in lieu of FY25 LTI  
3 In addition to the above remuneration, the CEO / MD was granted 10,517,458 sign on performance rights (approved by Shareholders 
at the AGM on 28 November 2024). These are excluded from Table 1A as they are considered a one-time award and not reflective of 
their ongoing Total Annual Reward (TAR) This has been considered in Table 13. The Sign-on Performance Rights will vest three years 
after commencement (8 July 2027) subject to Mr McCann not resigning or being terminated by the Company for cause within the 
three-year period. The Sign-On Performance Rights will also vest if there is a Trigger Event (see below), or a “Fundamental Change” 
occurs pursuant to a transaction that results in a substantial diminution to Mr McCann's role, or Mr McCann’s employment is terminated 
without cause before the vesting date, The Star will pay the cash equivalent as calculated at that time, with an initial payment within 
statutory limits under Part 2D.2 of the Corporations Act at the time of the Trigger Event or Fundamental Change or termination of 
employment and the balance on the original vesting date had there been no Trigger Event or Fundamental Change or had Mr McCann 
remained in employment with The Star.  
If the Convertible Notes issued to Bally's and Investment Holdings are converted, and the Board of The Star is reconstituted to 
comprise a majority of Directors appointed by Bally's and Investment Holdings, the Strategic Investments will constitute a 'trigger 
event' at the relevant time under the Employment Agreement of Mr McCann. A 'trigger event' includes a 'change in control' in The Star 
and entitles Mr McCann to payment of any unpaid remuneration entitlement due during the first two years of employment, including any 
remaining fixed remuneration due for the period and any incentives or retention bonus amounts due during this term.  
4 The CFO STI Cash comprises a cash retention bonus of $1,140,000, payable in two equal tranches of $570,000. The first tranche 
is payable in September 2025 and subject to a claw back period should the CFO give notice of resignation or is validly terminated in 
the first twelve months following the payment being made. The second tranche is payable in September 2026. The retention bonus's 
intention was to be in lieu of the CFO's participation in the Group's STI Plan in FY25 and FY26, and throughout the remuneration report 
has been referred to as CFO STI CASH.  
5 In addition to the above remuneration, the Group CFO was granted 2,477,829 sign on performance rights. These are excluded 
from Table 1B as they are considered a one-time award and not reflective of their ongoing Total Annual Reward (TAR) This has been 
considered in Table 13. The Sign-on Performance Rights will vest two years after commencement (17 Dec 2026) subject to Mr Krile 
not resigning or being terminated by the Company for cause within the two-year period. The Sign-On Performance Rights will also 
vest if there is a Trigger Event (see below), or a “Fundamental Change” occurs, or Mr Krile’s employment is terminated without cause 
before the vesting date, The Star will pay the cash equivalent as calculated at that time, with an initial payment within statutory limits 
under Part 2D.2 of the Corporations Act at the time of the Trigger Event or Fundamental Change or termination of employment and the 
balance on the original vesting date had there been no Trigger Event or Fundamental Change or had Mr Krile remained in employment 
with The Star 

FIGURE 2: REMUNERATION MIX1 
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  At Risk
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 Pay for  
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Pay Fairness 
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FIGURE 1: REMUNERATION PRINCIPLES
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  End of deferral/performance period        Date payable/eligible for vesting

Fixed Remuneration

CFO STI Cash

YEAR 1

FIGURE 3B: REMUNERATION TIME HORIZON GROUP CFO1

  End of deferral/performance period        Date payable/eligible for vesting

YEAR 1

FIGURE 3A : REMUNERATION TIME HORIZON GROUP CEO | MD1

LTI Cash2 

Fixed Remuneration

STI Cash

32

Figure 3B provides an illustrative indication of how remuneration is delivered to Group CFO.

  Date granted        End of deferral/performance period        Date payable/eligible for vesting

Fixed Remuneration

STI Cash (66.66%)

STI restricted shares  
(33.33%)

LTI performance  
rights

YEAR 1 YEAR 2 YEAR 3 YEAR 4 YEAR 5

FIGURE 3C: REMUNERATION TIME HORIZON EXECUTIVE KMP

Figure 3C provides an illustrative indication of how remuneration is delivered to Executive KMP.

REMUNERATION TIME HORIZON
Figure 3A provides an illustrative indication of how remuneration is delivered to Group CEO | MD. 

1 The CEO | MD’s remuneration will revert to the standard Executive KMP pay structure from FY27, which is shown in Figure 3C below 
2 Sign on bonus paid in cash 15 July 2024, in lieu of FY25 LTI

1 The Group CFO's remuneration will revert to the standard Executive KMP pay structure from FY27, which is shown in Figure 3C below
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Table 1A below summarises the components of the CEO|MD Total Annual Reward (TAR) and their link to the strategic 
objectives of the Group. 

TABLE 1A: COMPONENTS OF CEO | MD1 - EXECUTIVE KMP’S TAR STRUCTURE FOR FY25 & FY26

Fixed Remuneration STI LTI

Rationale Fixed remuneration forms an 
integral component of the overall 
employee value proposition 
of the Group, designed to 
attract and retain the talent 
required to operate the business 
and provide excellent guest 
experience. Annual pay reviews 
occur in August each year with 
remuneration changes effective 
from 1 September.

For FY25 and FY26, the CEO | 
MD 's STI has been structured 
to support leadership continuity 
and stability during a critical 
phase for the organisation. 
The arrangement reflects the 
importance of retaining the CEO 
| MD to lead the Company’s 
transformation and cultural 
renewal. It is designed to 
ensure alignment with strategic 
priorities and stakeholder 
expectations.

For FY25 and FY26, the CEO | 
MD 's LTI has been structured 
to support leadership continuity 
and stability during a critical 
phase for the organisation. 
The arrangement reflects the 
importance of retaining the CEO 
| MD to lead the Company’s 
transformation and cultural 
renewal. It is designed to 
ensure alignment with strategic 
priorities and stakeholder 
expectations.

Structure Base salary and superannuation 
(Cash).

Cash Cash

Quantum Targeted at the median of 
relevant external peer group.

100% of fixed remuneration 100% of fixed remuneration

Amount $2,500,000 $2,500,000 - FY25  
$2,500,000 - FY26

$2,500,000 - FY25  
$2,500,000 - FY26

1 The Group CEO | MD Steve McCann has an individual arrangement with-in his respective employment contract. Further details are 
included in Table 12 and Table 13 respectively.

Table 1B below summarises the components of the Group CFO Total Annual Reward (TAR) and their link to the strategic 
objectives of the Group.

TABLE 1B: COMPONENTS OF GROUP CFO1 - EXECUTIVE KMP’S TAR STRUCTURE FOR FY25 & FY26

Fixed Remuneration CFO STI CASH

Rationale Fixed remuneration forms an integral component 
of the overall employee value proposition of the 
Group, designed to attract and retain the talent 
required to operate the business and provide 
excellent guest experience. Annual pay reviews 
occur in August each year with remuneration 
changes effective from 1 September.

For FY25 and FY26, the Group CFO's STI has 
been structured to support leadership continuity 
and stability during a critical phase for the 
organisation. The arrangement reflects the 
importance of retaining the Group CFO to lead the 
company’s transformation and cultural renewal.

Structure Base salary and superannuation. Cash

Quantum Targeted at the median of relevant external peer 
group. 

60% of fixed remuneration

Amount $950,000 $570,000 – FY25  
$570,000 – FY26

1 The Group CFO Frank Krile has an individual arrangement with-in his respective employment contract. Further details are included in 
Table 12 and Table 13 respectively.
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Table 1C below summarises the components of Executive KMP’s Total Annual Reward (TAR) and their link to the strategic 
objectives of the Group.

TABLE 1C: COMPONENTS OF STANDARD EXECUTIVE KMP’S TAR OPPORTUNITY FOR FY25

Fixed Remuneration STI LTI

Rationale Fixed remuneration forms an 
integral component of the overall 
employee value proposition 
of the Group, designed to 
attract and retain the talent 
required to operate the business 
and provide excellent guest 
experience. Annual pay reviews 
occur in August each year with 
remuneration changes effective 
from 1 September.

The STI is designed to reward 
participants for execution of the 
Company’s strategic priorities 
and achievement of operational 
goals during the performance 
period. Company KPIs are 
reviewed annually and reflect the 
most critical strategic priorities 
and during the financial year.

The LTI is designed to 
provide direct alignment 
with shareholders and 
reward participants for their 
contribution towards achieving 
the Group’s strategic priorities 
and are orientated around 
delivering long term sustainable 
shareholder value creation. 
Performance for FY25 is 
measured against:  
– Relative Total Shareholder 
Return (TSR)

Structure Base salary and superannuation Two thirds are paid in cash, with 
one third delivered as restricted 
shares, deferred for one year (to 
align to shareholder interests).

Performance rights with vesting 
subject to performance over a 
four-year period.

Quantum Targeted at the median of 
relevant external peer group.

Executive KMP: 60% of 
fixed remuneration (at target 
opportunity) , with maximum 
being 90% fixed remuneration.

Executive KMP target 60% of 
fixed remuneration (at target 
opportunity). The maximum 
opportunity is the same as 
target.

3. 2 FIXED REMUNERATION
The fixed remuneration received by Executive KMP includes base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits. 
The amount of fixed remuneration an executive receives is based on the following:

– Scope and responsibilities of the role;

– With reference to the level of remuneration paid to executives of comparable ASX-listed organisations and/or 
appropriate gaming and entertainment peers, with Board discretion exercised where necessary, informed by market 
insights (at the time each Executive KMP received their employment offer, taking into the market capitalisation at 
the time) and the strategic requirements of the business; and

– Level of international and domestic gaming knowledge, skills and experience of the individual.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually, the company policy aims at positioning target fixed remuneration at the median 
of the market,although this may deviate from the market median according to the individual’s capabilities, demand for 
talent and other business factors.

34
THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT 79

Chair and CEO Reports

�Business Overview and 
Financial Performance

Key Projects

Our People

Sustainability Report

Directors’ Report

Financial Report

Additional Information



35

3.3 STI DESIGN
The Company undertook a review of the design of its remuneration programs to ensure that the remuneration tools in 
place support the Board and Management in the embedment of strong risk management and regulatory remediation and 
cultural transformation. The summary below outlines the changes made to the STI plan as a result of this review.

Changes to the FY25 STI plan design:

– Streamlining of the Company KPIs from four to three categories for FY25 and consolidation of the Group Regulatory 
Compliance and Risk Management category

– Removing safety from individual scorecards roles that do not require a strategic focus on safety. For other roles, 
safety is considered part of our ordinary operating rhythm and the expectation of our teams in the focus on safety 
is part of business-as-usual activity and is covered within a variety of policies, including the Code of Conduct.

– Introduction of a mandatory Compliance Training individual gateway which acts as a gate opener (as eligibility for 
the individual STI component), for the individual component of STI plan participation each year.

– Introduction of Property Scorecards (previously one scorecard existed for all roles) aligned to our strategic 
priorities in FY25. 

For FY25 ~950 team members participated in the STI plan (which increased from 888 for FY24). All Executive KMP 
participated in the plan except for Steve McCann and Frank Krile due to alternative arrangements which are set out in 
their respective employment contracts and as previously communicated to Shareholders. Refer to page 47 for contract 
details.

Table 2 sets out the key features of the STI.

TABLE 2: KEY DESIGN FEATURES OF THE STI

Purpose To reward participants for execution of the Group’s strategy and achievement of operational goals 
during the performance period.

Remediation 
Gateway1

Delivery of FY25 Remediation Program milestones, per the timings in the remediation plan, evidenced 
by closure memos assured by KPMG and submitted to the Special Manager’s Team. A minimum of 
90% of milestones must be delivered in order for the remediation gateway to open. Milestones that the 
Company is unable to deliver due to external factors will be excluded from the delivery count.

Group 
Performance 
Metrics and 
weightings

Metric Weighting
Group EBITDA 30%
Progressed Cultural Transformation 30%
Individual Performance 40%

Property 
Performance 
Metrics and 
weightings

Metric Weighting
Property EBITDA 20%
Group EBITDA 10%
Embed Safer Gambling strategies 15%
Progressed Cultural Transformation 15%
Individual Performance 40%

Group and 
Property 
Performance 
Metrics  
Payment Scale

Group and Property performance metrics are assessed by measuring each individual outcome against 
the Board approved targets.

Outcome % Payout %
<90% No payment
90% 50%
95% 75%
100% 100%
105% 125%
110% 150%

Individual Gateway 
- Mandatory 
Training2

Completion of mandatory compliance training.
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Individual 
Performance 
Payment Scale

Individual performance is determined by assessing performance against individual priorities to 
arrive at a performance rating. Individual ratings may then be modified by the individual behavioral 
assessment, if behaviors are either exceed or are misaligned with expectations. Performance ratings 
link to indicative payouts as follows:

Rating Payout % Range
1 – Not met No payment
2 – Below Target 25%
3 – Low on Target 50%
4 – On Target 100%
5 – High on Target 110%
6 – Exceeds Target 120%
7 – Outstanding 150%

Payment 
calculation

A participant’s individual STI award is based on the following calculation:

Fixed  
Remuneration    X   Individual  

Target STI %    X   

Performance  
Metrics  

Outcome %
(0 – 150%)

   =   

Individual  
STI award  
(capped at  

150% x  
target)

Incentive 
opportunity  
levels

Opportunities are based on the participant’s incentive target as set out in individual contracts of 
employment (refer Table 13). The payment range available is 0% – 150% of the participant’s incentive 
target.

Delivery of 
payments

Two-thirds of payments are delivered in cash in September. 

One-third of all payments are held in restricted shares for a period of twelve months from the date of 
the award. These shares are forfeited in the event that the participant voluntarily terminates from the 
Group or is terminated with cause (refer Clawback below). Restricted shares may also be forfeited 
in part or full in instances of fraud, dishonesty, breach of obligations including the Group’s Code of 
Conduct. Participants are entitled to receive dividends and have voting rights during the restriction 
period, however they are unable to vote on remuneration resolutions at the AGM.

Clawback Incentives may be clawed back where there has been a material misrepresentation of the financial 
outcomes on which the payment had been assessed and/or the participant’s actions have been found 
to be fraudulent, dishonest or in breach of the Group’s Code of Conduct (e.g. misconduct). This 
provision may extend up to the prior three financial years of STI payments.

Guiding  
Principles 
for informing 
discretion

1.  Nature and timing of adjustments – adjustments, both positive and negative, will only be made to 
the performance/reward outcome (rather than the target) at the time of payment and/or vesting.

2.  Transparency – the Company will provide a clear rationale and disclosure for any adjustments 
made (for example, providing a reconciliation to statutory results), especially in cases where, prima 
facie, performance has not been achieved.

3.  Material or significant events – adjustments will only be made for events or items over the 
performance period that have a material impact on the outcome. Adjustments will also only be 
made where it has an impact on the result of the award. 

4.  Balancing short term and long term performance – adjustments will be made that balance the 
interests of short term performance outcomes with long term performance outcomes. For example, 
where a short term objective was not met because a strategic decision was taken to support a 
longer term objective. Adjustments will, where appropriate, be informed by the assumptions used 
in the business plan from which the target was set, to determine whether there has been a material 
deviation in the assumptions used and whether this was outside of management’s control. 

5.  Maintain plan integrity – adjustments will be carefully considered to ensure they maintain the 
plan’s integrity and purpose.

6.  Assessing behavioral impacts on performance outcomes – the actions of participants will be 
considered in the achievement of performance metrics to assess adherence to the Company’s code of 
conduct.

7.  Exercising discretion consistently and fairly – the use of discretion will be applied consistently 
both positively and negatively and information used will be sufficiently objective and free from bias to 
ensure decisions are arrived at fairly.

 1 Remediation gateway is applicable to Group performance metrics only.  
2 Mandatory compliance gateway is applicable to Individual Performance metrics only.
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3.4 LTI DESIGN
The LTI was also subject to review for FY25 to ensure the design aligned to the Company's long term suitability goals. 
Following this review, the LTI design was amended, and the following changes were implemented:

– 100% of the award was allocated as performance rights subject to a relative total shareholder return (TSR) hurdle, 
with the previous performance conditions of absolute earnings per share and return on invested capital hurdles 
being removed.

In FY25, there were 5 participants invited to participate in the plan (34 participants in FY24). All Executive KMP participated 
in the plan except for Steve McCann and Frank Krile due to alternative arrangements which are set out in their respective 
employment contracts and as previously communicated to Shareholders. Refer to page 47 for contract details.

TABLE 3: KEY DESIGN FEATURES OF  THE LTI PLAN

Purpose The LTI is designed to reward participants for their contributions towards achieving the Group’s 
strategic priorities orientated around delivering long term sustainable shareholder value.

Type of Equity 
Award

Performance rights are used for the LTI. Each performance right is a right to receive a number of fully 
paid ordinary shares in the Company, subject to the satisfaction of the Performance Condition. 

In general, upon satisfaction of Performance Condition and provided the holder is still employed on the 
Vesting Date, performance rights will Vest and will be automatically exercised. The holder will receive 
full voting and dividend rights corresponding to the rights of all other holders of ordinary shares in the 
Company.

Determination 
of the number of 
rights

The number of performance rights allocated to a participant is based on their Target LTI award, 
divided by the Face Value of a Performance Right as shown in the following calculation:

Target LTI ($)   ÷  
Face Value of  
a performance  

right
  =  

Number of 
performance  

rights allocated

The Face Value reflects the face value of the share at the effective Grant Date with reference to the 
volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares traded on the ASX on the 20 trading 
days prior to the Effective Grant Date. Details of annual grants to Executive KMP are set out in Table 
10.

Dividend  
entitlements

Participants are not entitled to dividends until shares are allocated (based on meeting the relevant 
performance hurdles). At that time, dividends will either be paid by allocating dividend equalisation 
shares or by means of a cash equivalent payment, based on actual dividends paid to shareholders during 
the vesting period, the degree to which performance hurdles were met and the extent of vesting of the 
award.

Test Date and 
Vesting date

Performance rights are tested on the fourth anniversary of the Effective Grant Date and are not 
subject to retesting.

Vesting  
conditions - 
Performance 
Rights  

Relative Total Shareholder Return
The Company’s TSR ranking against the peer group of companies (relative TSR) is used as a performance 
hurdle, as it directly aligns the interests of participants with the interests of shareholders, which is to 
maximise its TSR compared with the TSR for peer companies. The table below sets out the vesting scale for 
TSR. The Company’s TSR ranking, compared to its peer group, must be at least at the 50th percentile for 
any vesting to occur. 

TSR Percentile Ranking Percentage of awards vesting
Below the 50th percentile 0% vesting
At the 50th percentile 50% vesting
Above the 50th and below the 75th percentile  Pro-rata between 50% (at 50th percentile)  

and 100% (at 75th percentile)
At or above the 75th percentile 100%
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Cessation of 
employment, 
Change of Control 
and Clawback

All unvested performance rights and options lapse immediately upon cessation of employment with 
the Group. However, the Board has discretion in special circumstances to determine the number of 
performance rights or options retained and the terms applicable. Special circumstances include events 
such as retirement, redundancy, death and permanent disability. If a Change of Control Event occurs, or 
the Board determines in its absolute discretion that a Change of Control Event may occur, the Board will 
determine in its absolute discretion appropriate treatment regarding any awards. 

Unvested rights or options may be forfeited where there has been a material misrepresentation of the 
financial outcomes on which the award had been assessed and/or the participant’s actions have been 
found to be fraudulent, dishonest or in breach of the Company’s Code of Conduct (e.g. misconduct).

Guiding principles 
for informing 
discretion

The Board has adopted a set of guiding principles when it considers adjustments to performance 
outcomes under the LTI. The process for adjustments and principles applied are outlined below
1.  Nature and timing of adjustments – adjustments, both positive and negative, will only be made to the 

performance/reward outcome (rather than the target) at the time of vesting.
2.  Transparency – the Company will provide a clear rationale and disclosure, for any adjustments made 

(for example, providing a reconciliation to statutory results), especially in cases where, prima facie, 
performance has not been achieved. Where possible, advance disclosure of events that may give rise 
to adjustments will be disclosed to ensure early communication with shareholders.

3.  Material or significant events – adjustments will only be made for events or items over the vesting 
period that have a material impact on the outcome. Adjustments will also only be made where 
it has an impact on the result of the award. Where possible, the item will be referenced back to 
the assumptions used in the business plan from which the target was set, to determine whether 
there has been a material deviation in the assumptions used and whether this was outside of 
management’s control. For example, if there has been a change to accounting policies resulting in 
the rTSR target being determined in a different way to how the outcome is determined at the time of 
vesting. 

4.  Balance interests of shareholders and management – adjustments will be made to balance the 
interests of shareholders and management, for example, if shareholders are experiencing poor 
results, then management should share in the burden, and vice versa (unless there are compelling 
reasons for this not being the case, in which event, details will be provided 

5.  Maintain plan integrity – adjustments will be carefully considered to ensure they maintain 
the plan’s integrity and purpose (i.e. to incentivise and reward management for undertaking 
transactions that deliver long-term sustainable shareholder value).

6.  Exercising discretion consistently and fairly  – the use of discretion will be applied consistently 
(both positively and negatively) and information used will be sufficiently objective and free from bias 
to ensure decisions are arrived at fairly.

3.5 CONSEQUENCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Consequence Management Framework remains in place to provide a structure for the review of remuneration 
consequences for serious and egregious risk and misconduct incidents, including behaviours which contravene the 
Company’s Purpose, Values and Principles (PVP). The Consequence Management Framework applies to all incentive 
programs offered by the Company.

Consequence to remuneration under the Consequence Management Framework are informed by inputs from the 
Group Risk, Internal Assurance and Employee Relations functions and are overseen by the Consequence Management 
Committee consisting of the Group CEO | MD, Group Chief Risk Officer and Group Chief People Officer. Remuneration 
outcomes determined by the Consequence Management Committee are provided to the Culture, People & Remuneration 
Committee of the Board for oversight and approval (where required under the policy).

Where a serious or egregious risk or misconduct issue is identified and raised to the Consequence Management 
Committee, variable remuneration may be impacted and in some cases, reduced to zero. In each case, judgment will be 
applied to determine the appropriate remuneration consequence given the circumstances of the incident.

There was no remuneration consequence applied to any of the Executive KMP for the FY25 period.
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3. 6 MINIMUM SHARE HOLDING POLICY
To support the alignment of the interests of the Board and executives with the interests of shareholders, the Group has 
a minimum shareholding policy in place.

The minimum shareholding policies for NEDs, Executive KMP and Other Executives are reviewed every two years to 
ensure that they remain suitable for the business, to align the interests of these individuals and with shareholders 
generally.

The Group CEO | MD is to progressively acquire over a five-year period from the date of his commencement, a minimum 
number of shares equal to 150% of his fixed pay. Other Executive KMP are to accrue a minimum amount of shares equal 
to 100% of the base rate of pay upon commencement over the course of five years. Direct and indirect holdings in shares 
will count towards the minimum shareholding target. Unvested performance rights do not count towards minimum 
shareholding requirements.

All Executive KMP were appointed during the course of 2024 and, as such, each is early into the five-year timeframe.

Table 4 shows the number of shares, options and performance rights held by Executive KMP at the beginning and end of 
the financial year unless otherwise stated.

TABLE  4:  SHARES, OPTIONS AND RIGHTS HELD BY EXECUTIVE KMP AT 30 JUNE 2025

Name Holding Balance at 
start  

of the year1

Granted as 
compensation

Vested 
during the 

year2

Disposed/ 
Lapsed /
Forfeit 

during the 
year

Balance  
at the end 

of the year3

Current Executive KMP

Steve 
McCann

Performance Rights – 10,517,458 – – 10,517,458

Ordinary Shares – – – – –

Restricted Shares – – – – –

Service Rights – – – – –

Frank 
Krile

Performance Rights – 2,477,829 – – 2,477,829

Ordinary Shares – – – – –

Restricted Shares – – – – –

Service Rights – – – – –

Janelle 
Campbell

Performance Rights – 1,954,022 – – 1,954,022

Ordinary Shares – – 283,333 – 283,333

Restricted Shares 283,333 – 141,667 – 425,000

Service Rights 1,133,333 – (425,000) – 708,333

Daniel
Finch

Performance Rights – 1,494,252 – – 1,494,252

Ordinary Shares – – 208,928 – 208,928

Restricted Shares 208,928 – 104,465 – 313,393

Service Rights 835,714 – (313,393) – 522,321
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Former Executive KMP

Neale
O’Connell

Performance Rights – – – – –

Ordinary Shares – – – – –

Restricted Shares – – – – –

Service Rights – – – – –

Premium Exercise Priced Options4 – – – – –

Scott
Saunders5

Performance Rights 638,540 – – – 638,540

Ordinary Shares – – 145,920 (145,920) –

Restricted Shares 145,920 – (145,920) – –

Service Rights 583,682 – – (583,682) –

Premium Exercise Priced Options4 1,162,500 – – – 1,162,500
1 For KMP who commenced in the role during the year, the balance disclosed is from the date they commenced as a KMP.
2 Restricted shares that are no longer subject to a holding lock are transferred into the ordinary shares category. Service rights for which 
the service period has been met are transferred to the restricted shares category and subject to a 12 month holding lock.
3 For KMP who ceased their role during the year, the balance is disclosed until the date they ceased as a KMP.
4 Premium Exercise Priced Options were granted under the FY24 LTI plan, with each premium exercise priced option providing the right 
(but not the obligation) to buy a share at a predetermined price on or before a future date.  Participants must be employed on vesting date, 
unless The Board has exercised discretion for them to be retained upon termination of employment.
5 The Board exercised discretion for the balance at end of year for Performance Rights and Premium Exercise Priced Options is the 
portion of FY24 LTI remaining on foot and subject to performance hurdles being achieved as set out in table 3. Service Rights forfeited on 
termination date 31 January 2025.
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04.  EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION 
RECEIVED FY 25

REMUNERATION OUTCOMES FOR EXECUTIVE KMP IN FY 25
Table 5 provides a summary of total remuneration received by Executive KMP during the 2025 financial year. This non- 
IFRS information differs from the Statutory Remuneration in Table 15, which presents remuneration in accordance with 
accounting standards.

TABLE 5: FY25 EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION

Name Fixed 
remuneration3 STI

Other 
amounts 

paid

Service 
Rights 
Grant4

LTI vested during 
the year $

Total value of 
remuneration  

$

LTI lapsed  
during the 

year4

Current Executive KMP

Steve McCann 2,454,710 – 2,500,0001 – – 4,954,710 –

Frank Krile 489,707 – 665,0002 - – 1,154,707 –

Janelle Campbell 850,000 – – 57,375 – 907,375 –

Daniel Finch 650,000 – – 42,308 – 692,308 –

Former Executive KMP

Neale O’Connell5 1,650,284 – 170,000 – – 1,820,284 –

Scott Saunders6 501,786 – 133,333 – – 635,119 –

TOTAL 6,596,487 – 3,468,333 99,683 – 10,164,503 –

1 Sign on bonus paid in cash 15 July 2024, in lieu of FY25 LTI.
2 Sign on bonus paid in cash 27 December 2024.
3 Includes payments made during notice period, including any gardening leave, leave payout, payments in lieu notice and / or termination 
payments.
4 Represents the award value (share price at 30 June 2025) of the FY21 performance rights that lapsed/were foregone during the year as 
the minimum performance hurdles required for vesting were not met.
5 Fixed Remuneration is comprised of Total Employment Cost paid up to termination date ($1,599,127) which includes an $85,000 a month 
payment in addition to his salary to compensate him for not being invited into the Company's STI and LTI plans. He also received a higher 
duties payment of $40,000 per month for his Acting CEO role, which ceased on 1 December 2024 when Mr. McCann received regulatory 
approval to commence in his role of Group CEO | MD and contractual annual leave entitlement ($51,157). Other amounts paid represents a 
Sign-on Bonus ($170,000) paid on 15 August 2024.
6 Fixed Remuneration is comprised of Total Employment Cost paid up to termination date ($452,083) and contractual annual leave 
entitlement ($49,703). Other amounts paid represents a Retention cash Bonus ($133,333) paid on 15 September 2024 which was subject 
to being employed on the payment date.
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05.  VARIABLE REWARD OUTCOMES FOR  
THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 20 25

5.1 STI OUTCOME FOR FY 25

GROUP PERFORMANCE: 
Under the Company’s new STI design, as detailed in Table 2, awards for eligible Executive KMP are generated by 
performance against three Company metrics, comprising 60% of the award, and individual performance comprising 
40% of the award.

Details of the Company’s targets and outcomes for FY25 are noted in Table 6 below.

 TABLE 6: FY25 PERFORMANCE OUTCOMES AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE STI

Gateway Outcome

Remediation Gateway1 
Delivery of FY25 Remediation Program milestones, per the timings in the remediation plan, evidenced 
by closure memos assured by KPMG and submitted to the Special Manager’s Team (SMT). A minimum 
of 90% of milestones must be delivered in order for the remediation gateway to open. Milestones that 
the Company is unable to deliver due to external factors will be excluded from the delivery count.

MET

STI Metric Weighting Target Outcome Outcome 
% of Target

Weighted 
Outcome %

EBITDA 
–  Deliver Budgeted Group EBITDA 30% Achieve 

budget2 $(77.1)m 0% 0%

Progressed Cultural Transformation  
–   Cultural Survey outcomes - improvement in 

majority of survey questions (between surveys)
30% >4 2 0% 0%

Weighted Group STI Outcome 0%

Individual STI Component 30%

Final Group STI outcome  
(Board discretion applied) 0%

1   Delivery of FY25 Remediation Program milestones, per the timings in the remediation plan, evidenced by closure memos approved by the 
Program Sponsors and the Board.

2 EBITDA target based on budget. 

 FY25 STI OUTCOME

Whilst the remediation milestone, which acts as a gateway to the plan, was met for FY25, none of the Group Key 
Performance Indicators were achieved. The Board carefully considered these outcomes, along with the financial 
challenges and stability of the Group, and determined that no STI pool would be formed in relation to the Company-
based STI metrics. Additionally, the Board exercised its discretion to reduce the individual component of the STI award 
to zero for all participants. This decision was made based on a holistic assessment of performance, alignment with 
shareholder outcomes, and strategic priorities of the Company.

42
THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT 87

Chair and CEO Reports

�Business Overview and 
Financial Performance

Key Projects

Our People

Sustainability Report

Directors’ Report

Financial Report

Additional Information



43

Table 7 details the variable remuneration of Executive KMP under the STI during the period.

TABLE 7: VARIABLE REMUNERATION UNDER THE STI FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

Executive Financial  
year

Cash  
Award 

$

Restricted  
Share Grant 

$

As a % of total 
remuneration

STI not  
achieved as a  
% of target1

Current Executive KMP

Steve McCann 2025 – – – –

2024 – – – –

Frank Krile 2025 – – – –

2024 – – – –

Janelle Campbell 2025 – – 0% 100%

2024 – – 0% 100%

Daniel Finch 2025 – – 0% 100%

2024 – – 0% 100%

Former Executive KMP

Neale O’Connell 2025 – – 0% 100%

2024 – – – –

Scott Saunders 2025 – – 0% 100%

2024 – – 0% 100%

TOTAL FY25 – –

TOTAL FY24  – –

 1  Maximum opportunity is 150% of the executivesʼ target incentive level.

Table 8 outlines the performance of the Group and shareholder returns over the last five financial years.

TABLE 8: STATUTORY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 

Performance metric FY21 FY22 FY23 FY24 FY25

Statutory NPAT / (NLAT) $57.9m $(202.5)m $(2,435.2)m $(1,684.6)m $(427.9)m

Basic EPS (statutory) 6.1c (21.3)c (211.7)c (66.8)c (14.9)c

Full year dividend (fully franked, cents per share) 0.0c 0.0c 0.0c 0.0c 0.0c

Share price at year end $3.69 $2.79 $1.16 $0.49 $0.14

Increase/(decrease) in share price +30% (24%) (59%) (58%) (72%)
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5.2 VESTING UNDER THE LTI
Table 9 sets out the details of performance rights and premium exercise priced options issued under the Company’s 
LTI plan over the last five financial years. 

TABLE  9: DETAILS OF  LTI AWARDS ACTIVE DURING THE YEAR

Detail FY21 Award1 FY22 Award FY23 Award
FY24 

Performance 
Rights

FY24 
Premium 
Exercise 

Priced 
Options

FY25 Award

Effective  
Grant Date 24 Sep 2020 23 Sep 2021 26 Sep 2022 22 Dec 2023 22 Dec 2023 10 Dec 2024

Test date 24 Sep 2024 23 Sep 2025 26 Sep 2026 3 Oct 2027
Any time up to 
expiry date of 
24 Nov 2027

1 Nov 2028

Vesting hurdle(s) TSR, EPS & 
ROIC

TSR, EPS & 
ROIC

TSR, EPS & 
ROIC TSR Return to 

Suitability TSR

Test result All rights 
lapsed N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

1The FY21 LTI Award was tested on 24 September 2024 and did not vest as performance hurdles were not met. The next test date will be in 
September 2025, for performance rights granted in FY22.

FY21 LTI PERFORMANCE OUTCOME
  Performance rights relating to the FY21 award were tested in October 2024 and 100% lapsed.   In summary the achievement 
of performance hurdles on testing date was as follows:

Earnings Per Share (EPS) - The target hurdle of 32 cents per share was set by reference to the Company’s Board approved 
five-year business plan (adjusted to conform to current normalisation methodology) and the threshold hurdle of 23.5 cents 
per share. The EPS performance was -66.8 cents per share and was below the threshold and target approved by the Board

Relative Total Shareholder Return (rTSR)  - The performance of the Group was -82.352% (excluding the value of franking 
credits), which was a ranking of 66 out of the 67 Companies in the defined peer group and was at the 1.52 percentile 

Return on invested capital (ROIC) - The target hurdle of 10.3% was set by reference to the Company’s Board approved five-
year business plan. The threshold hurdle of 7.7% was set by the Board by reference to the Company’s ROIC levels at the 
time. For FY24, the ROIC performance was -92.9% and was below the threshold and target approved by the Board

Table 10 summarises the unvested performance rights and options held by Executive KMP as at 30 June 2025.

TABLE 10: PERFORMANCE RIGHTS AND OPTIONS BY AWARD HELD BY EXECUTIVE KMP AT 30 JUNE 2025

Executive KMP FY22  
Award

FY23  
Award

FY24  
Award

FY25 
Award Total

Current Executive KMP

Steve McCann Performance rights – – – 10,517,458 10,517,458
Frank Krile Performance rights – – – 2,477,829 2,477,829
Janelle Campbell Performance rights – – – 1,954,022 1,954,022
Daniel Finch Performance rights – – – 1,494,252 1,494,252

Former Executive KMP1

Neale O'Connell Performance rights – – – – –
Scott Saunders1 Performance rights – 169,047 469,493 – 638,540

Premium Exercise 
Priced Options – – 1,162,500 – 1,162,500

Total performance rights – 169,047 469,493 16,443,561 17,082,101

Total premium exercise priced options – – 1,162,500 – 1,162,500
 1  FY24 LTI Rights and Options for Mr. Saunders remain on foot subject to achieving the applicable performance hurdles as set out in Table 
3.
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Table 11 shows movements in the variable remuneration of Executive KMP under the LTI (Performance Rights) during the 
period. Details of the number of performance rights granted, vested or lapsed during the period are also provided as 
required under the Corporations Act and its regulations, including the relevant Australian Accounting Standard principles.

TABLE 1 1:  VARIABLE REMUNERATION UNDER THE LTI (PERFORMANCE RIGHTS) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2025

Executive Financial  
Year

Number of  
Performance  

Rights 
Granted

Fair Value of 
Performance 

Rights  
Granted

Fair Value  
at Grant  

Date

Effective 
Grant  
Date1

Test Date As a % of  
total  

remuneration2

Number of 
Performance  

Rights  
Vested

Number of 
Performance 

Rights  
Lapsed3

Current Executive KMP

Steve McCann
2025 – – – – – – – –

2024 – – – – – – – –

Frank Krile
2025 – – – – – – – –

2024 – – – – – – – –

Janelle 
Campbell

2025 1,954,022 214,942 0.11 10/12/2024 01/11/2028 3% – –

2024 – – – – – – – –

Daniel Finch
2025 1,494,252 164,368 0.11 10/12/2024 01/11/2028 3% – –

2024 – – – – – – – –

Former Executive KMP

Neale 
O’Connell

2025 – – – – – – – –

2024 – – – – – – – –

Scott
Saunders

2025 – – – – – – – –

2024 469,493 122,068 0.26 22/12/2023 3/10/2027 3% – –

TOTAL FY25 3,448,274 379,310 – –

TOTAL FY244  469,493 122,068 – –

1  The Effective Grant Date is the date used to determine the VWAP and commencement of TSR performance hurdle measurement.
2  Percentage calculation based on accounting LTI expense and total remuneration as reported in Table 14.
3  Performance rights granted in FY21 were tested in September 2024 and 100% of the award lapsed. Performance rights granted in FY22 

are due for testing in September 2025.
4  The totals for FY24 of 469,493, 122,068 and (0) are different to the totals in the FY24 Remuneration Report of 2,286,887, 594,591 

and (2,851,894) respectively as they do not include the FY24 Former Executive KMP Robbie Cook, Christina Katsibouba and Jessica 
Mellor.
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5.3 SPECIAL AWARDS GRANTED IN FY25
Table 12 details the number of performance rights granted to Executive KMP in FY25.

During FY25 the Company issued a One-Off Grant of Performance Rights as part of the sign on arrangements for certain 
Executive KMP, including the Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director and the Group Chief Financial Officer. 
The Performance Rights will vest provided that these Executive KMP remain employed with the Company for the entire 
period from the Effective Grant Date to the Vesting Date and has not resigned as at the vesting date.

TABLE 12: PERFORMANCE RIGHTS AWARD GRANTED FY25

Executive Financial 
Year

Number of 
Performance 

Rights 
Granted

Fair Value  
of Performance 

Rights  
Granted1

Fair Value 
at Grant 

Date

Effective 
Grant Date

Test  
Date

As a %  
of total 

remuneration2

Number 
Performance 
Rights Vested 

Number  
of Performance  

Rights  
Lapsed

Current Executive KMP

Steve McCann 2025 10,517,458 2,050,904 0.20 28/11/2024 08/07/2027 8%  –  –

Frank Krile 2025 2,477,829 475,000 0.19 17/12/2024 17/12/2026 10% – –

Janelle 
Campbell

2025 – – – – – – – –

Daniel Finch 2025 – – – – – – – –

Former Executive KMP

Neale 
O’Connell

2025 – – – – – – – –

Scott 
Saunders

2025 – – – – – – – –

TOTAL FY25  12,995,287 2,525,904 – –

 1 The number of performance rights issued as part of the CEO | MD sign-on bonus is determined using the 5 day VWAP of the company 
shares immediately before the ASX announced appointment date of 26 June 2024. The fair value of the performance rights is based on 
the share price at grant date of 28 November 2024, when AGM approval was obtained
2 Percentage calculation based on accounting expense and total remuneration as reported in Table 14.
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06.  EXECUTIVE KMP CONTRACTS  
AND REMUNERATION

Remuneration arrangements for Executive KMP are reviewed annually by the Board. Table 13 outlines the remuneration 
arrangements for Executive KMP in FY25 and their contracted employment details.

TABLE 13: EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS1

CURRENT 
EXECUTIVE KMP 
 

Steve McCann  
    Group Chief Executive Officer 

and Managing Director

Frank Krile 
 Group Chief Financial Officer

Janelle Campbell   
   Chief Executive Officer,  

The Star Sydney

  Daniel Finch  
   Chief Executive Officer,  

The Star Brisbane

 FY24 FY2 5 FY2 4  FY25 FY24 FY2 5 FY2 4  FY25

Fixed remuneration2  N/A $2,500,000 N/A $950,000 $850,000 $850,000  $650,000  $650,000
Short-term  
incentive target  N/A $2,500,000 N/A $570,000 $510,000 $510,000  $390,000  $390,000

Long-term incentive  
(annual award value)3  N/A $2,500,000 N/A $– $510,000 $510,000  $390,000  $390,000

Total Target  
Annual Reward  N/A $7,500,000 N/A $1,520,000 $1,870,000 $1,870,000  $1,430,000  $1,430,000

Short-term incentive 
maximum value  N/A $2,500,000 N/A $570,000 $765,000 $765,000  $585,000  $585,000

Long-term incentive  
maximum value  N/A $2,500,000 N/A $– $510,000 $510,000  $390,000  $390,000

 Additional Items4  N/A $– N/A $665,000 $– $–  $–  $–

Non-monetary 
benefits7

Access to car parking and 
accommodation at The Star 

Sydney
Access to car parking in 

Sydney
Access to car parking and 

accommodation at The Star 
Sydney

Access to car parking and 
accommodation at The Star 

Brisbane

Notice by the 
Executive  12 months 12 months  12 months  12 months

Notice by the Group  12 months 12 month  12 months  12 month

Restraint6  12 months 12 months  12 months 12 months

Non solicitation  12 months 12 months  12 months 12 months

Contract duration Open ended Open ended Open ended Open ended

FORMER  
EXECUTIVE KMP  
 

 

Neale O’Connell 
    Acting CEO | Interim Group 

Chief Financial Officer

 Scott Saunders  
Group Chief Risk Officer

FY2 4 FY2 5 FY2 4 FY2 5

Fixed remuneration2 $850,000 $850,000 $775,000 $775,000

Short-term  
incentive target  N/A N/A $465,000 $465,000

Long-term incentive  
(annual award value)  N/A N/A $465,000 $465,000

Total Target  
Annual Reward $850,000 $850,000 $1,705,000 $1,705,000

Short-term incentive 
maximum value  N/A N/A $697,500 $697,500

Long-term incentive  
maximum value  N/A N/A $465,000 $465,000

Additional Items5 $125,000 per 
month

$125,000 per 
month and 
$170,000 
Sign-on 
Bonus

 $– $133,333

Non-monetary 
benefits7

Access to car parking and 
accommodation at The Star 

Sydney

Access to car parking and 
accommodation at The Star 

Sydney

Notice by the 
Executive 3 months  6 months

Notice by the Group 3 months 6 month

Restraint6 12 months 12 months

Non solicitation 12 months 12 months

Contract duration Maximum Term ending 28 
March 2025 Open ended

1 In addition to the below remuneration, the CEO / MD and 
Group CFO was granted 10,517,458  and 2,477,829 ,sign on 
performance rights respectively. Refer to Table 12. 
2 The Star Entertainment Group deducts superannuation 
from the Executives’ fixed remuneration as per the Australian 
Taxation Office Superannuation Guarantee Cap.
3 Mr. Steve McCann received a sign on bonus of $2,500,000, in 
lieu of FY25 LTI, upon joining in July 2024. 
4 Mr. Frank Krile received a sign on bonus of $665,000 upon 
joining in December 2024.
5 Mr. O'Connell received an $85,000 a month payment in 
addition to his salary to compensate him for not being invited 
into the Company's STI and LTI plans. He also received a higher 
duties payment of $40,000 per month for his Acting CEO role, 
which ceased on 1 December 2024 when Mr. McCann received 
regulatory approval to commence in his role of Group CEO | MD. 
Mr. O'Connell received a Sign-on Bonus of $170,000 paid on 15 
August 2024. Mr Saunders received a Retention cash Bonus 
($133,333) paid on 15 September 2024 which was subject to 
being employed on the payment date. 
6 Exclusion from being engaged in any business or activity in 
Australia which competes with or is substantially similar to the 
business of The Star Entertainment Group. 
7 This table includes only contractual non-monetary benefits—
specifically car parking and accommodation. Both contractual 
and non-contractual non-monetary benefits, including airfares 
and travel costs, are reported in Table 14.
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07. STATUTORY EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION 
Table 14 sets out Executive KMP remuneration as required by the Corporations Act and its regulations, including the 
relevant Australian Accounting Standard principles.

TABLE 14: STATUTORY EXECUTIVE KMP REMUNERATION
Executive Financial 

year
Short-term Long-term Post- 

Employment
Charge for share  
based allocations

Termination 
payments7

Total 
remuneration

Performance 
related8 

Salary1

$

Other 
amounts 

paid 
$

Non-monetary 
benefits2

 $

Long service  
leave  

$

Superannuation3  

$

Performance 
 rights4  

$

Restricted 
shares5  

$

 Service 
rights6

$ $ %

Current Executive KMP

Steve 
McCann

2025 2,640,985 6,166,4379 91,337 3,507 29,932 727,387 – – – 9,659,585   8%

2024   – – –  –  –  – – – – –  –

Frank Krile
2025 512,073 705,504 2,203 696 22,449  136,879  – – – 1,379,804 10%

2024   – – –  –  –  – – – – –  –

Janelle 
Campbell

2025 859,203  – 142,244  2,242 29,932   35,824  – 207,138 – 1,276,583 3%

2024 386,263 – 52,525 511 13,699  – – 225,346 – 678,344 0%

Daniel 
Finch

2025 644,592  – 42,874 1,679 29,932 27,395  – 184,377 – 930,849 3%

2024 245,914 250,000 1,875  330 13,699  – – 166,169 – 677,987 0%

Former Executive KMP

Neale 
O’Connell

202 5 1,608,814 170,000 112,545 (317) 22,449  –  –  –  – 1,913,491 0%

202 4 526,775  – 46,135 317 6,850  –  –  –  – 580,077 0%

Scott
Saunders

202 5 383,847 133,333 60,322 (2,353) 21,627 125,517 – (116,056) 58,967 665,204 19%

202 4 761,134 266,666 129,601 1,960 27,399 46,467 – 116,056 – 1,349,283  3%

TOTAL FY 25 6,649,514 7,175,274 451,526 5,454 156,321 1,053,002   – 275,459 58,967 15,825,517 –

TOTAL FY 2 410 1,920,086 516,666 230,136 3,118 61,647 46,467   – 507,571 – 3,285,691 –

1 Comprises salary, salary sacrificed benefits (including motor vehicle novated leases) and annual leave expense. 
2 Comprises car parking, accommodation, airfares and travel costs where applicable. These amounts are non-contractual. The 2024 
amounts have been updated for benefits previously erroneously omitted, including accommodation and travel. 
3 Comprises superannuation contributions per Superannuation Guarantee legislation and salary sacrificed superannuation. 
4 Represents the fair value of share based payments expensed / (credited) by The Star Entertainment Group in relation to LTI awards. 
Credits in FY25 are due to the forfeitures of rights on termination. 
5 Represents the fair value of share based payments expensed by The Star Entertainment Group in relation to STI awards. The expense 
is recognised over a 26 month holding lock period. 
6 Service rights were issued in FY24 and vest in 3 tranches. Holding lock period is 12 month after vesting date. Credits in FY25 are due 
to the forfeiture of rights on termination. 
7 Termination payments include salary and other on-costs expected to be incurred between the executivesʼ resignation date and 
termination date.   
8 Performance related is calculated as the charge for performance rights share based allocations divided by total remuneration. The 
prior year disclosure has been updated to match the current year presentation. 
9 The remuneration shown of $6,166,437 relates to sign on bonus (cash) in lieu of FY25 LTI, FY25 STI  (cash) and accrual for FY26 LTI 
(cash). 
10 The total for FY24 of 3,285,691 is different to the total in the FY24 Remuneration Report of 10,446,114 as it does not include FY24 
former executive KMPs Robbie Cooke (4,947,636), Christina Katsibouba (1,206,226), Jeannie Mok ($44,556) and Jessica Mellor 
(1,183,203) and has been amended for an error in non-monetary benefits (-221,198).

  08.  NED REMUNERATION
 8.1 REMUNERATION POLICY FOR NEDS

–NEDs (excluding the Chairman) receive a Board fee and a Committee fee for their participation as Chair or member 
of each Committee.
– The Chairman receives an all-inclusive fee as Chairman of the Board and as an ex-officio member of all Board 
Committees.
– NEDs do not receive any performance or incentive payments and are not eligible to participate in any of the Group’s 
remuneration programs. This policy aligns with the principle that NEDs act independently and impartially.
– Board fees are not paid to the Group CEO | MD.
– Executive KMPs do not receive fees for directorships of any subsidiaries.
– NEDs do not receive fees for participation in the Nominations Committee. 
– NEDs do receive fees for participation in the Company's other subsidiary Boards.
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8.2 FY25 NED FEES
The aggregate fees payable to NEDs for their services as directors are limited to the maximum annual amount approved 
by shareholders, currently set at $2,500,000 including superannuation contributions.

There was no change to Committee fees in FY25.

Table 15 sets out the annual Board and Committee fee structure for FY25.

TABLE  1 5: ANNUAL NED FEES (INCLUSIVE OF SUPERANNUATION)

Board Audit Risk & 
Compliance

Culture, 
People & 

Remuneration

Safer Gaming, 
Governance 
and Ethics

Compliance 
Committees1

Chair $501,458 $35,000 $35,000 $35,000 $35,000 $35,000
Member $168,912 $17,500 $17,500 $17,500 $17,500 $17,500

1  Compliance Committees are standing committees of The Star Entertainment Group Limited Board which have been established 
for each of The Star Pty Limited (effective 30 March 2023), The Star Entertainment QLD Limited and The Star Entertainment QLD 
Custodian Pty Limited (both effective 1 April 2023). The Compliance Committees provide independent oversight of the respective 
subsidiary’s compliance with its obligations under regulatory statues applicable to the operation of a casino in New South Wales and 
Queensland respectively, both Commonwealth and State.

Individuals invited to join the Board prior to receipt of all required regulatory approvals are appointed Board observers 
("Board Observers") until such time as they are appointed to the Board as NED's. Board Observers receive the equivalent 
of directors’ fees and committee fees as determined by the Board.

Table 16 sets out total remuneration received by each NED.

TABLE  1 6: NED REMUNERATIO N1 

NED Financial  
year

Board and 
Committee Fees 

$2

Executive  
Salary  

$

Superannuation3 
 
$

Total 

 
$

Current Non-Executive Directors

Anne Ward4 2025 571,526 – 29,932 601,458

2024 301,870 – 24,607 326,477

Deborah Page AM 2025 214,271 – 24,641 238,912

2024 215,236 – 23,676 238,912

Michael Issenberg 2025 214,271 – 24,641 238,912

2024 224,445 – 24,689 249,134

Antonia Thornton 2025 214,271 – 24,641 238,912

2024 152,459 – 16,770 169,229

Peter Hodgson 2025 229,966 – 26,446 256,412

2024 92,584 – 10,184 102,768

TOTAL FY25 2025 1,444,305 130,301 1,574,606

TOTAL FY246 2024 986,594 99,926 1,086,520

1 The Group agrees to indemnify directors and officers against any liabilities incurred in the course of their duties.
2 Fees paid to Directors from the time they receive regulatory approval. Observer fees are not included.
3 Comprises superannuation contributions per Superannuation Guarantee legislation and salary sacrificed superannuation.
4 From her appointment to Chairman on 29 April 2024, Ms. Ward was given an increased duties fee of $20,000 per month up until 
November 2024 to assume additional responsibilities until Steve McCann received all necessary regulatory approvals.
5 FY24 Non-Executive Director (NED) remuneration figures disclosed in this report have been restated to reflect a back payment of fees 
made in FY25. The back payment relates to adjustments following a review of Board and Committee participation during FY24, which 
identified underpayments to certain Directors. These adjustments were processed in FY25 and are reflected in the corrected FY24 
figures presented in this report.
6 Total for FY24 of 1,086,520 is different to the total in the FY24 Remuneration report of 1,653,669 as it does not include FY24 former 
non-executive director David Foster (612,440) and includes re-stated FY24 remuneration figures of 45,291.
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8.3 MINIMUM SHAREHOLDING POLICY FOR NEDS
To support the alignment of the interests of the Board and executives with the interests of shareholders, the Group 
has a minimum shareholding policy in place subject to the securities trading policy and legislative requirements. 
NEDs are required to progressively acquire shares over a three year period from the date of commencement of their 
unconditional appointment. NEDs are to hold shares of equal value to their respective annual base fee applicable at 
the time of their unconditional appointment. Direct and indirect holdings will count towards the minimum shareholding 
target.

All NEDs are currently on track to meet their minimum shareholding requirements within the required timeframes and in 
accordance with Company policies and legislative requirements

TABLE  17: SHARES HELD BY NEDS AT 30 JUNE 2025

Name Balance at  
start of the year1

Number 
acquired

Number  
divested

Balance at the  
end of the year2

Current Non-Executive Directors

Anne Ward 100,000 – – 100,000

Deborah Page AM 57,016 – – 57,016

Michael Issenberg 32,122 – – 32,122

Antonia Thornton 170,000 – – 170,000

Peter Hodgson 95,000 – – 95,000

Total ordinary shares 454,138 – – 454,138

1 For NEDs who commenced their role during the year, the balance disclosed is from the date they commenced as NED. 
2 For NEDs who ceased their role during the year, the balance disclosed is to the date they ceased as a NED.

 09. OTHER INFORMATION 
9.1. LOANS AND OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KMP
There have been no loans or other transactions with KMP during the year.
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FINANCIAL REPORT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP LIMITED 
ACN 149 629 023 
ASX CODE: SGR 
AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

NNoottee
22002255

$$mm
22002244

$$mm

Revenue A2 11,,336622..33 1,677.8

Other income A3 55..99 2.7

Government taxes and levies A3 ((228822..33)) (412.1)

Employee costs A3 ((882266..22)) (723.6)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment A4 ((117722..44)) (1,559.2)

Cost of sales ((6677..22)) (86.3)

Property costs ((7722..33)) (72.6)

Advertising and promotions ((4455..33)) (49.5)

Regulatory and legal costs B6 ((2200..00)) (100.0)

Other expenses ((116655..77)) (169.6)

Share of net (loss)/profit of associate and joint venture entities
accounted for using the equity method D4 ((4477..99)) 19.7

LLoossss  bbeeffoorree  iinntteerreesstt  aanndd  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  ((LLBBIITT)) ((333311..11)) (1,472.7)

Net finance costs A5 ((112200..66)) (59.0)

LLoossss  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  ((LLBBTT)) ((445511..77)) (1,531.7)

Income tax benefit/(expense) F2 2233..88 (152.9)

NNeett  lloossss  aafftteerr  ttaaxx  ((NNLLAATT)) ((442277..99)) (1,684.6)

OOtthheerr  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  iinnccoommee

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Change in fair value of cash flow hedges taken to equity, net of tax F1 -- 5.8

TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  lloossss  ffoorr  tthhee  ppeerriioodd ((442277..99)) (1,678.8)

LLoossss  ppeerr  sshhaarree::

Basic loss per share F3 ((1144..99))  cceennttss (66.8) cents

Diluted loss per share F3 ((1144..99))  cceennttss (66.8) cents

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

NNoottee

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

AASSSSEETTSS

Cash and cash equivalents B1 226677..00 299.6

Trade and other receivables B2 2211..11 31.5

Inventories 1100..77 13.6

Income tax receivable F2 -- 56.0

Other assets F4 4422..66 87.4

TToottaall  ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss 334411..44 488.1

Restricted deposits B1 9966..88 -

Property, plant and equipment B3 11,,000077..55 1,157.4

Intangible assets B4 8899..99 72.6

Investment in associate and joint venture entities D4 115533..99 161.7

Income tax receivable F2 4411..22 -

Other assets F4 9911..66 18.0

TToottaall  nnoonn  ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss 11,,448800..99 1,409.7

TTOOTTAALL  AASSSSEETTSS 11,,882222..33 1,897.8

LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS

Trade and other payables F5 117700..88 180.4

Interest bearing liabilities B7 77..88 6.1

Provisions B6 446633..22 490.2

Other liabilities F6 112255..99 75.2

TToottaall  ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess 776677..77 751.9

Interest bearing liabilities B7 559900..55 295.7

Provisions B6 88..33 8.1

Other liabilities F6 99..00 8.8

TToottaall  nnoonn  ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess 660077..88 312.6

TTOOTTAALL  LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS 11,,337755..55 1,064.5

NNEETT  AASSSSEETTSS 444466..88 833.3

EEQQUUIITTYY

Share capital F7 44,,669977..11 4,695.7

Accumulated losses ((44,,229999..99)) (3,872.0)

Reserves F7 4499..66 9.6

TTOOTTAALL  EEQQUUIITTYY 444466..88 833.3

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

NNoottee

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess

Net cash receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 11,,441166..00 1,768.0

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) ((11,,224411..33)) (1,208.8)

Payment of government levies, gaming taxes and GST ((227700..55)) (413.2)

Interest received 77..22 9.0

Income taxes received F2 -- 14.6

Regulatory, fines, penalties, duty, consultant, legal and other costs B6 ((5555..55)) (123.6)

NNeett  ccaasshh  ((oouuttffllooww))//iinnffllooww  ffrroomm  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess F8 ((114444..11)) 46.0

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess

Payments for property, plant, equipment and intangibles ((6688..99)) (76.3)

Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment 113388..77 0.3

Loans from joint venture entities 4444..44 55.9

Payments for investment in associate and joint venture entities ((115533..77)) (75.2)

Loans to joint venture entities ((66..88)) (22.7)

Distributions received from joint venture entities 66..00 8.9

Repayments of loans from joint venture entities -- 14.3

Loans from joint venture partners 1100..00 -

NNeett  ccaasshh  oouuttffllooww  ffrroomm  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess ((3300..33)) (94.8)

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess

Proceeds from interest bearing liabilities E2 110000..00 318.0

Repayment of interest bearing liabilities E2 -- (752.2)

Proceeds from settlement of derivative financial instruments E2 -- 49.7

Payment of restricted deposits B1 ((9966..88)) -

Proceeds from issue of convertible debt securities E2 223333..33 -

Finance costs ((7788..55)) (82.4)

Transaction costs related to issues of equity securities or convertible debt
securities

F7
((55..77)) -

Proceeds from issue of shares F7 -- 734.5

Interest payment of lease liabilities E2 ((22..66)) (2.9)

Principal payment of lease liabilities E2 ((77..99)) (5.0)

NNeett  ccaasshh  iinnffllooww  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess 114411..88 259.7

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents ((3322..66)) 210.9

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 229999..66 88.7

CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  aatt  eenndd  ooff  tthhee  yyeeaarr B1 226677..00 299.6

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Refer to the Operating and Financial Review (OOFFRR) within the Directors' Report for details of the key transactions during the year.
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A KEY INCOME STATEMENT DISCLOSURES

A1 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group's operating segments have been determined based on the internal management reporting structure and the
nature of products and services provided by the Group. They reflect the business level at which financial information is
provided to those in the roles of executive decision makers, being the Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
and the Group Chief Financial Officer, for decision making regarding resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group has four reportable segments:

SSyyddnneeyy

GGoolldd  CCooaasstt

TTrreeaassuurryy  BBrriissbbaannee

TThhee  SSttaarr  BBrriissbbaannee

Comprises The Star Sydney's casino operations, including hotels, restaurants, bars and other 
entertainment facilities.

Comprises The Star Gold Coast's casino operations, including hotels, theatre, restaurants, bars 
and other entertainment facilities.

Comprises Treasury Brisbane's casino operations, including hotel, restaurants and bars. The 
casino operations were closed on 25 August 2024.

Comprises management of The Star Brisbane, including casino operations, hotel, restaurants, 
bars and other entertainment facilities, in exchange for an operator fee. The segment also 
comprises a 50% share of profits/losses from Destination Brisbane Consortium Queens Wharf 
Integrated Resort joint venture (DDBBCC), reflecting the Group's 50% interest in DBC. The Star 
Brisbane opened on 29 August 2024.

22002255

SSyyddnneeyy

$$mm

GGoolldd
CCooaasstt

$$mm

  TTrreeaassuurryy

BBrriissbbaannee

$$mm

  TThhee  SSttaarr
BBrriissbbaannee

$$mm

  UUnn--
aallllooccaatteedd

$$mm

TToottaall

$$mm

SSeeggmmeenntt  rreevveennuuee  aa 668855..00 441100..66 6622..33 220044..44 -- 11,,336622..33

SSeeggmmeenntt  ((lloossss))//eeaarrnniinnggss  bbeeffoorree
iinntteerreesstt,,  ttaaxx,,  ddeepprreecciiaattiioonn,,
aammoorrttiissaattiioonn  aanndd  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  iitteemmss
((((LLBBIITTDDAA))//EEBBIITTDDAA))  bb ((4477..77)) 2211..88 ((00..99)) ((5500..33)) -- ((7777..11))

SShhaarree  ooff  aassssoocciiaattee//jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree
rreessuullttss ((rreeffeerr  ttoo  nnoottee  DD44)) bb -- -- -- ((4466..11)) ((11..88)) ((4477..99))

DDeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  aammoorrttiissaattiioonn
((rreeffeerr  ttoo  nnoottee  AA44)) bb ((3388..66)) ((1199..55)) ((55..77)) ((11..00)) -- ((6644..88))

SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  iitteemmss ((rreeffeerr  ttoo  nnoottee  AA77)) ((221122..44)) ((221122..44))

NNeett  ffiinnaannccee  ccoossttss ((rreeffeerr  ttoo  nnoottee
AA55)) bb ((4499..55)) ((4499..55))

LLoossss  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx ((445511..77)) ((445511..77))

CCaappiittaall  eexxppeennddiittuurree 3300..00 1177..33 77..66 88..88 -- 6633..77

a  The Star Brisbane segment revenue includes $29.6 million in operator fees and $174.8 million in contracted revenue (refer to note A2).
bb  These items are before significant items (refer to note A7).
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22002244

SSyyddnneeyy

$$mm

GGoolldd
CCooaasstt

$$mm

TTrreeaassuurryy
BBrriissbbaannee

$$mm

TThhee  SSttaarr
BBrriissbbaannee

$$mm

UUnn--
aallllooccaatteedd

$$mm

TToottaall

$$mm

Segment revenue 877.5 456.1 344.2 - - 1,677.8

Segment earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation, amortisation and
significant items (EBITDA) a 51.8 71.3 51.6 - - 174.7

Share of associate / joint venture
results (refer to note D4) a - - - - (3.2) (3.2)

Depreciation and amortisation
(refer to note A4) a (64.2) (36.2) (20.2) - - (120.6)

Significant items (refer to note A7) (1,547.3) (1,547.3)

Net finance costs (refer to note A5)
a (35.3) (35.3)

Loss before income tax (1,531.7) (1,531.7)

Capital expenditure 41.6 24.6 10.1 - - 76.3

a  These items are before significant items (refer to note A7).

A2 REVENUE
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

GGaammiinngg 770022..22 1,111.2

NNoonn--ggaammiinngg 444466..11 554.7

OOtthheerr 99..66 11.9

OOppeerraattoorr  ffeeee 2299..66 -

11,,118877..55 1,677.8

CCoonnttrraacctteedd  ccoosstt  rreeccoovveerryy a 117744..88 -

TToottaall  rreevveennuuee 11,,336622..33 1,677.8

a The Group has a contracted cost recovery agreement with the DBC Integrated Resort joint venture. Contracted costs includes $164.2
million of employment and $10.6 million other shared costs.

RReevveennuuee
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies its obligations in relation to the provision of goods and services to its
customers in the ordinary course of business. Revenue is measured at an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for performing these obligations, including any discounts, rebates, price
concessions, incentives or performance bonuses. Revenue is constrained such that the significant reversal of revenue in a
future period is not highly probable. Revenue comprises net gaming win, less player and gaming promoter rebates and
promotional allowances, other non-gaming revenue from hotels, restaurants and bars, the DBC operator fee and the DBC
contracted cost recovery.

The Group has a contract with the DBC Integrated Resort joint venture to supply labour and other shared costs in relation to
the components of the DBC Integrated Resort for which the Group is operator (CCoonnttrraacctteedd  CCoossttss). Revenue is recognised
when the Group satisfies its obligations in relation to the provision of the goods and services associated with the Contracted
Costs. The recovery of costs is at cost with no margin.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

CCuussttoommeerr  llooyyaallttyy  pprrooggrraammss
The Group operates customer loyalty programs enabling customers to accumulate award credits for on-property spend. A
portion of the spend, equal to the fair value of the award credits earned and reduced for expected breakage, is treated as
deferred revenue. Revenue from the award credits is recognised in the income statement when the award is redeemed or
expires. The standalone selling price of complimentary services (including hotel room nights, food and beverage, and other
services) that are provided to casino guests as incentives related to gaming play are recorded as revenues related to the
respective goods or services, as they are provided to the patron. The residual amount is recorded as gaming revenue.

A3 OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSES
Loss before income tax is stated after charging the following expenses and significant items:

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Other income

Gain on disposal of assets 44..77 0.9

   Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain -- 0.4

Other 11..22 1.4

55..99 2.7

Government taxes and levies (including gaming GST):

New South Wales 119911..11 247.2

Queensland 9911..22 164.9

228822..33 412.1

Employment costs:

Salaries, wages, bonuses, redundancies and other benefits 775566..00 663.3

Defined contribution plan expense (superannuation guarantee charges) 6688..77 58.7

Share based payment expense (refer to note F9) 11..55 1.6

882266..22 723.6

The Group has secured the Group Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director's (Group CEO & MD's) FY25 and FY26
salary, FY25 and FY26 short term incentive and FY26 Retention bonus (refer to D1(iv).

Total employment costs for the period includes $164.2 million of labour contracted for The Star Brisbane, recovered through
the contracted cost recovery (refer to note A2).

A4 DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Property, plant and equipment (refer to note B3) 5555..11 101.6

Intangible assets  (refer to note B4) 88..99 18.1

Other 00..88 0.9

TToottaall  ddeepprreecciiaattiioonn  aanndd  aammoorrttiissaattiioonn 6644..88 120.6

Impairment - Property, plant and equipment -- 539.0

Impairment - Goodwill -- 128.8

Impairment - Intangible assets -- 143.2

Impairment - Other non-current assets -- 16.9

Impairment - Investment in DBC joint venture (refer to note B5) 110077..66 602.2

Impairment - Other -- 8.5

Total impairment (refer to note A7) 110077..66 1,438.6

TToottaall  ddeepprreecciiaattiioonn,,  aammoorrttiissaattiioonn  aanndd  iimmppaaiirrmmeenntt 117722..44 1,559.2
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Depreciation is calculated using a straight line method. The useful lives over which the assets are depreciated are as follows:

Freehold and leasehold buildings 10 - 95 years

Leasehold improvements 4 - 75 years

Plant and equipment 5 - 20 years

Software 3 - 10 years

Licences Until expiry

Operating equipment (which includes uniforms, kitchen utensils, crockery, cutlery and linen) is recognised as a depreciation
expense based on usage. The period of usage depends on the nature of the operating equipment.

Right of use assets, which includes plant, equipment and property, is depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of
its estimated useful life and the lease term. The Group's lease portfolio includes assets with lease terms between 1 and 99
years. The residual values and useful lives are reviewed annually, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial reporting
date.

A5 NET FINANCE COSTS
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Borrowing costs 55..00 15.8

Group funding costs 7711..11 23.7

Leases interest 22..55 3.0

Interest paid on borrowings 4488..66 25.5

Interest income ((66..66)) (9.0)

NNeett  ffiinnaannccee  ccoossttss  rreeccooggnniisseedd  iinn  tthhee  iinnccoommee  ssttaatteemmeenntt  aa 112200..66 59.0

a Net finance costs include the following significant items (refer to note A7): $71.1 million of costs, including debt refinancing, release of
previously unamortised borrowing costs on amendment of debt and costs incurred for the amendment of debt. In the pcp, $23.7
million for derivative settlement costs and debt termination fees.

A6 DIVIDENDS
No final dividend was declared.

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

FFrraannkkiinngg  ccrreeddiitt  bbaallaannccee

Amount of franking credits available to shareholders 7777..11 97.6

Franking credits available to shareholders decreased by $20.5 million as a refund of income tax receivables was applied by
the Australian Taxation Office to the GST amended assessments deposit (refer to note B6).
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A7 SIGNIFICANT ITEMS
Loss before income tax (LBT) is stated after charging the following significant items:

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Impairment a 110077..66 1,438.6

Group funding b 7711..11 23.7

Regulatory, fines, penalties, duty, consultant, legal and other costs c 2200..00 100.0

Redundancy costs d 1133..22 7.9

Heads of Agreement costs e 11..88 -

Profit on sale of assets f ((11..33)) (22.9)

NNeett  ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  iitteemmss 221122..44 1,547.3

Tax on significant items g -- 149.2

SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  iitteemmss  nneett  ooff  ttaaxx 221122..44 1,696.5

a

b

c

d

e

f

g

Impairment of investment in DBC joint venture. In the prior comparative period (ppccpp), impairment of goodwill, property, plant & 
equipment, intangibles and other current and non-current assets (refer to note B5).

Group funding costs include: previously unamortised borrowing costs associated with the Syndicated Facility Agreement (SSFFAA), 
released on amendment in November 2024 of $26.9 million; costs incurred for the amendment of the SFA in November 2024 of
$20.5 million; and debt refinancing costs in 2H FY25 of $23.7 million. In the pcp, derivative settlement costs and debt termination 
fees.

Regulatory, fines, penalties, underpaid casino duty, consultant, legal, Manager, Special Manager and other costs, including 
movements in regulatory and legal provisions.

Redundancy costs associated with the Group's reorganisation.  In the pcp, reorganisation and cessation of employment costs.

Costs associated with the agreement to exit DBC and consolidate the Group's Gold Coast position (refer to note C2).

Gain on sale of The Star Sydney Event Centre and other additional spaces within The Star Sydney complex to Foundation Theatres. In 
the pcp, equity accounted share of Destination Gold Coast Investment’s profit relating to the sale of Sheraton Grand Mirage Resort.

The Group has not recognised any deferred tax assets, including tax losses on significant items, as they are not considered probable 
of recovery. In the pcp includes tax benefit of $415.0 million on significant items listed above offset by a $564.2 million deferred tax 
expense in relation to the derecognition of deferred tax assets.

Significant items are non-statutory (non-IFRS) measures. The objective of measuring and reporting significant items is to provide a
more meaningful and consistent representation of financial performance. Significant items are determined by management based
on their nature and size. They are items of income or expense which are, either individually or in aggregate, material to the Group
or to the relevant business segment and: 

 not in the ordinary course of business (for example, the cost of significant reorganisation or restructuring); or
 part of the ordinary activities of the business but unusual due to their size and nature (for example, impairment of

assets).

A8 LEASES
The following amounts relating to AASB16 leases are recognised in the income statement:

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (refer to note A4) (refer to note B3) 00..88 2.9

Interest expense on lease liabilities (refer to Note A5) 22..55 3.0

TToottaall 33..33 5.9
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B KEY BALANCE SHEET DISCLOSURES

ASSETS

B1 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

CCuurrrreenntt

Cage cash 3322..77 70.5

Bank balances 2233..33 16.5

Short term deposits - unrestricted 221111..00 182.5

Short term deposits - restricted -- 30.1

CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss 226677..00 299.6

NNoonn  ccuurrrreenntt

Long term deposits - restricted 9966..88 -

336633..88 299.6

At 30 June 2025, available cash was $234.3 million (2024: $199.0 million), comprising bank balances and short term
deposits - unrestricted (AAvvaaiillaabbllee  CCaasshh). The Group has $32.7 million (2024: $70.5 million) of cage cash, held physically on
the gaming floor for the day to day operation of the casino gaming floor activities.

The Group holds $96.8 million of cash in restricted term deposit accounts (2024: $30.1 million). The deposits include $60.6
million of sale proceeds from the disposal of the Treasury Casino and capitalised interest, secured against the $400.0 million
syndicated facility and $36.2 million of cash backed bank guarantees and security. The bank guarantees and security relate
to workers compensation cover, property leases and transactional banking facilities. 

B2 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Trade receivables 4422..22 48.5

Less provision for impairment ((3300..11)) (32.9)

Net trade receivables 1122..11 15.6

Other receivables 99..00 15.9

2211..11 31.5

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms.

(i) PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT RECONCILIATION

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Balance at beginning of year ((3322..99)) (33.0)

Increase in bad and doubtful debts a ((00..55)) (0.4)

Less amounts written off during the year 33..33 0.5

((3300..11)) (32.9)

a These amounts are included in other expenses in the income statement.
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(ii) AGEING OF TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

TTrraaddee  rreecceeiivvaabblleess

00  --  3300  ddaayyss

$$mm

3300  ddaayyss  --  11
yyeeaarr

$$mm

11  --  33  yyeeaarrss

$$mm

33  yyeeaarrss  ++

$$mm

TToottaall

$$mm

22002255

Not yet due 1122..11 - - - 1122..11

Past due not impaired - - - - -

Considered impaired - - - 3300..11 3300..11

1122..11 - - 3300..11 4422..22

22002244

Not yet due 15.6 - - - 15.6

Past due not impaired - - - - -

Considered impaired - - 2.3 30.6 32.9

15.6 - 2.3 30.6 48.5

OTHER RECEIVABLES
Other receivables are not past due or considered impaired. It is expected that these balances will be received as they fall
due.

Impairment of trade receivables
The Group impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date to measure expected credit losses. The provision reflects
the probability-weighted outcome of reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 

Debtor balances have been individually assessed based on criteria, including: patron's financial circumstances; payment
history; relationship with the Group; international gambling activity; and whether a legal claim has commenced to collect the
balance.
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B3 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NNoottee

FFrreeeehhoolldd
llaanndd

$$mm

FFrreeeehhoolldd  aanndd
lleeaasseehhoolldd
bbuuiillddiinnggss

$$mm

LLeeaasseehhoolldd
iimmpprroovveemmeennttss

$$mm

PPllaanntt  aanndd
eeqquuiippmmeenntt

$$mm

RRiigghhtt  ooff
uussee  aasssseett

$$mm

TToottaall

$$mm

22002255

CCoosstt

Opening balance at beginning of the

year 7722..66 22,,774411..44 330011..66 11,,222200..44 5566..44 44,,339922..44

Additions -- 1133..44 -- 1188..88 1100..00 4422..22

Disposals / write offs -- ((114444..33)) ((115544..44)) ((222200..11)) ((1144..44)) ((553333..22))

Reclassification / transfer -- ((1111..66)) 66..22 99..00 -- 33..66

Closing balance at end of the year a 7722..66 22,,559988..99 115533..44 11,,002288..11 5522..00 33,,990055..00

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  ddeepprreecciiaattiioonn

Opening balance at beginning of the

year -- 11,,886688..44 118888..99 11,,113300..66 4477..11 33,,223355..00

Depreciation expense A4 -- 2299..88 33..11 2211..44 00..88 5555..11

Disposals / transfers -- ((7799..99)) ((110022..88)) ((220022..44)) ((77..55)) ((339922..66))

Closing balance at end of the year -- 11,,881188..33 8899..22 994499..66 4400..44 22,,889977..55

CCaarrrryyiinngg  AAmmoouunntt

Opening balance at beginning of the

year 7722..66 887733..00 111122..77 8899..88 99..33 11,,115577..44

Closing balance at end of the year 7722..66 778800..66 6644..22 7788..55 1111..66 11,,000077..55

22002244

CCoosstt

Opening balance at beginning of the

year 74.1 2,760.9 302.2 1,205.8 58.4 4,401.4

Additions - 18.7 - 27.3 1.6 47.6

Disposals / write offs - (16.5) - (35.3) (3.6) (55.4)

Reclassification / transfer - (21.3) (0.5) 22.6 - 0.8

Non-current asset held for sale (1.5) (0.4) (0.1) - - (2.0)

Closing balance at end of the year a 72.6 2,741.4 301.6 1,220.4 56.4 4,392.4

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  ddeepprreecciiaattiioonn

Opening balance at beginning of the

year - 1,405.5 154.7 1,052.2 36.7 2,649.1

Depreciation expense A4 - 35.9 8.7 54.1 2.9 101.6

Disposals / transfers - (16.5) - (34.8) (3.4) (54.7)

Impairments A4 - 443.5 25.5 59.1 10.9 539.0

Closing balance at end of the year - 1,868.4 188.9 1,130.6 47.1 3,235.0

CCaarrrryyiinngg  AAmmoouunntt

Opening balance at beginning of the

year 74.1 1,355.4 147.5 153.6 21.7 1,752.3

Closing balance at end of the year 72.6 873.0 112.7 89.8 9.3 1,157.4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

a    Includes capital works in progress of:

  Buildings - at cost 44..55 11.2

         Plant and equipment - at cost 33..66 7.3

         Total capital works in progress 88..11 18.5

Property, plant and equipment is comprised of the following assets:

 Freehold land - Gold Coast property;

 Freehold and leasehold buildings - Brisbane, Gold Coast and Sydney properties;

 Leasehold improvements - Brisbane and Sydney properties;

 Plant and equipment - operational and other equipment: and

 Right-of-Use assets - Property and other equipment.

AAsssseett  uusseeffuull  lliivveess  aanndd  rreessiidduuaall  vvaalluueess
For the accounting policy on depreciation and useful lives of property, plant and equipment refer to note A4. 

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt
Refer to note B5 for details of the accounting policy and key assumptions included in the impairment calculation. 
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B4 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

NNoottee

GGooooddwwiillll

$$mm

SSyyddnneeyy  aanndd
BBrriissbbaannee

ccaassiinnoo
lliicceenncceess

$$mm

SSyyddnneeyy  ccaassiinnoo
ccoonncceessssiioonnss

$$mm

SSooffttwwaarree a 

$$mm

OOtthheerr

$$mm

TToottaall

$$mm

22002255

CCoosstt

Opening balance at beginning of the year 11,,444422..22 229944..77 110000..00 337733..11 2200..22 22,,223300..22

Additions -- -- -- 3311..55 -- 3311..55

Disposals / write offs -- ((3388..77)) -- ((1188..88)) -- ((5577..55))

Reclassification / transfer -- -- -- ((33..66)) -- ((33..66))

Closing balance at end of the year a 11,,444422..22 225566..00 110000..00 338822..22 2200..22 22,,220000..66

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  aammoorrttiissaattiioonn

Opening balance at beginning of the year 11,,444422..22 226600..22 8877..22 335533..00 1155..00 22,,115577..66

Amortisation expense A4 -- 00..55 00..22 88..11 00..11 88..99

Disposals -- ((3388..77)) -- ((1177..11)) -- ((5555..88))

Closing balance at end of the year 11,,444422..22 222222..00 8877..44 334444..00 1155..11 22,,111100..77

CCaarrrryyiinngg  AAmmoouunntt

Opening balance at beginning of the year -- 3344..55 1122..88 2200..11 55..22 7722..66

Closing balance at end of the year -- 3344..00 1122..66 3388..22 55..11 8899..99

22002244

CCoosstt

Opening balance at beginning of the year 1,442.2 294.7 100.0 357.9 20.1 2,214.9

Additions - - - 30.3 0.1 30.4

Disposals - - - (14.3) - (14.3)

Reclassification / transfer - - - (0.8) - (0.8)

Closing balance at end of the year a 1,442.2 294.7 100.0 373.1 20.2 2,230.2

AAccccuummuullaatteedd  aammoorrttiissaattiioonn

Opening balance at beginning of the year 1,313.4 185.0 69.8 301.8 12.1 1,882.1

Amortisation expense A4 - 1.8 0.4 15.6 0.3 18.1

Disposals - - - (14.6) - (14.6)

Impairments A4 128.8 73.4 17.0 50.2 2.6 272.0

Closing balance at end of the year 1,442.2 260.2 87.2 353.0 15.0 2,157.6

CCaarrrryyiinngg  AAmmoouunntt

Opening balance at beginning of the year 128.8 109.7 30.2 56.1 8.0 332.8

Closing balance at end of the year - 34.5 12.8 20.1 5.2 72.6

a Includes capital works in progress of $10.0 million (2024: $26.0 million).

Intangible asset additions relate predominantly to software as the Group strives to maximise value from technology, including
developing technologies to enable compliance with regulatory requirements as well as delivering new integrated IT platforms.

AAsssseett  uusseeffuull  lliivveess  aanndd  rreessiidduuaall  vvaalluueess
Intangible assets are amortised using the straight line method as follows:
 The Sydney casino licence (currently suspended) is amortised from its date of issue until expiry in 2093 (refer note B6).

 The Sydney casino concessions granted by the New South Wales government include product concessions in New South
Wales which are amortised over the period of expected benefits.
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 The Brisbane casino licence was amortised over the remaining life of the lease to which the licence was linked. The
Group continued to amortise the casino licence over its current term up until its surrender, on 23 October 2024. This
followed the closure of Treasury Brisbane on 25 August 2024. On 28 August 2024, Destination Brisbane Consortium
Integrated Resort Joint Venture (DDBBCC and DDBBCC  QQuueeeennss  WWhhaarrff  IInntteeggrraatteedd  RReessoorrtt))  (of which the Group owns 50%) was
issued a casino licence for The Star Brisbane, which subsequently commenced operation on 29 August 2024 under the
management of the Group. 

 Software is amortised over useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

 Other assets include the contribution to the construction costs of the state government owned Gold Coast Convention
and Exhibition Centre. The Group's Gold Coast casino is deriving future benefits from the contribution, which is being
amortised over a period of 50 years.

B5 IMPAIRMENT TESTING
Indicators of impairment testing has been performed over the Sydney, Gold Coast and Treasury Brisbane cash generating
units at 30 June 2025. No indicators of impairment were identified and no additional impairment was recognised during the
year. The assets in these cash generating units continue to carry material accumulated impairment, following impairments
recognised in December 2022, June 2023 and June 2024. Should the operating conditions affecting these cash generating
units improve substantially in future years, accumulated impairment held against property, plant, equipment, intangibles and
other non-current assets may be reversed.

TThhee  SSttaarr  BBrriissbbaannee  IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt  TTeessttiinngg
The Star Brisbane was tested for impairment at 31 December 2024 after indicators of impairment were identified. The
carrying value of the investment was nil at 30 June 2025 and thus no further testing was required. 

The Star Brisbane commenced operations on 29 August 2024 under challenging conditions. Cost of living pressures, casino
operating reforms and loss of market share have weighed on results. Regulations to enact the introduction of mandatory
carded play, restrictions on the use of cash and mandatory player pre-commitments, including play and break limits, remain
outstanding. These regulations are anticipated to have further negative impacts to earnings, consistent with the impact
experienced in Sydney.

At 30 June 2024, the investment in DBC joint venture balance was impaired $602.2 million, reflecting the negative impact of
the above factors on the earnings outlook of the investment. 

An impairment of $107.6 million was recognised at 31 December 2024 and remains for the year ended 30 June 2025. The
impairment is recognised in the line 'Depreciation, amortisation and impairment expense' in the Consolidated Income
Statement. The impairment has been fully allocated against investment in associates, and writes this balance down to nil.

The outlook for operating conditions at 30 June 2025 is largely consistent with those at 31 December 2024 and 30 June
2024, and does not support the carrying value of additional investments into DBC made during the period.

Impairment testing and key assumptions performed at 31 December 2024
The recoverable amount of the investment in associate has been determined based on 'fair value less costs of disposal'. This
approach utilises cash flow forecasts that represent a market participant's view of the future cash flows that would arise
from operating and developing the asset. These cash flows are principally based on management's forecasts for a five-year
period, together with longer term projections and forecast capital investment, extrapolated using an implied terminal growth
rate of 2.5%. These cash flows are then discounted using a relevant long term post-tax discount rate of 9.6%. The pre-tax
discount rate is 9.7%.

The fair value measurement is valued using level 3 valuation techniques. The key assumptions on which management based
its cash flow projections when determining 'fair value less costs of disposal' are as follows:

ii..  CCaasshh  ffllooww  ffoorreeccaassttss
The cash flow forecasts are based on management forecasts for a five-year period, together with longer term projections,
growth rates and capital investment forecasts.

iiii..  TTeerrmmiinnaall  vvaalluuee
The terminal growth rate used is in line with the forecast long term underlying growth rate in the Consumer Price Index (CPI).

iiiiii..  DDiissccoouunntt  rraatteess
Discount rates applied are based on the post tax weighted average cost of capital. The discount rate includes a risk premium
reflecting the inherent uncertainty in predicting the sustained, longer-term earnings of a property of this scale.

iivv..  SSeennssiittiivviittiieess
The key estimates and assumptions used to determine the 'fair value less costs of disposal' are based on management's
current expectations after considering past experience, future investment forecasts and external information. They are
considered to be reasonably achievable.
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LIABILITIES
B6 PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND REGULATORY MATTERS

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

CCuurrrreenntt

Regulatory and legal provisions a 336644..00 399.5

Employee benefits 8822..88 82.3

Worker's compensation 99..66 8.4

Other 66..88 -

446633..22 490.2

NNoonn  ccuurrrreenntt

Employee benefits 66..88 6.7

Other 11..55 1.4

88..33 8.1

a The Group recognised provisions relating to various regulatory and legal matters including fines issued by the New South Wales
Independent Casino Commission (NNIICCCC), AUSTRAC proceeding, underpaid casino duty in NSW, consultants, Manager, Special Manager,
External Adviser, legal and other costs. Disclosing individual amounts would seriously prejudice these matters considering the present status
and range of potential outcomes.

Reconciliations of each class of provision, except for employee benefits, at the end of each financial year are set out below:

22002255

RReegguullaattoorryy
aanndd  lleeggaall

pprroovviissiioonnss

$$mm

WWoorrkkeerrss''
ccoommppeennssaattiioonn

((ccuurrrreenntt))

$$mm

OOtthheerr  ((ccuurrrreenntt))

$$mm

OOtthheerr  ((nnoonn--
ccuurrrreenntt))

$$mm

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 339999..55 88..44 -- 11..44

Provisions made during the year 2200..00 66..00 66..88 00..11

Provisions utilised during the year ((5555..55)) ((44..88)) -- --

336644..00 99..66 66..88 11..55

22002244

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 423.1 6.4 - 1.4

Provisions made during the year 100.0 5.8 - -

Provisions utilised during the year (123.6) (3.8) - -

399.5 8.4 - 1.4

PPRROOVVIISSIIOONNSS  AANNDD  CCOONNTTIINNGGEENNTT  LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS
AAUUSSTTRRAACC  pprroocceeeeddiinngg
On 30 November 2022, the Australian Transaction Reports and Analysis Centre (AAUUSSTTRRAACC), commenced civil penalty
proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia against The Star Pty Limited and The Star Entertainment QLD Limited
(collectively TThhee  SSttaarr  EEnnttiittiieess). AUSTRAC alleges that The Star Entities contravened the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter
Terrorism Financing (AAMMLL//CCTTFF) Act 2006 (Cth) by failing to conduct appropriate due diligence on customers who were higher
risk and by failing to have an appropriate AML/CTF program.

The parties resolved all factual issues in dispute prior to the penalty hearing being heard in June 2025. AUSTRAC submitted
that a fine of $400 million would be appropriate while the Group submitted that a fine of greater than $100 million, payable
in the next 12 months, would be challenging based on available liquidity options, including accessing equity markets. The
Group is awaiting the court’s judgment.

The determination of the Federal Court’s penalty (including where a penalty has been jointly proposed by AUSTRAC and the
defendant to the Court) is specific to the facts of each case and arrived at after consideration of admissions made and
evidence and submissions in relation to the appropriateness of the penalty.
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AUSTRAC alleged that the number of contraventions committed by The Star Entities is innumerable. The Group has
determined a provision on the Balance Sheet at 30 June 2025. This provision was, and is, recognised at a time where there
remains significant uncertainty as to the quantum of the penalty. Any actual penalty paid by The Star Entities may differ
materially to the provision recorded at 30 June 2025.

UUnnddeerrppaaiidd  ccaassiinnoo  dduuttyy
The Bell Inquiry of The Star Pty Ltd conducted in 2022 (BBeellll  OOnnee  RReevviieeww) identified potential issues with the way in which the
Group calculated rebate duty payable to the NSW Government.

In April 2025, NSW Treasury agreed the amount and advised that the Group's obligation to pay the underpaid Casino Duty
will be deferred until 30 June 2026. The Group has recognised a provision on the Balance Sheet for this amount as at 30
June 2025. 

AASSIICC  pprroocceeeeddiinnggss  aaggaaiinnsstt  ffoorrmmeerr  ddiirreeccttoorrss  aanndd  ooffffiicceerrss  ooff  tthhee  CCoommppaannyy
In December 2022, the Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) commenced civil penalty proceedings in the
Federal Court of Australia against 11 former directors and officers of the Company alleging contraventions of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth). The proceeding was heard between February and May 2025. The court's judgment will not be
delivered until 2026. 

As no entity of the Group is party to these proceedings, it is not possible to predict the timing and any financial impact of
these claims on the Group, including in relation to the likely defence costs incurred by the Group on behalf of the defendants,
or the extent to which those costs might be covered by the Group's insurance policies and indemnities in place for former
officers and directors.

The Group has determined a provision on the Balance Sheet at 30 June 2025 relating to an estimate of legal costs.

CCllaassss  AAccttiioonn
On 30 March 2022, a shareholder class action was commenced in the Supreme Court of Victoria, alleging the Company
failed to comply with its continuous disclosure obligations and engaged in misleading or deceptive conduct in relation to the
Company systems, controls, operations and regulatory risks.

The Company has filed its defence with no admissions of any contravention. A mediation occurred on 18 December 2024, at
which the matter was not resolved. The parties are currently considering appropriate timetabling orders for the advancement
of the matter.

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised. The outcome of the Class Action and any potential
financial impacts are unknown, including the extent to which any amounts may be covered by the Group’s insurance policies.

DDBBCC  FFiinnaanncciinngg  AArrrraannggeemmeennttss
The Company and its Joint Venture Partners entered into debt facility agreements in 2020 in relation to DBC’s $1.6 billion
project-level debt funding. The aggregate amount outstanding is $1.4 billion at 30 June 2025 (DDBBCC  FFuunnddiinngg). The DBC
Funding comprises two equal facilities, drawn approximately equally, separately provided under a Gaming and Entertainment
syndicated facility agreement (SSFFAA  GG&&EE) and a Tourism and Leisure syndicated facility agreement (SSFFAA  TT&&LL). Amounts
outstanding under the SFA G&E are guaranteed by the Company and amounts outstanding under the SFA T&L are
guaranteed by the Joint Venture Partners. The two facilities are cross-collateralised against the property leases.

The DBC Funding is scheduled to mature in December 2025, and it is anticipated that refinancing by that time will require
additional capital contributions from either the then owners of DBC or the holders of the SFA G&E parent company guarantee
(PPCCGG). Subsequent to period end, the Group entered into long-form documentation to exit its 50% share of the DBC joint
venture investment and a process for transitioning its role under the casino management agreement to a new operator once
identified and releasing the Company from its SFA G&E PCG in relation to its share of drawn DBC debt of ~$0.7 billion (refer
to JVP Transaction in note C2). This exit agreement is dependent on the satisfaction of various conditions precedent, a
number of which are outside the control of the Group. Consequently, while the Group expects to be released from the PCG, it
has been classified as a contingent liability, given the material risk that the conditions required for its release may not be
satisfied. 

Should the JVP Transaction be terminated, or the JVP Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the obligations of the
SFA G&E PCG on refinancing the DBC Funding will remain with the Group.

GGSSTT  aammeennddeedd  aasssseessssmmeennttss
On 5 December 2023, the Group commenced proceedings against the Australian Taxation Office (AATTOO) in relation to the GST
treatment of rebates paid to junket operators for The Star Pty Limited between October 2013 and August 2017. The amount
in dispute for this period is approximately $155.7 million (primary tax of $81.9 million and interest of $73.8 million). The
Group has paid $61.5 million as a deposit to the ATO on a no-admissions basis. The deposit is recorded as a non-current
asset.

The Group filed its evidence on 2 October 2024.  The next case management hearing is currently scheduled for 9 December
2025.
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On 6 September 2021 the Group filed an application for judicial review with the Federal Court of Australia in relation to the
interest assessment. On 5 December 2023 the Group appealed the outcome of the Commissioner's objection decision by
commencing proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia. The outcome of this matter is adjourned pending the primary tax
case discussed above. 

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised.

WWiitthhhhoollddiinngg  ttaaxx  ppeennaallttyy
The Group also filed proceedings against the ATO on 5 December 2023  in relation to the appropriate method for calculating
withholding tax on rebates paid to junket operators for the 2015 to 2020 income tax years. The amount in dispute for the
period is $8.1 million (primary penalty of $6.4 million and interest of $1.7 million). The Group has paid $3.2 million as a
deposit to the ATO on a no- admissions basis. The deposit is recorded as a non-current asset.

This matter is timetabled to run alongside the GST amended assessments matter outlined above.

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised.

FFiinnaanncciiaall  gguuaarraanntteeeess
The Group had the following guarantees at 30 June 2025:
 Destination Brisbane Consortium: the guarantee covers 50% of the syndicated facility agreement (see DBC Financing

Arrangements above). 

 Destination Gold Coast Consortium: the Tower 2 guarantee covers up to 46.9% of the $335.2 million in facilities. At 30
June 2025, $174.7 million of the facility is drawn and $40.0 million has been utilised for bank guarantees. Under the
JVP Transaction (refer to note C2), the residential sale proceeds will be used to repay the construction facility and cash
back the drawn bank guarantees. Consequently, the Group expects, in time, to be solely responsible for the Andaz Hotel
operating loan (the draw down of which remains subject to a number of conditions). On 28 March 2025 a water leak
event occurred in Tower 2 impacting both the residential apartments and the hotel. The event has delayed completion of
the construction of the apartments and hotel beyond the maturity date of the Tower 2 construction loan (previously
extended to December 2025). DGCC is in discussions with its lenders regarding a further extension of the construction
facility and assessing the impact of the damages, including the timing and impact on residential settlements. Should
DGCC be unable to extend the maturity of its construction loan with its lenders to meet a revised completion date, the
obligations under the Group’s parent company guarantee may be triggered. The Group currently anticipates a
refinancing of the construction loan will be sought in this scenario.

 Syndicated facility: is secured against The Star Gold Coast’s assets and a first charge over the assets of certain entities
within the Group. The new tranche of $100.0 million is also secured against the Disposal Proceed Account (refer to note
B7), which includes $60.6 million of proceeds from the sale of the Treasury Brisbane Casino, including accrued interest.

 Bank guarantees and other security: $41.3 million of bank guarantees in relation to workers compensation cover,
property leases and construction works, and transactional banking security. A portion of these bank guarantees are
cash backed and the transactional banking security is fully cash backed (refer to note B1). 

 Certain controlled entities of the Group (denoted (b) in note D1) have entered into a guarantee and indemnity
agreement in favour of the Independent Liquor and Gaming Authority (IILLGGAA). whereby all parties to the agreement are
jointly and severally liable for the performance of the obligations and liabilities of each company participating in the
agreement with respect to agreements entered into and guarantees given.

The expected loss of each of the financial guarantees above has been assessed as nil (2024: nil) and are disclosed as
contingent liabilities as a result of the above risks.

LLeeggaall  aanndd  rreegguullaattoorryy  cchhaalllleennggeess
There are outstanding legal proceedings between the Company and its controlled entities and third parties as at 30 June
2025 as well as regulatory investigations by the Group's regulators. In relation to legal proceedings, the Group has notified its
insurance carrier of all relevant matters and currently anticipates that any damages (other than exemplary damages) that
may be awarded against the Group, in addition to its costs incurred in connection with the proceedings, may be covered by
its insurance policies where such policies are in place. Provisions are made for obligations where the existence of a liability is
probable and can be reasonably estimated. The outcomes of these other matters, including the outcome of certain regulatory
investigations,  remain uncertain, and thus contingent liabilities exist for possible amounts eventually payable.
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RREEGGUULLAATTOORRYY  MMAATTTTEERRSS
NNEEWW  SSOOUUTTHH  WWAALLEESS
RReegguullaattoorryy  rreeffoorrmmss
From 19 August 2024, mandatory carded play was required in private gaming areas and on select games on the main
gaming floor with daily cash limits of $5,000 for carded play. Fully carded play commenced on 19 October 2024. On 5 August
2025, the NSW Government confirmed that the daily cash limit of $5,000 for gaming customers will be maintained until 19
August 2027, after which it will be reduced to $1.000 (replacing a previous requirement for it to be reduced to $1,000 by 19
August 2025). The deferral is subject to various conditions, including monitoring the use of cash for gaming purposes and
providing ongoing reports to L&G NSW in relation to various customers and related data. The deferral of the introduction may
be revoked at any time during the two year period to 19 August 2027.  

DDiisscciipplliinnaarryy  aaccttiioonn
The Star Sydney’s casino licence has been suspended since 21 October 2022. On this date, the NICC also appointed a
Manager. During the period of its licence suspension, The Star Sydney remains open and operating, and net earnings
continue to be paid to The Star Sydney after payment of the Manager's costs. On 24 September 2025, the NICC notified The
Star Sydney that its casino licence will remain suspended and that the Manager’s term has been extended until 31 March
2026, unless terminated earlier by the NICC (previously extended to 30 September 2025 as notified on 28 March 2025).

BBeellll  TTwwoo
On 17 October 2024, the NICC provided its regulatory response to the Bell Two Report (including disciplinary action in respect
of the show cause notice served in September 2024 (NNoottiiccee)) and determined to take disciplinary action against The Star
Sydney in the form of: a pecuniary penalty of $15 million in respect of the Breach Findings (payable in three equal amounts
on 31 December 2024, 31 March 2025 and 30 June 2025); issued directions under the Casino Control Act 1992 (NSW) in
respect of various governance and operational matters relating to The Star Sydney and proposed amendments to The Star
Sydney’s licence conditions relating to key management personnel and the composition of The Star Sydney board. All
instalments have been paid in accordance with the agreed timetable.

CCaassiinnoo  dduuttyy  rreeffoorrmmss
On 11 August 2023 the NSW Treasurer and the Group announced an in-principle agreement had been reached in relation to
changes to casino duty rates for casinos in New South Wales and their impact on The Star Sydney. An agreement was
finalised between NSW Treasury and The Star Sydney on 20 November 2023.

The changes include rate increases for rebate duty (10% to 12.5%) and Table Games (17.91% to 20.25%) from 1 July 2023.
Poker machine duty rates will remain as follows until 2030 (20.91% until 30 June 2024, 21.91% from 1 July 2024 and
22.91% from 1 July 2027). In the period 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2030 an additional levy will apply equal to 35% of The Star
Sydney’s gaming revenue above $1.125 billion per financial year. From 1 July 2030 poker machines will be taxed based on
average poker machine revenue using a progressive rate scale with a maximum of 51.6%. There is no change to the
Responsible Gambling Levy rate.

QQUUEEEENNSSLLAANNDD
DDiisscciipplliinnaarryy  aaccttiioonn
The Star Gold Coast's casino licence has been suspended (with suspension deferred) since 9 December 2022. A Special
Manager was appointed on the same date. On 25 September 2025, the Queensland government confirmed that it had
deferred the suspension of The Star Gold Coast’s casino licence and extended the Special Manager’s appointment to 30
September 2026 (previously extended to 30 September 2025 as notified on 27 March 2025).

The deferred suspension of Treasury Brisbane's licence and term of the Special Manager ceased on 23 October 2024, on
surrender of its casino licence, following the opening of The Star Brisbane.

The Star Brisbane was issued an unconditional casino licence on 28 August 2024, subject to the appointment of an External
Adviser and the adoption of the Group’s Remediation Plan. The External Adviser’s appointment has been extended to 30
September 2026 (previously 30 September 2025).

RReemmeeddiiaattiioonn  ppllaann  aapppprroovvaall
The Group's Approved Remediation Plan (AARRPP), applicable across all three properties and the corporate office, received
formal approval from the OLGR on 19 June 2025. Following OLGR's endorsement, the ARP was subsequently updated across
the Group. 

RReegguullaattoorryy  rreeffoorrmmss
On 28 March 2024, the Casino Control and Other Legislation Act 2024 was enacted to give effect to the balance of the
recommendations of the Gotterson Report and certain other casino reforms. The proposed reforms include the introduction
of mandatory carded play, restrictions on the use of cash, mandatory player pre-commitments including play and break
limits, and a supervisory levy payable by casino licence holders. The supervisory levy payable by casino licence holders was
introduced on 1 July 2024 and resulted in a $9.4 million expense in FY25 for The Star Gold Coast. The implementation of the
remaining key measures noted above requires the introduction of regulations giving effect to those reforms. The timing of the
remaining regulations remains uncertain.  
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B7 INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

CCuurrrreenntt

Lease liabilities 77..00 6.1

Other loans 00..88 -

77..88 6.1

NNoonn  ccuurrrreenntt

Bank loans - secured (net of unamortised borrowing costs) 440033..55 269.6

Convertible notes and subordinated debt - unsecured (net of unamortised borrowing
costs) 116677..44 -

Lease liabilities 1199..66 26.1

559900..55 295.7
BBaannkk  llooaannss
On 21 November 2024, the Group and its lenders executed a deed to amend the $450 million syndicated facility agreement
(SSFFAA). The key amendments include:
 Interest on the $300 million term facility to be fixed at 13.5%;

 Reduce and amend the $150 million revolving working capital facility to be up to $34.5 million of existing bank
guarantees, with a fixed rate of 9.15%;

 Provide a new tranche of $100 million term facility fixed at a rate of 13.5% (fully drawn on 9 December 2024); 

 Provide a second new tranche of $100 million fixed at a rate of 13.5%, subject to more extensive conditions precedent.
These conditions were not achieved by the end of the availability period, 9 April 2025, and consequently the tranche is
unavailable; and

 The Group can elect for interest to be partly capitalised, with 3.5% interest capitalised into the drawn term loans and a
further 10.75% paid in cash. Under this election, the all-in rate is 14.25%.

The amendment was treated as a substantial modification, resulting in the extinguishment of existing debt and recognition of
new debt at fair value. Unamortised borrowing costs associated with the existing debt of $26.9 million and costs incurred for
the amendment of $20.5 million were taken to finance costs in the income statement. No borrowing costs are capitalised
(2024: $30.4 million).

The SFA matures in December 2027 and is subject to covenants and undertakings typical of this type of facility, including
interest cover ratio, leverage ratio and a liquidity ratio. Interest on the term facilities is fixed at 13.5% cash payable, or
14.25% payment-in-kind and cash (June 2024: linked to the Australian Bank Bill Swap Bid Rate, plus a margin), while
interest on the bank guarantees facility is fixed at 9.15%. The facility is secured against a first charge over the assets of
certain entities within the Group. During the year, the Group also provided security over The Star Gold Coast’s assets. 

A condition of the new tranche of $100 million term facility was to establish a disposal proceeds account for receipt of any
proceeds on disposal of the sale of the Treasury Brisbane casino along with other non-core asset proceeds (DDiissppoossaall
PPrroocceeeeddss  AAccccoouunntt). At 30 June 2025, the balance of this Disposal Proceeds Account was $60.6 million, representing the
proceeds of the Treasury Brisbane casino and capitalised interest. The new tranche of $100 million is secured against the
Disposal Proceeds Account. On 25 September 2025, the Group issued a notice to voluntarily prepay $61.1 million of the SFA
Facilities using the balance of funds in the Disposal Proceeds Account. This prepayment is expected to complete on 30
September 2025. 

Capitalised interest will accrue interest at the same rate as the SFA. At 30 June 2025, $3.5 million of interest payable on the
SFA was capitalised (2024: nil). At 30 June 2025, $30.8 million (June 2024: $29.5 million) of bank guarantees are held
against the revolving working capital facility. A portion of these bank guarantees are cash backed (refer to note B1).

The Group obtained waivers for covenant testing on 30 September 2024, 31 December 2024, 31 March 2025 and 30 June
2025. Within the next twelve months, covenants will be tested at 30 September 2025, 31 December 2025, 31 March 2026
and 30 June 2026. If these covenants were to be assessed based on the Group's circumstances at 30 June 2025, they
would not pass, which will result in the debt becoming due and payable. The Group’s lenders have agreed to provide a
covenant waiver for 30 September 2025. To the extent future required waivers are not available, including for 31 December
2025, the Group will need to execute a refinancing of the SFA within the available timeframes to avoid a default of the SFA
(refer to note G for further detail). 

CCoonnvveerrttiibbllee  NNootteess  aanndd  SSuubboorrddiinnaatteedd  DDeebbtt
On 23 May 2025 the Group entered into long form documentation with Bally’s Corporation (BBaallllyy’’ss) and Investment Holdings
with respect to a multi-tranche convertible note and subordinated unsecured debt instrument (the IInnvveessttmmeenntt or SSttrraatteeggiicc
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IInnvveessttmmeenntt) with an aggregate principal value of $300 million (the TTrraannssaaccttiioonn), being a $200 million commitment from
Bally's and a $100 million commitment from Investment Holdings. Once all convertible notes have been issued, the
aggregate principal value of $300 million will be convertible into 3,750,000,000 ordinary shares of the Group, representing a
conversion price of 8 cents per share. 

The first tranche of $100.0 million was received on 9 April 2025. On 26 and 27 June 2025, following shareholder approval at
the 25 June 2025 General Meeting, the Group received $133.3 million, with Bally's and Investment Holdings each
contributing $66.7 million. A final $66.7 million from Bally's is receivable on the earlier of regulatory approval or 2 business
days following 7 October 2025. Should regulatory approval not be obtained by 7 October 2025, the final $66.7 million of
cash will be treated as subordinated debt. The final instalment is subject to a condition precedent that the Group is in
compliance with its senior lending facility (refer to covenant waivers discussion above).

At 30 June 2025, the Group has issued 701,910,611 convertible notes. This represents $56.2 million of the $233.3 million
received. The remaining $177.1 million is treated as subordinated debt. The 701,910,611 convertible notes are available for
conversion into shares, at the holder’s election, provided a prospectus is issued by the Group to remove any Corporations Act
on-sale restrictions that apply to the shares issued upon conversion (no such prospectus was issued prior to, or at 30 June
2025), and conversion does not breach any of the existing restrictions (including Company Constitution, agreements with
Liquor and Gaming NSW, ASX listing rules).

On receipt of regulatory approval, the Group will issue the remaining 3,048,089,389 convertible notes in exchange for
satisfaction, in full, of the subordinated debt and receipt of the outstanding $66.7 million (where regulatory approval is
received prior to 7 October 2025). 

The convertible notes and subordinated debt components carry a coupon rate of 9% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears.
At the election of the Group, interest can be capitalised into a separate ‘Payment in Kind’ liability. The Payment in Kind
liability will also attract interest at 9% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears, and can, at the election of the Group, be
settled in shares of the Company, using a 15 day volume weighted average price.

The convertible notes and subordinated debt, and any Payment in Kind liability, has a maturity of 2 July 2029. However, if
regulatory approval has not been obtained by 7 May 2026, redemption, at the election of the investor, shall apply in relation
to the subordinated debt component (30 June 2025: $177.1 million), requiring repayment within 120 days.

At 30 June 2025, the convertible notes and subordinated debt has been treated as a compound financial instrument. The
liability component, net of unamortised borrowing costs, is $167.4 million. Borrowing costs of $6.7 million were capitalised
during the period, of which $0.3 million have been expensed. 

CCoommppoouunndd  FFiinnaanncciiaall  IInnssttrruummeennttss
Compound financial instruments, those containing both debt and equity elements, are separated into liability and equity
components based on the terms of the contract.

On issuance of the compound financial instrument, the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate
for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is classified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net
of transaction costs) until it is extinguished on conversion or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in equity. Transaction
costs are deducted from equity, net of associated income tax. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not
remeasured in subsequent years. 

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and equity components of the compound financial instrument, based
on the allocation of proceeds to the liability and equity components when the instruments are initially recognised.

22002255

TTyyppee

FFaacciilliittyy  aammoouunntt

$$mm

UUnnuuttiilliisseedd  aatt  3300  JJuunnee

$$mm MMaattuurriittyy  ddaattee

Bank guarantee 34.5 3.7 December 2027

Term loans 403.5 - December 2027

Subordinated debt and convertible notes 233.3 - July 2029

TToottaall 667711..33 33..77

22002244 a

Revolving facility 150.0 120.5 December 2027

Terms loans 300.0 - December 2027

TToottaall 450.0 120.5
a $29.5 million of bank guarantees have been issued against the revolving facility. No amount has been drawn. 
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C COMMITMENTS AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

C1 COMMITMENTS
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS a

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Not later than one year 44..66 15.0

Later than one year but not later than five years -- 1.4

Later than five years -- -

44..66 16.4

a Capital commitments as at 30 June 2025 have decreased in line with the reduction in capital projects across the Group.

DDBBCC
On 12 August 2025, the Group entered into long form documentation to exit its 50% share of the DBC joint venture
investment and a process for transitioning its role under the casino management agreement to a new operator once
identified. The exit agreement will become effective upon satisfaction of various conditions precedent (refer to note C2). The
Group paid an additional $26.0 million in equity contributions between 31 December 2024 and 31 March 2025. Under the
long form documentation, the Group has no further requirements to contribute equity to the DBC joint venture after 31
March 2025. The Group estimates approximately $230.0 million of further equity contributions would be required from 1
April 2025.

DDGGCCCC
On 28 March 2025 a water leak event occurred in Tower 2 on the Gold Coast property impacting both the residential
apartments and the hotel that were under construction (Water Damage Event). Damage assessment in relation to the event
is continuing. The event is expected to delay completion of the construction of the apartments and hotel, which was due to
start completing in 2HFY25. The event has delayed completion of the construction of the apartments and hotel beyond the
maturity date of the Tower 2 construction loan (previously extended to December 2025). Destination Gold Coast
Consortium’s (DDGGCCCC) is in discussions with its lenders regarding a further extension of the construction facility and assessing
the impact of the damages, including the timing and impact on residential settlements. Should DGCC be unable to extend the
maturity of its construction loan with its lenders to meet a revised completion date, the obligations under the Group’s parent
company guarantee may be triggered. The Group currently anticipates a refinancing of the construction loan will be sought in
this scenario.

At 30 June 2025, the Group estimated approximately $40.0 million in contributions will be payable in FY26 and FY27
combined. DGCC executed a $309.5 million facility in April 2024, revised to $335.2 million in November 2024, which is
expected to fund the remaining construction costs (construction loan component represents $221.6 million, noting the
construction loan limit subsequently increased to $227.6 million).

On 12 August 2025, the Group entered into long form documentation to acquire the Joint Venture Partners share of DGCC.
Under the long form documentation, the Group will assume responsibility for certain remaining Tower 2 hotel development
costs that are specifically excluded from the construction loan in addition to certain net unfunded claims, damages and
variations from the Tower 2 principal contractor.

DGCC has insurance in place which is currently anticipated to respond to the required rectification works based on current
estimates. 

Refer to note D4 for commitments in respect of investment in associate and joint venture entities.

C2 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The following events occurred after balance date:

AAggrreeeemmeenntt  ttoo  eexxiitt  DDeessttiinnaattiioonn  BBrriissbbaannee  CCoonnssoorrttiiuumm  aanndd  ccoonnssoolliiddaattee  tthhee  GGrroouupp''ss  GGoolldd  CCooaasstt  ppoossiittiioonn  
On 12 August 2025, the Company announced to the ASX that it had entered into binding long form transaction documents
with its joint venture partners, being Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited and Far East Consortium International Limited (the
JJooiinntt  VVeennttuurree  PPaarrttnneerrss) in respect of its stapled equity interest in Destination Brisbane Consortium Pty Ltd and the
Destination Brisbane Consortium Integrated Resort Holding Trust (the JJVVPP  TTrraannssaaccttiioonn). 

The JVP Transaction involves the Group disposing of its 50% equity interest in DBC, the Treasury Brisbane Hotel and Car Park
and 50% interest in Charlotte Street Car Park, and acquiring the equity interests of the Joint Venture Partners in DGCC. The
JVP Transaction will complete in two stages. The completion of the exit from DBC is the first  stage, with a sunset date of 30
November 2025. The completion of the remaining assets included in the JVP Transaction (including DGCC and The Treasury
Hotel and Car Park in Brisbane) is subject to a separate set of conditions precedent which are currently expected to be
satisfied during 2H CY26. 
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The terms of the JVP Transaction provide, among other things, that: 
 the Group will not be required to make any further equity contributions to DBC after 31 March 2025; 

 the Group will be released from the parent company guarantee in relation to its 50% share of the DBC loan facilities of
~$0.7 billion (ie. SFA G&E), which reach maturity in December 2025;

 The Group will acquire the Joint Venture Partners' combined 66.6% interest in the Dorsett Hotel (TToowweerr  11  HHootteell) and
Andaz Hotel (TToowweerr  22  HHootteell) on the Gold Coast, which would result in the Group's interest in each of the Tower 1 Hotel
and the Tower 2 Hotel increasing to 100% ownership, and the Group will acquire the management rights for the Tower 1
Hotel after a further period of management by FEC of up to 5 years; 

 The Group will assume responsibility for all equity contributions for DGCC from 31 March 2025; 

 The Group will retain its rights to future development on Broadbeach Island, Gold Coast (three remaining towers to be
developed). The Joint Venture Partners will retain their existing development rights for the next tower only, subject to the
Group's option to buy out those rights for $20 million; 

 The Group will transfer to the Joint Venture Partners its 100% interest in the Treasury Brisbane Car Park and Treasury
Hotel, and its 50% equity interest in the Charlotte Street Car Park; 

 The Group will retain responsibility for the guarantee it made to the Queensland State Government for footpaths and
public realm works surrounding the Treasury Casino Building (previously sold), Treasury Car Park and Treasury Hotel in
Brisbane;

 The Group will no longer receive the operator fee provided for under the DBC Casino Management Agreement (CCMMAA).
Instead, it will receive a fixed fee of: 

 $5 million per month until 30 June 2026; 

 $6 million per month from 1 July 2026 to 30 June 2027;

 $7 million per month from 1 July 2027 to 30 June 2028.

 After 30 June 2028, the amendments made to the CMA that give effect to the fixed operator fee will be unwound and
the fee will revert to the arrangements that existed prior to the fixed fee arrangements being put in place;

 For the period between 1 March 2025 to completion of the exit of DBC, the difference between the operator fee that the
Group would be entitled to receive under the current formulation of the CMA and the higher fixed fee under the new
arrangements (Operator Fee Delta) will be placed into escrow each month. These amounts will be released from escrow
at the earlier of 31 March 2026 and three months after the nomination of a replacement operator (but not before
completion of the first stage, being the DBC exit). Upon nomination of a replacement casino operator by the Joint
Venture Partners, payment into escrow of the Operator Fee Delta will resume for a three month period while the Group
and the replacement operator agree a transition process. These amounts will be released from escrow at the end of the
three month period;

 The Joint Venture Partners are entitled to nominate a replacement operator at any time from the later of OLGR and DBC
lender approval or 30 November 2025;

 If requested, the Group will enter into a transitional services agreement with the replacement operator to provide
services that the Group currently provides to The Star Brisbane for a period of up to 24 months following the
appointment of a replacement operator; and

 DBC / the replacement operator will assume responsibility for all employee entitlements for operational employees at
The Star Brisbane other than a $5 million contribution made by the Group which will be payable over a 12 month period
from appointment of the replacement operator.

Completion of the JVP Transaction is subject to a number of conditions precedent including receipt of applicable regulatory
approvals and government concessions, approval from lenders to the Group, DBC and DGCC, amendments to the DBC debt
facilities, release from the Company's PCG in relation to the SFA G&E. The completion of a number of these conditions
precedent is not within the Group's control, as such there remains a material risk in completing the JVP Transaction. Should
the DBC exit stage of the JVP Transaction be terminated, or the JVP Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the
obligations of the SFA G&E PCG, on refinancing the DBC Funding, and future DBC equity contributions will remain with the
Group (refer to note B6).
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The Joint Venture Partners agreed to pay $53 million to the Group, in addition to a possible future earn-out, comprising:

 an upfront payment of $35 million on or before 7 March 2025, which has been paid. This payment reflects a
prepayment of the Group's future entitlement in relation to the DGCC Tower 2 joint venture distribution; 

 an additional payment of $10 million on or before 31 March 2025, which was initially paid by the Joint Venture Partners,
and then repaid by the Group when the binding heads of agreement was terminated, but was repaid again by the Joint
Venture Partners when long form transaction documents were entered into; 

 a further amount of $8 million, payable on the earlier of 30 November 2025 or the repayment of the construction loan
from sale proceeds and execution of the operating loan on practical completion of the Tower 2 Hotel; and 

 prior to 31 December 2030, an earn out payment of up to $225 million based on the lower of: 

 $225 million; or 

 50% of DBC’s pro forma equity value calculated as nine-times EBITDA for the 12-month period ended 30 June
2030, less 31 March 2025 net debt (including current forecast development capital expenditure commitments of
$320 million) (the EEaarrnn  OOuutt). 

If the long form transaction documents are terminated or the JVP Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the
parties have agreed that: 

 The Group will repay certain cash payments it has received from the Joint Venture Partners;

 The Group must reimburse the Joint Venture Partners for its share of the equity contributions made by the Joint Venture
Partners to DBC since 31 March 2025;

 For certain payments owed, the Group can, as an alternative transfer its one 1/3 interest in Tower 1 Hotel (Dorsett) to
the Joint Venture Partners to offset the cash payment obligation; and

 The Joint Venture Partners must reimburse the Group for their share of equity contributions that have been made by the
Group to DGCC to fund DGCC costs.

As an exception to the above, if the DBC transaction does not complete, certain amendments to the CMA will survive the
unwind. These include:

 the ability of the Joint Venture Partners to terminate the CMA with 90 days’ notice following nomination of a replacement
operator (as well as requirements on the Group to facilitate transition to that replacement operator); 

 certain revised reporting and operational arrangements will remain in place; and

 the Joint Venture Partners will retain the right to designate certain areas of the Integrated Resort as areas not managed
by the Group, with the calculated CMA fee to include the revenue and EBITDA of these areas regardless of the
designation.

SSuussppeennssiioonn  ooff  CCaassiinnoo  LLiicceenncceess
On 24 September 2025, the NICC notified The Star Sydney that its casino licence will remain suspended and that the
Manager’s term has been extended until 31 March 2026, unless terminated earlier by the NICC (previously extended to 30
September 2025 as notified on 28 March 2025).

On 25 September 2025, the Queensland government confirmed that it had deferred the suspension of The Star Gold Coast’s
casino licence and extended the Special Manager’s appointment to 30 September 2026 (previously extended to 30
September 2025 as notified on 27 March 2025).

The Star Brisbane's External Adviser’s appointment has been extended to 30 September 2026 (previously 30 September
2025).

SSFFAA  FFaacciilliittyy  ppaarrttiiaall  pprreeppaayymmeenntt
On 25 September 2025, the Group issued a notice to voluntarily prepay $61.1 million of the SFA Facilities using the balance
of funds in the Disposal Proceeds Account. This prepayment is expected to complete on 30 September 2025. 

Other than those events disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, there have been no other significant events
occurring after the balance sheet date and up to the date of this report, which may materially affect either the Group's
operations or results of those operations or the Group's state of affairs.
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D GROUP STRUCTURES

D1 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(i) PARENT ENTITY
The ultimate parent entity within the Group is The Star Entertainment Group Limited.

(ii) INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following controlled entities in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note G. The financial years of all controlled entities are the same as that
of the Company (unless stated otherwise below).

NNaammee  ooff  ccoonnttrroolllleedd  eennttiittyy NNoottee

CCoouunnttrryy  ooff
ttaaxx
rreessiiddeennccee

CCoouunnttrryy  ooff
iinnccoorrppoorraattiioonn EEqquuiittyy  ttyyppee

EEqquuiittyy
iinntteerreesstt  aatt

3300  JJuunnee
22002255

%%

EEqquuiittyy
iinntteerreesstt  aatt

3300  JJuunnee
22002244

%%

PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy

The Star Entertainment Group Limited d Australia Australia ordinary shares 00..00 0.0

CCoonnttrroolllleedd  eennttiittiieess

The Star Entertainment Sydney Holdings Limited a b Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Pty Limited a b Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Pty Ltd a Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Sydney Properties Pty Ltd a b Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Sydney Apartments Pty Ltd a Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

Star City Investments Pty Limited a Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

Star City Share Plan Company Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment QLD Limited Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment QLD Custodian Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Gold Coast Trust Australia Australia units 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment International No.1 Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment International No.2 Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment (Macau) Limited c Macau Macau ordinary shares 00..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment International No.3 Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

EEI Services (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited Australia Hong Kong ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

EEI Services (Hong Kong) Limited Australia Hong Kong ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

EEI C&C Services Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment RTO Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Finance Limited d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

Destination Cairns Consortium Pty Limited d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Technology Services Pty
Ltd

d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Training Company Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Letting Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Online Holdings Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Online Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Brisbane Holdings Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Brisbane Operations Pty
Ltd

Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment DBC Holdings Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Brisbane Car Park Holdings Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Gold Coast Holdings Pty
Ltd

d
Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment GC Investments Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment GC Investments No.1 Pty
Ltd

d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment International No.5 Pty Ltd d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0
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NNaammee  ooff  ccoonnttrroolllleedd  eennttiittyy NNoottee

CCoouunnttrryy  ooff
ttaaxx
rreessiiddeennccee

CCoouunnttrryy  ooff
iinnccoorrppoorraattiioonn EEqquuiittyy  ttyyppee

EEqquuiittyy
iinntteerreesstt  aatt

3300  JJuunnee
22002255

%%

EEqquuiittyy
iinntteerreesstt  aatt

3300  JJuunnee
22002244

%%

EEI Services Holdings No.1 Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

EEI Services Holdings No.2 Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

EEI Services (Macau) Limited c Macau Macau ordinary shares 00..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment International Tourism Pty
Ltd

d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

Destination Sydney Consortium Pty Limited d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Pyrmont Investments No.1
Pty Ltd

d Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment GC No.1 Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment GC No.2 Pty Ltd Australia Australia ordinary shares 110000..00 100.0

The Star Entertainment Group Limited Employee
Share Trust

Australia Australia units 00..00 0.0

a These companies entered into a deed of cross guarantee with The Star Entertainment Sydney Holdings Limited on 31 May 2011, and as
such are members of the closed group as defined in Australian Securities and Investments Commission Instrument 2016/785.

b These companies have provided a charge over their assets and undertakings to ILGA, as explained in note B6.

c This company was deregistered in 2H FY25. The company's financial year end was 31 December.

d These companies have secured the syndicated facility with a first charge over their assets as explained in note B6.

(iii)TRANSACTIONS WITH CONTROLLED ENTITIES

TThhee  SSttaarr  EEnntteerrttaaiinnmmeenntt  GGrroouupp  LLiimmiitteedd
During the period, the Company entered into the following transactions with controlled entities:

 loans of $169.1 million were repaid by controlled entities (2024: $432.5 million were advanced by controlled entities);
and

 income tax and GST paid on behalf of controlled entities was $86.4 million (2024: $83.5 million).

The amount receivable by the Company from controlled entities at year end is $1,315.6 million (2024: $1,484.7 million). All
the transactions were undertaken on normal commercial terms and conditions.

(iv) TRANSACTIONS WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES
OOtthheerr  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss
During the period, in addition to equity contributions (refer to note D4), the Group entered into the following transactions with
related parties:

DDBBCC  OOppeerraattoorr  FFeeee
The Star Brisbane commenced operating on 29 August 2024. The Group manages The Star Brisbane on behalf of the DBC
Integrated Resort joint venture, in exchange for an operator fee. For the year, the operator fee was $29.6 million (2024: nil).
At 30 June 2025, $6.1 million was receivable (2024: nil).

DDBBCC  CCoonnttrraacctteedd  RReevveennuuee
The Group has a contracted cost recovery agreement with the DBC Integrated Resort joint venture (at cost, with no margin) in
relation to the supply of labour and other shared costs in respect of the portion of the DBC Integrated Resort operated by the
Group. For the year, the contracted revenue was $174.8 million (2024: nil). At 30 June 2025, there was no outstanding
amount (2024: nil).

DDBBCC  ssaallee  ooff  aasssseettss  aanndd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
The Group sold assets, including electronic gaming machines, and certain working capital liabilities to DBC for net
consideration of $8.2 million (2024: nil). A gain of $2.2 million (2024: nil) was recognised on the sale of the electronic
gaming machines. 50% of the gain has been deferred, representing the Group's ownership percentage of the DBC Integrated
Resort, and will be released over the expected useful life of the electronic gaming machines or upon exit of the Group's DBC
investment. At 30 June 2025, $2.5 million was receivable (2024: nil).

DDBBCC  pprree--ooppeenniinngg  ccoossttss
Pre-opening costs incurred on behalf of DBC and reimbursement for assets purchased on their behalf of $33.3 million
(2024: $49.1 million) was charged during the year. At 30 June 2025, $0.2 million was receivable (2024: $6.4 million).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

DDGGCCCC  llaabboouurr  ssuuppppllyy  aanndd  bbuuiillddiinngg  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  sseerrvviicceess
The amount recharged to DGCC was $9.9 million (2024: $9.9 million) in relation to labour supply and building management
services provided to the Dorsett Hotel. At 30 June 2025, $0.2 million was receivable (2024: nil). 

DDGGCCCC  aammoouunnttss  llooaanneedd
The Group loaned $4.9 million (2024: nil) to DGCC in relation to the delivery of Tower 2 on the Gold Coast. At 30 June 2025,
$4.9 million was receivable (2024: nil). 

DDGGCCCC  llooaanneedd  TToowweerr  22  rreessiiddeennttiiaall  pprroocceeeeddss
The Group was loaned $35.0 million (2024: nil) of proceeds in relation to the upcoming residential apartment sales, as
agreed with the Joint Venture Partners under the long form documentation. The amount is recognised as an other payable at
30 June 2025 (2024: nil).

DDGGCCCC  TToowweerr  22  ddeevveellooppmmeenntt
The Group paid $9.9 million (2024: $15.9 million) associated with the development of Tower 2. At 30 June 2025, $1.1
million (2024: $1.2 million) was payable. 

DDGGCCII  llooaanneedd  ssaallee  pprroocceeeeddss
DGCI loaned $9.4 million of sale proceeds from the sale of the Sheraton Grand Mirage (2024: $55.9 million). At 30 June
2025, $65.3 million (2024: $55.9 million) is owing to DGCI. 

HHUUAA  RReessttaauurraanntt
The Group loaned $1.9 million to Hua Restaurant (2024: nil) in relation to the fitout and setup of the restaurant. At 30 June
2025, $1.9 million was receivable (2024: nil).

SSeeccuurriittyy  oovveerr  GGrroouupp  CCEEOO  aanndd  MMDD  rreemmuunneerraattiioonn
At 30 June 2025, current other assets includes $5.2 million (2024: nil) and non current other assets includes $5.0 million
(2024: nil) held in escrow to secure the Group CEO & MD’s FY25 and FY26 salary, FY25 and FY26 short term incentive and
FY26 Retention bonus. Actual payments of these amounts are recovered from escrow as and when they are made by the
Company. The balance of the escrow account will be released to the MD & CEO if a trigger event should occur. A “trigger
event” will occur where there is a change in control of the Company, the Company is placed in administration or receivership,
a decision is made by the relevant regulatory authority to cancel any casino or gaming licence, or the Queensland authorities
fail to make The Star Queen’s Wharf Brisbane licence free of conditions such that The Star Brisbane can commence gaming
prior to 31 December 2024 (which were satisfied), so long as that decision or failure is not attributable to any acts or
omissions of the Group CEO & MD. Where his employment continues beyond the trigger event, the balance released will be
reduced by any fixed remuneration payments he receives from the Company up to the end of the first 2 years of his
employment.
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D2 PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES
The Star Entertainment Group Limited, the parent entity of the Group, was incorporated on 2 March 2011.

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

RReessuulltt  ooff  tthhee  ppaarreenntt  eennttiittyy

Loss for the year a ((442266..55)) (1,677.8)

TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  lloossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr b ((442266..55)) (1,677.8)

a The Company's investments and intercompany loans were impaired $131.5 million (2024: $1,247.9 million). 

b No final dividend was declared (refer to note A6).

FFiinnaanncciiaall  ppoossiittiioonn  ooff  tthhee  ppaarreenntt  eennttiittyy

Current assets 11,,550022..11 1,895.5

Non current assets 221155..11 83.4

TToottaall  aasssseettss 11,,771177..22 1,978.9

Current liabilities 6600..11 96.9

Non current liabilities 11,,221100..33 1,048.7

TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess 11,,227700..44 1,145.6

NNeett  aasssseettss 444466..88 833.3

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy  ooff  tthhee  ppaarreenntt  eennttiittyy

Issued capital 44,,669955..44 4,695.4

Retained earnings 111100..66 110.6

Loss reserve ((44,,440088..88)) (3,982.3)

Shared based payments benefits reserve 4499..66 9.6

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy 444466..88 833.3
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
CCllaassss  AAccttiioonn
On 30 March 2022, a shareholder class action was commenced in the Supreme Court of Victoria, alleging the Company
failed to comply with its continuous disclosure obligations and engaged in misleading or deceptive conduct in relation to the
Company systems, controls, operations and regulatory risks.

The Company has filed its defence with no admissions of any contravention. A mediation occurred on 18 December 2024, at
which the matter was not resolved. The parties are currently considering appropriate timetabling orders for the advancement
of the matter.

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised. The outcome of the Class Action and any potential
financial impacts are unknown, including the extent to which any amounts may be covered by the Group’s insurance policies.

GGSSTT  aammeennddeedd  aasssseessssmmeennttss
On 5 December 2023, the Group commenced proceedings against the Australian Taxation Office (AATTOO) in relation to the GST
treatment of rebates paid to junket operators for The Star Pty Limited between October 2013 and August 2017. The amount
in dispute for this period is approximately $155.7 million (primary tax of $81.9 million and interest of $73.8 million). The
Group has paid $61.5 million as a deposit to the ATO on a no-admissions basis. The deposit is recorded as a non-current
asset.

The Group filed its evidence on 2 October 2024.  The next case management hearing is currently scheduled for 9 December
2025.

On 6 September 2021 the Group filed an application for judicial review with the Federal Court of Australia in relation to the
interest assessment. On 5 December 2023 the Group appealed the outcome of the Commissioner's objection decision by
commencing proceedings in the Federal Court of Australia. The outcome of this matter is adjourned pending the primary tax
case discussed above.

At 30 June 2025, the Company has assessed there is no present obligation in respect of this matter and it represents a
contingent liability and accordingly, no provision has been recognised.

FFiinnaanncciiaall  GGuuaarraanntteeeess
The Company had the following guarantees and securities at 30 June 2025:
 Destination Brisbane Consortium: the guarantee covers 50% of the syndicated facility agreement (refer to note B6). 

 Destination Gold Coast Consortium: the Tower 2 guarantee covers up to 46.9% of the $335.2 million in facilities. At 30
June 2025, $174.7 million of the facility is drawn and $40.0 million has been utilised for bank guarantees. Under the
long form documentation to exit DBC, the residential sale proceeds will be used to repay the construction facility and
cash back the drawn bank guarantees. Consequently, the Group expects, in time, to be solely responsible for the Andaz
Hotel operating loan (the draw down of which remains subject to a number of conditions). On 28 March 2025 a water
leak event occurred in Tower 2 impacting both the residential apartments and the hotel. The event has delayed
completion of the construction of the apartments and hotel beyond the maturity date of the Tower 2 construction loan
(previously extended to December 2025). DGCC is in discussions with its lenders regarding a further extension of the
construction facility and assessing the impact of the damages, including the timing and impact on residential
settlements. Should DGCC be unable to extend the maturity of its construction loan with its lenders to meet a revised
completion date, the obligations under the Group’s parent company guarantee may be triggered. The Group currently
anticipates a refinancing of the construction loan will be sought in this scenario.

 Syndicated facility: is secured against The Star Gold Coast’s assets and a first charge over the assets of certain entities
within the Group (denoted (d) in note D1). The new tranche of $100.0 million is also secured against the Disposal
Proceed Account (refer to note B7), which includes $60.6 million of proceeds from the sale of the Treasury Brisbane
Casino, including accrued interest.

 Bank guarantees and other security: $41.3 million of bank guarantees in relation to workers compensation cover,
property leases and construction works, and transactional banking security. A portion of these bank guarantees are
cash backed and the transactional banking security is fully cash backed (refer to note B1). 

The Parent has no other contingent liabilities at  30 June 2025.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
The parent entity does not have any capital expenditure commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for at 30 June 2025 (2024: nil).

ACCOUNTING POLICY FOR INVESTMENTS IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES
All investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given. Subsequently, investments are
carried at cost less any impairment losses.
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D3 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
22002255

$$000000

22002244

$$000000

CCoommppeennssaattiioonn  ooff  KKeeyy  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  PPeerrssoonnnneell

Short term 1155,,772200 7,797

Long term 229922 159

Share based payments 11,,332288 320

Termination benefits 5599 3,824

TToottaall  ccoommppeennssaattiioonn 1177,,339999 12,100

The above reflects the compensation for individuals who are Key Management Personnel of the Group. The note should be
read in conjunction with the Remuneration Report.

D4 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE AND JOINT VENTURE ENTITIES
Set out below are the investments of the Group as at 30 June 2025. The entities listed below have share capital consisting
solely of ordinary shares, which are held by the Group. The country of incorporation is also their principal place of business,
and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting rights held. All investments listed below are
measured using the equity accounting method.

22002255

NNaammee  ooff  eennttiittyy
CCoouunnttrryy  ooff
iinnccoorrppoorraattiioonn

%%  ooff
oowwnneerrsshhiipp

NNaattuurree  ooff
oowwnneerrsshhiipp

SShhaarree  ooff
((lloossss))//pprrooffiitt

$$mm

CCaarrrryyiinngg
aammoouunntt

$$mm

MMaatteerriiaall

Destination Brisbane Consortium Integrated Resort
Holdings Pty Ltd (i) Australia 50 Associate ((4466..11)) --

Destination Gold Coast Consortium Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 33.3 Joint venture ((22..11)) 7733..00

NNoonn  mmaatteerriiaall

Destination Gold Coast Investments Pty Ltd a Australia 50 Joint venture 00..11 6655..77

Hua Restaurant QWB Pty Ltd Australia 50 Joint venture -- --

Festival Car Park Pty Ltd Australia 50 Joint venture ((00..11)) 1144..11

Destination Sydney Consortium Investments Pty Ltd Australia 50 Joint venture 00..33 11..11

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy  aaccccoouunntteedd  iinnvveessttmmeennttss ((4477..99)) 115533..99

a The carrying amount of DGCI is offset by a loan from DGCI of $65.3 million (refer to note D1 (iv)) and therefore the net carrying amount of
$0.4 million is not material.

PPaarreenntt  CCoommppaannyy  GGuuaarraanntteeeess  oovveerr  aassssoocciiaattee  aanndd  jjooiinntt  vveennttuurree  eennttiittyy  ddeebbtt  ffaacciilliittiieess  
The Group has guaranteed debt facilities held by Destination Brisbane Consortium and Destination Gold Coast Consortium
(refer to note E1).

For those investments considered material to the Group, further information is provided below:

(i) DESTINATION BRISBANE CONSORTIUM INTEGRATED RESORT HOLDINGS PTY LTD
The Group has partnered with Hong Kong-based organisations Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited (CCTTFFEE) and Far East
Consortium International Limited (FFEECCII) to form DBC for the Queen's Wharf Brisbane Project. The parties have formed two
vehicles (the Integrated Resort Joint Venture and the Residential Joint Venture), which together are responsible for
completing the Project. The Group is not a party to the Residential Joint Venture. 

The Group contributed 50% of the capital to the development of the Integrated Resort Joint Venture up to 31 March 2025.
No further capital contributions have been made since this date under the terms of the JVP Transaction (refer to note C2).
The Group's interest is accounted for using the equity method. 

The initial stage of The Star Brisbane integrated resort owned by DBC opened to the public on 29 August 2024 and includes
The Star Grand Hotel, the main gaming floor and premium gaming rooms, Events Centre, Sky Deck, pedestrian bridge, public
realm and certain Food and Beverage (FF&&BB) outlets. Further F&B venues and the leisure deck amenities were opened
progressively throughout FY25. The Group holds the operator rights to The Star Brisbane through an agreement with DBC. 
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Subsequent to period end, the Group entered into long form documentation to exit its 50% share of the DBC joint venture
investment and a process for transitioning its role under the casino management agreement to a new operator once
identified. The exit agreement will become effective upon satisfaction of various conditions precedent (refer to note C2).

CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
DBC has current capital commitments of approximately $542.5 million (2024: $690.5 million) to fund the remaining
construction of the entertainment and leisure destination. There were no other contingent liabilities.

SSuummmmaarriisseedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn
The financial statements of the associate is prepared for the same reporting period as the Group and follow the same
accounting policies of the Group. 

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

BBaallaannccee  sshheeeett

Cash and cash equivalents 9944..00 68.8

Total current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents 2299..22 70.1

Total non current assets 22,,553311..66 2,625.1

Current interest bearing liabilities ((11,,338855..33)) (100.1)

Total current liabilities excluding interest bearing liabilities ((4422..88)) (38.7)

Non current interest bearing liabilities -- (1,382.1)

Total non current liabilities excluding interest bearing liabilities ((5588..00)) (0.4)

NNeett  aasssseettss 11,,116688..77 1,242.7

RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  ttoo  iinnvveessttmmeenntt  ccaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt::
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year -- 535.3

Equity contributions 115533..77 74.5

Share of loss for the period a ((4466..11)) (7.6)

Impairment ((110077..66)) (602.2)

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  aatt  tthhee  eenndd  ooff  tthhee  yyeeaarr -- -

IInnccoommee  ssttaatteemmeenntt

Revenue and other income 337755..99 -

Operating expenses ((338800..88)) (13.3)

Depreciation and amortisation expense ((9999..00)) (2.0)

Net finance costs ((3388..33)) -

LLoossss  bbeeffoorree  ttaaxx ((114422..22)) (15.3)

Income tax benefit -- -

LLoossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  ((ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss)) ((114422..22)) (15.3)

Other comprehensive loss ((3399..33)) (41.5)

TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  lloossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  ((ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss)) ((118811..55)) (56.8)

GGrroouupp''ss  sshhaarree  ooff  lloossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr ((4466..11)) (7.6)
a The investment has been reduced to nil at 30 June 2025 (2024: nil). The excess share of loss of $25.0 million has not been recognised.
Recognition of these excess losses will resume only to the extent that the associate subsequently reports profits

(ii) DESTINATION GOLD COAST CONSORTIUM PTY LTD
On 22 November 2016, a 33.3% interest was acquired in Destination Gold Coast Consortium Pty Ltd (DDGGCCCC). DGCC is a joint
venture with CTFE and FECI for the purpose of constructing a new residential and hotel tower in Gold Coast. The Group's
interest is accounted for using the equity method.

CCoommmmiittmmeennttss  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
DGCC has current capital commitments of $40.7 million (2024: $70.4 million) in relation to Tower 2. There were no other
contingent liabilities.
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On 28 March 2025 a water leak event occurred in Tower 2 impacting both the residential apartments and the hotel. The
event has delayed completion of the construction of the apartments and hotel beyond the maturity date of the Tower 2
construction loan (previously extended to December 2025). DGCC is in discussions with its lenders regarding an extension of
the construction facility and assessing the impact of the damages, including the timing and impact on residential
settlements. Should DGCC be unable to extend the maturity of its construction loan with its lenders to meet a revised
completion date, the obligations under the Group’s parent company guarantee may be triggered. The Group currently
anticipates a refinancing of the construction loan will be sought in this scenario.

SSuummmmaarriisseedd  ffiinnaanncciiaall  iinnffoorrmmaattiioonn
The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group and follow the same
accounting policies of the Group.

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

BBaallaannccee  sshheeeett

Cash and cash equivalents 2288..77 25.3

Total current assets excluding cash and cash equivalents 335555..44 88.7

Total non current assets 447799..77 518.1

Total current liabilities ((334455..11)) (162.4)

Total non current liabilities ((226677..00)) (210.1)

NNeett  aasssseettss 225511..77 259.6

RReeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  ttoo  iinnvveessttmmeenntt  ccaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunnttss::

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 7755..66 76.4

Share of loss for the period ((22..11)) (1.7)

Share of equity contributions for the Group -- 9.8

Distributions received ((00..55)) (8.9)

Other -- -

CCaarrrryyiinngg  aammoouunntt  aatt  tthhee  eenndd  ooff  tthhee  yyeeaarr 7733..00 75.6

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

IInnccoommee  ssttaatteemmeenntt

Revenue and other income 5533..11 56.2

Operating expenses ((4477..44)) (47.9)

Depreciation and amortisation expense ((55..22)) (5.3)

Finance costs ((66..99)) (7.9)

LLoossss  bbeeffoorree  ttaaxx ((66..44)) (4.9)

Income tax expense -- -

LLoossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  ((ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss)) ((66..44)) (4.9)

TToottaall  ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee  lloossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr  ((ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss)) ((66..44)) (4.9)

GGrroouupp''ss  sshhaarree  ooff  lloossss  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr ((22..11)) (1.7)

SSiiggnniiffiiccaanntt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  ppoolliicciieess  
The following accounting policy is unique to DGCC's accounting within the Group. 

AAppaarrttmmeenntt  ssaalleess  rreevveennuuee  
Revenue in respect of the development project is recognised upon fulfillment of all performance obligations on a contract.
The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract. Payment is received on actual settlement of
individual units when risk and benefits of ownership are transferred to the customer.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

E RISK MANAGEMENT

E1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash, short-term deposits, Australian denominated bank loans and
convertible notes and subordinated debt.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to provide funding for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations,
and financial guarantee contracts, which support the ongoing viability of associates and joint ventures. Derivative
transactions can also be entered into by the Group, being interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps and forward currency
contracts, the purpose being to manage interest rate and currency risks arising from the Group's operations and sources of
finance.

The Group's risk management policy is carried out by the Group Treasury function under the Group Treasury Policy approved
by the Board. Group Treasury reports regularly to the Board on the Group's risk management activities and compliance with
policies. It is, and has been throughout the period, the Group's policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments
shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.

Details of significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement
and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and
equity instrument, are disclosed in note G.

IInntteerreesstt  rraattee  rriisskk
The Group manages interest rate risk by using a floating versus fixed rate debt framework. The relative mix of fixed and
floating interest rate exposure is managed through: utilising assets which receive a floating rate of interest to provide a
natural hedge; the issuance of both fixed rate and floating rate debt; or by using interest rate swap (IIRRSS) contracts. At 30
June 2025, 100% of the Group's borrowings are at fixed rates of interest. At 30 June 2024, 74.6% of the Group's borrowings
were naturally hedged by cash in bank, short term deposits and restricted cash. 

CCrreeddiitt  rriisskk
Credit risk on financial assets which have been recognised on the balance sheet, is the carrying amount less any allowance
for non recovery. The Group minimises credit risk via adherence to a strict credit risk management policy. Collateral is not
held as security.

CCuussttoommeerr  ccrreeddiitt  rriisskk
Credit risk in trade receivables is managed in the following ways:
 The provision of non gaming credit is covered by a risk assessment process for customers using the Credit Reference

Association of Australia, bank opinions and trade references; and
 The provision of cheque cashing facilities for casino gaming patrons was ceased on 7 December 2022. Gaming patron

cheque cashing facilities issued prior to this date remain, however have been fully provided for (refer to note B2). 

Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts is carefully
managed and controlled.

FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttiittuuttiioonn  ccrreeddiitt  rriisskk
Credit risk arising from other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, is reduced by
transacting with relationship banks that have acceptable credit ratings, as determined by a recognised ratings agency.

Cash investments, bank guarantees, and other contingent instruments create credit risk in relation to the relevant
counterparties, which are principally large relationship banks. As such, there is a low level of credit risk.

CCrreeddiitt  rriisskk  iinncclluuddeess  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  uunnddeerr  ffiinnaanncciiaall  gguuaarraanntteeeess
For financial guarantee contract liabilities, the fair value at initial recognition is determined using a probability weighted
discounted cash flow approach. The fair value of financial guarantee contract liabilities has been assessed as nil (2024: nil).
Details of the financial guarantee contracts are outlined below.

FFiixxeedd  aanndd  ffllooaattiinngg  cchhaarrggeess
The controlled entities denoted (b) in note D1 have provided the ILGA with a fixed and floating charge over all of the assets
and undertakings of each company to secure payment of all monies and the performance of all obligations which they have
to the ILGA. 

GGuuaarraanntteeeess  aanndd  iinnddeemmnniittiieess
The Group had the following guarantees and securities at 30 June 2025:
 Destination Brisbane Consortium: the guarantee covers 50% of the syndicated facility agreement (see DBC Financing

Arrangements below). 
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 Destination Gold Coast Consortium: the Tower 2 guarantee covers up to 46.9% of the $335.2 million in facilities. At 30
June 2025, $174.7 million of the facility is drawn and $40.0 million has been utilised for bank guarantees. Under the
long form documentation to exit DBC, the residential sale proceeds will be used to repay the construction facility and
cash back the drawn bank guarantees. Consequently, the Group expects, in time, to be solely responsible for the Andaz
Hotel operating loan (the draw down of which remains subject to a number of conditions). On 28 March 2025 a water
leak event occurred in Tower 2 impacting both the residential apartments and the hotel. The event has delayed
completion of the construction of the apartments and hotel beyond the maturity date of the Tower 2 construction loan
(previously extended to December 2025). DGCC is in discussions with its lenders regarding a further extension of the
construction facility and assessing the impact of the damages, including the timing and impact on residential
settlements. Should DGCC be unable to extend the maturity of its construction loan with its lenders to meet a revised
completion date, the obligations under the Group’s parent company guarantee may be triggered. The Group currently
anticipates a refinancing of the construction loan will be sought in this scenario.

 Syndicated facility: is secured against The Star Gold Coast’s assets and a first charge over the assets of certain entities
within the Group (denoted (d) in note D1). The new tranche of $100.0 million is also secured against the Disposal
Proceed Account (refer to note B7), which includes $60.6 million of proceeds from the sale of the Treasury Brisbane
Casino, including accrued interest.

 Bank guarantees and other security: $41.3 million of bank guarantees in relation to workers compensation cover,
property leases and construction works, and transactional banking security. A portion of these bank guarantees are
cash backed and the transactional banking security is fully cashed backed (refer to note B1). 

 The controlled entities denoted (b) in note D1 have entered into a guarantee and indemnity agreement in favour of ILGA
whereby all parties to the agreement are jointly and severally liable for the performance of the obligations and liabilities
of each company participating in the agreement with respect to agreements entered into and guarantees given.

DDBBCC  FFiinnaanncciinngg  AArrrraannggeemmeennttss
The Company and its Joint Venture Partners entered into debt facility agreements in 2020 in relation to DBC’s $1.6 billion
project-level debt funding. The aggregate amount outstanding is $1.4 billion at 30 June 2025 (DDBBCC  FFuunnddiinngg). The DBC
Funding comprises two equal facilities, drawn approximately equally, separately provided under a Gaming and Entertainment
syndicated facility agreement (SSFFAA  GG&&EE) and a Tourism and Leisure syndicated facility agreement (SSFFAA  TT&&LL). Amounts
outstanding under the SFA G&E are guaranteed by the Company and amounts outstanding under the SFA T&L are
guaranteed by the Joint Venture Partners. The two facilities are cross-collateralised against the property leases.

The DBC Funding is scheduled to mature in December 2025, and it is anticipated that refinancing by that time will require
additional capital contributions from either the then owners of DBC or the holders of the SFA G&E parent company guarantee
(PPCCGG). Subsequent to period end, the Group entered into long-form documentation to exit its 50% share of the DBC joint
venture investment and a process for transitioning its role under the casino management agreement to a new operator once
identified and releasing the Company from its SFA G&E PCG in relation to its share of drawn DBC debt of ~$0.7 billion (refer
to note C2). This exit agreement is dependent on the satisfaction of various conditions precedent, a number of which are
outside the control of the Group. Consequently, while the Group expects to be released from the PCG, it has been classified
as a contingent liability, given the material risk that the conditions required for its release may not be satisfied. 

Should the JVP Transaction be terminated, or the JVP Transaction is otherwise unable to be completed, the obligations of the
SFA G&E PCG on refinancing the DBC Funding will remain with the Group.

LLiiqquuiiddiittyy  rriisskk
Liquidity risk arises from the financial liabilities of the Group and the Group's subsequent ability to meet its obligations to
repay its financial liabilities as and when they fall due.

At 30 June 2025, the Group faces significant near-term liquidity requirements (refer to note G), including: funding of the
Group's operations at current trading levels; ongoing transformation and remediation related activities; and anticipated
outflows associated with ongoing regulatory matters (refer to note B6). A range of initiatives and other measures have been
identified and are in the process of being implemented to improve the liquidity outlook for the Group, including the execution
of the long form documentation to exit the DBC investment (refer to note C2) and the Strategic Investment (refer to note B7)

The Group manages liquidity risk through maintaining sufficient cash and available debt facilities above the forecast
requirements of the business. The debt portfolio is periodically reviewed to ensure there is funding flexibility across an
appropriate maturity profile. Refer to notes B7 and E2 for maturity of financial liabilities.

The Group needs to continue to have the support of its existing lenders in respect of the SFA requirements. The Group’s
lenders have agreed to provide a covenant waiver for 30 September 2025 (refer note B7). To the extent future required
waivers are not available, including for 31 December 2025, the Group will need to execute a refinancing of the SFA within
the available timeframes to avoid a default of the SFA (refer to note G for further detail).

The contractual timing of cash flows on derivatives and non-derivative financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date,
including drawn borrowings and estimated interest, are set out in the tables below:
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(i) NON-DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
22002255 22002244

<<  11  yyeeaarr

$$mm

11  --  55  yyeeaarrss

$$mm

>>  55  yyeeaarrss

$$mm

<<  11  yyeeaarr

$$mm

11  --  55  yyeeaarrss

$$mm

>>  55  yyeeaarrss

$$mm

FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss

Available cash 5566..00 -- -- 87.0 - -

Short term deposits 221111..00 -- -- 212.6 - -

Long term deposits -- 9966..88 -- - - -

Trade and other receivables 2211..11 -- -- 31.5 - -

228888..11 9966..88 -- 331.1 - -

FFiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess

Trade and other payables 115599..22 -- -- 176.1 - -

Syndicated Facility 4444..33 550022..33 -- 35.1 385.8 -

Convertible notes and subordinated debt -- 223333..33 -- - - -

Lease liabilities 88..11 1188..00 441166..99 8.7 23.7 68.1

221111..66 775533..66 441166..99 219.9 409.5 68.1

NNeett  iinnffllooww//((oouuttffllooww)) 7766..55 ((665566..88)) ((441166..99)) 111.2 (409.5) (68.1)

(ii) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS

IInntteerreesstt  rraatteess  --  AAUUDD
The following sensitivity analysis is based on interest rate risk exposures in existence at year end.

At 30 June, if interest rates had moved, as illustrated in the table below, with all other variables held constant, post tax profit
and other comprehensive income would have been affected as follows:

22002255

NNeett  pprrooffiitt  aafftteerr  ttaaxx

hhiigghheerr//((lloowweerr))

$$mm

OOtthheerr
ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee

iinnccoommee

hhiigghheerr//((lloowweerr))

$$mm

AAUUDD

+ 0.5% (50 basis points) 00..11 --

- 0.5% (50 basis points) ((00..11)) --

22002244

AAUUDD

+ 0.5% (50 basis points) (0.2) -

- 0.5% (50 basis points) 0.2 -

The movements in profit are due to higher/lower interest costs from variable rate debt and investments. There is no
movement in other comprehensive income following termination of all derivative instruments in FY24. The numbers derived
in the sensitivity analysis are indicative only.

Significant assumptions used in the interest rate sensitivity analysis include the reasonably possible movements in interest
rates were determined based on the Group's current credit rating and mix of debt.
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E2 ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DISCLOSURES
(i) FAIR VALUES

The fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities approximates their carrying value as at the balance
sheet date.

There are various methods available in estimating the fair value of a financial instrument. The methods comprise:
Level 1 the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets.

Level 2 the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).

Level 3 the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.

The convertible notes and subordinated debt compound financial instrument was initially measured at fair value using the
level 2 valuation techniques, being observable inputs. There have been no transfers between levels during the year.

CCoonnvveerrttiibbllee  nnootteess  aanndd  ssuubboorrddiinnaatteedd  ddeebbtt
The fair value of the liability component of convertible notes and subordinated debt is calculated as the present value of
expected future cashflows under the contract, without any share conversion options, discounted to present value using a
market rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. The market rate has been estimated at 16.5%, reflecting the
Group’s expected borrowing rate around the date of entering into the agreement.  

(ii) RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

OOppeenniinngg  

$$mm

CCaasshh
fflloowwss

$$mm

UUnnwwiinndd  ooff
ddiissccoouunnttiinngg

$$mm

EEqquuiittyy
ccoommppoonneenntt

ooff
ccoommppoouunndd

ffiinnaanncciiaall
iinnssttrruummeenntt

$$mm

SSuupppplliieerr
ffiinnaanncciinngg

$$mm

CCaappiittaalliisseedd
iinntteerreesstt

$$mm

NNeett
mmoovveemmeenntt

iinn
bboorrrroowwiinngg

ccoossttss

$$mm

CClloossiinngg

$$mm

22002255

Interest bearing liabilities
(excluding significant items) 
(refer to note B7) (269.6) (333.3) (0.7) 60.2 (0.8) (3.5) (24.0) ((557711..77))

OOppeenniinngg  

$$mm

CCaasshh
fflloowwss

$$mm

CChhaannggeess  iinn
ffaaiirr  vvaalluueess

$$mm

FFoorreeiiggnn
eexxcchhaannggee

mmoovveemmeenntt

$$mm

DDeebbtt
mmooddiiffiiccaattiioonn

$$mm

NNeett  lloossss  oonn
sseettttlleemmeenntt

$$mm

BBoorrrroowwiinngg
ccoossttss

$$mm

CClloossiinngg

$$mm

22002244

Interest bearing liabilities
(excluding significant items)  
(refer to note B7) (720.4) 434.2 3.0 (16.5) 8.0 (8.3) 30.4 (269.6)

Net derivative assets 36.2 (49.7) 13.5 -- - - - -

OOppeenniinngg  

$$mm

CCaasshh
fflloowwss

$$mm

IInntteerreesstt

$$mm

TTrraannssiittiioonn

$$mm

AAddddiittiioonnss

$$mm

OOtthheerr

$$mm

DDiissppoossaallss

$$mm

CClloossiinngg

$$mm

22002255

Lease liabilities (refer to note
B7) (32.2) 10.5 (2.6) -- (10.0) - 7.7 ((2266..66))

22002244

Lease liabilities (refer to note
B7) (36.8) 7.9 (2.9) - - - (0.4) (32.2)
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F OTHER DISCLOSURES

F1 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
2025

$m

2024

$m

Net gain on derivatives a -- 8.2

Tax on above items recognised in other comprehensive income -- (2.4)

-- 5.8

a All derivatives were closed in October 2023 in conjunction with the repayment of existing bank loans and prepayment and termination
of the USPP notes. The cash flow hedge reserve was released to the income statement at this time.

F2 INCOME TAX
(i) INCOME TAX BENEFIT/(EXPENSE)

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

TThhee  mmaajjoorr  ccoommppoonneennttss  ooff  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  bbeenneeffiitt  iiss::

Current tax benefit 66..99 31.3

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years ((11..22)) 5.5

Deferred income tax benefit/(expense) 1188..11 (189.7)

Income tax benefit/(expense) reported in the income statement 2233..88 (152.9)

AAggggrreeggaattee  ooff  ccuurrrreenntt  aanndd  ddeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  rreellaattiinngg  ttoo  iitteemmss  cchhaarrggeedd  oorr
ccrreeddiitteedd  ttoo  eeqquuiittyy::

Deferred tax (benefit)/expense reported in equity ((1188..11)) 2.2

Income tax (benefit)/expense reported in equity ((1188..11)) 2.2

IInnccoommee  ttaaxx  bbeenneeffiitt

A reconciliation between income tax benefit and the product of
accounting profit before income tax multiplied by the income tax rate is as
follows:

Accounting loss before income tax benefit ((445511..77)) (1,531.7)

At the Group's statutory income tax rate of 30% 113355..55 459.5

- Derecognition of temporary differences ((9988..88)) (564.2)

- Non deductible expenses ((1111..00)) (5.0)

- (Under)/over provision in prior years ((11..99)) 1.2

- Non deductible goodwill impairment -- (44.4)

Aggregate income tax benefit/(expense) 2233..88 (152.9)

Effective income tax rate %%55..22 %(10.0)
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(ii) DEFERRED TAX BALANCES
The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to: 

22002255

BBaallaannccee

11  JJuullyy  22002244

$$mm

RReeccooggnniisseedd
iinn  tthhee  iinnccoommee

ssttaatteemmeenntt

$$mm

RReeccooggnniisseedd
ddiirreeccttllyy  iinn

eeqquuiittyy

$$mm

OOtthheerr

$$mm

BBaallaannccee

3300  JJuunnee  22002255

$$mm

Property, plant and equipment 223355..11 ((3399..22)) -- -- 119955..99

Intangible assets 3377..77 ((1144..11)) -- -- 2233..66

Employee provisions 2255..11 22..88 -- -- 2277..99

Other provisions and accruals 3366..99 ((33..11)) -- -- 3333..88

Impairment of trade receivables 99..99 ((00..88)) -- -- 99..11

Unrealised financial liabilities ((00..11)) 99..99 -- 00..11 99..99

Finance leases 1100..00 ((11..77)) -- -- 88..33

Other 220077..66 5533..44 -- -- 226611..00

Tax losses 3311..33 110088..44 -- -- 113399..77

DDeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  aasssseettss  ((DDTTAA))  sseett  ooffff 559933..55 111155..66 -- 00..11 770099..22

Intangible assets ((1100..44)) -- -- -- ((1100..44))

Property, plant and equipment ((22..88)) ((00..77)) -- -- ((33..55))

Unrealised financial assets 00..11 -- -- ((00..11)) --

Other ((1166..22)) 22..00 ((1188..11)) -- ((3322..33))

((2299..33)) 11..33 ((1188..11)) ((00..11)) ((4466..22))

Derecognition of DTA balances a ((556644..22)) ((9988..88)) -- -- ((666633..00))

NNeett  ddeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  ((lliiaabbiilliittiieess))//aasssseettss -- 1188..11 ((1188..11)) -- --

22002244 11  JJuullyy  22002233 3300  JJuunnee  22002244

Property, plant and equipment 93.9 141.2 - - 235.1

Intangible assets 27.8 9.9 - - 37.7

Employee provisions 23.8 1.3 - - 25.1

Other provisions and accruals 23.7 13.2 - - 36.9

Impairment of trade receivables 9.9 - - - 9.9

Unrealised financial liabilities 18.9 (16.6) (2.4) - (0.1)

Finance Leases 11.4 (1.4) - - 10.0

Other 6.0 197.0 4.6 - 207.6

Tax losses 28.2 6.1 - (3.0) 31.3

DDTTAA  sseett  ooffff 243.6 350.7 2.2 (3.0) 593.5

Intangible assets (33.0) 22.6 - - (10.4)

Property, plant and equipment (6.5) 3.7 - - (2.8)

Unrealised financial assets (11.9) 12.0 - - 0.1

Other (1.8) (14.4) - - (16.2)

(53.2) 23.9 - - (29.3)

Derecognition of DTA balances a - (564.2) - - (564.2)

NNeett  ddeeffeerrrreedd  ttaaxx  aasssseettss//((lliiaabbiilliittiieess)) 190.4 (189.6) 2.2 (3.0) -
a DTA's, including tax losses, have not been recognised as they no longer meet the recognition criteria.
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(iii)TAX CONSOLIDATION
Effective June 2011, The Star Entertainment Group Limited (the Head Company) and its 100% owned subsidiaries formed an
income tax consolidation group. Members of the tax consolidation group entered into a tax sharing arrangement that
provides for the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should the Head Company default on its tax payment
obligations. At balance date, the possibility of default is remote.

TTaaxx  eeffffeecctt  aaccccoouunnttiinngg  bbyy  mmeemmbbeerrss  ooff  tthhee  ttaaxx  ccoonnssoolliiddaattiioonn  ggrroouupp
Members of the tax consolidation group have entered into a tax funding agreement effective June 2011. Under the terms of
the tax funding agreement, the Head Company and each of the members in the tax consolidation group have agreed to make
a tax equivalent payment to or from the Head Company, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the member.
Deferred taxes are recorded by members of the tax consolidation group in accordance with the principles of AASB 112
'Income Taxes'. Calculations under the tax funding agreement are undertaken for statutory reporting purposes.

The allocation of taxes under the tax funding agreement is recognised as either an increase or decrease in the subsidiaries'
intercompany accounts with the Head Company. The Group has chosen to adopt the Group Allocation method as outlined in
Interpretation 1052 'Tax Consolidation Accounting' as the basis to determine each members' current and deferred taxes. The
Group Allocation method as adopted by the Group will not give rise to any contribution or distribution of the subsidiaries'
equity accounts as there will not be any differences between the current tax amount that is allocated under the tax funding
agreement and the amount that is allocated under the Group Allocation method.

(iv) INCOME TAX PAYABLE
The balance of income tax payable is the net of current tax and tax instalments/refunds during the year. A current tax liability
arises where current tax exceeds tax instalments paid and a current tax receivable arises where tax instalments paid exceed
current tax.

TThhee  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  rreecceeiivvaabbllee//((ppaayyaabbllee))  bbaallaannccee  iiss  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo::

22002255

RReecceeiivvaabbllee
11  JJuullyy  22002244

$$mm

IInnccrreeaassee  iinn
ttaaxx  rreecceeiivvaabbllee

$$mm

TTaaxx  iinnssttaallmmeenntt
rreeffuunnddeedd

$$mm

UUnnddeerr
pprroovviissiioonn  ooff

ttaaxx

$$mm

OOtthheerr

$$mm

RReecceeiivvaabbllee
3300  JJuunnee

22002255

$$mm

Tax consolidated group - year ended

30 June 2025 a -- -- -- -- -- --

Tax consolidated group - year ended

30 June 2024 a -- -- -- -- -- --

Prior years b 5566..00 66..88 ((2200..55)) ((11..22)) 00..11 4411..22

TToottaall  AAuussttrraalliiaa 5566..00 66..88 ((2200..55)) ((11..22)) 00..11 4411..22

Overseas subsidiaries -- -- -- -- -- --

TToottaall 5566..00 66..88 ((2200..55)) ((11..22)) 00..11 4411..22

22002244

RReecceeiivvaabbllee

11  JJuullyy  22002233

$$mm

IInnccrreeaassee  iinn
ttaaxx  rreecceeiivvaabbllee

$$mm

TTaaxx  iinnssttaallmmeenntt
rreeffuunnddeedd

$$mm

OOvveerr
pprroovviissiioonn  ooff

ttaaxx

$$mm

OOtthheerr

$$mm

RReecceeiivvaabbllee

3300  JJuunnee
22002244

$$mm

Tax consolidated group - year ended

30 June 2024 a - - - - - -

Tax consolidated group - year ended

30 June 2023 c 16.4 23.3 - - - 39.7

Prior years d 14.4 10.9 (14.6) 5.5 0.1 16.3

TToottaall  AAuussttrraalliiaa 30.8 34.2 (14.6) 5.5 0.1 56.0

Overseas subsidiaries - - - - - -

TToottaall 30.8 34.2 (14.6) 5.5 0.1 56.0

a No instalments paid due to carried forward losses.

b The Prior year tax instalment refunds were applied by the ATO to the GST amended assessments deposit (refer to note B6). 

c The receivable balance relates to refundable tax instalments.

d The receivable balance relates to depreciation deductions for capital projects.
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F3 LOSS PER SHARE
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

NNeett  lloossss  aafftteerr  ttaaxx  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo  oorrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreehhoollddeerrss ((442277..99)) (1,684.6)

Basic loss per share (cents per share) ((1144..99)) (66.8)

Diluted loss per share (cents per share) ((1144..99)) (66.8)

NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr

WWeeiigghhtteedd  aavveerraaggee  nnuummbbeerr  ooff  sshhaarreess  uusseedd  aass  tthhee  ddeennoommiinnaattoorr

Number of ordinary shares issued at the beginning of the year 22,,886666,,553355,,997788 1,616,195,845

Adjustment for issue of new share capital on 6 October 2023 a -- 680,535,539

Adjustment for issue of new share capital on 19 October 2023 b -- 226,669,736

Movement in treasury shares 667722,,774411 275,977

WWeeiigghhtteedd  aavveerraaggee  nnuummbbeerr  ooff  sshhaarreess  uusseedd  aass  tthhee  ddeennoommiinnaattoorr 22,,886677,,220088,,771199 2,523,677,097

AAddjjuussttmmeenntt  ffoorr  ccaallccuullaattiioonn  ooff  ddiilluutteedd  eeaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree::

Adjustment for Performance Rights -- -

WWeeiigghhtteedd  aavveerraaggee  nnuummbbeerr  ooff  oorrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess  aanndd  ppootteennttiiaall  oorrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess  aass
uusseedd  aass  tthhee  ddeennoommiinnaattoorr  iinn  ccaallccuullaattiinngg  ddiilluutteedd  eeaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree  aatt  tthhee  eenndd  ooff
tthhee  yyeeaarr 22,,886677,,220088,,771199 2,523,677,097

a On 6 October 2023, the Group issued 925,933,112 shares for the private placement to institutional investors under the accelerated non-
renounceable entitlement offer. The capital raising is after $8.0 million of costs, net of tax.
b On 19 October 2023, the Group issued 324,066,888 new shares for retail component of the accelerated non-renounceable entitlement
offer. The capital raising is after $2.8 million of costs, net of tax.

1,543,137 performance rights (2024: 40,201) and 701,910,611 convertible notes (2024: nil) that could potentially dilute
basic earnings per share in the future were not included in the calculation above because they are antidilutive for the period
presented.

F4 OTHER ASSETS
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

CCuurrrreenntt

Prepayments 3300..11 38.5

Security over Group CEO and MD remuneration (refer to note D1 (iv)) 55..22 -

Other assets 77..33 48.9

4422..66 87.4

NNoonn  ccuurrrreenntt

ATO deposits (refer to note B6) 6644..77 -

Contributions towards DGCC Tower 2 (refer to note D1 (iv)) 1177..11 15.5

Security over Group CEO and MD remuneration (refer to note D1 (iv)) 55..00 -

Amounts loaned to related parties (refer to note D1 (iv)) 11..99 -

Other assets 22..11 1.7

Rental paid in advance 00..88 0.8

9911..66 18.0
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F5 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Trade creditors and accrued expenses 115588..77 176.1

Interest payable 1122..11 4.3

117700..88 180.4

F6 OTHER LIABILITIES
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

CCuurrrreenntt

Customer loyalty deferred revenue a 1144..00 16.2

Sale proceeds loaned from DGCI  (refer to note D1 (iv)) 6655..33 55.9

Residential sale proceeds loaned from DGCC  (refer to note D1 (iv)) 3355..00 -

Upfront payment from the joint venture partners  (refer to note C2) 1100..00 -

Other deferred revenue 11..11 1.9

Other 00..55 1.2

112255..99 75.2

NNoonn  ccuurrrreenntt

Other 99..00 8.8

99..00 8.8

a The Group operates customer loyalty programs enabling customers to accumulate award credits for gaming and on-property spend. A
portion of the spend, equal to the fair value of the award credits earned, is treated as deferred revenue, and recognised in the income
statement when the award is redeemed or expires.

F7 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(i) SHARE CAPITAL
There is only one class of shares (ordinary shares) on issue. These ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in
dividends and proceeds on winding up of the Company, in proportion to the number and amounts paid on the shares held.
On a show of hands, every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and
upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote. The Company does not have authorised capital nor par value in respect of its
issued shares

SShhaarree

SShhaarreess

ccaappiittaall

$$mm

TTrreeaassuurryy

SShhaarreess

sshhaarreess

$$mm

NNeett

SShhaarreess

oouuttssttaannddiinngg    

$$mm

Opening balance 1 July 2024 2,868,680,877 4,702.1 (2,144,899) (6.4) 2,866,535,978 4,695.7

Shares issued to settle employee
share programs - - 1,187,985 1.4 1,187,985 1.4

CClloossiinngg  bbaallaannccee  3300  JJuunnee  22002255 22,,886688,,668800,,887777 44,,770022..11 ((995566,,991144)) ((55..00)) 22,,886677,,772233,,996633 44,,669977..11
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SShhaarree

SShhaarreess

ccaappiittaall

$$mm

TTrreeaassuurryy

SShhaarreess

sshhaarreess

$$mm

NNeett

SShhaarreess

oouuttssttaannddiinngg

$$mm

Opening balance 1 July 2023 1,618,680,877 3,962.9 (2,485,032) (7.3) 1,616,195,845 3,955.6

Issue of share capital (net of tax) -
6 October 2023 a 925,933,112 547.6 - - 925,933,112 547.6

Issue of share capital (net of tax) -
19 October 2023 b 324,066,888 191.6 - - 324,066,888 191.6

Shares issued to settle employee
share programs - - 340,133 0.9 340,133 0.9

Closing balance 30 June 2024 2,868,680,877 4,702.1 (2,144,899) (6.4) 2,866,535,978 4,695.7

a On 6 October 2023, the Group issued 925,933,112 shares for the private placement to institutional investors under the accelerated non-
renounceable entitlement offer. The capital raising is after $8.0 million of costs, net of tax.
b On 19 October 2023, the Group issued 324,066,888 new shares for retail component of the accelerated non-renounceable entitlement
offer. The capital raising is after $2.8 million of costs, net of tax.

(ii) RESERVES (NET OF TAX)
22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Share based payments reserve a 99..88 9.6

Convertible Notes Reserve b 3399..88 -

TToottaall  rreesseerrvveess 4499..66 9.6

NNaattuurree  aanndd  ppuurrppoossee  ooff  rreesseerrvveess
a The share based payments reserve is used to recognise the value of equity settled share based payment transactions

provided to employees, including Key Management Personnel as part of their remuneration. Refer to note F9 for further
details on these plans. 

b The Convertible Notes Reserve covers the equity component of the convertible notes and subordinated debt (net of
transaction costs). The liability component is included in Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (refer to note B7).

(iii)CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to ensure the Group continues as a going concern. 

The Group’s capital management aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest bearing loans and
borrowings that define capital structure requirements. The Group obtained financial covenant waivers at September 2024,
December 2024, March 2025, June 2025 and 30 September 2025 (refer to note B7).

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Gross Debt 559988..33 301.8

Net Debt/(net cash) a 220077..11 (30.0)

EBITDA (before significant items) b ((7777..11)) 174.7

Gearing ratio (times) xx((22..77)) x2.7

a Net debt/(net cash) is shown as interest bearing liabilities (excluding lease liabilities, other loans and convertible notes
in equity), less cash and cash equivalents.

b EBITDA (before significant items) is a non-IFRS disclosure and stands for earnings before interest, tax, depreciation,
amortisation, impairment, significant items and share of profits / losses from joint ventures. 
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F8 RECONCILIATION OF NET PROFIT AFTER TAX TO NET CASH INFLOWS FROM OPERATIONS

NNoottee

22002255

$$mm

22002244

$$mm

Net loss after tax ((442277..99)) (1,684.6)

- Depreciation, amortisation and impairment A4 117722..44 1,533.8

- Employee share based payments expense A3 11..55 1.7

- Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment ((44..11)) -

- Finance costs A5 112277..22 68.0

- Share of net loss/(profit) of associate and joint venture entities D4 4477..99 (19.7)

Working capital changes

- Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables and other assets 5500..11 (6.5)

- Decrease in inventories 22..99 1.3

- Decrease in trade and other payables, accruals and provisions ((9900..33)) (15.5)

- (Decrease)/increase in tax provisions ((2233..88)) 167.5

NNeett  ccaasshh  ((oouuttffllooww))//iinnffllooww  ffrroomm  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess ((114444..11)) 46.0

F9 EMPLOYEE SHARE PLANS
LLoonngg  tteerrmm  iinncceennttiivvee  ppllaann
During the current and prior periods, the Company issued Performance Rights and Premium Exercised Price Options under
the long term incentive plan to eligible employees. The share based payment credit was nil (2024: $0.2 million) in respect of
the equity instruments granted is recognised in the income statement. 

The number of Performance Rights granted to employees and forfeited or lapsed during the year are set out below.
22002255

GGrraanntt  DDaattee
BBaallaannccee  aatt  ssttaarrtt  ooff

yyeeaarr
GGrraanntteedd  dduurriinngg  tthhee

yyeeaarr
FFoorrffeeiitteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr

LLaappsseedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr a
VVeesstteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
BBaallaannccee  aatt  eenndd

ooff  yyeeaarr

2244  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  22002200 339922,,885544 -- -- 339922,,885544 -- --

2233  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  22002211 336611,,559999 -- 119999,,338833 -- -- 116622,,221166

2266  SSeepptteemmbbeerr  22002222 774455,,333300 -- 441188,,220099 -- -- 332277,,112211

2222  DDeecceemmbbeerr  22002233 44,,221144,,334455 -- 22,,335533,,550022 - - 11,,886600,,884433

1100  DDeecceemmbbeerr  22002244 - 77,,558866,,220044 11,,220066,,889966 - - 66,,337799,,330088

55,,771144,,112288 77,,558866,,220044 44,,117777,,999900 339922,,885544 -- 88,,772299,,448888

2024

Grant Date
Balance at start of

year
Granted during the

year
Forfeited during

the year b
Lapsed during

the year
Vested during

the year
Balance at end

of year

25 September 2019 322,821 - - 322,821 - -

24 September 2020 650,981 - 258,127 - - 392,854

23 September 2021 1,220,635 - 859,036 - - 361,599

26 September 2022 1,842,126 - 1,096,796 - - 745,330

22 December 2023 - 6,830,545 2,616,200 - - 4,214,345

4,036,563 6,830,545 4,830,159 322,821 - 5,714,128

Grants in FY25 include a market based hurdle only (relative total shareholder return (rrTTSSRR)). Grants in FY24 and prior
included some combination of market based hurdles (rTSR), an earnings per share (EEPPSS) component, a return on investment
capital (RROOIICC) component and a premium exercised price option (PEP) (FY24 only). 

The Performance Rights have been independently valued. For the rTSR and PEP components, valuation was based on a
Monte-Carlo simulation model. For the EPS and ROIC components, a discounted cash flow technique was utilised. The EPS
and ROIC value does not contain any specific discount for forfeiture if the employee leaves the Group during the vesting
period. This adjustment, if required, is based on the number of equity instruments expected to vest at the end of each
reporting period. 
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a Performance rights granted on 24 September 2020 were tested and did not vest. The FY21 grant comprised three performance
hurdles (rTSR, EPS and ROIC). None of the performance hurdles were satisfied in respect of the FY21 grant. 

b Performance rights granted on 25 September 2019 were tested and did not vest. The FY20 grant comprised three performance
hurdles (rTSR, EPS and ROIC). None of the performance hurdles were satisfied in respect of the FY20 grant. 

The key assumptions underlying the Performance Rights valuations are set out below:

EEffffeeccttiivvee  ggrraanntt  ddaattee TTeesstt  aanndd  vveessttiinngg  ddaattee

SShhaarree  pprriiccee  aatt
ddaattee  ooff  ggrraanntt

$$

EExxppeecctteedd
vvoollaattiilliittyy  iinn
sshhaarree  pprriiccee

%%

EExxppeecctteedd
ddiivviiddeenndd  yyiieelldd

%%

RRiisskk  ffrreeee
iinntteerreesstt  rraattee

%%

AAvveerraaggee  FFaaiirr
VVaalluuee  ppeerr

PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee
RRiigghhtt

$$

24 September 2020 24 September 2024 3.15 %29.00 %- %0.26 2.76

23 September 2021 23 September 2025 4.35 %31.00 %- %0.41 3.78

26 September 2022 26 September 2026 2.63 %32.00 %- %3.80 2.33

22 December 2023 3 October 2027 0.51 %37.00 %- %3.67 0.26

10 December 2024 1 November 2028 0.18 %56.00 %- %3.74 0.11

PPrreemmiiuumm  eexxeerrcciissee  pprriiccee  ooppttiioonnss
22 December 2023 24 November 2027 0.51 %36.00 %- %3.74 0.04

SSppeecciiaall  ppeerrffoorrmmaannccee  rriigghhttss
In FY25, the Board approved one-off grants of special performance rights to certain members of the Group Leadership Team.
The share based payment expense of $1.8 million (2024: nil) in respect of the equity instruments granted is recognised in
the income statement.

The number of restricted shares granted to employees and forfeited during the year are set out below:
22002255

PPrrooggrraamm
BBaallaannccee  aatt  ssttaarrtt

ooff  yyeeaarr
GGrraanntteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
FFoorrffeeiitteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr

LLaappsseedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
VVeesstteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
BBaallaannccee  aatt
eenndd  ooff  yyeeaarr

SSppeecciiaall  ppeerrffoorrmmaannccee  rriigghhttss -- 1122,,999955,,228877 -- -- -- 1122,,999955,,228877

The awards are issued at no cost to participants and are subject to a service condition of two or three years. Participants are
entitled to dividends and may benefit from share price growth over the vesting period. 

EEqquuiittyy  rreetteennttiioonn  ppllaann  ((EERRPP))
Since FY19, the Board has approved the granting of restricted shares under the equity retention plan to eligible employees.
The share based payment credit of $0.5 million (2024: $1.1 million expense) in respect of the equity instruments granted is
recognised in the income statement. The number of restricted shares granted to employees and forfeited during the year are
set out below. 
22002255

PPrrooggrraamm
BBaallaannccee  aatt  ssttaarrtt

ooff  yyeeaarr
GGrraanntteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
FFoorrffeeiitteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
LLaappsseedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
VVeesstteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
BBaallaannccee  aatt
eenndd  ooff  yyeeaarr

EERRPP 11,,009966,,991100 -- 338833,,330077 -- 335522,,110066 336611,,449977

2024

Program
Balance at start of

year
Granted during

the year
Forfeited during

the year
Lapsed during

the year
Vested during

the year
Balance at
end of year

ERP 1,206,889 - 109,979 - - 1,096,910

The awards are granted at no cost to participants and are subject to a service condition of three years. Participants are
entitled to dividends and may benefit from share price growth over the vesting period.

EExxeeccuuttiivvee  sseerrvviiccee  rriigghhttss  ggrraanntt
In July 2023, the Board approved a once-off grant of service rights to each member of the Group Leadership Team. The
share based payment expense of $0.2 million (2024: $0.6 million) in respect of the equity instruments granted is recognised
in the income statement.

The number of restricted shares granted to employees and forfeited during the year are set out below.
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22002255

PPrrooggrraamm
BBaallaannccee  aatt  ssttaarrtt

ooff  yyeeaarr
GGrraanntteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
FFoorrffeeiitteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
LLaappsseedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
VVeesstteedd  dduurriinngg

tthhee  yyeeaarr
BBaallaannccee  aatt
eenndd  ooff  yyeeaarr

EExxeeccuuttiivvee  sseerrvviiccee  rriigghhttss
ggrraanntt 33,,334433,,552233 -- 11,,337744,,447766 -- 773388,,339933 11,,223300,,665544

2024

Program
Balance at start of

year
Granted during

the year
Forfeited during

the year
Lapsed during

the year
Vested during

the year
Balance at
end of year

Executive service rights
grant - 8,986,302 4,806,900 - 835,879 3,343,523

The awards are issued at no cost to participants and are in three tranches: Tranche 1, comprising 20% of the award vested
30 June 2024; Tranche 2, comprising 30% of the award vests 30 June 2025; and Tranche 3, comprising 50% of the award
vests 30 June 2026. On vesting, all rights are subject to a 12 month holding lock.

Service rights do not attract dividends until shares have been allocated following vesting. Participants will receive any
dividends which accrued during the plan period once the vesting conditions have been met. Participants may benefit from
share price growth over the vesting period. 

SShhoorrtt  tteerrmm  iinncceennttiivvee  ppllaann
In FY25, there were no share based payment amounts recognised in relation to short term incentive plans (2024: $0.1
million expense).

F10 AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION
22002255

$$

22002244

$$

Fees to Ernst & Young (Australia):

Fees for auditing the statutory financial report of the parent and consolidated
group 33,,113344,,779900 3,072,328

Fees for other assurance and agreed-upon-procedures services (including
sustainability assurance) under contractual arrangements where there is
discretion as to whether the service is provided by the auditor -- 167,750

Fees for other advisory and compliance services -- 220,000

TToottaall  ffeeeess  ttoo  EErrnnsstt  &&  YYoouunngg  AAuussttrraalliiaa 33,,113344,,779900 3,460,078

The auditor of the Company and its controlled entities is Ernst & Young. From time to time, Ernst & Young provides other
services to the Group, which are subject to strict corporate governance procedures encompassing the selection of service
providers and the setting of their remuneration. The Chair of the Audit Committee (or authorised delegate) must approve any
other services provided by Ernst & Young to the Group. The Company's Group Chief Financial Officer has limited delegated
authority for the pre-approval of audit and non-audit services proposed by the external auditors, limited to $50,000 per
engagement and capped at 40% of the relevant year's audit fee. 
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G ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND CORPORATE INFORMATION
Significant accounting policies are contained within the financial statement notes to which they relate and are not detailed in
this section.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Star Entertainment Group Limited (the CCoommppaannyy) is a company incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The Financial
Report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2025 comprises the Company and its controlled entities (collectively
referred to as the GGrroouupp). The Company's registered office is Level 3, 159 William Street, Brisbane QLD 4000.

The Company is of the kind specified in Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) Instrument 2016/191. In
accordance with that Instrument, amounts in the Financial Report and the Directors Report have been rounded to the
nearest hundred thousand dollars, unless specifically stated to be otherwise. All amounts are in Australian dollars ($). The
Company is a for profit organisation. The Financial Report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 30 September 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Financial Report is a general purpose Financial Report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory Financial Reporting requirements in Australia. The financial
statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below and elsewhere in this report. The policies used in preparing the financial statements are consistent with those
of the previous year except as indicated under 'Changes in accounting policies and disclosures'.

GOING CONCERN
At 30 June 2025, the Group had a net current liability position of $426.3 million and further contingent liabilities relating to
guarantees, legal and regulatory matters (refer to note B6 for details). The current liabilities include a provision for the
Directors’ estimate of the outcome of AUSTRAC proceeding where the Group is awaiting the court’s judgment and the
outcome is highly uncertain. AUSTRAC submitted to the Court that a fine of $400 million would be appropriate while the
Group submitted that a fine of greater than $100 million, payable in the next 12 months, would be challenging based on
available liquidity options, including accessing capital markets.

The Group had Available Cash of $163.5 million at 26 September 2025, which is insufficient to meet the net current
liabilities and accordingly, the Group will be required to source and access additional capital and successfully execute on
planned initiatives to remain a going concern. 

Accordingly, there continues to be numerous material uncertainties in existence that cast significant doubt as to the Group’s
ability to remain a going concern.

Currently, in the Directors' opinion, while there remains material uncertainty regarding the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, there are reasonable grounds to believe the Group will be able to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due
over the next twelve months and to continue to remain a going concern, provided that:

 in relation to the following key interdependent matters and initiatives, which are critical to the Group's liquidity and
financial outlook in the near term:

 AAUUSSTTRRAACC  ffiinnee  aanndd  ootthheerr  pprroovviissiioonnss  aanndd  ccoonnttiinnggeenncciieess:: the payments of any monies ultimately required to settle the
provisions and contingent liabilities outlined in note B6 are not of such a magnitude, nor of such timing, that would
render the Group unable to pay its debts as and when they fall due. The Group currently has insufficient funding to
meet all existing provisions and potential contingent liabilities and in respect of the AUSTRAC Proceeding is reliant on
the judgment of the Court as to quantum and timing being within the Groups’ capacity to pay, given its existing
liquidity and ability to access any additional funding required. Were this not to be possible, an unfavourable Court
judgment may result in the Group not being able to continue as a going concern. Further, the Group’s ability to
successfully execute its ongoing capital management strategy in the timeframe required will be impacted by the
timing of the AUSTRAC judgment;

 SSuuppppoorrtt  ooff  eexxiissttiinngg  lleennddeerrss:: the Group needs to continue to have the support of its existing lenders in respect of the
SFA requirements. The Group’s lenders have agreed to provide a covenant waiver for 30 September 2025 (refer note
B7) the terms of which include an update to the events of default and review event regime in the SFA. This includes
triggers relating to:

 a failure of Bally’s to pay its final investment instalment when due;

 not obtaining receipt of regulatory approvals for the Strategic Investment by 31 December 2025 followed
by an agreed review period; and

 a specified quantum threshold and instalment structure for the final AUSTRAC penalty.
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    To the extent future required waivers are not available, including for 31 December 2025, the Group will need to agree

    a refinancing of the SFA within a short timeframe to avoid a default under the SFA.   
 RReegguullaattoorryy  aapppprroovvaallss  aanndd  ffiinnaall  ffuunnddiinngg  ooff  tthhee  SSttrraatteeggiicc  IInnvveessttmmeenntt:: outstanding regulatory approvals are obtained

from the NICC and OLGR for the Strategic Investment of an aggregate principal value of $300 million, and receipt of
the remaining $67 million from Bally's (see note B7);

 TTiimmeellyy  eexxiitt  ffrroomm  tthhee  DDBBCC  ssttaaggee  ooff  tthhee  JJVVPP  TTrraannssaaccttiioonn: completing the DBC exit stage of the JVP Transaction entered
into with the Joint Venture Partners (as described at note C2), including no material dispute between the Group and
the Joint Venture Partners in relation to transition arrangements to a new DBC operator which could delay or prevent
the release of any operator fees paid into escrow. The DBC exit is the first stage of the transaction and is dependent
on the satisfaction of various conditions precedent, a number of which are outside the control of the Group, including
releasing the Company from its SFA G&E PCG (~$0.7 billion the Group's share of drawn DBC debt). This is necessary
to enable the Company to avoid further equity contributions to DBC (see note C2 and D2). Timely receipt of regulatory
approvals underpin the timely exit from the DBC stage;

 RReemmeeddiiaattiioonn  pprrooggrreessss:: the Group continues to meet the milestones as set out in the Remediation Plan, which is a
critical factor in returning the Group to suitability and to restore its casino licences (see Sections 2.2 and 2.6 of the
Directors' Report);

 RReeffiinnaannccee  ooff  SSFFAA  aanndd  ootthheerr  ccaappiittaall  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt:: the Group is able to access additional capital within the required
timeframe through a planned refinancing (and potential increase) of the existing SFA, the raising of additional
subordinated capital or equity, and the potential divestment of non-core assets. In the case of potential non-core asset
sales, this will be subject to any applicable lender terms and approvals (both for existing lenders and new lenders
following a refinancing as the case may be) and any regulatory approvals (if required);

 RReeffiinnaannccee  ooff  DDGGCCCC  llooaann:: DGCC is able to extend the maturity of its construction loan with its lenders (currently due to
mature in December 2025) to meet a revised completion date as a result of the delay in the completion of Tower 2
stemming from the Water Damage Event (see note C1). Further, if a sufficient extension is not granted, that the DGCC
parent company guarantee is not called on in a scenario where the Tower 2 construction facility remains outstanding at
maturity on the basis it is able to be refinanced (see note B6);

 DDeelliivveerryy  ooff  DDGGCCCC  TToowweerr  22:: no material cost overruns or exposures above current budgeted amounts for the completion
of the delivery of DGCC Tower 2 which the Group would be responsible for under the terms of the JVP Transaction;

 MMaaiinntteennaannccee  ooff  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnaall  bbaannkkiinngg  sseerrvviicceess:: Transactional banking facilities are presently in place with the current
provider until the end of October 2025. Discussions with the current provider on an extension are in progress;

 PPeerrffoorrmmaannccee  iimmpprroovveemmeenntt  aanndd  ccoosstt  oouutt:: the business successfully executes initiatives in FY26 relating to the
generation of revenue and further reductions in cost (see Section 2.2 of the Directors Report);

 RReevveennuuee  ssttaabbiilliissaattiioonn  aafftteerr  rreegguullaattoorryy  cchhaannggeess:: the reduction of earnings due to the future implementation of cashless
and carded play at the Gold Coast casino, and the ongoing impact at the Sydney casino from the existing
implementation, is not materially worse than currently expected and there are no further regulatory changes that
materially reduce earnings (see note B6); and

 SSttaakkeehhoollddeerr  ssuuppppoorrtt:: the Group continues to have the support of its regulators, Governments, lenders, shareholders
and other key stakeholders, all of whom are important stakeholders and whose support will assist the Company in
successfully addressing many of the matters referred to above. Meeting the requirements of these stakeholders will be
key to maintaining their support.

At the date of this report, there is no certainty that each of the matters noted above can be satisfactorily resolved and in a
sufficiently timely manner. In addition, there are compounding risks of successfully resolving all of these matters
concurrently.

If the Group is unable to successfully address or resolve any one or more of the matters outlined above, there is significant
doubt as to the Group’s ability to remain a going concern and in its ability to pay its debts as and when they fall due in the
next 12 months. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded asset amounts or to the amounts and classifications of liabilities that might be necessary should the entity not
continue as a going concern.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
Preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards and IFRS requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period.
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In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

 Going concern;
 Asset useful lives and residual values (refer to note A4);
 Impairment of assets (refer to note B5);
 Significant items (refer to note A7); and
 Provisions, contingent liabilities and regulatory matters (refer to note B6).

Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the
carrying amount of the asset or liability in future periods.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new accounting standards, which became applicable from 1 July 2024: 

RReeffeerreennccee TTiittllee

AASB 16 Amendments to AASB 16 - Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

AASB 101 Amendments to AASB 101 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

AASB 107 and AASB 7 Amendments to AASB 107 - Statement of Cash Flows and AASB 7 Financial instruments

AAmmeennddmmeennttss  ttoo  AAAASSBB  1166  --  LLeeaassee  LLiiaabbiilliittyy  iinn  aa  SSaallee  aanndd  LLeeaasseebbaacckk
The amendments in AASB 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction, to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to
the right of use it retains.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group

AAmmeennddmmeennttss  ttoo  AAAASSBB  110011  --  CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn  ooff  LLiiaabbiilliittiieess  aass  CCuurrrreenntt  oorr  NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt
The amendments to AASB 101 specify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current.

The amendments clarify:
 What is meant by a right to defer settlement;

 That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period;

 That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right; and

 That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not
impact its classification.

In addition, an entity is required to disclose when a liability arising from a loan agreement is classified as non-current and the
entity’s right to defer settlement is contingent on compliance with future covenants within twelve months. The amendments
are expected to affect the accounting policy disclosures in the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements.

AAmmeennddmmeennttss  ttoo  AAAASSBB  110077  SSttaatteemmeenntt  ooff  CCaasshh  FFlloowwss  aanndd  AAAASSBB  77  FFiinnaanncciiaall  iinnssttrruummeennttss
The amendments require an entity to provide additional disclosures about its supplier finance arrangements to enable users
of financial statements to assess how supplier finance arrangements affect an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk. The amendments require an entity to disclose the terms and conditions of the arrangements, the carrying
amount of the liabilities that are part of the arrangements, the carrying amounts of those liabilities for which the suppliers
have already received payment from the finance providers, the range of payment due dates and the effect of non-cash
changes.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

STANDARDS AND AMENDMENTS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not applied Australian Accounting Standards and IFRS that were issued or amended but not yet effective. The
Standards are:

RReeffeerreennccee TTiittllee AApppplliiccaattiioonn  ddaattee

AASB 2023-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025

AASB 2024-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Classification and Measurement
of Financial Instruments

1 January 2026

AASB 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027

AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2028

The impact of the above standards on the Group is still being assessed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
CCoonnttrroolllleedd  eennttiittiieess
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Controlled entities are consolidated from the date
control is transferred to the Group and are no longer consolidated from the date control ceases. Intercompany transactions,
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.

FFoorreeiiggnn  ccuurrrreennccyy
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($) which is the Group's functional and
presentation currency.

TTrraannssaaccttiioonnss  aanndd  bbaallaanncceess
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling on the transaction date. 

Monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Gains and losses arising from the translation are credited or charged to the income statement, with the exception of
differences on foreign currency borrowings that are in an effective hedge relationship. These are taken directly to equity until
the liability is extinguished, at which time they are recognised in the income statement.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all attached
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense, it is recognised net of the related expense for which it
is intended to compensate. There are no unfilled conditions or other contingencies attached to the grants.

NET FINANCE COSTS
Finance income is recognised as the interest accrues, using the effective interest method. Finance costs consist of interest
and other borrowing costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds. Finance costs directly associated with
qualifying assets are capitalised, all other finance costs are expensed, in the period in which they occur.

TAXATION
IInnccoommee  ttaaxx
Income tax comprises current and deferred income tax. Income tax is recognised in the income statement except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. Current tax is the expected
tax payable on the taxable income for the period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary
differences are not provided for: 
 goodwill; and
 the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, affects neither

accounting nor taxable profit (loss) and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST)
Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of GST except:
 when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case

the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; casino
revenues, due to the GST being offset against government taxes; and

 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables
in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities, which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating
cash flows.

100100
146 THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at face value. Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances
and call deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash for the purpose of the statement of
cash flows.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original settlement amount less a provision for expected credit loss impaired,
where applicable. Bad debts are written off when they are known to be uncollectible. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to the income statement. Other receivables are carried at amortised cost less impairment.

INVENTORIES

Inventories include consumable stores, food and beverage and are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Inventories are costed on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course
of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Refer to notes A4 and B3 for further details of the accounting policy, including useful lives of property, plant and equipment.

Freehold land is included at cost and is not depreciated. 

All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost net of depreciation, amortisation and
impairment, and depreciated over periods deemed appropriate to reduce carrying values to estimated residual values over
their useful lives. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of these items.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in
the income statement.

When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.

Costs arising subsequent to the acquisition of an asset are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a
separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the
income statement during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Costs relating to development projects are recognised as an asset when it is:

probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

it can be measured reliably. 

If it becomes apparent that the development will not occur, the amount is expensed to the income statement.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GGooooddwwiillll
Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. Goodwill is assessed for impairment on an annual basis and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash
generating units or groups of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the
goodwill arose.

OOtthheerr  iinnttaannggiibbllee  aasssseettss
Indefinite life intangible assets are not amortised and are assessed annually for impairment. Expenditure on gaming licences
acquired, casino concessions acquired, computer software and other intangibles are capitalised and amortised using the
straight line method as described in note B4.

SSooffttwwaarree  ((eexxcclluuddiinngg  SSaaaaSS  aarrrraannggeemmeennttss))
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as expenses as incurred.
However, costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group and which
have probable economic benefits exceeding the costs beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs
include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate portion of the relevant overheads. Expenditure
meeting the definition of an asset is recognised as a capital improvement and added to the original cost of the asset. These
costs are amortised using the straight line method, as described in note B4.

CCaassiinnoo  lliicceenncceess  aanndd  ccoonncceessssiioonnss
Refer to note B4 for details and accounting policy.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to depreciation or amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
level for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units). Refer to note B5 for further details of key
assumptions included in the impairment calculation. 

PROVISIONS
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific
to the liability.

INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE AND JOINT VENTURE ENTITIES
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control.  Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of the joint arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require
unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. A joint venture is a type of arrangement whereby the parties that have joint
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. The Group's investments in associate and joint
venture entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. Under the
equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently adjusted to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in the income statement, and the Group's share of
movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Distributions received are
recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the Group's policy.

INTEREST BEARING LIABILITIES
Interest bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and include transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest bearing liabilities are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between
proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowing using the
effective interest rate method.

Interest bearing liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

LEASES
RRiigghhtt--ooff--uussee  aasssseettss
The Group recognises right-of-use (RROOUU) at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset is
available for  use). ROU assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of ROU assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. The recognised ROU assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term. ROU assets are subject to impairment.

LLeeaassee  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

SShhoorrtt--tteerrmm  lleeaasseess  aanndd  lleeaasseess  ooff  llooww--vvaalluuee  aasssseettss
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of buildings, leasehold improvements
and plant and equipment. (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office
equipment that are considered of low value (i.e. below $10,000). Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

LLeessssoorr
As lessor, leases of assets under which substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership are effectively retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
PPoosstt--eemmppllooyymmeenntt  bbeenneeffiittss
The Group's commitment to defined contribution plans is limited to making the contributions in accordance with the
minimum statutory requirements. There is no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees relating to current and past employee services.

Superannuation guarantee charges are recognised as expenses in the income statement as the contributions become
payable. A liability is recognised when the Group is required to make future payments as a result of employees' services
provided. 

LLoonngg  sseerrvviiccee  lleeaavvee
The Group's net obligation in respect of long term service benefits, other than pension plans, is the amount of future benefit
that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. The obligation is calculated using the
expected future increases in wage and salary rates including related on-costs and expected settlement dates, and is
discounted using rates attached to bonds with sufficiently long maturities at the balance sheet date, which have maturity
dates approximating to the terms of the Group's obligations.

AAnnnnuuaall  lleeaavvee
Liabilities for annual leave are calculated at discounted amounts based on remuneration rates the Group expects to pay,
including related on-costs when the liability is expected to be settled. Annual leave is another long term benefit and is
measured using the projected credit unit method.

SShhaarree  bbaasseedd  ppaayymmeenntt  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss
The Company operates a number of share based payment plans, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments. These plans include the long term incentive plan (LLTTII), Equity Retention Plan, Service Rights Plan and a portion
of the short term incentive plan (for senior executives). 

The cost of share based payment plans are determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made using an
appropriate valuation model. 

That cost is recognised in employee benefits expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity (share based
payment reserves), over the period in which the service, and where applicable, the performance conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for these transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the extent to
which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The expense or credit in the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an
award unless there are also service and/or performance conditions. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vested
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

When the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognised is the grant date fair value of the
unmodified award, provided the original vesting terms of the award are met. An additional expense, measured as at the date
of modification, is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction,
or is otherwise beneficial to the employee. Where an award is cancelled by the entity or by the counterparty, any remaining
element of the fair value of the award is expensed immediately through profit or loss.  

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of diluted earnings per
share.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising
from operational, financing and investment activities. In accordance with its Treasury Policy, the Group does not hold or issue
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. However, derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
accounted for as trading instruments.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement. However, where derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge accounting, the effective
portion of the gain or loss is deferred in equity while the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statement.

The fair value of interest rate swap, cross currency swap and forward currency contracts is determined by reference to
market values for similar instruments. Refer to note E2 for details of fair value determination.

Derivative assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet if, and only if:
 there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amount; and

 there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

HEDGING
CCaasshh  ffllooww  hheeddggeess
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the exposure to variability in cash flows that are
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the
effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in equity. When the forecast
transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non financial asset or liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss
is removed from equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the non financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or financial liability, then the
associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified into the income statement in the same
period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed affects the income statement (i.e. when interest
income or expense is recognised). For cash flow hedges, the effective part of any gain or loss on the derivative financial
instrument is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement in the same period or periods during which the
hedged forecast transaction affects the income statement. The ineffective part of any gain or loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the designation of the hedge relationship is
revoked but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in
equity and is recognised in accordance with the above when the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer
expected to take place, then the cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised immediately in the
income statement.

FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  hheeddggeess
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the exposure to variability in the fair value of a
recognised asset or liability, any change in the fair value of the hedge is recognised in the income statement as a finance
cost. The change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value
of the hedged item and is also recognised in the income statement as a finance cost. 

ISSUED CAPITAL
Issued and paid up capital is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received. Issued capital comprises ordinary
shares. Any transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised directly in equity, net of tax,
as a reduction of the share proceeds received.

OPERATING SEGMENT
An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and
incur expenses (including revenues and expenses relating to transactions with other components of the same entity), whose
operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity's executive decision makers to allocate resources and assess its
performance.

The Group aggregates two or more operating segments when they have similar economic characteristics, and the segments
are similar in each of the following respects:
 nature of the products and services;

 type or class of customer for the products and services;

 methods used to distribute the products or provide the services; and

 nature of the regulatory environment.

Segment results include revenue and expenses directly attributable to a segment and exclude significant items.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

Capital expenditure represents the total costs incurred during the period to acquire segment assets, including capitalised
interest. 

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTIONS
Dividend distributions to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are declared.

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings after tax for the period by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders adjusted by the
after tax effect of:
 any dividends or other items related to dilutive potential ordinary shares deducted in arriving at profit or loss attributable

to ordinary equity holders;

 any interest recognised in the period related to dilutive potential ordinary shares; and

 any other changes in income or expense that would result from the conversion of the dilutive potential ordinary shares;

by the weighted average number of issued ordinary shares plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction, rather than through continuing use, and a sale is considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of
their carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its fair value less costs to sell.
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NNaammee  ooff  eennttiittyy
TTyyppee  ooff
eennttiittyy

TTrruusstteeee,,  ppaarrttnneerr
oorr  ppaarrttiicciippaanntt  iinn
JJooiinntt  VVeennttuurree

%%  ooff
sshhaarree
ccaappiittaall

PPllaaccee  ooff
iinnccoorrppoorraattiioonn

AAuussttrraalliiaann
rreessiiddeenntt  

FFoorreeiiggnn
jjuurriissddiiccttiioonn((
ss)) iinn  wwhhiicchh
tthhee  eennttiittyy  iiss
aa  rreessiiddeenntt
ffoorr  ttaaxx
ppuurrppoosseess  a

The Star Entertainment Group Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Sydney Holdings
Limited

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Pty Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Sydney Properties
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australian Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Sydney Apartments
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

Star City Investments Pty Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

Star City Share Plan Company Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment QLD Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment QLD Custodian Pty
Ltd

Body
corporate

Trustee 110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Gold Coast Trust Unit Trust Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment International No.1
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment International No.2
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment International No.3
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

EEI Services (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Hong Kong No Hong Kong

EEI Services (Hong Kong) Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Hong Kong Yes Hong Kong b

EEI C&C Services Pte Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Singapore No Singapore

The Star Entertainment RTO Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Finance Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

Destination Cairns Consortium Pty Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Technology
Services Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Training Company
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Letting Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Online Holdings Pty
Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Online Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Brisbane Holdings
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a
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CONSOLIDATED ENTITY DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025
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The Star Entertainment Brisbane
Operations Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment DBC Holdings Pty
Ltd

Body
corporate

Participant in
joint venture

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Brisbane Car Park Holdings Pty
Ltd 

Body
corporate

Participant in
joint venture

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Gold Coast
Holdings Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment GC Investments Pty
Ltd

Body
corporate

Participant in
joint venture

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment GC Investments
No.1 Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

Participant in
joint venture

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment International No.5
Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

EEI Services Holdings No.1 Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

EEI Services Holdings No.2 Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment International
Tourism Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

Destination Sydney Consortium Pty Limited Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Pyrmont
Investments No.1 Pty Ltd

Body
corporate

Participant in
joint venture

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment GC No.1 Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment GC No.2 Pty Ltd Body
corporate

110000..00 Australia Yes n/a

The Star Entertainment Group Limited
Employee Share Trust

Unit Australia Yes n/a

a Foreign jurisdiction(s) in which the entity is a resident for tax purposes according to the law of the foreign jurisdiction.

b This entity is classified as an Australian resident under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997, but is a tax resident of Hong Kong in Hong
Kong.

PPiillllaarr  TTwwoo  iinnccoommee  ttaaxxeess
The Group has performed an assessment of its potential exposure to Pillar Two income taxes. The Group has determined it
meets the Routine Profits Test with respect to Australia and the transitional safe harbour De minimis Test applies (based on
the 2024 country-by-country reporting and 2025 financial information) for the constituent entities in the Group. As such, no
top-up tax adjustments are required.

The Group continues to follow Pillar Two legislative developments to evaluate the potential future impact.
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DIRECTORS' DECLARATION

In the opinion of the Directors of The Star Entertainment Group Limited (the Company):

(a) the financial statements and notes of the Group are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Group's consolidated financial position as at 30 June 2025 and of its performance for
the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with the Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001;

(b) the consolidated entity disclosure statement required by section 295(3A) of the Corporation Act is true and correct;

(c) the Financial Report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note G; and

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance with section 
295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors.

AAnnnnee  WWaarrdd
Chairman
Sydney

30 September 2025
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Ernst & Young 
200 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 Australia 
GPO Box 2646 Sydney  NSW  2001 

Tel: +61 2 9248 5555 
Fax: +61 2 9248 5959 
ey.com/au 

Independent Auditor’s report to the Members of The Star Entertainment 
Group Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial report of The Star Entertainment Group Limited (the Company) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 
2025, the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, the consolidated entity disclosure statement and 
the directors’ declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including: 

a. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2025
and of its consolidated financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

b. complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Material Uncertainties Relating to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note G of the financial report which outlines the Directors’ assessment of the 
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. There are numerous interdependent matters set 
out in Note G that indicate the existence of material uncertainties that cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, including in respect of the AUSTRAC proceeding, where 
the Group is reliant on the judgement of the Court as to quantum and timing being within the Groups’ 
capacity to pay, given its existing liquidity and ability to access any additional funding required. If the 
Group is unable to successfully address or resolve any one or more of the matters outlined in Note G, 
there is significant doubt as to the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  Note G describes 
the basis for the Directors’ assessment that the Group has the ability to continue as a going concern 
and the actions they are planning to take to respond to these uncertainties. Our opinion is not 
modified in respect of this matter. 
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Emphasis of Matter – Regulatory and Legal Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

We draw attention to the uncertainties relating to regulatory and legal provisions and contingent 
liabilities disclosed in Note B6 of the financial report.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainties 
Relating to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial report. 

Impairment testing of non-current assets 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

At 30 June 2025, the Group held non-current assets 
of $1,480.9 million. Management assessed that Star 
Sydney, Star Gold Coast, Brisbane Treasury and Star 
Brisbane represent separate cash-generating units 
(CGUs) for the purposes of conducting impairment 
testing. 
The Star Brisbane CGU was identified as having 
impairment indicators and the Group’s equity-
accounted investment in Destination Brisbane 
Consortium Integrated Resort Holdings Pty Ltd was 
impaired by $107.6 million.  
For other CGUs, management’s assessment 
concluded no indicators were present. 
The assessment of impairment indicators and 
calculation of impairment involved significant 
judgement including evaluating regulatory 
developments, forecast performance, discount rates 
and valuations from potential or proposed 
transactions. 
Given the materiality of the balances and the 
complexity of the underlying judgements in Notes B3, 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Evaluated the appropriateness of the

CGUs used by the Group in their
impairment assessment and the allocation
of assets and cash flows to these CGUs.

- Compared management’s impairment
indicator assessments with internal and
external data sources, including forecast
performance, discount rates and
valuations from potential or proposed
transactions.

- For the Star Brisbane, we compared the
recoverable amount to forecast cash
flows from continued operation and the
consideration from the planned disposal
of Star’s interest in equity-accounted
investment in Destination Brisbane
Consortium Integrated Resort Holdings
Pty Ltd.

- Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
included in Notes B3, B4 and B5 of the
financial report.

110
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Emphasis of Matter – Regulatory and Legal Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

We draw attention to the uncertainties relating to regulatory and legal provisions and contingent 
liabilities disclosed in Note B6 of the financial report.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainties 
Relating to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial report. 

Impairment testing of non-current assets 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

At 30 June 2025, the Group held non-current assets 
of $1,480.9 million. Management assessed that Star 
Sydney, Star Gold Coast, Brisbane Treasury and Star 
Brisbane represent separate cash-generating units 
(CGUs) for the purposes of conducting impairment 
testing. 
The Star Brisbane CGU was identified as having 
impairment indicators and the Group’s equity-
accounted investment in Destination Brisbane 
Consortium Integrated Resort Holdings Pty Ltd was 
impaired by $107.6 million.  
For other CGUs, management’s assessment 
concluded no indicators were present. 
The assessment of impairment indicators and 
calculation of impairment involved significant 
judgement including evaluating regulatory 
developments, forecast performance, discount rates 
and valuations from potential or proposed 
transactions. 
Given the materiality of the balances and the 
complexity of the underlying judgements in Notes B3, 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Evaluated the appropriateness of the

CGUs used by the Group in their
impairment assessment and the allocation
of assets and cash flows to these CGUs.

- Compared management’s impairment
indicator assessments with internal and
external data sources, including forecast
performance, discount rates and
valuations from potential or proposed
transactions.

- For the Star Brisbane, we compared the
recoverable amount to forecast cash
flows from continued operation and the
consideration from the planned disposal
of Star’s interest in equity-accounted
investment in Destination Brisbane
Consortium Integrated Resort Holdings
Pty Ltd.

- Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
included in Notes B3, B4 and B5 of the
financial report.

110

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Emphasis of Matter – Regulatory and Legal Provisions and Contingent Liabilities 

We draw attention to the uncertainties relating to regulatory and legal provisions and contingent 
liabilities disclosed in Note B6 of the financial report.  Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial report of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, but we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context. In addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainties 
Relating to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial report section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit 
included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial report. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures 
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial report. 

Impairment testing of non-current assets 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

At 30 June 2025, the Group held non-current assets 
of $1,480.9 million. Management assessed that Star 
Sydney, Star Gold Coast, Brisbane Treasury and Star 
Brisbane represent separate cash-generating units 
(CGUs) for the purposes of conducting impairment 
testing. 
The Star Brisbane CGU was identified as having 
impairment indicators and the Group’s equity-
accounted investment in Destination Brisbane 
Consortium Integrated Resort Holdings Pty Ltd was 
impaired by $107.6 million.  
For other CGUs, management’s assessment 
concluded no indicators were present. 
The assessment of impairment indicators and 
calculation of impairment involved significant 
judgement including evaluating regulatory 
developments, forecast performance, discount rates 
and valuations from potential or proposed 
transactions. 
Given the materiality of the balances and the 
complexity of the underlying judgements in Notes B3, 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Evaluated the appropriateness of the

CGUs used by the Group in their
impairment assessment and the allocation
of assets and cash flows to these CGUs.

- Compared management’s impairment
indicator assessments with internal and
external data sources, including forecast
performance, discount rates and
valuations from potential or proposed
transactions.

- For the Star Brisbane, we compared the
recoverable amount to forecast cash
flows from continued operation and the
consideration from the planned disposal
of Star’s interest in equity-accounted
investment in Destination Brisbane
Consortium Integrated Resort Holdings
Pty Ltd.

- Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
included in Notes B3, B4 and B5 of the
financial report.

110
110
156 THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

B4 and B5 of the financial report, we considered this 
a key audit matter.   

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Regulatory Matters 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note B6, the Group is subject to a 
number of uncertain significant pending and ongoing 
regulatory, legal and tax matters, including the 
AUSTRAC proceeding.  
There is complexity in relation to the assessment of 
these matters and uncertainty as to the outcome and 
quantification of any future economic outflow 
associated with a number of these matters. 
Australian Accounting Standards (accounting 
standards) provide criteria for the recognition of 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities for 
such matters.  
The application of these standards required 
significant judgement in determining whether present 
obligations existed at balance date, whether it was 
probable a future outflow of funds will occur and 
whether the provisions could be reliably measured 
and the extent of required contingent liability 
disclosures where these conditions were considered 
not to be met. 
As disclosed in Note B6, there was significant 
judgement required in estimating the provisions 
related to a number of these matters. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Evaluated the Group’s assessment as to

whether present obligations exist arising
from past events based on the available
facts and circumstances in relation to these
matters. In order to assess the facts and
circumstances, we considered the
underlying documentation prepared by the
Group’s internal and external solicitors, and
other relevant documents.

- Held discussions with senior management,
reviewed Board of Directors and Board
Committee minutes, reviewed
correspondence with regulators (where
applicable) and attended Audit Committee
and Risk Committee meetings to
understand key regulatory, compliance,
and legal matters.

- Inspected legal correspondence and legal
opinions and considered their content
together with the information we obtained
from our other procedures. Where
required, we held inquiries with the Group’s
internal and external legal counsel.

- Where the Group determined that a present
obligation existed, we assessed the basis
for reliable measurement of the provision
in accordance with accounting standards,
including matters such as probability of
outflow, amounts and timing, and our
understanding of the matter from our
procedures.

- Where a provision was recognised, we
assessed the basis for the estimate and the
calculation of the provisions.

- Assessed the disclosures within the
financial report related to these uncertain
provisions and the contingent liability
disclosures.

111
A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

B4 and B5 of the financial report, we considered this 
a key audit matter.   

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Regulatory Matters 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note B6, the Group is subject to a 
number of uncertain significant pending and ongoing 
regulatory, legal and tax matters, including the 
AUSTRAC proceeding.  
There is complexity in relation to the assessment of 
these matters and uncertainty as to the outcome and 
quantification of any future economic outflow 
associated with a number of these matters. 
Australian Accounting Standards (accounting 
standards) provide criteria for the recognition of 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities for 
such matters.  
The application of these standards required 
significant judgement in determining whether present 
obligations existed at balance date, whether it was 
probable a future outflow of funds will occur and 
whether the provisions could be reliably measured 
and the extent of required contingent liability 
disclosures where these conditions were considered 
not to be met. 
As disclosed in Note B6, there was significant 
judgement required in estimating the provisions 
related to a number of these matters. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Evaluated the Group’s assessment as to

whether present obligations exist arising
from past events based on the available
facts and circumstances in relation to these
matters. In order to assess the facts and
circumstances, we considered the
underlying documentation prepared by the
Group’s internal and external solicitors, and
other relevant documents.

- Held discussions with senior management,
reviewed Board of Directors and Board
Committee minutes, reviewed
correspondence with regulators (where
applicable) and attended Audit Committee
and Risk Committee meetings to
understand key regulatory, compliance,
and legal matters.

- Inspected legal correspondence and legal
opinions and considered their content
together with the information we obtained
from our other procedures. Where
required, we held inquiries with the Group’s
internal and external legal counsel.

- Where the Group determined that a present
obligation existed, we assessed the basis
for reliable measurement of the provision
in accordance with accounting standards,
including matters such as probability of
outflow, amounts and timing, and our
understanding of the matter from our
procedures.

- Where a provision was recognised, we
assessed the basis for the estimate and the
calculation of the provisions.

- Assessed the disclosures within the
financial report related to these uncertain
provisions and the contingent liability
disclosures.

111

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

B4 and B5 of the financial report, we considered this 
a key audit matter.   

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Regulatory Matters 

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

As disclosed in Note B6, the Group is subject to a 
number of uncertain significant pending and ongoing 
regulatory, legal and tax matters, including the 
AUSTRAC proceeding.  
There is complexity in relation to the assessment of 
these matters and uncertainty as to the outcome and 
quantification of any future economic outflow 
associated with a number of these matters. 
Australian Accounting Standards (accounting 
standards) provide criteria for the recognition of 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities for 
such matters.  
The application of these standards required 
significant judgement in determining whether present 
obligations existed at balance date, whether it was 
probable a future outflow of funds will occur and 
whether the provisions could be reliably measured 
and the extent of required contingent liability 
disclosures where these conditions were considered 
not to be met. 
As disclosed in Note B6, there was significant 
judgement required in estimating the provisions 
related to a number of these matters. 

Our audit procedures included the following: 
- Evaluated the Group’s assessment as to

whether present obligations exist arising
from past events based on the available
facts and circumstances in relation to these
matters. In order to assess the facts and
circumstances, we considered the
underlying documentation prepared by the
Group’s internal and external solicitors, and
other relevant documents.

- Held discussions with senior management,
reviewed Board of Directors and Board
Committee minutes, reviewed
correspondence with regulators (where
applicable) and attended Audit Committee
and Risk Committee meetings to
understand key regulatory, compliance,
and legal matters.

- Inspected legal correspondence and legal
opinions and considered their content
together with the information we obtained
from our other procedures. Where
required, we held inquiries with the Group’s
internal and external legal counsel.

- Where the Group determined that a present
obligation existed, we assessed the basis
for reliable measurement of the provision
in accordance with accounting standards,
including matters such as probability of
outflow, amounts and timing, and our
understanding of the matter from our
procedures.

- Where a provision was recognised, we
assessed the basis for the estimate and the
calculation of the provisions.

- Assessed the disclosures within the
financial report related to these uncertain
provisions and the contingent liability
disclosures.

111
111

THE STAR ENTERTAINMENT GROUP 2025 ANNUAL REPORT 157

Chair and CEO Reports

�Business Overview and 
Financial Performance

Key Projects

Our People

Sustainability Report

Directors’ Report

Financial Report

Additional Information



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 
  

Why significant How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
- Our forensic specialists were involved in 

the performance of certain of these 
procedures, where considered appropriate. 

 

Information Other than the Financial Report and Auditor’s Report Thereon 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s 2025 annual report other than the financial report and our auditor’s 
report thereon. We obtained the directors’ report that is to be included in the annual report, prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Annual Report after 
the date of this auditor’s report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the exception of the Remuneration Report and 
our related assurance opinion.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of: 

a) The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 
2001; and 

b) The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001; and 

for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of: 

i. The financial report (other than the consolidated entity disclosure statement) that gives a true 
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and 

ii. The consolidated entity disclosure statement that is true and correct and is free of misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and accordance appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an 
opinion on the Group financial report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
review of the audit work performed for the purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated to the directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current year and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 
  

Report on the audit of the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 26 to 50 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2025. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of The Star Entertainment Group Limited for the year ended 
30 June 2025, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Responsibilities 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Ernst & Young 

Scott Jarrett 
Partner 
Sydney 
30 September 2025 
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2025 CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The 2025 Corporate Governance Statement can 
be found on The Star Entertainment Group’s 
website at www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/
corporate-governance.

The Star Entertainment Group Limited (Company) is 
committed to contemporary corporate governance 
practices and is currently undertaking a significant, 
organisation-wide transformation and renewal 
program, a core tenet of which is a significant uplift 
in its corporate governance practices.

The Board acknowledges that corporate governance 
is fundamental to the effective and compliant 
operation of the Company, its subsidiaries 
and controlled entities (collectively referred 
to as the Group) 

The Company recognises that robust and fit 
for purpose corporate governance practices 
are imperative to enable the Group to regain its 
suitability to hold casino licenses and for the 
long-term sustainability of the Group’s businesses, 
including operating The Star Sydney, The Star Gold 
Coast and The Star Brisbane.

In FY22, the Company commenced a review of 
its corporate governance practices, and new and 
contemporary corporate governance practices 
were developed and implemented during FY23. 
Further holistic review of the Company’s corporate 
governance practices continued from FY24 to 
FY25. In FY25, a Governance Framework was 
developed which allocates oversight and corporate 
governance responsibilities across the Group 
companies (including for the Company Board and its 
Committees, and more particularly at the subsidiary 
companies that operate the Company’s integrated 
resorts (Property or Properties) including casinos 
in each of Sydney, Gold Coast and Brisbane. 

A key aspect of the Governance Framework is to 
ensure that the Property Boards provide more 
focused direct and close supervision of the Sydney, 
Gold Coast and Brisbane Properties consistent with 
those entities’ obligations under the relevant casino 
control legislation in NSW and Queensland.

As a result, the Property Boards and their 
respective Compliance Committees have been 
revamped, including with respect to:

	• the membership of those entities; 
	• increased meeting sequencing and cadence; 
	• additional reporting and information flows; and 
	• principles regarding areas of focus, allowing 

those boards to focus more specifically on 
operational performance, risk and compliance as 
it relates to the individual Properties.

Embedment of the Governance Framework will 
occur throughout 2026. This also includes finalising 
appointments of external independent directors to 
the Property boards.
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ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL
The Star Entertainment Group Limited has 
2,868,680,877 fully paid ordinary shares on issue.

SHAREHOLDING RESTRICTIONS
The Star Entertainment Group’s Constitution, as 
well as certain legislation, and agreements entered 
into with the New South Wales and Queensland 
gaming regulators, contain certain restrictions 
prohibiting an individual from having a voting power 
of more than 10% in The Star Entertainment Group 
without prior written approval.

The Star Entertainment Group may refuse to register 
any transfer of shares which would contravene 
these shareholding restrictions or require 
divestiture of the shares that cause an individual to 
exceed the shareholding restrictions.

In July 2012, written consent was granted by the 
New South Wales Independent Liquor and Gaming 
Authority and the relevant Queensland Minister 
for Perpetual Investment Management Limited to 
increase its shareholding in The Star Entertainment 
Group from 10% up to a maximum of 15% of 
issued shares.

In June 2024, approvals were granted by the NICC 
and the Queensland Attorney-General and Minister 
for Justice for Investment Holdings Pty Ltd as 
trustee for BMG Discretionary Trust (Investment 
Holdings) to acquire in excess of 10% of the total 
issued share capital in The Star Entertainment 
Group. Investment Holdings would however require 
certain approvals to acquire voting power of more 
than 20% in The Star Entertainment Group.

VOTING RIGHTS
All ordinary shares issued by The Star 
Entertainment Group carry one vote per share. 
Performance rights do not carry any voting rights.

Gambling legislation in New South Wales and 
Queensland and The Star Entertainment Group’s 
Constitution contain provisions regulating the 
exercise of voting rights by persons with prohibited 
shareholding interests, as well as the regulation of 
shareholding interests.

The NICC, the relevant Queensland Minister, 
and the Board of The Star Entertainment Group 
have the power to request information or 
undertake investigations (as applicable) in certain 
circumstances. If a person fails to furnish any of 
the information requested by the Board of The Star 
Entertainment Group within the time specified, then 
the voting rights attaching to that person’s shares 
will be suspended. It is also an offence to fail to 
comply with a relevant information request from the 
NICC or the relevant Queensland Minister, or give 
false or misleading information to the NICC or the 
relevant Queensland Minister.

Failure to comply with gambling legislation in 
New South Wales and Queensland or The Star 
Entertainment Group’s Constitution, including the 
shareholder restrictions mentioned above, may also 
result in the divestiture of shares.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION As at 26 September 2025
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EQUITY PLACEMENT
On 29 March 2018, The Star Entertainment Group 
announced that:

a.	 it had entered into a subscription agreement 
dated 28 March 2018 with its joint venture 
partners, Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited 
(CTF) and Far East Consortium International 
Limited (FEC) (Subscription Agreement) 
under which the respective nominated entities 
of each of CTF and FEC separately acquire 
45,825,000 new fully paid ordinary shares in 
The Star Entertainment Group (equivalent to a 
4.99% stake each) at $5.35 per share, for a total 
consideration of $245,163,750 each; and

b.	 in addition to existing agreements, The 
Star Entertainment Group had entered into 
a Strategic Alliance Agreement with CTF 
and FEC which provides a framework for 
the three parties to work together further 
to grow The Star Entertainment Group’s 
properties and businesses, collaborate on 
potentially mutually beneficial development 
opportunities and establish a marketing 
alliance (Strategic Alliance).

In accordance with the terms of the Subscription 
Agreement, 45,825,000 new fully paid ordinary 
shares were issued to each of the respective 
nominated entities of CTF and FEC on 16 April 2018.

On 20 March 2023, there was a change in the 
interests of the following nominated entities of 
CTF and FEC, each being a substantial shareholder 
of The Star Entertainment Group, with relevant 
interests held between them increasing to 
161,107,816 ordinary shares, representing 9.95% of 
the voting power in The Star Entertainment Group:

1.	 Firmament Investment Pte. Ltd. and its 
associated entities (holding 80,553,908 ordinary 
shares, representing 4.977% of the voting power 
in the Company); and

2.	 Far East Consortium International Limited, 
its controlled entities and its associated 
entities (holding 80,553,908 ordinary shares, 
representing 4.977% of the voting power in 
the Company).

The change in relevant interests relates to the 
issuance of new shares to entities associated with 
CTF and FEC under the placement and institutional 
entitlement offer, with participation on the retail 
entitlement offer timetable, pursuant to the equity 
raising announced by The Star Entertainment Group 
on 23 February 2023.

On 6 October 2023, the voting power in The 
Star Entertainment Group held by the entities 
associated with CTF and FEC was diluted to 6.33% 
following the issuance of new shares under the 
placement and institutional entitlement offer on 
6 October 2023, pursuant to the equity raising 
announced on 25 September 2023. The relevant 
interests held between the relevant entities 
remained unchanged as 161,107,816 ordinary shares, 
representing 6.33% of the voting power in The Star 
Entertainment Group:

1.	 Firmament Investment Pte. Ltd. and its 
associated entities (holding 80,553,908 ordinary 
shares, representing 3.165% of the voting power 
in The Star Entertainment Group); and

2.	 Far East Consortium International Limited and its 
controlled entities (holding 80,553,908 ordinary 
shares, representing 3.165% of the voting power 
in The Star Entertainment Group).

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONT.) 
As at 26 September 2025
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TOP-UP RIGHT
The Subscription Agreement grants to CTF and FEC 
certain top-up rights that entitles each of them to 
participate in future equity raisings undertaken by 
The Star Entertainment Group during the term of 
the Strategic Alliance in order to maintain their pre-
equity raising ownership interests (Top-Up Right).

The ASX has granted The Star Entertainment Group 
a waiver from Listing Rule 6.18 which prohibits an 
entity from granting an option exercisable over 
a percentage of the entity’s capital. The waiver 
granted by ASX permits CTF and FEC (and their 
nominees) to maintain, by way of a right to 
participate in any issue of shares or to subscribe 
for shares, their percentage relevant interest in 
the issued share capital of The Star Entertainment 
Group in respect of a diluting event.

The waiver from Listing Rule 6.18 is subject to the 
terms and conditions imposed by ASX which are 
set out in The Star Entertainment Group’s ASX 
Announcement dated 21 May 2018, including a 
requirement that a summary of the Top-Up Right be 
included in each Annual Report.

In accordance with the Top-Up Right, if The 
Star Entertainment Group undertakes an equity 
raising during the term of the Strategic Alliance 
which would result in The Star Entertainment 
Group issuing 1% or more of its share capital (or 
would have such an effect in the case of an issue 
of convertible securities) (Equity Raising), then 
The Star Entertainment Group must give each of 
CTF and FEC (or their respective nominees) an 
opportunity to participate in the Equity Raising on a 
basis that allows them to maintain their pre-Equity 
Raising shareholding percentage.

CTF and FEC (or their respective nominees) will be 
entitled to participate in the Equity Raising on the 
same terms and conditions (including price) as all 
other participants in the Equity Raising.

The Top-Up Right does not operate in respect of 
issues of securities:

	• under a dividend or distribution plan;
	• under an employee incentive scheme (including 

on the conversion of any convertible securities 
issued under any such scheme);

	• pursuant to any takeover bid or scheme of 
arrangement; or

	• as consideration for the acquisition of an asset 
by The Star Entertainment Group or any of its 
related bodies corporate.

The Top-Up Right will automatically terminate in 
circumstances where:

	• CTF or FEC or their respective nominees and 
affiliates (as applicable) cease to hold the shares 
issued under the Subscription Agreement; or

	• the waiver of ASX Listing Rule 6.18 ceases 
to apply (either as a result of the lapse of 
time or CTF or FEC no longer complying 
with the terms and conditions of the waiver), 
whichever occurs first.

If the Top-Up Right ceases or terminates, and 
The Star Entertainment Group undertakes an Equity 
Raising then (subject to any applicable laws, rules 
or regulations) it must consider making (but is not 
obliged to make) an offer to CTF and FEC (or their 
respective nominees) to participate in the Equity 
Raising on a basis that allows them to maintain their 
pre-Equity Raising shareholding percentage.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONT.) 

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
On 23 May 2025, The Star Entertainment Group 
entered into long form documentation with Bally’s 
Corporation (Bally’s) and Investment Holdings 
with respect to a multi-tranche convertible note 
and subordinated unsecured debt instrument 
(the Investment or Strategic Investment) with 
an aggregate principal value of $300 million (the 
Transaction), being a $200 million commitment 
from Bally’s and a $100 million commitment 
from Investment Holdings. Once all convertible 
notes have been issued, the aggregate principal 
value of $300 million will be convertible into 
3,750,000,000 ordinary shares of The Star 
Entertainment Group, representing a conversion 
price of 8 cents per share.

The first tranche of $100.0 million was received 
on 9 April 2025. On 26 and 27 June 2025, following 
shareholder approval at the 25 June 2025 General 
Meeting, The Star Entertainment Group received 
$133.3 million, with Bally’s and Investment Holdings 
each contributing $66.7 million. The remaining 
$66.7 million was paid by Bally’s to The Star 
on 9 October 2025.

At 30 June 2025, The Star Entertainment Group 
has issued 701,910,611 convertible notes. This 
represents $56.2 million of the $233.3 million 
received. The remaining $177.1 million is treated 
as subordinated debt. The 701,910,611 convertible 
notes are available for conversion into shares, at the 
holder’s election, provided a prospectus is issued 
by The Star Entertainment Group to remove any 
Corporations Act on-sale restrictions that apply 
to the shares issued upon conversion (no such 
prospectus was issued prior to, or at 30 June 2025), 
and conversion does not breach any of the existing 
restrictions (including The Star Entertainment 
Group’s Constitution, agreements with Liquor and 
Gaming NSW, and ASX listing rules).

On receipt of regulatory approval, the Group will 
issue the remaining 3,048,089,389 convertible 
notes in exchange for satisfaction, in full, of the 
subordinated debt.

As at 26 September 2025
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
The following is a summary of the substantial shareholders as at 26 September 2025 pursuant to notices 
lodged with ASX in accordance with section 671B of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth):

NAME
DATE OF  

INTEREST

NUMBER OF  
ORDINARY  

SHARES(I)
% OF ISSUED  

CAPITAL(II)

Firmament Investment Pte. Ltd. and its associated entities 6/10/2023 161,107,816 6.33%
Far East Consortium International Limited and its controlled entities 6/10/2023 161,107,816 6.33%
Bruce Lawrance Mathieson and Investment Holdings Pty Ltd ATF 
BMG Discretionary Trust 16/04/2024 275,000,000 9.59%

Mr Xingchun Wang 13/01/2025 186,986,332 6.52%
(i)	� As disclosed in the last notice lodged with the ASX by the substantial shareholder.
(ii)	� The percentage set out in the notice lodged with the ASX is based on the total issued share capital of The Star Entertainment Group Limited at 

the date of interest.

LESS THAN MARKETABLE PARCELS
As at 26 September 2025, there were 61,359 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of 5,435 
ordinary shares (based on a market price of $0.092 at the close of trading on 26 September 2025) and they 
hold a total of 65,582,920 ordinary shares.

SECURITIES PURCHASED ON-MARKET
142,976 ordinary shares were purchased on-market during the financial year for allocation to relevant 
executives who held Service Rights which had vested.
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (CONT.) 

TWENTY LARGEST REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS — ORDINARY SHARES*
RANK NAME

NUMBER OF 
SHARES HELD

% OF ISSUED 
CAPITAL

1. CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 354,503,722 12.36%
2. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES 321,704,152 11.21%
3. INVESTMENT HOLDINGS PTY LTD <BMG DISCRETIONARY A/C> 287,154,955 10.01%
4. J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 84,914,448 2.96%
5. CONTANGO NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 69,869,801 2.44%
6. HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED — A/C 2 51,577,508 1.80%
7. MR QINGNAN WEN 45,000,000 1.57%
8. COLBERN FIDUCIARY NOMINEES PTY LTD 38,128,469 1.33%
9. BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS RETAILCLIENT> 29,312,685 1.02%
10. INVIA CUSTODIAN PTY LIMITED <FOUNDATION ENT FINANCE A/C> 20,132,670 0.70%
11. K & J INTERNATIONAL PTY LTD <LINS FAMILY SUPER FUND A/C> 18,800,000 0.66%
12. MR GARY MAURIC 18,000,000 0.63%
13. ETOR PTY LTD 14,675,080 0.51%
14. MS BO XU 13,751,161 0.48%
15. MR KAI CHEN 12,500,000 0.44%
16. TOFU HOLDINGS LLC 11,562,026 0.40%
17. MISS I POH LAU 11,211,940 0.39%
18. HISHENK PTY LTD 10,500,000 0.37%
19. GLENN HARGRAVES INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 9,200,000 0.32%
20. PENGTON NO 3 PTY LTD <PENGTON NO 3 UNIT A/C> 9,200,000 0.32%
Total of top 20 registered shareholders 1,431,698,617 49.92%

*On a grouped basis.

As at 26 September 2025
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DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITIES HELD
ORDINARY SHARES PERFORMANCE RIGHTS

Range of Holding
No. of  

Holders

No. of  
Ordinary  

Shares 

% of total 
Ordinary  

Shares
No. of  

Holders

No. of 
Performance 

Rights 

% of total 
Performance 

Rights
1 to 1,000 40,829 13,661,434 0.48% 0 0 0%
1,001 to 5,000 20,020 49,265,927 1.72% 0 0 0%
5,001 to 10,000 6,103 47,554,066 1.66% 0 0 0%
10,001 to 100,000 9,519 322,985,257 11.26% 12 711,231 3%
100,001 and over 2,098 2,435,214,193 84.89% 11 20,957,508 97%
Total 78,569 2,868,680,877 100.00% 23 21,668,739 100%

PREMIUM EXERCISE PRICED OPTIONS SERVICE RIGHTS

Range of Holding
No. of  

Holders
No. of  

Options 
% of total 

Options
No. of  

Holders
No. of  

Service Rights 
% of total 

Service Rights
1 to 1,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
1,001 to 5,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
5,001 to 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
10,001 to 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0
100,001 and over 12 4,383,364 100% 2 1,230,654 100%
Total 12 4,383,364 100% 2 1,230,654 100%

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
CONVERTIBLE NOTES

Range of Holding No. of Holders No. of Convertible Notes % of total Convertible Notes
1 to 1,000 0 0 0
1,001 to 5,000 0 0 0
5,001 to 10,000 0 0 0
10,001 to 100,000 0 0 0
100,001 and over 2 701,910,611 100%
Total 2 701,910,611 100%

VOLUNTARY ESCROW
There are no securities under voluntary escrow.

SHARE BUY-BACKS
There is no current or planned buy-back of The Star Entertainment Group’s shares.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ANNUAL REPORT
This Annual Report is available on-line from 
The Star Entertainment Group’s website at 
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/annual-
reports. Annual Reports will only be sent to those 
shareholders who have requested to receive a 
copy. Shareholders who no longer wish to receive 
a hard copy of the Annual Report or wish to receive 
the Annual Report electronically are encouraged 
to contact the Share Registry, the details of which 
are set out below. This will assist with reducing 
the costs of production of the hard copy of 
the Annual Report.

WEBSITE
The Star Entertainment Group’s website at 
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au offers 
investors a wide range of information regarding 
its activities and performance, including Annual 
Reports, interim and full year financial results, 
webcasts of results and Annual General Meeting 
presentations, major news releases and other 
Company statements.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS
Investors seeking more information about 
the Company are invited to contact The Star 
Entertainment Group’s Shareholder Relations Team:

Address:	� PO Box 13348 
George Street Post Shop  
Brisbane QLD 4003

Telephone:	 +61 7 3228 0000

Facsimile:	 +61 7 3228 0099

Email:	 investor@star.com.au

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES
Investors seeking information about their shares 
in The Star Entertainment Group should contact 
The Star Entertainment Group’s Share Registry. 
Investors should have their Shareholder Reference 
Number (SRN) or Holder Identification Number (HIN) 
available to assist the Share Registry in responding 
to their enquiries.

SHARE REGISTRY
MUFG Corporate Markets (AU) Limited

Address:	 Liberty Place 
	 Level 41, 
	 161 Castlereagh Street  
	 Sydney, NSW 2000

Postal address:	� The Star Entertainment  
Group Limited 
C/- MUFG Corporate 
Markets (AU) Limited 
Locked Bag A14  
Sydney South NSW 1235  
Australia

Telephone:	� +61 1300 880 923  
(toll free within Australia)

Facsimile:	 +61 2 9287 0303

E-mail:	� starentertainment@
cm.mpms.mufg.com

Website:	 mpms.mufg.com

GENERAL ENQUIRIES
Investor information is available on 
The Star Entertainment Group’s website 
at www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au, 
including major announcements, Annual Reports, 
and general Company information.

2025 CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
The 2025 Corporate Governance Statement can 
be found on The Star Entertainment Group’s 
website at www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/
corporate-governance.
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2025 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The Annual General Meeting of The Star 
Entertainment Group Limited will be held on 
25 November 2025 in the Event Centre at The Star 
Gold Coast, 1 Casino Drive, Broadbeach Island, 
Broadbeach, Queensland.

Information and guidance on how to join the  
Annual General Meeting will be made available 
within the Notice of Meeting and on  
The Star Entertainment Group’s website at 
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au/annual-
general-meetings.

INDICATIVE KEY DATES FOR FY26*
FY26 Half Year Results Announcement: 
27 February 2026

FY26 Full Year Results Announcement:  
27 August 2026
*Dates are subject to change

COMPANY DIRECTORY
REGISTERED OFFICE
The Star Entertainment Group Limited 
Level 3, 159 William Street  
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Telephone: + 61 7 3228 0000 
Facsimile: + 61 7 3228 0099  
Email: investor@star.com.au

www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au

NEW SOUTH WALES OFFICE
Level 3, 60 Union Street  
Pyrmont NSW 2009 
Telephone: + 61 2 9657 7600

QUEENSLAND OFFICE
Level 3, 159 William Street  
Brisbane QLD 4000 
Telephone: + 61 7 3228 0000

SECURITIES EXCHANGE LISTING
The Star Entertainment Group’s securities are quoted  
on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) under the 
share code “SGR”.

THE STAR SYDNEY
80 Pyrmont Street  
Pyrmont NSW 2009 
Reservations: 1800 700 700 
Telephone: + 61 2 9777 9000  
www.thestarsydney.com.au

THE STAR GOLD COAST
Broadbeach Island  
Broadbeach QLD 4218 
Reservations: 1800 074 344 
Telephone: + 61 7 5592 8100  
www.thestargoldcoast.com.au

THE STAR BRISBANE
33 William Street 
Brisbane QLD 4000  
General enquiries: 1800 888 899 
The Star Grand Reception: +61 7 3308 0300 
www.star.com.au/brisbane

QUEEN’S WHARF BRISBANE
General Enquiries  
Telephone: 1800 104 535 
Email: qwbenquiries@destinationbrisbane.com.au 
www.queenswharfbrisbane.com.au

AUDITOR
Ernst & Young
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ABOUT THIS ANNUAL REPORT
CURRENCY
References to currency in this Annual Report are in 
Australian Dollars unless otherwise stated.

COPYRIGHT
Information in this report has been prepared by 
The Star Entertainment Group Limited, unless 
otherwise indicated. Information may be reproduced 
provided it is reproduced accurately and not in a 
misleading context. Where the material is being 
published or issued to others, the sources and 
copyright status should be acknowledged.

INVESTMENT WARNING
This Annual Report may include forward looking 
statements and references which, by their very 
nature, involve inherent risks and uncertainties. 
These risks and uncertainties may be matters 
beyond The Star Entertainment Group’s control 
and could cause actual results to vary (including 
materially) from those predicted.

Forward looking statements are not guarantees of 
future performance. Past performance of shares is 
not indicative of future performance and should not 
be relied upon as such. The value of investments 
and any income from them is not guaranteed and 
can fall as well as rise. 

The Star Entertainment Group recommends that 
investors make their own assessments and seek 
independent professional advice before making 
investment decisions.

PRIVACY
The Star Entertainment Group respects the privacy 
of its stakeholders. The Star Entertainment  
Group’s Privacy Policy Statement is available on  
The Star Entertainment Group’s website at  
www.starentertainmentgroup.com.au.
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